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CURIOSITY

IMPROVING
And, 

there are also those pursuing the 
undiscovered.

THOSE WHO ALWAYS 
SEARCH FOR THE NEW AND 

ARE OPEN TO LEARNING AND 
IMPROVEMENT...

ENTHUSIASM
They are enthusiastic about discovering,  

they know no fear.

They enjoy differences,  
they want to know the unknown.

THEY NEVER LOSE THEIR 
ENTHUSIASM...

POSSIBILITY
They convert others’ impossibilities into 

possibilities...

They convert anything into idea and 
reality,

THEY CREATE AN 
UNPRECEDENTED INFLUENCE.

COMBINING 
THE WORLDS

...Just like us.

We fly from the new centre of the world 
to new worlds every single day.

WE COMBINE THE WORLDS...

We fly for making the impossible possible 
and reaching to the new horizons.

For growing and being fascinated...

WE ARE HERE FOR THE 
GENERATIONS WHO ARE 

CURIOUS ABOUT THE UNKNOWN.

JOY OF 
DIFFERENCES

We bring different cultures, people, ideas 
together.

Our childish curiosity is underpinned by 
sincerity, empathy and heartful hospitality.

FLIES BEYOND EXPECTATIONS...
We create an enjoyable travel experience 
offering differences as much as our flight 

destinations.

OPEN UP 
YOUR HORIZONS

Those who can see the beauty of 
the unknown...

THEY ALWAYS HAVE 
THEIR EYES AND 

HORIZONS OPEN…

There are many “Global” airlines around the world.

They all fly to the same countries,  in accordance 
with their respective requirements.

They meet average expectations by flying from 
point A to point B,  and implement the same 

routes and tariffs.

‘’THE SAME’’  
IS A STANDARD FOR THEM…

THE SAME
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Established in 1933, Turkish Airlines’ 
main fields of activity are all types 
of domestic and international pas-
senger and cargo air transportation.

50.88% of the shares of the Incor-
poration have been offered to the 
public, 49.12% of the shares are 
owned by the Turkey Wealth Fund 
and one Group C share is owned 
by T.R. Prime Ministry Privatization 
Administration. Paid-up capital of 
the Incorporation is TL 1.38 billion. 
Established in 1933, Turkish Airlines 
Inc. mainly operates in domestic and 
international passenger and cargo 
air transportation.

Turkish Airlines is the airline incorpo-
ration that flies to the highest num-
ber of countries and international 
destinations around the world.

Turkish Airlines increased the num-
ber of aircraft in its fleet by 63% 
in the last 5 years and the number 
reached to 329 by the end of 2017. 
In the fleet, there are 90 wide-body 
aircraft, 223 narrow-body aircraft 
and 16 cargo aircraft.

Turkish Airlines flies to 303 destina-
tions, consisting of 51 domestic and 
252 international destinations, as of 
2017. The number of passengers of 
the Incorporation increased by 9.3% 
to 68.6 million in 2017 compared to 
the previous year. Increase in the 
number of passengers was 10.4% 
for domestic flights and 8.5% for 
international flights. The number 
of landings for passenger aircraft 
increased by 1.2% to 469,552.

Cargo and Mail carried in 2017 in-
creased by 26.5% to 1,122,697 tons.

TURKISH AIRLINES AT A GLANCE
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BECAUSE WE KNOW THAT 
TRAVELING IS THE FIRST STEP 
TO CHANGE THIS WONDERFUL 
WORLD.

WE ARE READY TO DEPART 
TOGETHER WHEN YOU WANT 
TO CHANGE YOUR WORLD, 
BROADEN YOUR HORIZON OR 
STEP INTO NEW WORLDS.

WIDEN YOUR 
WORLD

For those who do not feel content by 
visiting the same places and doing the 
same things; just like us. For those who 

celebrate the new thing will emerge 
when differences come together...
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

RECOVERY IN THE AVIATION 
SECTOR FOLLOWING A 
CHALLENGING THE YEAR
After 2016 that was a challenging 
year for the Turkish aviation sector, 
2017 has been a year of recovery for 
Turkish Airlines. The increase in pas-
senger demand that began in April 
reached the highest level especially 
during summer, and the positive 
atmosphere continued for the rest of 
the year. The increase in fuel prices 
up to 25% has led to an increase in 
fuel expenses, which is one of the 
largest expense items in aviation. 
The positive impact of the rising fuel 
prices on unit revenues along with an 
increase in sector average capacity 
up to 7% and the increase in pas-
senger demand have together led to 
the increase in profitability. Contrary 
to the year 2016, currencies of the 
developing countries raised in value 
against the U.S. Dollar in the year 
2017. These developments have en-
abled the sector to breathe a sigh of 
relief regarding pricing and financial 
planning, and had a positive impact 
on the airline companies' financial 
conditions.

Turkish Airlines, which had a chal-
lenging period due to the unfortu-
nate events in our country in 2016 as 
well as the global effects, success-
fully continued its effective capacity 
management and austerity action 
plans, which were launched at the 

end of 2016, in 2017 as well, which 
have brought positive results in the 
profitability figures. Total revenues 
of Turkish Airlines increased by 11.9% 
in 2017 compared to the previous 
year, and exceeded the year 2015. 
According to IATA, airline passenger 
revenues have increased by 6% and 
cargo revenues have increased by 
15% around the world. Within this 

period, Turkish Airlines displayed a 
performance above the sector aver-
age by reaching an increase of 9.5% 
in passenger revenues, and 32.2% 
in cargo revenues. In 2017, while the 
passenger revenues constituted 86% 
of the total revenues, share of the 
cargo revenues in the total revenues 
increased to 12%.

BREAKING A RECORD IN 
OPERATIONAL PROFITABILITY
Turkish Airlines, which has the most 
efficient cost management in the sector 
compared to its competitors, maintained 
this advantage in 2017 as well. Along with 
the impact of effective capacity man-
agement and increased demand, Turkish 
Airlines increased its operating profit by 
450% to USD 1 billion 22 million in 2017 
and achieved the highest operating profit 
in its history. According to IATA, while the 
average  operating profit margin of airline 
companies was around 8% in 2017, Turkish 
Airlines had a profit margin of 9.3% which is 
above the sector average.

HIGH CASH GENERATION 
POTENTIAL
Turkish Airlines expresses its profitability 
and cash generating potential in terms of 
EBITDAR, which is widely used as a per-
formance criterion in the aviation sector. 
Our Incorporation increased its EBITDAR 
by 85% to USD 3 billion 16 million and its 

2016 2016 2016

2016

2017 2017 2017

2017

9,792 8,590

996

-77

10,958 9,403
1.317

223

11,9%

SALES REVENUES PASSENGER REVENUES CARGO REVENUES NET PROFIT 

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS
(MILLION USD)

2016 2017 17/16 Change

Revenue (Net) 9,792 10,958 11.9%

Net Profit -77 223 389%

Net Profit Margin -0.8% 2.0% 2.8 pt

EBIT -167 1,186 810%

EBIT Margin -1.7% 10.8% 12.5 pt

EBITDAR 1,628 3,016 85.3%

EBITDAR Margin 16.6% 27.5% 10.9 pt

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY CATEGORIES 
(MILLION USD)

2016 2017 17/16 Change

Passenger Revenue 8,590 9,403 9.5%

Cargo Revenue 996 1,317 32.2%

Other Revenue 206 238 15.5%

TOTAL 9,792 10,958 11.9 %

EBITDAR Margin (%)EBITDAR (Million USD)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

2013-2017 AVERAGE EBITDAR MARGIN: 21.2%
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The saving measures and effective 
capacity management have also 
provided the Cost per Available 
Seat-Kilometer (CASK) to decrease 
by 1.3% to USc 5.87 in 2017.

Turkish Airlines, which has been af-
fected positively by the depreciation 
of TL against USD in terms of cost 
management due to the fact that 
approximately 30% of its operational 
expenses are in Turkish Lira, con-
tinued to maintain its low unit cost 
advantage globally in 2017.

THE MOST TRADED SHARE
Turkish Airlines shares have been 
traded at Istanbul Stock Exchange 
under the code of THYAO since 1990. 
The free float rate of our Incorpora-
tion's shares has increased to 50.88% 
after the secondary public offerings 
conducted in the years 2004 and 
2006. Turkish Airlines share, which 
has been among the most preferred 
shares by the investors in Turkey for 
many years, was the most traded 
share at Istanbul Stock Exchange 
with a trading volume of TL 171 billion 

in 2017 thanks to its high liquidity 
and broad base of investors. Our 
trading volume increased by 76% in 
2017 compared to the previous year. 
The share price of our Incorpora-
tion, on the other hand, increased by 
213.2% in 2017.

The market value of Turkish Airlines 
reached TL 12 billion between 2011-
2015. However, the air travel passen-
ger traffic was adversely affected due 
to unfortunate events that start-
ed in the last quarter of 2015 and 
continued in 2016 and the resultant 
increased security concerns, and 
although this consequently affected 
the performance of THYAO share 
adversely and caused its market 
value to fall by 30% to TL 8.4 billion, 
the market value of our share has 
gained a strong momentum and has 
increased by nearly three times to TL 
22.2 billion by the end of 2017 thanks 
to our Incorporation's sound growth 
strategy, effective cost management 
and increased operational efficiency.

REGIONAL REVENUES* 
(MILLION USD)

2016 2017 17/16 Change

Domestic 1,282 1,330 4%

Middle East 1,154 1,270 10%

Europe 2,791 3,113 12%

Africa 914 997 9%

America 1,297 1,429 10%

Far East 2,148 2,581 20%

Total 9,586 10,720 12%

* Passenger & Cargo Revenues
9.3%

Africa

13.3%
America

24.1%
Far East

12.4%
Domestic

29.0%
Europe

11.8% 
Middle East

REGIONAL BREAKDOWN
OF REVENUES IN 2017

(MILLION USD)

Other CASK

Fuel CASK

Personnel CASK

Total CASK

EBITDAR margin by 10.9 points to 
27.5% in the year 2017 compared to 
the year 2016. Consequently, Turk-
ish Airlines has reached the highest 
EBITDAR margin in its history and 
has continued to be one of the most 
profitable airlines in the sector. These 
figures once again show how high 
our Incorporation's internal poten-
tial is to enable our Incorporation to 
finance its future investments.

SAVING MEASURES AND 
EFFECTIVE CAPACITY 
MANAGEMENT
Turkish Airlines has effectively 
managed its expenses thanks to the 
saving measures it has implement-
ed since the second half of 2016, 
and has continued these measures 
in 2017 as well. On the other hand, 
significant improvements have been 
achieved in load factors and utiliza-
tions thanks to the effective capacity 
management it has implemented, 
and such actions were continued in 
2017 as well.

BALANCED REVENUE 
PORTFOLIO
Our Incorporation's large flight 
network creates a natural hedging 
mechanism against regional crises 
by providing a diversified revenue 
stream. The largest share in the re-
gional revenue distribution belongs 
to Europe with 29%. The revenue 

portfolio has been enriched with the 
newly launched destinations such as 
Conakry, Kharkiv, Voronezh, Samara 
and Phuket, and the share of the Far 
East in the total revenue raised by 1.7 
points to 24% compared to the previ-
ous year. That approximately 77% of 
our ticket sales in 2017 were realized 
outside of Turkey indicates a very sig-
nificant service export for our country. 
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SECTORAL DEVELOPMENTS AND
2018 EXPECTATIONS

GLOBAL ECONOMY 
GLOBAL GROWTH
2017 has been a year in which global 
economic growth has been revised 
upward. Following the global crisis, 
the global growth was 3.2% in 2016. 
While the growth prospect was at 
the level of 3.4% at the beginning of 
2017, the global growth turned out 
to be 3.7% thanks to the effect of the 
convenient financial conditions and 
the stabilized commodity prices. It 
is estimated that the stability in the 
year 2017 will also continue in the 
year 2018, and the global growth will 
raise to 3.9%1.

The year 2017 was an intensive 
year due to the political, econom-
ic and diplomatic factors and the 
unfavoured effects of the year 2016. 
While the year 2017 growth projec-
tion have been revised downward 
for the USA and the UK, the growth 
was realized above the expectations 
in the Euro Zone, Japan, developing 
Asia, developing Europe and Russia 
starting from the second half of the 
year and the growth projection has 
been revised upward. China wants 
to keep the growth under control 
through tight financial and monetary 
policies and to be minimally affected 
by the crises. It is expected that the 
growth will continue especially in 
Europe and China in 2018.

In 2017, global 
growth was 3.7%.

Growth in the European region was 
realized above the expectations in 
general. While the economic growth 
was around 2.4% in the Euro Zone, 
it was 2.3% in the European Union 
in 2017. Although the economic and 
commercial activities in the Europe-
an region have been revised upwards 
in the year 2018; the factors that 
will affect the European economy 
adversely will be the attitude of 
the Central Banks, decrease in the 
effectiveness of the European Union 
and emergence of different opinions, 
Brexit decision of the UK, and the 
developments such as independence 
requests and refugee problems. It is 
estimated that the economic growth 
will be 2.2% in the Euro Zone, and 
2.1% in the European Union in 2018.

In the Middle Eastern region, the 
effects of the changes in the fuel 
price,  economic and political devel-
opments, tension among the coun-
tries in the region, and the continuing 
civil war and conflicts are observed 
in 2017. This situation is expected 
to continue in 2018 as well. Despite 
these developments, growth record-
ed in Middle East and North Africa as 
2.2% in 2017 is estimated to be 3.2% 
in 2018.

The USA has left its mark on the year 2017 in 
diplomatic terms. The actions of the new gov-
ernment have affected economic and commercial 
developments. The USA, which completed the year 
2017 with a growth rate of 2.3% which was below 
the expectations, is estimated to complete the 
year 2018 with a growth rate of 2.7% due to the 
effects of expectations regarding FED’s interest 
rate increase as well as the country’s strategic 
moves towards Russia, Asian and Middle Eastern 
countries, the refugee problems and the country’s 
protectionist policies.

Despite increasing consumption and trade in 
China, the government’s financial and monetary 
stabilizing policies are pushing downward the 
growth estimates for the future. Due to the poli-
cies implemented, the economic growth was 6,8% 
in 2017 and is estimated to be 6,6% in 2018.

In India, the growth has slowed down due to the 
foreign exchange inflow policies and the nation-
wide uncertainties regarding the goods and ser-
vice tax which was announced in the mid-year. In-
dia is experiencing a gradual increase in its growth 
rate due to the structural reforms, strong growth 
in other commodity importers and the growth 
rate in China. Economic growth in India was 6,7% 
in 2017 and is expected to increase to 7,4% in 
2018 Contrary to negative projections in 2017, the 
growth in Russia was 1.8% at the end of the year. 
Moreover, growth in 2018 is projected to be 1,7 
%. Brazil, on the other hand, displayed a positive 
outlook by 1.1% growth in 2017, and is projected to 
grow by 1.9% in 2018.

1 IMF WEO 2017 October ve 2018 January Update
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Turkey, which 
recorded the fastest 
growth among G-20 
countries in the 3rd 
quarter of the year 
by 11.3%, completed 
the year 2017 with 
a growth of 7.4% 
that is above the 

expectations.

TURKEY'S ECONOMY
While Turkey’s economy grew by 3,3% 
in 2016 due to unfavored incidents, it 
quickly recovered from such effects 
and realized a growth rate faster 
than expected in 20172.

Turkey, which grew by 5.4% in the 
first quarter of the year, recorded the 
fastest growth among G-20 coun-
tries in the 3rd quarter of the year 
by growing by 11.3% thanks to the 
measures it was taken. Turkey, which 
completed the year 2017 with a 
growth of 7.4%, is estimated to grow 
by 5.5% in 20182.

The revival in the tourism sector in 
Turkey affected the service sector 
positively. The number of tourists 
that visited Turkey in 2017 increased 
by 28% compared to 2016 and 
reached 32.4 million, and generated 
revenue around USD 26 billion. Pos-
itive developments in terms of eco-
nomic, political and inbound tourism 
in 2017 are the indicators of revival 
to be observed in tourism for 2018.  
According to the targets for the year 
2018, the number of tourists to visit 
Turkey in 2018 is estimated to be 

37.2 million and the total amount of 
revenue to be generated is estimated 
to be USD 34 billion3.

AVIATION SECTOR 
OVERVIEW
2017 FIGURES AND 
YEAR SUMMARY
Following the adverse events in 
2016, the aviation sector showed a 
recovery in 2017. In terms of increase 
in number of carried passengers, the 
generated income and profits, airline 
companies achieved a successful 
year in 2017.

In 2017, airline customers benefited 
from the low travel costs provided by 
low-cost carriers, and the number of 
passengers increased due to the in-
creased economic activities, and the 
recovery in the tourism and aviation 
sectors.

Long-haul flights testing realized by 
the low-cost carriers in the aviation 
sector seem to be the new trend 
of the last year. Several low-cost 
carriers have tested and succeeded in 
transoceanic long-haul flights.

In the aviation sector, where eco-
nomic approaches have become 
more important in recent years, flag 
carrier airlines and full service airlines 
have established their own sub-
brands to gain a place in the market 
with low cost passenger transpor-
tation business model. While the 
low-cost carriers mostly used to use 
secondary airports to transport from 
point to point; it was observed that 
low cost subsidiaries had operated 
in main hubs and made investments 
to obtain valuable slots at airports 
in 2017.

According to IATA, the number of 
passengers carried across the globe 
increased by 7.1% to 4.08 billion pas-
sengers while the capacity increased 
by 6.3% in 2017. While the net profit 
of the sector was USD 34.3 billion, 
total cost increased by 7.3% and the 
fuel-excluded unit cost increased 
by 4%. Unit passenger revenues 
decreased by 1.5% and unit cargo 
revenues increased by 5.0%4.

1 IMF WEO 2017 October and 2018 January Update
2 Ministry of Development, Medium-Term Program
3 R.O.T. Ministry of Culture and Tourism 
4    Airline Industry Economic Performance: 2017

5 GDSA

Acceleration in 
Aviation Sector

In Turkey, the upward trend in avia-
tion has been preserved. Domestic 
passenger traffic increased by 6.9% 
to 109 million 600 thousand passen-
gers while international passenger 
traffic increased by 17.1% to 83 million 
432 thousand passengers. Turkey’s 
total traffic increased by 11% com-
pared to the year 2016, and reached 
193 million 318 thousand5.

INVESTMENTS
In 2016, airline companies made 
major joint venture (JV) agreements 
and acquisitions in order to expand 
their current market, feed the flight 
network, and prevent the risks posed 
by economic and political uncertain-
ties, and this trend continued in 2017. 
Besides, cargo JV agreements also 
gained importance within the year. 
Other attention-grabbing trends of 
the year 2017 were the share sharing 
between some airline companies and 
the cooperation between carriers 
with high connection number with 
low-cost carriers.

Investments in purchases made by fi-
nancially strong airline companies in 
the previous years have not reached 

the desired results due to develop-
ments in the aviation sector in 2016 
and the first half of 2017; and some 
of the airlines have encountered 
negative impacts of the investments 
they made.

Besides these affairs, the bankrupt-
cies announced in 2017 have left 
their mark on the sector. In Europe, 
the airline companies that had been 
making loss for years went bankrupt 
and have been purchased entirely or 
partly (aircraft, slots, personnel, etc. 
separately) by large airline compa-
nies.

In addition, the fact that corporate 
and individual investors consider the 
profit margin in the aviation sector as 
an investment opportunity and the 
investments made by major Ameri-
can investors in the sector within the 
year are indicators that the interest 
in the sector will increase in the com-
ing years.

2018 FIGURES AND 
EXPECTATIONS
The unit revenues, which had shown 
a downward trend in the previous 
years, recovered in the year 2017. The 
unit revenue of airlines are expected 

to increase considerably for both 
passenger and cargo transportation 
in the year 2018. While the passenger 
unit revenue decreased by 1.5% in 
2017 compared to 2016, it is expected 
to increase by 3.0% in 2018. Cargo 
unit revenue, on the other hand, 
recovered from the negative effect 
and increased by 5.0% in 2017. Cargo 
unit revenue is expected to preserve 
its acceleration and increase by 4.0% 
in 20184.

The aviation sector is affected not 
only by physical phenomenon, but 
also by economic, political and social 
events. The political uncertainities in 
the European Union, effects of Brexit 
on both British aviation and Euro-
pean aviation, protectionist policies 
of the states, policies of the USA 
government regarding immigrants, 
prohibitions and embargoes, and 
the ongoing and possible conflicts 
in the Middle East will be the factors 
affecting the aviation sector.

Technology, innovation and digi-
tal transformation will be factors 
increasing productivity and efficiency 
by being followed up closely and 
invested in by the airline companies 
in the year 2018.
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In general terms, 2018 will positively 
support the expectations by being a 
year in which new codeshare agree-
ments will be made, strong partner-
ships will be established, procure-
ments and sub-brand developments 
will be in the foreground, efficiency 
studies will accelerate, and auto-
mation systems and technology will 
take effect.

In Turkey, the developing economy, 
expected positive growth and the 
revival expected in the tourism sec-
tor will positively affect the aviation 
investments and increase the pro-
pensity to travel. In this respect, our 
country is expected to continue its 
global influence in the sector with its 
flight activities, passenger transpor-
tation and revenue.

It is estimated that the number of 
passengers carried across the world 
will increase by approximately 5.6% 
to 4.31 billion passengers, and the 
capacity will increase by 5.7% in the 
year 2018. It is estimated that the net 
profit of the sector will increase by 
approximately 11.3% to USD 38.4 bil-
lion while the total costs will increase 
by 9.6% and the fuel-excluded unit 
costs will increase by 2.0%4.

AIR CARGO REVIEW
Air cargo sector, despite having a 
volume lower than 1% of the total 
world trade, constitutes 35% of the 
global trade value6. In this respect, 
air cargo sector has great impor-
tance in the world. Many products 
that are used by everyone in daily life 
from medicines to electronic goods 
and fashion products are transported 
through the air cargo sector. Today, 
the opportunity of fast and safe 
shipment provided by the air cargo 
sector plays an important role in the 
rapid development of many fields 
such as the international e-com-
merce sector.

Fluctuations in the world trade vol-
ume, balance between the available 
cargo capacity and the demand, 
transitions between air/sea/land 
transportation, fuel prices and fare 
levels are important dynamics for 
the air cargo sector. The presence 
of many different dynamics in the 
sector and the increasingly intense 
competition among carriers have 
led to an increase in the partner-
ships and collaborations among 
carriers especially in the recent 
times. Carriers in different regions 

6    IATA - Value of Air Cargo Brochure

7 IATA - Air Freight Market Analysis (December 2017)
8 GDSA - Aircraft, Passenger, Load Series and   
 Estimations
9 OAG Aviation Worldwide Limited

It is estimated that 
air cargo traffic will 

grow by 4.5% and the 
cargo unit revenue will 
increase by 4.0% in the 

year 2018.

air cargo sector will be positively 
affected by the ease of the processes 
thanks to the spread of the electron-
ic documents (e-AWB) used in cargo 
shipments. The Asia-Pacific region 
is predicted to be the determining 
factor for the future of the air cargo 
sector. In the air cargo sector, as in 
the passenger sector, the importance 
of customer-oriented approaches is 
increasing. Similar to the passenger 
loyalty programs in the sector, air 
cargo loyalty programs have begun 
to take place.

According to IMF, world trade volume 
increased by 4.7% in 2017. Air car-
go traffic increased by 9% which is 
well above this value and exceeds 
the expectations. The growth of 
air cargo traffic above the capacity 
increased cargo load factor in the 
sector. According to IATA, the cargo 
load factor in the sector increased by 
2.5% compared to the previous year 
and reached to 45.5% in 2017. On the 
other hand, the cargo load factor 
increased by 2.7% to 49.3% in inter-
national destinations7.

According to IATA, it is estimated 
that the volume of the air cargo 
traffic and the cargo unit revenues 
will increase in 2018. IATA estimates 
that the air cargo traffic will grow by 
4.5% and the cargo unit revenue will 
increase by 4.0% in 2018. Total cargo 
revenue, which was USD 54.5 billion 
in 2017, is estimated to increase by 
8.6% to USD 59.2 billion in 20184.

DHMI (General Directorate of State 
Airports Authority of Turkey) es-
timates that the air cargo traffic 
in Turkey will increase by 14.5% in 
domestic routes and 7.1% in interna-
tional routes, resulting in an increase 
of 7.4% in total in 2018. The increase 
values for the year 2017 are 15.5% in 

domestic routes, 7.8% in international 
routes, and 8.1% in total8.

REGIONAL REVIEWS
EUROPE
In 2017, European Aviation had a 
successful year thanks to the eco-
nomic recovery in the market and 
the decline in the impact of the last 
year’s negative events. Growth in the 
transatlantic market has also pos-
itively affected the European mar-
ket development. As a result of the 
positive developments, load factor 
of 84.3%, which is the highest rate in 
the history of Europe, was reached in 
2017. Moreover, the market grew by 
8.0%, surpassing the capacity growth 
(6.2%). The carriers in the region 
increased their profits from USD 8.8 
billion in 2016 to USD 9.8 billion in 
2017. Unit profitability per passenger 
increased by 2% to USD 9.03 in 2017.

However, several airline companies 
in Europe were forced to declare 
their bankruptcy one after the other 
by failing to catch up with market 
dynamics and intense competition. 
Withdrawal of the bankrupt airline 
companies from the market has 
strengthened other European airline 
companies in strong position, par-
ticularly the low-cost carriers (LCC), 
and this situation is expected to 
continue in 2018.

The number of available LCC seats in 
the European region increased by 2.5 
times between 2007 and 2017. The 
share of LCC seats, which constitutes 
approximately 45% of intra-Europe-
an international air passenger market 
in 2017, has grown by 2.3 times be-
tween 2007 and 20179. The increase 
in the share of the LCCs in the region 
causes other airline companies to 
act through different strategies. The 
number of long-haul flights operat-
ed by LCC airlines from Europe also 
increased in 2017 and the destina-

tions continued to diversify. The 
main flag carrier airlines in the region 
respond to the intense competition 
with strategies such as establishing 
sub-brands (LCC or regional), re-
ducing costs, and increasing market 
positioning. As another strategy, 
they continue to increase the number 
of cooperation agreements with the 
leading airlines in different regions 
and/or expand the scope of their 
existing agreements.

IATA estimates that the European 
airlines will increase their total profit 
in 2018 compared to the previous 
year, and will earn a net profit of 
USD 11.5 billion. The unit profitability 
value per passenger is estimated to 
increase to USD 9.99. The fact that 
the expected market growth in 2018 
is 6.0% higher than the expected 
capacity increase that is 5.5% which 
can be seen as a positive indicator 
for the European region.

The factors to affect the European 
traffic in 2018 will be the uncertain-
ties regarding planning in many 
airlines in the post-Brexit period, the 
emergence of different views in the 
European Union, the autonomy de-
mands, and the additional structur-
ing processes of the regional airlines.

AFRICA
Despite the high growth potential of 
the aviation sector in Africa, Africa 
continues to be the worst region in 
terms of the airlines’ revenues and 
profitability, as was the case in the 
last 4 years, due to ongoing structur-
al problems. Political and economic 
instability, governments’ protection-
ist policies and interventionist struc-
ture, and poor corporate governance 
of the airline companies continue to 
negatively affect the aviation sector. 
The revenue and profitability of the 
airlines in the region decreased by 
0.5% compared to the previous year. 

make Cargo JV agreements against 
intense competition. It is thought 
that the expanded and widespread 
Cargo JV agreements will provide a 
transition to the establishment of 
cargo alliances among carriers in the 
future. Some carriers, on the oth-
er hand, have started to break into 
new markets neither than currently 
focused markets by establishing new 
companies with local partners. Many 
companies, particularly those in the 
role of transit carrier, aim to increase 
their cargo capacities through the 
new and enlarged cargo terminal 
projects in their main hubs as well as 
the new hubs they establish in differ-
ent regions. By this way, they aim to 
increase their competitiveness in the 
global market.

The volume of perishable (tempera-
ture sensitive) cargo in the air cargo 
sector is expected to increase. For 
this reason, many leading carriers 
make significant investments in 
terms of facilities and infrastructure 
for special cargo (medicine, valua-
ble cargo, live animals, perishable 
cargo, etc.) and aim to increase their 
market share in this area. In addition, 
it is expected that the growth of the 
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On the other hand, the capacity 
increase was realized as 3.3% in 2017, 
which resulted in an increase (3.7 
points) in the load factor, and the 
sector has started to progress slowly.

ASIA
Asia-Pacific, which has a rapidly 
growing economy, led by countries 
such as China and India, is a region 
with a very high growth expectation 
in aviation. Although the Asia-Pa-
cific region was the fastest growing 
region in 2017 with 8.3% capacity 
increase and 10% traffic increase, its 
operational profitability within the 
same year was 8.5% which fell behind 
North America (13.2%). This can be 
attributed to the high proportion 
of the population with middle class 
income level in the region and the 
travel/consumption demands shaped 
accordingly, the insufficient infra-
structure capacity in the region and 
the slot problems at the airports.

According to IATA, 6.8% capacity 
increase and 7% traffic increase is 
estimated in the Asia-Pacific region 
in 2018. It is estimated that the total 
net profit of the airlines in the region 
will increase from USD 8.3 billion in 
2017 to USD 9 billion in 2018.

The most important factors affecting 
the growth of air transport in the 
region are the increasing presence 
of low cost carriers, the elimination 
of regulatory constraints by ASEAN 
(deregulation), the increase of leisure 
travels due to  ease of visa policies, 
and the strengthening of the intra 
Asian market.

MIDDLE EAST
Middle Eastern Airlines faced various 
incidents and took precautionary 
measures against them in 2017. The 
Middle Eastern airlines, which faced 
problems such as regional conflicts 
and instability such as the process 
that took place with Qatar, low fuel 

revenues, visa embargoes and elec-
tronic bans imposed by the United 
States, came out of this process with 
loss of revenue and profit. In 2017, 
the Middle Eastern airlines whose net 
profits decreased compared to 2016, 
have reduced their capacity as pre-
caution (Especially in US routes with 
terminating or decreasing frequency).

As a result of the loss of revenue and 
decrease in profitability in 2017, it is 
estimated that the airlines will con-
tinue to implement cost reduction 
strategies and will have a capacity 
increase of 4.9% in 2018, which was 
6.6% in 2017 and 11% in 2016. Despite 
the increase in the revenue by 4.5% 
and profit in the aviation sector in 
2017, the Middle Eastern airlines were 
adversely affected by the incidents  
in the Middle East region and could 
only achieve a revenue increase by 
0.4% compared to the previous year, 
while their profit decreased from 
USD 1.3 billion to USD 0.3 billion. 

NORTH AMERICA
In 2017, the USA implemented new 
policies to prevent Gulf carriers’ ex-
pansion in North America. These im-
plementations caused mutual dam-
ages. There is no guarantee that such 
practices will not be implemented by 
the current American government in 
the coming period. It is expected that 
cooperation will be focused mostly in 
Asia and Latin America regions. 

North American airlines continued to 
exhibit the strongest financial per-
formances in the sector. Over the last 
three years, North American airlines 
have constituted more than half of 
the aviation profitability. However, 
this momentum is drawing a declining 
trend due to rising costs. Even though 
the net profit level of USD 20.3 billion 
in 2016 could not be reached in 2017, 
a net profit of USD 15.6 billion is 
obtained. In 2018, a net profit of USD 
16.4 billion is estimated4.

The biggest challenge for profitabili-
ty in the region will be the costs next 
year. Considering that the increase 
in the fuel prices and labor costs will 
accelerate, it can be predicted that 
the sector will be more affected in 
the USA territory. Hedging fuel in 
smaller quantities will be a disadvan-
tage in the case of a rapid increase 
in the fuel price. However, since it is 
expected that the market conditions 
will continue to remain strong, the 
demand will increase, and negative 
impacts will be less effective.

The capacity increase, which was 
4.6% in 2016 and 3.9% in 2017, is 
expected to be 3.4% in 2018. A de-
celeration is observed in the traffic 

10 IATA: Latin America & the Caribbean: Challenges 
and Opportunities

increase. While the traffic increase 
was 4.2% in 2016, it was 4.0% in 2017 
and it is expected to be 3.5% in 2018. 
In the region where the highest net 
profit per pax are seen, while the net 
profit per pax was USD 18.10 in 2016, 
it was USD 16.32 in 2017, and is ex-
pected to be USD 16.67 in 20184.

CENTRAL AND SOUTH 
AMERICA
Air transport is vital to the region's 
economic growth by contributing 
USD 167 billion to the GDP of the 
region and employing 5.2 million 
people in the region. Although the 
regional airlines faced with challeng-
ing environmental aspects, a weak 

market and monetary fluctuations, 
and pressure in 2017, the situation 
has begun to recover and is expected 
to improve further in 2018.

Despite the loss of USD 700 million 
in 2016, a net profit of USD 700 mil-
lion was achieved in 2017, and a net 
profit of USD 900 million is expect-
ed in 2018. Traffic increased by 4.5% 
in 2016 and by 7.5% in 2017; and is 
expected to increase by 8% in 2018. 
Capacity increased by 3.4% in 2016, 
and by 5.9% in 2017 despite some 
obstacles and natural disasters. Ca-
pacity is expected to increase by 7.5% 
in 2018. The net profit per pax was 
USD 2.42 in 2016 and USD 2.4 in 2017. 
In 2018, it is expected to increase to 
USD 3.004. 

Although the region has all the 
necessary qualities for success in 
the aviation such as competition, 
efficient airlines, growing middle 
class, positive demographic features 
and geographical conditions, coun-
tries other than Panama and Chile 
do not provide regular support to 
the airlines that would provide value 
and economic benefit to the region. 
For this reason, it is possible that the 
regional aviation will be shaped by 
external resources and cooperations 
in the near future10.

The North American Region, 
which was the winner in 

profitability with a net profit 
of USD 15.6 billion in 2017, is 
estimated to make a profit 

of USD 16.4 billion in 2018. It 
is estimated that the region 
will be followed by Europe, 
Asia Pacific, Latin America 

and Middle East regions 
respectively. In the African 
Region, on the other hand, 
profitability is estimated to 
remain at a negative level in 

2018, as in the past.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

The Istanbul New 
Airport, which will be 
operational after the 

completion of its first 
phase on 29 October 
2018, will be a great 

advantage for our 
country and brand 

thanks to its unique 
geographical location 

that connects the 
European and Asian 

continents, and to its 
design which takes into 

account all needs for 
the future.

M. İlker AYCI
Chairman of the Board and the 
Executive Committee

OUR ESTEEMED 
SHAREHOLDERS, 
CUSTOMERS, BUSINESS 
PARTNERS, AND EMPLOYEES
As a record- breaking year, 2017 was an 
impressive period for national flag-car-
rier Turkish Airlines, and proved what 
can be achieved with determination, 
unity and teamwork. Our Incorporation 
successfully weathered the effects of 
the previous year’s developments on 
our country and the sector, thanks to its 
efficient capacity management, financial 
discipline, and following a quick turna-
round in 2017, has again achieved high 
growth rates, exceeding expectations. 

As the airline flying to more countries 
than any other airline, we have become 
one of the most profitable powerhouses 
in global aviation thanks to high-per-
forming tourism sector’s accompani-
ment to the steady growth of our coun-
try, Turkey. Undoubtedly, the greatest 
share in this success belongs to our 
colleagues who despite extraordinary 
circumstances, never compromise on 
the service quality, keep passenger sat-
isfaction at the highest level and ensure 
to make Turkish Airlines "the number 
one" in the eyes of our guests. I express 
my appreciation once more to our col-
leagues who devotedly work at all times 
and would like to thank our subsidiaries, 
stakeholders and all our businesses 
that contribute to the development of 

civil aviation in our country. As a large 
family of over 51,000 members, includ-
ing subsidiaries, this sense of unity and 
engagement shown by Turkish Airlines 
in recent years, reinforces my belief even 
more that our pace and growth rate 
will increase as we approach our 2023 
targets.

STRONG GROWTH IN ALL 
LANES
As a brand that is enshrined in our 
passengers' hearts with our award-win-
ning service quality, we have wrapped 
up 2017 with pride, adding another 
successful chapter to our history of 
achievements. The number of passen-
gers we succeeded in attracting, even 
during the years of challenges, in-
creased by 9.3 percent in 2017, reaching 
68.6 million. This increase, which was 
10.4 percent in domestic flights and 
8.5 percent in international flights, was 
accompanied by a 79.1 percent passen-
ger load factor with an increase of 4.5 
points.

We have achieved remarkable results 
and records in our financial statement. 
We generated a net profit of 223 million 
USD, while breaking the Consolidated 
Operating Profit record amounting to 1 
billion 22 million USD in 2017.

EBITDAR (Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and 
Rent), which represent the cash gener-

body aircraft and 16 freighters. In terms 
of total number of aircraft (including 
freighters), we are ranked 11th glob-
ally with an average fleet age of 7.7 
years. We continue our investments in 
this field; continue our purchases of 
cutting-edge technology, and environ-
ment-friendly and fuel-saving aircraft. 

We have extended our flight network 
from the Istanbul hub to 303 points 
including 51 domestic and 252 interna-
tional destinations. We have developed 
our flight network even more with the 
addition of Conakry (Guinea), Kharkiv 
(Ukraine), Voronezh (Russia), and 
Phuket (Thailand) in 2017. This year, we 
increased the number of countries we 
fly to to 120. By including Freetown (Si-
erra Leone), Samarkand (Uzbekistan), 
Aqaba (Jordan), Krasnodar (Russia), 
Moroni (Union of the Comoros), Mar-
rakech (Morocco), and Palermo (Italy) 
to our flight network, we will continue 
to carry our flag to new destinations. 

According to data of the International 
Air Transport Association (IATA), the 
number of passengers transported 
globally has increased by 7.1 percent 
to 4.08 billion people and the capacity 
increase was 6.3 percent. The growth 
in the economies and the populations 
of Asia-Pacific countries has led to a 
shift of global economic power from 
the West to the East. A similar trend 
is also expected in the aviation sector. 
As the airline flying to more countries 
than any other, with a mission to build 
bridges between continents, peoples 
and cultures, Turkish Airlines devel-
ops its plans and strategies to get the 
highest share in this growth. 

THE ISTANBUL NEW 

AIRPORT IS OUR GREATEST 
LEVERAGE 
Next year, we will witness one of the 
most important milestones of Turkey’s 
aviation industry and our brand. The 
Istanbul New Airport, which will be-
come operational on 29 October 2018 
after completion of its first phase, will 
be an investment that demonstrates 
the future vision of Turkish Airlines and 
will be admired by all. We are already 
experiencing the excitement of turning 
the unique location of Istanbul, the 
city that links the European and Asian 
continents, into a big advantage for our 
country and our brand with this gigan-
tic, high-capacity, passenger-oriented 
and "smart" facility which is designed 
by taking into account both today's 
and tomorrow's needs.

Thanks to this major investment real-
ized with the vision and foresight of our 
President H.E. Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, 
all stakeholders of our aviation sector 
will be assuming much larger roles and 

ation capacity, broke records, amount-
ing to 3 billion and 16 million USD, and 
our EBITDAR margin was calculated as 
27.5 percent. 

Flying to more countries and interna-
tional destinations than any other air-
line in the world and having a well-di-
versified income spectrum, our brand 
increased its revenue by 12 percent 
reaching 10 billion 958 million USD 
thanks to the increase in demand in 
2017, and thus broke another significant 
record.

Turkish Cargo, one of our sub-brands, 
continued its strong growth in 2017, in-
creasing the cargo volume transported 
by 26.5 percent to 1.1 million tons. Our 
Cargo income increased by 32 percent 
compared to the previous year and 
reached 1.3 billion USD in 2017.

Despite the lack of stability in our 
region and the intense global compe-
tition, Turkish Airlines has maintained 
its position among the most success-
ful companies in its sector through 
the above-mentioned figures we have 
achieved. 

Turkish Airlines, which has one of the 
youngest and most modern fleets in 
the world, has 329 airplanes as of 2017 
including 223 narrow body and 90 wide 

responsibilities in global aviation than 
their current ones.  We are currently 
completing our plans for efficiently 
using the high capacity of the Istanbul 
New Airport during this period when we 
are also rapidly preparing for the relo-
cation process. Upon completion of the 
first phase, this facility will serve 90 
million passengers annually and 200 
million passengers when it is fully com-
pleted, which will increase even more 
with the growth pace of Turkish Airlines 
and our aviation sector. The Istanbul 
New Airport will bring fresh momentum 
to the entire aviation sector and will 
become a unique experience by itself, 
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representing our brand and country, 
where all our customer contact points 
will be designed from scratch. Our new 
airport, designed as a smart complex, 
will be equipped with the cutting-edge 
technology facilities to prepare our 
guests to their flights with the self-
check-in areas and customized special 
passenger lounges intended to maxi-
mize their Turkish Airlines experience. 

Based on our strategic plans for the 
Asia-Pacific region, which is expected 
to play an active role in the future of 
aviation with its high growth potential, 
we will increase our number of flights 
to countries such as China and India 
and launch new routes to this region, 
thanks to Istanbul New Airport’s high 
capacity and the availability of new 
slots.

THE DIFFERENCE WE 
CREATE WITH OUR BRAND 
EXPERIENCE
In the aviation sector billions of people 
fly each year in an increasingly inten-
sive competitive market, and we need 
to be able to understand correctly the 
expectations of the passengers and 
promptly respond to their demands in 
order to make a difference.  

The aviation industry transported 4 
billion passengers in 2017, and is ex-
pected to fly 4.3 billion passengers by 
the end of 2018. By 2035, this figure is 
expected to increase up to 7.2 billion. 
Every year more and more people use 
air transport, new airline companies are 
established, new aircraft are ordered, 
and new routes are launched. In such 
an environment, brand new experiences 
must be offered in order to create a dif-
ference, stand out among the competi-
tion and become the preferred brand in 
the eyes of passengers. 

Our Brand Experience, in which we 
have strictly and entirely defined all 
our interactions with our passengers, 
and favored the principle of "uncon-
ditional satisfaction" at each stage, 
constitutes our greatest advantage in 
order to be in the top ranks in passen-
ger preferences. We address each and 
every point where our passengers make 
contact with our brand such as our 
aircraft, special passenger lounges and 
digital platforms, and equip each such 
point with subtleties and refinements 
that are unique to us. The correct oper-
ation of all these processes, where our 
passengers experience our brand at the 
highest level, also upholds the overall 
quality perception as well.

In this sense, the Electronics Ban that 
was briefly enforced on the airline 
companies based on our region for 
the flights to the USA and the UK has 
made history as an example showing 
how Turkish Airlines is able to maintain 
its Brand Experience even under unex-
pected challenging situations. During 
the period of Ban, we carried the lap-
tops and other electronic devices of our 
passengers in a specially designated 
cargo hold in our aircraft. We prevent-
ed any undesired experience that our 
passengers may be subject to by pro-
viding services such as free Wi-Fi and 
substitute laptops, and thus displayed 
total attention to detail and the care 
we provide for our passengers. Even 
though it lasted for only a brief period, 
this unjust requirement proved how 
successful our brand is at developing 
innovative solutions in such events. 

OUR CERTIFIED QUALITY 
AND COMMUNICATION 
ACTIVITIES
We continuously improve and diversify 
our services to make each passenger a 
Brand Ambassador in order to pro-
mote our brand and our country in the 
best and incisive manner. The most 
meaningful return of such efforts is 
the awards that we have received over 
the years thanks to the votes of our 
passengers. 

These awards, that are presented by 
some of the most prestigious insti-
tutions in our industry, not only show 
that we are on the right track, but also 
encourage us to do better. In 2017, we 
were also given prestigious awards 
worldwide for our Business Class 
services, and we made our mark on the 
awards for complimentary food and 
drinks that reflect our traditional hos-
pitality as well.

Turkish Airlines entertains its passen-
gers, considered as guests, with the 
traditional hospitality of our nation, 
and safely carries them to their loved 
ones, comfortably and on time. In order 
to get ahead of the global competi-
tion in airline transportation, it is not 
sufficient that we do our job in the best 
possible way, but also create the right 
perception that we do our job the best.
For this purpose, while we, as Turkish 
Airlines, bridge the gap between conti-
nents, countries and cultures, we sup-
port social, cultural and sporting activi-
ties in the countries we fly to, thereby 
creating bonds between communities 
and people. These activities constitute 
some of the most important communi-
cation elements that we use to convey 
the influence and power of our brand to 
a wide range of people.

The hashtag #TurkishAirlinesHelpSo-
malia that echoed around social media 
in March 2017 demonstrated the level 
reached by our social welfare activities 
worldwide. As Turkish Airlines, with a 
strong presence in the African conti-
nent and being the only international 
airline flying to Somalia, we respond-
ed instantly to the call made for the 
African country facing the threat of 
starvation and famine. Millions of dol-
lars’ worth of food and supplies were 
delivered in a short period of time to 
Somalia by two cargo planes provided 
by Turkish Airlines, the largest interna-
tional airline in Africa. 

Turkish Airlines Euroleague Final Four, 
an international sport tournament that 
we title-sponsor was held in Istanbul in 
2017 thanks to our leading efforts, and 
for the first time in history, a Turkish 
team, Fenerbahçe, became the cham-
pion of European basketball after a 
historic Final Four.

The most prominent communication 
work we realized in 2017 was the TV 
commercial shown in the Super Bowl, 
the American Football NFL final that 
traditionally achieves the highest 
ratings in television history. Recogniz-
able from his characteristic voice, the 
call made by Morgan Freeman, one of 
Hollywood's most famous faces, in the 
commercial to discover the world with 
Turkish Airlines, has reached billions of 
people around the world.

We have also continued our support to 
prestigious sports events such as the 
Turkish Airlines Open, which has made 
Antalya (known as the Turkish Rivi-
era) the apple of the eye for golf fans; 
Turkish Airlines World Golf Cup, the 
largest corporate amateur golf tour-
nament, European Professional Club 
Rugby Championship, and Chio Aachen 
Equestrian Tournament.

With our sponsorship of "Ayla", a movie 
based on a true story of humanity and 
the unconditional goodness of our 
people and culture, we have once again 
brought our country and brand to the 
fore among world movie circles. Tur-
key's Oscar nominee, Ayla, has reflect-
ed the deep-rooted support we give to 
cultural and artistic activities.

OUR 2023 VISION AND 
TARGETS
The successful conclusion of the year 
2017 reinforced our enthusiasm and 
ambition to reach our goals in the next 
period that will see Istanbul New Air-
port begin operations. Combining the 
high dynamism of Turkish Airlines, the 

strategic location of Istanbul and the 
capacity of our new home, it should be 
easy to attain the Turkish Airlines that 
we envision and to be on the top of our 
sector by 2023, the 100th anniversary 
of our Republic. 

Our major objective for 2018 is moving 
to the Istanbul New Airport and carry-
ing 74 million passengers, which will in-
clude 33 million domestic and 41 million 
international passengers, generating 
11.8 billion USD in revenue. 

In 2023, the year by which all phases of 
the Istanbul New Airport is scheduled 
to be completed, we aim to have 120 
million passengers annually, 30 billion 
USD revenue and gain a 4 percent 
share of world aviation with a fleet of 
500 aircraft. 

We rely on our innovation capability, 
now an integral part of our corporate 
culture for further development of our 
products and services, to be ready for 
the intense competition expected in 
the aviation sector in the coming years.

As Turkish Airlines, we are prepared 
for the zenith of the global aviation 
industry with our employees – as our 
most valuable asset, achievements in 
our 84-year of history and the unshak-
able support our nation has given  to 
our brand. 

I would like to thank all our employees, 
business partners and shareholders 
for the confidence they have invested 
in our brand. With the Istanbul New 
Airport being our new home on 29 Oc-
tober 2018, I hope to share with you the 
achievements that our country and the 
aviation industry will be proud of.

The Istanbul New Airport, 
designed as a smart 

complex, will be equipped 
with cutting-edge 

technology facilities to 
prepare our guests for their 
flights with the self-check-

in areas and customized 
special passenger lounges 
intended to maximize their 
Turkish Airlines experience. 
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M. İlker AYCI
Chairman of the Board and the 
Executive Committee

Born in Istanbul in 1971, M. İlker Aycı gradu-
ated from Bilkent University’s Department 
of Political Science and Public Administra-
tion in 1994 and went to the UK to work as 
a researcher at Leeds University’s Depart-
ment of Political Science in 1995. In 1997, he 
graduated from the International Relations 
Masters program (English) in Marmara 
University.

Starting his career in 1994, Mr. Aycı held 
a variety of roles at Kurtsan İlaçları A.Ş., 
Istanbul Municipal Authority and Universal 
Dış Ticaret A.Ş. He was also assigned as 
the General Manager of  Başak Sigorta A.Ş. 
between 2005 – 2006, the General Manag-
er of Güneş Sigorta A.Ş between 2006-
2011 and the President of The Investment, 
Support and Promotion Agency of Turkey 
between 2011-2015 and he was the Vice 
President and President of the World As-
sociation of Investment Agencies between 
2013 -2015. He has been performing the 
duty of the Turkish Airlines Inc. Chairman 
of the Board and the Executive Committee 
since April 2015.

Having held positions in different capacities 
in a number of organizations such as the 
Insurance Association of Turkey, the Turk-
ish-Chinese Business Council, Vakıf Emek-
lilik A.Ş and Güneş Sigorta Sports Club, Mr. 
AYCI currently serves as a member in the 
Turkey-U.S., Turkey-Canada, Turkey-U.K., 
Turkey-Brazil Business Councils  under the 
Foreign Economic Relations Board. Mr. Aycı 
also serves in the Board of Directors and 
Audit Committees in various organizations 
such as the Turkish Football Federation and 
Turkish Airlines Sports Club. Mr. Aycı speaks 
English and Russian.

Bilal EKŞİ
President & CEO, Deputy Chairman of 
the Board of Directors and Executive 
Committee

Born in 1968 in Rize, Bilal EKŞİ graduated from 
Yıldız Technical University, the Department of 
Electronics and Communications Engineering in 
1989. 

Starting his career in 1989, Mr. EKŞİ worked as 
an Electronics and Communications Engineer at 
Turkish State Railways and thereafter, he was 
assigned to the position of Workshop Manager at 
Istanbul Ulaşım A.Ş., and he played an active role 
in realization of significant transport projects. 

As the Head of Overhaul Workshops at Turk-
ish Airlines Inc., Mr. EKŞİ carried out the duty of 
maintenance of aircraft engines, landing gears 
and all components between 2003-2005. In 
2005, he has been assigned as the Chief Ground 
Operations Officer at Turkish Airlines Inc. Mr. EKŞİ 
accomplished significant projects, particularly in 
improvement of the on-time departure perfor-
mance during his tenure.

Having served as the Chief Production Officer at 
Turkish Technic in 2008-2009; and as the General 
Manager of Cyprus Turkish Airlines as part of the 
reorganization of Cyprus Turkish Airlines in 2010; 
and as the Executive Vice President at “Turkish 
Engine Center (TEC)”, established by the Joint 
Venture of Pratt Whitney, the American Engine 
manufacturer, and Turkish Technic Inc. between 
2010–2011; Mr. EKŞİ was assigned as the Director 
General of Civil Aviation in April 2011.

During his tenure as the Director General of Civil 
Aviation, Turkey has been reelected as a member 
of Council of International Civil Aviation Organi-
zation (ICAO) 66 years later its previous member-
ship and has become one of the 36 members in 
ICAO’s decision-making platform. 

On the 21st of October, 2016, Mr. EKŞİ has been 
assigned as Chief Executive Officer and Deputy 
Chairman of the Board and Executive Committee 
of Turkish Airlines Inc.

İsmail Cenk DİLBEROĞLU
Member of the Board and the 
Executive Committee  

Born in İstanbul in 1975, İsmail Cenk 
Dilberoğlu graduated from Marmara 
University, Faculty of Law. From 1999 
to 2003 he worked as a lawyer in his 
own office which is located in İstanbul, 
Cağaloğlu. Since 2003, he has been 
giving legal consultancy to compa-
nies in the field of commercial law, 
incorporation law, tax law, execution 
and bankruptcy law, within a partner-
ship structure called “Kollektif Hukuk 
Bürosu”. In 1999, he was appointed 
as a member of the Board of Trustee 
of Ensar Vakfı and acted as the Vice 
Chairman until 2011 and since then he 
has been serving as the Chairman of 
the Board of Trustee of Ensar Vakfı. 
Mr. Dilberoğlu is married with three 
children.

İsmail GERÇEK
Member of the Board

Born in Çan, Çanakkale in 1963, Mr. Gerçek 
graduated from Ankara University, Faculty 
of Political Sciences, Public Administration 
department in 1985. He studied economics 
and received his MA studies in money & 
banking in USA between 1992 and 1994. He 
still continues his Doctorate thesis studies 
in Istanbul University in Financial Law. His 
career began in the position of assistant 
inspector at the Ministry of Finance Review 
Committee in 1985. Until 1998 he worked 
as a finance inspector and finance inspec-
tor general. From 1995-1997 Mr. Gerçek 
was deputy assistant District Treasurer in 
Istanbul. He also served as a member of the 
Audit Committee in TEKEL, Turkish Football 
Federation and Joint Funds Bank Inc. Pur-
suing his career as a chartered accountant 
and Independent Auditor, Mr. Gerçek is a 
member of the Audit Committee of Par-
ticipation Banks Association of Turkey and 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees at Fatih 
Sultan Mehmet Foundation University.   

Prof. Dr. Mecit EŞ 
Member of the Board

Prof. Dr. Mecit EŞ, born in 1953 in Sam-
sun; received his degree from the Istanbul 
University School of Economics in 1974. 
Having held several offices, he commenced 
his academic projects and received his 
Doctorate in 1985. He became Associate 
Professor in 1990 and Professor in 1996. 
And having then worked at Dumlupınar 
University between 1992-2012, Mr. EŞ con-
tinues his academic studies as a Professor 
of the Academy of Commercial Sciences 
at Istanbul Commerce University. He has 
published many books and articles, and is 
married with three children.

Ogün ŞANLIER 
Independent Member of the Board

Born in 1974, Ogün Şanlıer graduated from 
Marmara University, Faculty of Econom-
ics and Administrative Sciences, Public 
Administration in French in 1999. He served 
as an Export Specialist in Anadolu Isuzu 
Otomotiv San. Tic. A.Ş. between 1999-2001, 
Regional Export Manager in Feniş Dış Ticar-
et A.Ş. between 2002-2007. He also served 
in different executive positions in Metropol-
itan Municipality of Istanbul Department of 
Subsidiaries Halk Ekmek A.Ş. between the 
years of 2007-2013. He has been perform-
ing the Duty of the Chairman of the Board 
of İstanbul Medya Akademisi A.Ş. Mr. Şan-
lıer can speak English, German and French 
and is married with two children.

iayci@thy.com  igercek@thy.combilaleksi@thy.com mes@thy.comidilberoglu@thy.com osanlier@thy.com
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Arzu AKALIN
Independent Member of the 
Board

Ms. Arzu Akalın was born in 
Germany in 1973. Completing part 
of her education in Germany, she 
was graduated from İstanbul Vefa 
Poyraz High School and İstanbul 
University Faculty of Law. She was 
graduated from İstanbul Universi-
ty Faculty of Law, ranking first in 
class, during the period 1991-1995. 
She was specialized in patent 
rights in commercial law.

Ms. Akalın commenced her profes-
sional business life in 1997. After 
working in the field of brand and 
patent law in a private incorpo-
ration for 11 years, she set up her 
own law office in 2010. She is a 
trademark/patent attorney and 
also has native fluency in German. 
Currently, she continues her stud-
ies in order to have a Ph.D. degree 
in law in Germany.

Orhan BİRDAL
Member of the Board

Born in Kemah, Erzincan in 1958, Mr. Birdal completed his prima-
ry and high school education in İstanbul. In 1980, he graduated 
from the Istanbul Academy of Economics and Commercial 
Sciences College of Journalism and Public Relations, and in 
1990 completed his graduate degree from the Social Sciences 
Institute of Marmara University. 

In 1982, he took his first step in the aviation sector by starting as 
an air traffic controller at the Atatürk Airport, incorporated un-
der the General Directorate of State Airports Authority (DHMI). 
Later on, he carried out various duties, such as air traffic con-
troller and Airport Manager in Erzincan, Directorate of Nevşehir 
Kapadokya, Trabzon and İzmir Adnan Menderes Airports and 
Senior Vice President of Airport Operation Department of DHMI.

After working as the Deputy Director and Member Of the 
Board of Directors of DHMI in 2003, he assumed the position of 
General Manager and Chairman of the Board Directors of DHMI 
between 2007-2015. Following his position in DHMI, Mr. Orhan 
Birdal was appointed to the Undersecretariat of the Ministry of 
Transport, Maritime Affairs and Communications. By the end of 
2015, he started to serve as Deputy Undersecretary responsible 
for Aviation and Railroads.

During his tenure as the General Manager of DHMI, he also 
served as the Member of the Board of Directors and Auditing 
Committee of Turkish Airlines, between 2008-2012. Besides, he 
also served as the Vice President of the Turkish Civil Aviation 
Council of the Union of Chambers and Commodity Exchanges of 
Turkey (TOBB).

Having worked as a senior manager in the aviation sector for 
many years, Mr. Birdal, carried out many successful projects in-
cluding IGA, world’s greatest build-operate-transfer project. He 
also served in high level positions in 17 build-operate-transfer 
projects regarding several airports of Turkey.   

Mr. Birdal actively participated in the commission of Domestic 
Aircraft Project in Turkey. He also served as Chairman of Avi-
ation Sector and moderator in 10. And 11. Transportation Council.

Mr. Birdal granted several awards including Bureaucrat of the 
year and Government Executive of the Year by domestic and 
international institutions. 

Mr. Birdal speaks English, and is married with four children.

Muzaffer AKPINAR 
Independent Member of the 
Board

Born in 1962, Mr. Akpınar graduat-
ed from Saint-Michel French High 
School and the Bosphorus Universi-
ty Faculty of Administrative Scienc-
es. Mr. AKPINAR is married and 
has two children. His professional 
career commenced in 1986 when he 
became the founder shareholder 
of Penta Textile. In 1993 he was ap-
pointed CEO of KVK Mobil Telefon 
Hizmetleri A.Ş.. Subsequently, Mr. 
Akpınar served as the CEO of MV 
Holding A.Ş. and played an active 
role in the foundation of Fintur 
Holding BV. Between the years of 
2002 and 2006, Mr. AKPINAR acted 
as the CEO of Turkcell. He remains 
an entrepreneur and investor in the 
fields of renewable energy, tech-
nology, chemicals and construction. 
Muzaffer Akpınar is currently the 
Chairman of KVK Teknoloji A.Ş, Dost 
Enerji A.Ş. , Portmobil A.Ş. , Vice 
chairman of MV Holding A.Ş. and 
Kimya Teknik A.Ş. and the President 
of Muzaffer Akpınar Foundation.

arzu.akalin@thy.com muzafferakpinar@thy.comorhanbirdal@thy.com

MISSION
To become the preferred leading European 

air carrier with a global network of coverage 
thanks to its strict compliance with flight 

safety, reliability, product line, service qual-
ity and competitiveness, whilst maintaining 
its identity as the flag carrier of the Repub-

lic of Turkey in the civil air transportation 
industry.

to become an air carrier with;

 | A continued growth trend over industry average

 | Zero major accidents/crashes

 | Most envied service levels worldwide

 | Unit costs equating with low cost carriers

 | Sales and distribution costs below industry averages

 | A personnel constantly developing their 
qualifications with the awareness of the close 
relationship between the benefits for the 
incorporation and the added value that they 
contribute

 | An entrepreneurship that creates business 
opportunities for fellow members in the Star Alliance 
and takes advantage of the business potential 
provided by them

 | A staff well adapted to modern governance 
principles by observing the best interests of not only 
shareholders but also stakeholders

VISION
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STRATEGIES AND 
STRATEGIC FOCUSES

Turkish Airlines, which has the most 
international destinations in the 
world also has the world's fourth 
largest flight network. Turkish Air-
lines has also maintained its position 
that offers its passenger the highest 
number of connection options (O&D 
pair) in Africa and the Middle East.

The most important stakeholder 
behind Turkish Airlines' wide flight 
network and high service quality is 
its young and strong fleet. The dy-
namic Turkish Airlines fleet, address-
ing many different markets thanks to 
its quality, reached 329 aircrafts with 
cargo and passenger aircrafts at the 
end of 2017. Also possessing training 
aircraft in its fleet, Turkish Airlines 
has one of the youngest fleets of Eu-
rope with a fleet age 7.7 years. Turkish 
Airlines will keep growing with the 
aircrafts it will receive in the coming 

continuity. 

Turkish Airlines implements new 
policies increasing the employees' 
efficiency and work commitment. The 
efficiency is also raised by keeping 
the fleet young and increasing the 
aircraft utilizations. The works carried 
out with regards to fuel efficiency 
target to achieve cost efficiency 
on the one hand and decrease the 
greenhouse gas emission on the 
other hand.

BRAND AWARENESS AND 
PREFERABILITY
Thanks to the large flight network 
and high service quality it provides 
to its customers, Turkish Airlines is 
one of the most preferred airlines 
today. Our Incorporation, which has 
increased its brand awareness with 
the support of the commercials 
featuring world-renowned celebrities 
and advantageous flight campaigns, 
does not only reinforce its current 
customers' loyalty but also reaches 
the target passenger segment grad-
ually more easily.

In addition to the brand ambas-
sadors with whom it has made 
agreements as per its regional and 
international brand strategy, Turkish 
Airlines reinforces its brand aware-
ness through the sponsorships it 
provides to teams in different sports, 
individual athletes, and national and 
international tournaments followed 
by the world.

In 2016, our brand was the first and 
only Turkish brand in the Super Bowl, 
the most important sports event of 
the US and the most watched sports 
program of the world. In the year 
2017, our new commercial with the 
Oscar winner actor Morgan Free-

man in the lead role was broadcast 
in the Super Bowl. In addition to 
being broadcast in 120 countries, our 
commercial has been watched by 21.6 
million people on YouTube.

Euroleague Final Four 2017 Organi-
zation, the most prestigious Europe-
an basketball tournament that is un-
der our Incorporation's sponsorship 
until 2020, was held in Istanbul. Final 
Four Istanbul 2017 was broadcast live 
in 214 countries.

“Turkish Airlines Open” golf tour-
nament, which hosts thousands of 
people, which is followed by mil-
lions of golf-lovers, and the fifth of 
which was held this year with Turkish 
Airlines' main sponsorship, has made 
substantial contributions to brand 
recognition. Followed by 1.2 million 
people this year, which is a record, 
the tournament was the subject of 
4 thousand 58 pieces of news in 52 
countries including also the USA, 
the UK, and Ireland, and reached 3.1 
billion people globally.

Besides, our Incorporation spon-
soring Italy Cricket Team is also the 
name sponsor of the ACE OF M.I.C.E 
Exhibition and Italy Serie A2 Bas-
ket Cup finals. Turkish Cargo was 
the “Gold Sponsor” of the 27th CNS 
Partnership Conference organized 
this year.

Our Incorporation has won awards in 
numerous areas contributing to the 
Brand Awareness.

In the Apex Passenger Choice 
Awards, our Incorporation has been 
named a “5-Star Global Airline”. In 
the “Sustainable Business Awards 
2017”, it won the first prize with its 
Fuel Saving Project. Besides, it won 

Our young and strong 
fleet:The dynamic Turkish 
Airlines fleet, addressing 
many different markets 

thanks to its quality, 
reached 329 aircrafts 

with cargo and passenger 
aircrafts at the end of 2017.

efficient, more effective, and more 
easily available to the customer at 
more destinations.

In the year 2018, Istanbul New Air-
port the foundations of which were 
laid in the year 2014 in Istanbul that 
is very important for Turkish Airlines' 
strategic growth targets, that is an 
ideal hub between Asia and Europe, 
and the air traffic of which increas-
es with each passing day is going 
to be an important milestone for 
Turkish Airlines in implementing its 
vision for the year 2023. With the 
opening of İstanbul New Airport, 
it is planned first to get rid of the 
capacity restrictions, thus using the 
geographical advantage of Istanbul 
more effectively, and to increase both 
direct and transit passenger trans-
portation as well as the air cargo 
activities. The advantages of İstanbul 
new airport will allow our brand to 
enlarge its flight network more, and 
thus making it an important value 
for Turkish aviation sector, mainly our 
own affiliates.

BUSINESS EXCELLENCE AND 
EFFICIENCY
Meeting the national and internation-
al requirements at the highest level, 
Turkish Airlines performs important 
works with regards to business 
excellence. With the business model 
managed through processes, con-
tinuing improvements are achieved. 
Besides, the Incorporation increases 
the implementation effectiveness 
by updating its information and 
communication technologies infra-
structures. Turkish Airlines targets to 
increase efficiency in all its processes. 
With effective and efficient use of 
the resources, the works intended 
for increasing the operational and 
commercial efficiency have gained 

years will remain close to the current 
level.

With the current and future new 
additions to the fleet, the Incorpora-
tion's objective is to serve 120 million 
passengers and has one of the big-
gest and cutting-edge fleet with over 
500 aircrafts that meet the increas-
ing passenger traffic and the chang-
ing needs of its customers, that give 
priority to the passengers' comfort 
and safety, that are equipped with 
the cutting-edge technology, and 
that are not only economically 
efficient but also environmentally 
conscious in the year 2023.

In addition to the innovations and in-
vestments planned for the passenger 
transportation, Turkish Airlines, which 
attaches importance to air cargo 
transport as well, has kept growing 
in that sector with the B777F cargo 
aircrafts it added to its fleet for the 
first time in 2017. The cargo plans for 
the year 2018 include the creation of 
a cargo service network that is more 

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND 
PROFITABILITY
Promising its passengers a wid-
er world in its motto “Widen Your 
World”, Turkish Airlines manages its 
flight network by accurately ana-
lyzing the demands from different 
destinations. Turkish Airlines while 
offered 298 flight destinations in 119 
countries at the end of year 2016 
increased number of destionations 
to 303 and countries to 120 in 2017. 
Analyze of the regional breakdown 
of international flights reveals that 
Turkish Airlines serves 43 countries 
and 114 destinations in Europe, 33 
countries and 51 destinations in 
Africa, 8 countries and 17 destina-
tions in America, 22 countries and 36 
destinations in the Far East, and 13 
countries and 34 destinations in the 
Middle East.
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the Gold Prize in the LACP Spotlight 
organization and the “Best Corporate 
Service Provider Airline that offers 
Connection to Africa” award in the 
“IMA Italian Mission Awards 2017”. 
Our Incorporation won prizes in three 
categories in “Turkey Bonds & Loans 
Awards 2017” and four categories 
according to the Skytrax 2017 results.

The “Fly Good Feel Good” project has 
been implemented. Our Incorpora-
tion targets to increase brand recog-
nition, awareness and value more in 
the next period with the projects and 
sponsorships it has implemented or 
planned recently.

CUSTOMER ORIENTATION
In the past, the major companies 
were focusing more on their products 
and leaving behind the expectations 
of the customers who would prefer 
them. Nowadays, on the other hand, 
successful companies are growing by 
setting customer-oriented strategies 
instead of product orientation. In the 
aviation sector where customer ori-
entation is of great importance, the 
airline companies use the advancing 
technology and changing regulations 
to meet the customers' expectations 
in the best way.

Being aware of the fact that meet-
ing the customer's expectations 
requires an accurate analysis of who 
the customer is, our Incorporation 
sets its strategies by considering the 
customers' sensitivities to price, time, 
and service quality. Arguing that 
the customer satisfaction must be 
ensured at every stage of the service 
given, Turkish Airlines in accordance 
with this purpose, offers different 
alternatives before and during the 
flight through its smiling employees.

Turkish Airlines targets to offer its 
passengers a service satisfying them 
at every stage of their flight experi-
ences through the check-in services 
it gives by means of its user-friendly 

webpage and easy-to-use airport 
kiosks that save time before flight, 
in-flight services with different 
concepts, in-flight entertainment 
options, individual special celebra-
tion surprises, and extra services 
such as amenity kits, which provide 
home comfort, which provides during 
the flight and as well as the lounge 
services after the flight that make 
the passengers feel at home while 
waiting for their connecting flights at 
the airport.

While Turkish Airlines is constantly 
growing with an increasing prefer-
ence, it is also pursuing an effective 
strategy to transform existing oppor-
tunities in the sector into advantages 
with its strengths that it possesses.
Closely following the fluctuations in 
the neighborhood of Turkey, Turkish 
Airlines  which is prepared for any 
crisis situation, is taking firm steps to 
consolidate its position among the 
global airline market.

In addition to being selected the 
“Best Airline Incorporation of South-
ern Europe” by Skytrax 9 times 
successively, our Incorporation won 
the “Best Business Class Catering 
Service”, “Best Business Class CIP 

Lounge” and “Best Business Class 
CIP Lounge Catering” awards in the 
year 2017 by implementing different 
ideas produced so that the custom-
ers feel themselves special. Likewise, 
Turkish Airlines was named a “5-Star 
Global Airline” in the Apex Passen-
ger Choice Awards organized by the 
Airline Passenger Experience Associ-
ation (APEX) in 2017.

One of the important event for our 
incorporation in 2018 is the process 
of shifting to Istanbul New Airport 

Our Incorporation won 
the “Best Business Class 
Catering Service”, “Best 

Business Class CIP Lounge” 
and “Best Business Class 

CIP Lounge Catering” 
awards in the year 2017 

by implementing different 
ideas produced so that the 
customers feel themselves 

special.
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which is targeted to be opened at the 
end of October 2018. The solution of 
the certain problems arising from the 
runway and capacity limitations at 
the current airport, and our strate-
gies and plans to increase efficiency 
and customer satisfaction arising 
from the airport processes will be put 
into practice. At the new airport, it is 
expected to decrease the connection 
times and increase the customer sat-
isfaction by managing the processes 
such as smart gate, stand allocation, 
electronic gate, and passport check 
through the autonomous and digital 
systems. Projects, which are deter-
mined through additional analysis 
in 2017 are aimed to increase our 
customer satisfaction and product 
quality are going to be put into prac-
tice in 2018. These projects including 
increasing and standardization of the 
quality of the products/services of-
fered will be continued in the medium 
term as well. In this context, we will 
continue to renew our aircrafts and 
products that fail to meet the cus-
tomer satisfaction standards and lag 
behind in the operational efficiency 
area.

ADDING VALUE TO 
EMPLOYEES
Thanks to the working environment, 
social benefits, and career oppor-
tunities provided for its employees, 
Turkish Airlines determine its em-
ployees to work motivated, satisfied 
and productively as a priority. Our 
incorporation is aware that in every 
stage of our successful service(being 
meticulous, attentive and smiling at 
each stage) starts with our em-
ployees. We communicate with our 
employees with that awareness. In 
accordance with our employee sat-
isfaction policy, we provide surprise 
events, projects on voluntary basis, 
and a motivation boosting working 
environment.

Our incorporation’s primary goal is 
to increase its employees education 
level. In order to achieve this goal our 
incorporation provides joint training 
programs, foreign language courses 
with domestic and foreign organi-
zations, thus making contributions 
both to our employees careers and 
our Incorporation's brand recogni-
tion and perception. Turkish Airlines 
will continue to show importance to 
its employees in the future as in the 
past by contributing their personal 
development and increasing their 
efficiency and loyalty.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
Turkish Airlines put signature to 
pioneering corporate social respon-
sibility projects in the year 2017 as 
well, through the participation of its 
stakeholders, mainly the volunteer 
groups created in the Incorporation 
with participation of its employees. 
Within scope of these social respon-
sibility projects, numerous people, 
mainly children, were reached and 
supported through various activities 
at home and abroad.

Turkish Airlines has the most inter-
national destinations has committed 
itself to becoming a bridge between 
the regions in need of humanitarian 
aid and the resources to be sent to 

meet their needs. Turkish Airlines, 
which brought 60 tons of nutritional 
supplements to Mogadishu in March 
2016 within the scope of cooperation 
with the initiative "Love Army for 
Somalia", sent 60 tons of nutrition-
al supplements for children in 2017. 
Turkish Airlines, which has landed a 
hand to Arakan after Somalia, has 
gotten involved in the projects such 
as construction and repair of school, 
orphanage and clinic buildings, 
educational services, and water well 
drilling in 24 African countries in the 
recent period.

In accordance with our country's 
pioneering and strong position in 
global humanitarian aids, Turkish Air-
lines, flies more destination in Africa 
than any other airline. lends a hand 
to needy people all over the world 
through corporate social responsi-
bility projects and the financial aids 
donated personally by its conscious 
and unselfish employees, and contin-
ues to fulfill its duties and responsi-
bilities as Turkey's Flag-Carrier.

Turkish Airlines, which carried out 
social responsibility projects through 
over 100 volunteers in 30 destina-
tions/countries in the year 2017, tar-
gets to spread these social responsi-
bility projects to all its destinations 
and increase its employees' voluntary 
participations by 2025.

In 2017, Turkish Airlines also imple-
mented a new practice intended for 
the visually-impaired passengers. 
Our Incorporation that has taken ac-
tion to enable the handicapped pas-
sengers to travel more comfortably 
has begun to print the boarding pass 
in Braille for the visually-impaired 
persons at the special check-in coun-
ter it has opened in the international 
terminal of Atatürk Airport. Turkish 
Airlines, which continued to train its 
cabin crews on sign language in the 

year 2017 to enable them to com-
municate with the hearing-impaired 
passengers better, has raised the 
number of its cabin crew members 
who speak sign language to 137.

In addition to social responsibility 
projects, Turkish Airlines also con-
ducts projects indicating the value it 
gives to the environment. Turkish Air-
lines, which carries out all its opera-
tions with a sense of responsibility to 
society, economy, and environment 
and makes contributions to sustain-
able development, has launched a 
new application after it has been 
proven that the plastic materials 
used in toys affect children's health 
and development negatively. Our In-
corporation has prepared a collection 
of moving and shapeshifting toys for 
the children in the age range of 3-12, 
which are made of natural materials 
and include the endangered animal 
figures. With these sets, which will 
consist of different toys at each 
flight, it is aimed to protect the 
health of children who are guarantee 
of the future, to raise awareness on 
the animal species whose habitats 
are under threat in the light of the 
information given by WWF-Turkey, 
and to transform the young passen-
gers' air travels into an entertaining 
experience.

Turkish Airlines, which has taken 
various initiatives to reduce carbon 
footprint by increasing fuel efficiency 
within the scope of protection of the 
environment and the climate change 
that is leading the global problems 
of today, is carrying out 20% more 
efficient flights compared to the 
situation of of a decade ago with the 
studies of fuel efficiency.

Having one of the world's youngest 
aircraft fleets, Turkish Airlines targets 

to keep its leadership position in 
fleet age and decrease the carbon 
and noise emissions thanks to the 
more fuel-efficient next generation 
aircrafts it plans to add to its fleet by 
2023.

INNOVATIVE LIFE
As one of the global air transport 
sector leaders, Turkish Airlines is dil-
igently taking care of innovation and 
innovative projects. Turkish Airlines 
that has increased the importance 
it gives to innovation by making 
process and organizational changes 
in the previous years has laid the 
foundations of the projects to be de-
veloped in the areas such as artificial 
intelligence, internet of things, virtu-
al reality, and augmented reality.

Besides, our brand won the Innova-
tion Transformation Special Award 
and the second prize in the Innova-
tion Cycle category in Turkey Innova-
tion and Entrepreneurship Week 2017 
event organized by Turkish Exporters’ 
Assembly.

Within the scope of the digital 
innovation projects, in addition to 
improvement of the internal process-
es, projects intended for increasing 
the passenger satisfaction are also 

carried out. These projects are made 
with internal resources as well as by 
promoting the environment where 
participation of external sources is 
provided with  Hackathons and simi-
lar activities.

In order to let ideas join the man-
agement, each employee is allowed 
to enter their suggestions into the 
Individual Suggestion System, and 
innovative ideas are awarded as a 
result of the evaluations. Over ten 
thousand suggestions were en-
tered into the Individual Suggestion 
System in the year 2017, and projects 
continue to be developed as a result 
of these ideas.

Our brand won the 
Innovation Transformation 

Special Award and the 
second award in the 

Innovation Cycle category 
in Turkey Innovation and 
Entrepreneurship Week 
2017 event organized 
by Turkish Exporters’ 

Assembly.
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SUBSIDIARIES and 
AFFILIATES

Turkish Airlines continues to strenghten its global 
brand identity on the way of becoming the leader 
of the world aviation sector  with its very qualified 
and experienced staff and fiscally strong group 
companies.

Turkish Airlines has a total of 12 group companies, 
3 of which are wholly owned and 9 are through 
partnerships.

Turkish Airlines decreases costs and provides flexi-
bility, quality and efficiency in its operations, there-
by increasing its competitiveness and efficiency in 
the aviation sector together with its subsidiaries 
and joint ventures.

While supporting the  transportation and Turkish 
aviation sector, Turkish Airline Group companies 
achieved to become profit centers and contribute 
to consolidated profit and additional value for our 
shareholders.

Turkish Airline and its group companies will contin-
ue to be a source for employment for the Aviation 
industry with a family reaching out to 51 thousands 
people as of 2017 year end.

It offers maintenance, repair 

and technical support services 

to over 100 national and 

international air carriers, par-

ticularly Turkish Airlines.

Turkish Technic was founded 

with 100% Turkish Airlines 

capital in 2006 and merged 

with THY HABOM in June 

2015. With a work force reach-

ing to 7.500 employees, the  

vision of the incorporation to 

is to become one of the major 

players in MRO sector,. The in-

corporation provides all kinds 

of technical and infrastructure 

services to aviation industry 

addition to maintenance and 

repair services to reach out its 

vision.

It offers jet fuel storage and 

refuelling services at domestic 

airports, particularly at Istanbul 

Atatürk Airport.

It was established in 2009 with 

50%-50% partnership of Turkish 

Airlines and OPET Fuel Inc.

Turkish Airlines OPET Aviation 

Fuels Inc., which started its 

operations as of July 1, 2010, has 

the largest integrated jet fuel 

facility in Turkey. The incorpora-

tion has fuel serving capability 

at all domestic airports across 

Turkey for its customers. Turkish 

Airlines OPET Aviation Fuels Inc. 

maintained its market leader-

ship in the sector in 2017 with jet 

fuel sales in excess of 2.6 million 

cubic meters.

It offers ground-handling services 

at eight airports across Turkey, 

particularly Istanbul Atatürk Air-

port. Established in 2009 with a 

50%-50% partnership of Turk-

ish Airlines and Havas Airports 

Ground Services Inc: TGS (Turkish 

Ground Services) has been operat-

ing since 2010.

Offering services to a number of 

domestic and international air 

carriers, particularly Turkish Air-

lines and Sun Express at Istanbul 

Atatürk, Istanbul Sabiha Gökçen, 

Ankara Esenboğa, Izmir Adnan 

Menderes, Antalya, Adana, Bodrum 

and Dalaman airports, served 660 

thousand flights at international 

standards with its more than 10 

thousand employees in 2017.

It offers catering services to over 60 

domestic and international air carri-

ers, particularly Turkish Airlines.

It was established in 2007 with a 

50% -50% partnership of Turkish Air-

lines and Austria-origin Do&Co AG.

Head quartered in Istanbul Atatürk 

Airport, the incorporation offers 

catering services to domestic and 

international air carriers, through its 

kitchens founded in nine locations 

across Turkey. Nearly 210.000 meals 

are cooked daily in their kitchens and 

each dish is carefully prepared by 

Turkish Do&Co chefs. Turkish Do&Co 

has significantly improved the qual-

ity of catering services offered on 

board by Turkish Airlines, bringing 

many international awards to our 

incorporation.

It is leading carrier charter 

flights market between Germany 

and Turkey.

It was established in 1989 with 

50% - 50% partnership between  

Turkish Airlines and Lufthansa. 

The incorporation performed its 

first flight 1990 and launched in-

ternational flights between An-

talya - Frankfurt in 2001. After 

having served the charter mar-

ket for many years and became 

Turkey's first privately-owned air 

carrier operating international 

scheduled flights. It serves with 

70 aircraft and nearly 4000 

employees as of 2017, along 

with the Sun Express Germany 

established in 2011 in Frankfurt. 

19 aircraft of Sun Express Turkey 

carry out operations of Anadolu-

Jet as of the end of 2017.

Turkish Airlines has a total of 12 group 

companies, 3 of which are wholly 

owned and 9 are through partnerships.
TURKISH TECHNIC

Number of 
Employees 7,435

Revenue USD 1,109 Million 

SUN EXPRESS

Number of 
Employees 3,965

Revenue USD 1,288 Million 

TURKISH OPET 

Number of 
Employees 462

Revenue USD 1,619 Million 

TURKISH GROUND 
SERVICES 

Number of 
Employees 10,049

Revenue USD 258 Million 

TURKISH DO&CO 

Number of 
Employees 4,530

Revenue USD 279 Million 
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TURKISH ENGINE 
CENTER 

The incorporation offers en-

gine maintenance, repair and 

overhaul service to customers 

that are primarily located in 

Turkey and nearby geography.

It was established in 2008 

with 49%-51% partnership of 

Turkish Airlines and Prat-

t&Whitney, a subsidiary of 

United Technologies.

Established over 25.000 

square meter land at Istanbul 

Sabiha Gökçen Airport, high-

tech eco-friendly mainte-

nance base has the capability 

to provide maintenance for 

around 200 aircraft engine/

year at full capacity.

Number of 
Employees 335

Revenue USD 526 Million 

GOODRICH TURKISH 
TECHNIC SERVICE 
CENTER

TAX REFUND AND 
INTERMEDIATION

TURKISH AIRLINES 
AIRPORT REAL ESTATE 
INVESTMENT AND 
MANAGEMENT CO.

It provides high-standard 

quality maintenance and 

repair service for aircraft 

engine cowling and reverse 

thrust systems at HABOM 

facilites. The incorporation 

was established in 2010 with 

a 40% - 60% partnership be-

tween Turkish Airlines and TSA 

Rina Holdings B.V, an affiliate 

Goodrich.

Goodrich THY Technic Center 

aims to become an important 

player in the sector while 

providing internationally ac-

cepted high quality services to 

its domestic and international 

customers particularly Turkish 

Airlines.

The incorporation offers 

intermediation services for 

the return of VAT paid for the 

goods bought in Turkey, before 

travelling abroad.

It was established in Sep-

tember 2014, with 30% of the 

shares are owned by Turkish 

Airlines, 25% by VK Holding 

Inc. and 45% by Maslak Oto 

Inc.

The incorporation intended to 

offer intermediation services 

for the return of tax paid by 

non-Turkish residents for the 

goods they purchase while 

in Turkey, and take abroad 

with them, before they travel 

abroad.

The wholly owned incorpo-

ration was established in 

November 2017. It is aimed to 

start operations in 2018 in the 

fields of mainly airport opera-

tions and investments.

As first priority, it meets the needs of Turk-

ish Airlines with the aircraft cabin interior 

it manufactures.

The incorporation was established in 2011 

with 30% Turkish Airlines, 20% Turkish 

Technic and 50% Turkish  Aerospace Indus-

tries  (TUSAŞ -TAI) shares.

TCI carries out the design, production, 

logistic support, modification and market-

ing of aircraft cabin interior products and 

components. The incorporation started to 

get international orders due to its inclu-

sion to " Approved Supplier Incorporation" 

list for Boeing 737 aircraft and it is also 

in negotiation with Airbus to become an 

"Approved Supplier Incorporation" A330 

aircrafts.

Number of 
Employees 39

Revenue USD 15 Million 

Number of 
Employees 19

Revenue USD 3 Million 

Number of 
Employees -

Revenue -

Number of 
Employees 163

Revenue USD 7 Million 

TSI AVIATION 
SEATS

TURKISH AIRLINES 
FLIGHT ACADEMY

TURKISH CABIN 
INTERIOR SYSTEMS

The incorporation involved in aircraft seat 

designing, manufacturing, spare parts 

manufacturing and retrofitting, marketing 

and selling, began manufacturing at the 

end of 2013.

The incorporation was established in 2011, 

with 45% of the shares are owned by Turk-

ish Airlines, 5% by Turkish Technic. Inc. and 

50% by Assan Hanil Group.

Etablished in collaboration with Assan 

Hanil Group, Turkey's leading incorpora-

tion in vehicle seats, the incorporation 

carried out installation of first set of seats 

manufactured for Turkish Airlines, at the 

beginning of 2014. The incorporation aims 

to design and manufacture aircraft seats, 

produce, modify and sell spare parts for 

many airline companies in the future.

Having completed important investments 

such as runway, taxi way and hangar at 

Aydın Çıldır Airport, the incorporation 

began to offer flight training services for 

Turkish Airlines.

In 2012, it was established with 100% Turk-

ish Airlines capital to operate Aydın Çıldır 

Airport, provide aviation training, organize 

sportive and training flights, carry out 

passenger transport services with aircraft 

types that is suitable to runway length.

Having completed important investments 

such as runway, taxi way and hangar at 

Aydın Çıldır Airport, the incorporation 

started to provide flight training services 

forTurkish Airlines. In the future periods, 

the incorporation will play a crucial role in 

decreasing pilot deficit of Turkish Airlines 

and the aviation sector.

Number of 
Employees 81

Revenue USD 11 Million 

Number of 
Employees 33

Revenue USD 3 Million 
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TRAFFIC FIGURES

TOTAL TRAFFIC RESULTS

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenue Passenger (000) 68,617 62,759 61,248 54,675 48,268

Available Seat-Km (million) 173,073 170,092 153,209 135,330 116,433

Revenue Passenger-Km (million) 136,947 126,815 119,372 106,787 91,997

Load Factor (%) 79.1 74.6 77.9 78.9 79.0

Flight Destinations 303 298 287 264 245

Number of Landings 483,312 475,303 462,767 422,521 377,400

Distance Flown Km (000) 929,936 918,127 864,586 792,438 690,572

Cargo+Mail (ton) 1,122,697 887,164 720,440 667,743 565,391

Excess Luggage (ton) 6,904 6,677 7,601 7,925 6,231

INTERNATIONAL 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenue Passenger (000) 38,487 35,457 34,944 31,967 28,215

Available Seat-Km (million) 150,712 149,328 133,594 117,773 101,000

Revenue Passenger-Km 

(million)
118,148 109,768 103,001 92,539 79,696

Load Factor (%) 78.4 73.5 77.1 78.6 78.9

Flight Destinations 252 247 236 219 202

Number of Landings 275,691 279,781 271,267 250,214 220,037

Distance Flown Km (000) 798,971 796,829 746,796 684,442 592,911

Cargo+Mail (ton) 1,052,026 832,126 668,189 616,124 517,848

Excess Luggage (ton) 4,107 3,943 4,772 4,986 4,040

DOMESTIC 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenue Passenger (000) 30,130 27,301 26,304 22,708 20,053

Available Seat-Km (million) 22,361 20,764 19,615 17,557 15,433

Revenue Passenger-Km 

(million)
18,798 17,046 16,370 14,248 12,301

Load Factor (%) 84.1 82.1 83.5 81.2 79.7

Flight Destinations 51 51 51 45 43

Number of Landings 207,621 195,522 191,500 172,307 157,363

Distance Flown Km (000) 130,965 121,298 117,791 107,996 97,660

Cargo+Mail (ton) 70,671 55,038 52,251 51,619 47,543

Excess Luggage (ton) 2,797 2,734 2,828 2,939 2,191

48.268
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43.5%  
Domestic

53.3%  
International

0.8% 
Hajj-Umrah

2.4% 
Charter

YEAR 2017 TOTAL 
PASSENGER 

BREAKDOWN

REVENUE PASSENGER 
(Thousand)

ASK AND RPK EVOLUTION 
(Million)

The total number of 
passengers that was 

62.8 million in January-
December 2016 period 

increased by 9.3% in the 
same period of 2017 and 
reached to 68.6 million. 
Increase in the number 

of passengers was 10.4% 
for domestic flights and 

8.5% for international 
flights.

Revenue Passenger 
Kilometers (RPK) that 

was 126.8 billion in 
January-December 2016 
period increased by 8.0% 

in the same period of 
2017 and reached to 136.9 

billion. RPK increased 
by 10.3% for domestic 
flights and by 7.6% for 
international flights.

The number of transfer passengers 
from international to international 
flights increased by 3.5%.

Passenger load factor increased by 
4.5 points.

Total Available Seat Kilometers (ASK) 
that was 170.1 billion in January-De-
cember 2016 period increased by 
1.8% in the same period of 2017 and 
reached to 173.1 billion. ASK increased 
by 7.7% for domestic flights and by 
0.9% for international flights.

The Number of Landings that was 
475,303 in January-December 2016 
period increased by 1.7% in the 
same period of 2017 and reached to 
483,312, and the number of destina-
tions increased from 298 to 303.

Cargo-Mail that was 887,164 tons in 
January-December 2016 period in-
creased by 26.5% in the same period 
of 2017 and reached to 1,122,697 tons.
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FLEET

Turkish Airlines, with 

the highest number of 

international destinations 

and fourth largest flight 

network, that reached to 

329 aircraft by the end of 

2017 and became the 11th 

largest air carrier in the 

world in this field.

Established in 1933 with a fleet of 
five aircraft, Turkish Airlines has 
expanded and renewed its fleet, es-
pecially with its breakthroughs made 
in the 2000s. Turkish Airlines, with 
the highest number of international 
destinations and fourth largest flight 
network, that reached to 329 aircraft 
by the end of 2017 and became the 
11th largest air carrier in the world 
in this field. The incorporation fleet, 
consisting of 65 aircraft at the begin-
ning of 2004, has achieved a growth 
above 406% in a very short time.

Turkish Airlines takes important 
steps towards strengthening its 
brand acquires new fuel-saving, 
eco-friendly aircraft equipped with 
state-of-the-art technology with 
passenger comfort and safety in 
mind to accommodate growing 
passenger traffic and meet varying 
customer needs.

FLEET AGE 7.7
Continuing to reinforce its strength, 
Turkish Airlines expands and renews 
its fleet each day and is rapidly 
moving towards the goal of having 
Europe's youngest and the most 
modern fleet. 

As of the end of 2017, Turkish Airlines 
operates one of the youngest fleet 
with average fleet age of 7.7.

As a result of the long-term fleet 
projection, in 2017, Turkish Airlines 
completed the delivery of 20 units 
of B777-300ER and 20 units of 
A330-300 aircraft that were ordered 
in 2012 and introduced new routes 
and increased frequency of existing 
routes and therefore achieved a fast 
growth in long-range flights.

In addition to wide-body aircraft, 
25 A321 aircraft were delivered in 

2017 within the scope of 117 Airbus 
narrow-body aircraft orders of which 
were placed in 2013. Deliveries of 
the remaining 92 new generation 
narrow-body A321 NEO aircraft will 
begin in the summer season of 2018, 
and delivery is planned to be com-
pleted by the end of 2023.

In addition, 20 B737-800 aircraft 
were delivered in the previous years 
within the scope of 95 Boeing narrow 
body aircraft ordered in 2013, and 
the new generation B737 MAX family 
aircraft will be delivered starting 
from 2018. Delivery of these aircraft 
is planned to be completed in 2022.

Deliveries of 4 A330-200F aircraft 
that were ordered in 2014 have been 
completed in 2017. In addition to 
these aircraft, 2 B777F cargo aircraft 
were delivered at the end of 2017, 

and instead of the 3 B747-400F air-
craft that were leased in 2017 in line 
with the growth targets of the cargo 
operations and that will be phase out 
the fleet at the end of 2018, 3 B777F 
cargo aircraft have been ordered to 
be delivered in 2018 as they are more 
efficient compared to B747-400F 
aircraft.

Turkish Airlines updates its fleet 
projections as part of its strategies 
for “utilizing the opportunities, risk 
management, sustainability, dynam-
ic capacity planning and increasing 
the extent and intensity of the flight 
network” at the end of each year.

15% FUEL SAVING
In 2013, 92 brand new generation 
A321 NEO aircraft were ordered. 
At Airbus and 75 new generation 
B737MAX aircraft ordered at Boeing, 
all which are expected to join our 
fleet as of 2018 and 15% fuel saving is 
targetted on these aircraft.

The Incorporation will save up to 15% 
of fuel consumption compared to 
the current fleet thanks to the orders 
placed for narrow body and wide 
body aircraft. The ordered aircraft 
will allow incorporation to reach 
farther distances, enabling the flight 
network and passenger volume to be 
increased.

NARROW BODY 
(223 AIRCRAFT)

B737-900ER 15 Aircraft

B737-800 108 Aircraft

A320-200 24 Aircraft

A321-200 68 Aircraft

A319-100 7 Aircraft

B737-700 1 Aircraft

CARGO 
(16 AIRCRAFT)

A310-300F 3 Aircraft 

A330-200F 9 Aircraft 

A300-600F 1 Aircraft 

B747-400F 1 Aircraft 

B777-200LRF 2 Aircraft 

TOTAL NUMBER OF 
AIRCRAFT 329

AVERAGE FLEET AGE 7,7

WIDE BODY
(90 AIRCRAFT)

A330-200 16 Aircraft 

A330-300 37 Aircraft

A340-300 4 Aircraft

B777-300ER 33 Aircraft



40 41 

TURKISH AIRLINES GROUP
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

ASK Variation 20.1%

RPK Variation 22.2%

Passenger Volume 

Variation
25.1%

ASK Variation -6.0%

RPK Variation -1.0%

Passenger Volume 

Variation
-0.6%

ASK Variation -4.6%

RPK Variation 1.5%

Passenger Volume 

Variation
3.0%

ASK Variation 4.0%

RPK Variation 8.9%

Passenger Volume 

Variation
9.9%

ASK Variation -0.3%

RPK Variation 8.5%

Passenger Volume 

Variation
8.8%

ASK Variation 2.2%

RPK Variation 9.9%

Passenger Volume 

Variation
10.4%

FLIGHT NETWORK

NORTH AMERICA CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICA EUROPE AFRICA MIDDLE EAST FAR EAST

11
FLIGHT 

DESTINATIONS

6
FLIGHT 

DESTINATIONS

114
FLIGHT 

DESTINATIONS

51
FLIGHT 

DESTINATIONS

34
FLIGHT 

DESTINATIONS

36
FLIGHT 

DESTINATIONS
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FLIGHT NETWORK

Turkish Airlines that flies 
to the highest number 
of countries around the 
world continued to expand 
the world of passengers 
throughout 2017 and added 
5 new destinations to its 
flight network.

Reaching to 120 countries and 300 cit-
ies and 303 destinations in total allows 
the passenger to get any where they 
wish around the world hassle-free, by 
connecting Turkey with a number of 
destinations around the world.

In 2017, Turkish Airlines offered its ser-
vices to the experience of passengers 
in Kharkiv in Ukraine, and Samara and 
Voronej in Russian Federation. Our In-
corporation, continuing with its invest-
ments in Africa, also connects Conakry, 
the capital city of Guinea, to the world 
with twice weekly flights. With Phuket 
that is one of the most popular tour-
istic destinations of the Far East, the 
doors to the magical tropical world are 
opened to passengers.

9% 
Africa

1% 
Central and 
South America

6% 
North America

55% 
Europe

14% 
Far East 15% 

Middle East

YEAR 2017 BREAKDOWN 
OF INTERNATIONAL 

PASSENGERS BY REGION

1.99%
172,076,364

Central and 
South America

9.19%
792,452,408

Africa

13.64%
1,176,329,196

Turkey

YEAR 2017 REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY REGION 
(USD)

Domestic 

Destinations 51

International 

Destinations 252

New 

Destinations 

Launched 5
Total 

Destinations 303

Middle East

13.30%
1,147,436,308

Europe

30.36%
2,618,834,553

Far East

20.96%
1,807,814,376

North America

10.57%
911,729,412

Countries 

Flown
120
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CARGO

Turkish Cargo, the air cargo carrier brand of Turkish 
Airlines, has managed to sustain the strong growth 
trend that has been carrying out for more than a 
decade without interruption this year.

Cargo revenues that were USD 1 
billion in 2016 exceeded the budget 
target in 2017 and reached above 
USD 1.3 billion with a growth of 32%. 
Similarly, the amount of cargo we 
carried increased by approximately 
26.5% from 890 thousand tons in 
2016 to 1.13 million tons in 2017.

2017 has been a successful year 
for the air cargo sector. In 2017, the 
amount of cargo carried within the 
sector increased by 9.3% and the 
cargo unit revenues increased by 5%. 
Global air cargo revenues that shrank 

and declined below USD 50 billion in 
2016 reaching the lowest level in the 
last decade, increased to USD 54.5 
billion in 2017.

It is predicted that the year 2018 will 
go well for the air cargo sector, and 
the total air cargo revenue will ex-
ceed the level of USD 59 billion. Turk-
ish Cargo, on the other hand, aims 
to increase its share in the world air 
cargo market in 2018, reaching to 
2.6% level, which realized an increase 
from four in thousand to two percent 
level in the past decade.

In line with this target, the budgeted 
cargo revenue for 2018 is at the level 
of USD 1.5 billion and we will make 
effort to achieve growth beyond the 
budget target, as we did in 2017.

In order to reach our targets, our 
cargo fleet has been expanded in the 
year 2017 in addition to the infra-
structure investments made in 2016. 
While there were 13 cargo aircraft 
within our cargo fleet by the end of 
2016, this number was increased to 
16 with the additions made in 2017. 
In addition to the increase in the 
number of aircraft, flights performed 
by cargo aircraft increased by 2% 
compared to the previous year. The 
increase in the number of aircraft 
and increased efficiency in utilization 
of aircraft have led to the increase 
of kilometric capacity (AKTK) of the 
cargo aircraft by more than 31% in 
2017.

With the increase in our number 
of cargo aircraft, our cargo flight 
network continued to expand in 2017 
and the number of flight destina-
tions increased from 63 to 73 be-
tween the beginning and end of the 
year. In 2017, we added destinations 
such as Sao Paulo, Johannesburg, 
Madagascar, Kano, Oslo, Basel and 
Darussalam to our cargo flight net-
work. In addition, frequency has been 
increased for destinations such as 
Shanghai, Nairobi and Chicago.

In 2018, we are planning to grow our 
cargo fleet in proportion with the 
passenger fleet of Turkish Airlines 
as was done in the last year. For this 

purpose, 2018 shall begin with addition of 
2 Boeing 747F cargo aircraft into our fleet 
and expansion of the fleet will be continued 
during the year.

Increased operational capabilities and per-
formance monitoring mechanisms due to 
moving to new facilities in the beginning of 
2015, complete renewal of information sys-
tems in October, introduction and extension 
of two process changes due to these two 
big-scale changes in 2016 have laid foun-
dations for product-oriented developments 
in 2017 and comprehensive changes were 
made in both processes and organization. 
These developments will enable the expan-
sion of product options and infrastructure 
and achievement of high performance in 
special products in 2018.

2017 was a year when significant works 
were carried out for Istanbul New Airport 
cargo facilities. Conceptual designs have 
been made within the framework of stra-
tegic plans, architectural design works 
have been brought to a level that allows 
commencement of construction works and 
the tenders for storage systems have been 
completed. Construction works will be com-
menced with the delivery of facility site and 
alternative solutions have been adopted to 
ensure commencement of cargo operations 
on October 29, 2018.

As Turkish Cargo, we will continue our 
preparations to become one of the biggest 
air cargo carriers in the world at Istanbul 
New Airport where we are planning to move 
by increasing this level we achieved in the 
previous year even further in 2018.

Turkish Cargo Market ShareMarket Share in Global Air Cargo

2013

2013

2014

2014

2015

2015

2016

2016

2018F2017E

2017

GLOBAL AIR CARGO MARKET AND
MARKET SHARE OF TURKISH AIRLINES*

CARGO MAIL DEVELOPMENT 
(TON)

YEAR 2017 REVENUES (USD) AND TONNAGE PERCENTAGES 
BASED ON SALES BY CARGO REGIONS

60,7 62,5

52,8
47,5

54,5

59,2

1,41

2,60

1,56

1,78

2,12
2,44

4,7% | 3,7%

26,1% | 20,1%18,6% | 17,1%7,2% | 7,8%

7,8% | 6,5%

30,2% | 40,9%5,4% | 3,9%Africa

Turkey
Central and 

Southern Europe
Americas

Eastern Europe 
and Russia

Asia and
Far EastMiddle 

East

Revenue (USD) Based on SalesTonnage Based On Sales

1.122.697

887.164

720.440667.743
565.391

* Source: IATA Industry Economic Performance & Turkish Airlines Financial Reports



46 47 

TURKISH AIRLINES GROUP
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

CONTINUING AIRWORTHINESS
MANAGEMENT, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR

CONTINUING 
AIRWORTHINESS 
MANAGEMENT
In addition to passenger aircraft, 
Turkish Airlines Inc. carries out con-
tinuing airworthiness management 
activities under the SHY-M (Regula-
tion on Continuing Airworthiness and 
Maintenance Responsibility) approv-
al obtained from Turkish DGCA for 
more than 350 aircraft including VIP 
and training aircraft.

Turkish Airlines Inc. is responsible for 
the Continuing Airworthiness and 
Maintenance Management of all of 
the commercial aircraft subject to Air 
Operator Certificate (AOC) (SHY-6A 
Fleet, Airbus A320 series, Airbus 
A330, Airbus A340, Boeing 737NG 
new generation series and Boeing 
777) and the VIP and training aircraft 
subject to General Aviation Operat-

ing Certificate (SHY-6B Fleet, Cessna 
172S, Gulfstream 450, Gulfstream 
550, A319CJ, Bombardier Challenger 
850, Diamond DA40 and Diamond 
DA42). Continuing Airworthiness 
Management Organization Approval 
Certificate has been published and 
approved for both fleets by Turkish 
DGCA. Turkish Airlines Inc. is the first 
incorporation that obtained Airwor-
thiness Review authorization for 
the aircraft in its commercial fleet in 
Turkey.

Within the scope of approvals ob-
tained, it is ensured, as first priority, 
that the aircraft are in compliance 
with the airworthiness requirements 
applicable at any time during the 
operating life of the aircraft and 
that safe operating conditions are 
maintained, and activities such as 
selection of aircraft based on feasi-

bility studies at the time of making 
decision for the period from placing 
an order or leasing an aircraft until 
its sell/lease out, determination of 
aircraft configurations and BFE sys-
tems, selection of engine, taking the 
delivery of aircraft, execution of the 
relevant maintenance agreements, 
ensuring airworthiness of the aircraft 
during Turkish Airlines operations, 
technical modifications, installation 
of in-flight entertainment systems, 
return of the aircraft, provision of 
technical maintenance services and 
continuing airworthiness manage-
ment activities are carried out in full 
and in compliance with the existing 
targets.

The fact that the Turkish Airlines 
fleet has the highest standards 
regarding airworthiness, reliability 
and operability is the result of strong 

cooperation established with the 
leading national and international 
companies in the sector that provide 
maintenance and/or engineering 
services, particularly including Turk-
ish Technic Inc. with its experienced 
team.

Turkish Airlines Inc. has identified 
safety, customer satisfaction and 
efficiency as its primary targets and 
works to maintain technical condi-
tions of the new and existing aircraft 
in its fleet in accordance with such 
targets.

MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR
Turkish Technic Inc. offers mainte-
nance and repair services to commer-
cial airline companies and business 
jet operators with its 8 hangars and 
facilities located in Istanbul, Ankara 
and Aydın Çıldır with a total closed 
area of 576,000 square meters.

Having the approval on provision of 
maintenance services that is issued 
by EASA, FAA and Turkish DGCA, 
Turkish Technic Inc. provides services 
to more than 100 airline companies 
in Europe, Asia, Middle East and 
North Africa in addition to Turkish 
Airlines which is its most important 
customer.

It offers line maintenance, base 
maintenance and component main-
tenance services for aircraft types 
such as Boeing 737NG, Boeing 757, 
Boeing 767, Boeing 777, Airbus A320 
series, A320NEO series, Airbus A330, 
Airbus A340, Gulfstream G-IV/G-V/
G550, Bombardier Challenger 850, 
Cessna 172 and Diamond DA42. All 
maintenance and repair services re-
quired for spare power units, landing 
gears, flight electronic components, 
hydraulic-pneumatic components, 
brake systems, wheel and tire, and 
mechanical components of such 
aircraft are carried out by Turkish 
Technic Inc. Over 700 aircraft are in-
cluded in Turkish Airlines Technic Inc. 
"component pool" service.

A1 Basic Training and Examination 
in 2015 and Category B1/B2 Basic 
Training and Examination in 2016.

With these authorizations, Turkish 
Airlines Technic Inc. has became the 
first and only organization in Turkey, 
which is authorized by EASA in these 
fields.

Turkish Airlines has identified safety, 
customer satisfaction and efficiency 
as its primary targets. Effort is made 
to maintain technical conditions of 
existing and new aircraft in its fleet 
in conformity with such targets. Having the approval on 

provision of maintenance 
services that is issued by 
EASA, FAA and Turkish 

DGCA, Turkish Technic Inc. 
provides services to more 

than 100 airline companies 
in Europe, Asia, Middle 

East and North Africa in 
addition to Turkish Airlines 
which is its most important 

customer. 

Turkish Technic Inc. which always 
keeps customer satisfaction in the 
foreground maintains its pioneering 
approach in this area by keeping ISO 
10002 Customer Complaints Man-
agement System certifications valid.

Sensitive to the environment and the 
health of its employees, Turkish Tech-
nic Inc. certifies its OHSE practices 
with ISO 14001 Environment Man-
agement System and OHSAS 18001 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System certifications. It 
certifies the requirements of Security 
consciousness, that is given priori-
ty in today’s world, with ISO 27001 
certificate.

Turkish Airlines Technic INC. assumed 
a significant role in regional econo-
my and aviation industry with more 
than 7.000 employees, continuously 
growing capacity and turnover.

EASA PART-147 / SHY-147 
BASIC TRAINING
Also serving as a maintenance 
training organization, Turkish Airlines 
Technic INC. was certified by both 
EASA and Turkish DGCA, in category 
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In 2017, Turkish Technic Inc. received 
approvals from authorities for the 
first time from Thailand and Iraq, 
renewed existing approvals and 
extended capabilities under approv-
als of FAA, Aruba, Bahrain, Bailiwick 
of Guernsey, United Arab Emirates, 
Cayman Islands, Indonesia, Moroc-
co, Qatar, Kyrgyzstan, Libya, Egypt, 
Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, Singapore 
and Tunisia.

In addition, Bishkek, Tashkent and 
Baku line stations have been add-
ed to our Bermuda Civil Aviation 
authorization; and Seoul, Adana and 
Sabiha Gökçen line stations have 
been added to our Qatar authoriza-
tion.

TABLET BASED IN-FLIGHT 
ENTERTAINMENT SYSTEM
The first domestic Tablet-Based In-
Flight Entertainment System (TBIFE) 
developed in Turkey was produced 
with 100% Turkish engineering within 
the scope of the strategic coop-
eration agreement signed in 2012 
between Turkish Technic Inc. and 
Havelsan Inc.

By beginning installation from July 
2016, the Tablet-Based In-Flight 
Entertainment System is used to 
provide Business Class passengers 
with media content such as movies, 
music, maps and e-magazines in nar-
row-body aircraft of Turkish Airlines 
Inc. without the IFE system.

WIRE IN-FLIGHT 
ENTERTAINMENT SYSTEM
Another product of the collabora-
tion between Turkish Technic Inc. and 
Havelsan Inc. is the Wireless In-Flight 
Entertainment Systems.

With on going works 2017, it is 
intended to serve current media con-
tents such as audio and video on de-
mand (AVOD), games, e - question-

naire, e - publications, etc. at back of 
seats. The certification procedures 
for system which is a product  of 
100% Turkish engineering and will be 
supported by Turkish Airlines Technic 
INC. in terms of hardware design /
production, system engineering, test-
ing/certification is expected to be 
completed in the 4th quarter of 2018.

Turkish Technic Inc. has been increas-
ing the quality of services offered to 
its customers since 2009 through its 
affiliates established with national 
and international companies and 
aims to grow in different business 
lines in the aviation sector.

TURKISH ENGINE CENTER
Turkish Engine Center (TEC) that was 
established in partnership with Pratt 
& Whitney, has been very productive 
in 2017. 126 engines were delivered 
during the year and 45 of them be-
long to the "3 rd Party" customers. In 
2017, the highest values have been 
achieved either total engine deliver-
ies or total “3rd Party” engine deliv-
eries since the day its establishment.

In 2017, TEC signed a maintenance 
agreement with Turkish Airlines Inc. 
for V2500 and CFM56-7B type en-
gines for a definite period of 3 years 
and optional period of 2 years.

GOODRICH TURKISH 
TECHNIC SERVICE CENTER
Goodrich Turkish Technic Service 
Center, established in partnership 
with UTC Aerospace Systems, in-
creased its revenue by 47% in 2017 
compared to the previous year, and 
the rate of 3rd Party revenue reached 
to 34%. 

TURKISH CABIN INTERIOR
Turkish Cabin Interior (TCI), another 
affiliate that was established at our 
Sabiha Gökçen Facilities in partner-
ship with Turkish Aerospace Indus-

tries (TUSAŞ - TAI), has been de-
clared as is the first incorporation to 
manufacture Turkish galley and was 
declared "Global Offerable" in Boeing 
737 new generation type aircraft 
which is one of the 2 aircraft types 
widely used in the world on managed 
to become one of the 4 manufac-
tures included in catalogue. 

In 2017, Turkish Cabin Interior ex-
panded its customer portfolio and 
increased its popularity in the inter-
national arena by receiving orders for 
155 galleys from Spice Jet, 10 galleys 
from Azerbaijan Airlines and 79 gal-
leys from Jet Airways for B737MAX.

TSI AVIATION SEATS
Established in partnership with As-
san Hanil Group as Turkey's first and 
only aircraft seat manufacturer, TSI 
AVIATION SEATS works with do-
mestic suppliers for production and 
uses domestic products at the rate 
of 80%.

The important developments that 
took place in 2017 include inclusion in 
the Offerable List for B737MAX with 
the seat named "Epianka" produced 
for A320NEO and B737MAX aircraft, 
delivery of the first B777 linefit, 
being approved as an R&D Center 
by the Ministry of Science, Industry 
and Technology, and signing of the 
agreement with Azerbaijan Airlines 
for 10 units of B737MAX aircraft.

TSI AVIATION SEATS increased its 
revenue by 48% in 2017 compared to 
the previous year.

Turkish Airlines, the 
address of dream 

journeys, is opening doors 
to its guests with a better 
entertainment system for 

a comfortable journey.
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CATERING

This year, "Turkish Airlines Lounge 
Istanbul" has once again received 
the first prize in the category of 
“Best Business Class CIP Lounge". 
The lounge has also been awarded 
with the “Best Business Class CIP 
Lounge Catering” award this year 
as was the case with the past 
three-year period with different 
and rich catering services offered to 
passengers.

Bringing different flavors and presentations to air travel catering 
with a new point of view, Turkish Airlines has been awarded with 
the “Best Business Class Catering” award in the global ranking 
in 2017 as was the case in the previous year within the scope of 
"Skytrax Passengers Choice Awards” that is considered as the 
most reputable awards ranking the airline companies on annual 
basis.

“Turkish Airlines Lounge Istanbul” that is in demand all over the 
world with every single detail opens its doors to the passengers 
offering them privileged comfort and has been awarded with the 
first prize of "Best Business Class CIP Lounge” and brought this 
award to Turkish Airlines this year as was the case in the previ-
ous year. Likewise, it has been awarded with the "Best Business 
Class CIP Lounge Catering" award this year with different and rich 
catering service offered to its passengers, as was the case in the 
last three years. Turkish Airlines Lounge Istanbul also offers local 
dishes on certain days of the week and has received great appre-
ciation of our guests especially with the newly added meals of 
Chinese, Japanese and Indian cuisines.

FLY GOOD FEEL GOOD
In 2017, we attracted attention with 
the Fly Good Feel Good project. 
This new project of Turkish Airlines 
is based on a good flight experience 
and it addresses requirements that 
should be fulfilled before, during and 
after the flight so passengers enjoy a 
comfortable travel in all aspects.

The Fly Good Feel Good Project aims 
to bring a brand new approach to 
flights based on customer satisfac-
tion. This project that is based on 
needs of Turkish Airlines' passengers 
provides guidance to passengers on 
multiple matters that will have pos-
itive effect on flights including pre-
flight preparations, cabin exercises, 
sleeping, yoga and meditation. In 
addition, our herbal tea service con-
cept in our flights has been renewed 
within the scope of this project.

Informative videos accessed from the 
In-flight Entertainment System pro-
vide recommendations on different 
matters such as flying with infants 
and children, eating during flight, 
flying during pregnancy, preventing 
nose and ear issues during flight, re-
ducing the effects of jetlag that may 
be experienced after the flight, within 
the scope of the project.

chocolate for Religious Holidays, 
chocolate for child guests on 23rd 
April were treated to our guests.

Our catering products during the 
month of Ramadan were presented 
to our guests in specially designed 
boxes. In addition, during flights, our 
passengers were served hazelnut or 
peanut in WE’R packaging that is a 
brand of Turkish Airlines.

For Konakry, Voronezh, Samara and 
Phuket lines that were opened in 
2017, menu cards were created using 
local elements and reflecting cultural 
characteristics of these regions.

In 2018, Turkish Airlines will contin-
ue to measure expectations of its 
guests and will continuously improve 
the quality and concepts of its cater-
ing service in order to keep passen-
ger satisfaction at the highest level.

JOURNEY TO THE WORLD 
CUISINES WITH TURKISH 
AIRLINES
Considering passenger satisfaction 
as top priority, Turkish Airlines does 
not only offer the menu represent-
ing a blending of Turkish cuisine and 
Western cuisine but also serves local 
dishes from the World cuisines.

Turkish Airlines continues to innovate 
not only to offer the best catering 
service in the sector as a flag carri-
er airline incorporation, but also to 
create new trends and constantly 
surprise its guests.

In this context, we are continuously 
improving our catering products by 
evaluating the passenger and cabin 
crew feedbacks that are received via 
the In-flight Entertainment Systems 
and other channels (social media, 
passenger letters, etc.). For exam-
ple, in our menus, we focused on 
local cuisine options from the World 
cuisines based on demands of our 
passengers.

Turkish Airlines made special days 
unforgettable for its guests with 
special products and services. Cakes 
for New Years Eve for guests on 
board, chocolate with card for Val-
entine's Day, chocolate for Chinese 
New Year, specially designed moon 
cake for Chinese Autumn Festival, 



52 53 

TURKISH AIRLINES GROUP
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

COMFORT PRODUCTS
In 2017, Turkish Airlines continued to add 
innovations to its service and product 
range by focusing on moving passenger 
satisfaction to the highest level. Bent-
ley, Jaguar, Cerutti, Chopard and Furla 
branded travel kits that were prepared 
in collaboration with prominent names 
of the cosmetics world and the most 
renowned designer brands have been 
continued to be offered to passengers.

In 2017, our passengers were served 
1,025,750 Business Amenity Kits, 
9,696,130 Economy Relax Kits, 452,640 
Umrah Kits, 110,530 Hajj Kits, 135,000 
Child Kits, 174,000 Toys, 164,700 Busi-
ness Headphones, 32,500,000 Econo-
my Headphones, 1,500,000 Blankets, 
1,200,000 Pillows and Pillow Cases, and 
160,000 Hand Lotions, Hand Soaps, 
Room Odors for the economy class in 
total.

IN-FLIGHT MEDIA
Significant increase was achieved in the 
number and variety of the most recent 
movies right after the cinemas, classical 
movies, international movies, TV programs 
and documentaries included in the in-flight 
media with the new agreements made in 
2017.

Revisions were made in the music cate-
gories, and the number of contents were 
increased.

Fly Good Feel Good project has been 
commenced and videos that convey useful 
information to passenger in flight  were 
released in our entertainment system.

Collaboration was established with Istanbul 
Metropolitan Municipality City Theatres, 
special shooting was made for a few select-
ed plays staged in the theatre season and 
they were offered in theatre category of our 
entertainment system.

With the "Linkedin Learning" category, educa-
tional content was included in our entertain-
ment system.

Our passengers were provided with the oppor-
tunity to select movies easier based on dub-
bing language through classification of movies 
in entertainment system by languages.

Passengers were presented different TV con-
tents under "Sports" and "Business World" TV 
categories.

In 2017, 3,420 different programs in total in-
cluding 678 new movies, TV programs/series/
documentaries and 997 different music albums 
were offered to the passengers in the enter-
tainment system.

Turkish Airlines guests enjoyed much more 
enjoyable travel experience by watching movie 
and TV programs from rich content in the 
archive of PLANET Entertainment system for 

In long-haul flights, DENON branded 
headphones were presented to enable 
Business Class passengers to enjoy a 
more comfortable flight experience, and 
all international flight Economy Class 
passengers were presented with headphones 
with high ergonomy and sound quality 
whereas Business Class passengers of all 
international flights other than long-haul 
flights were presented with Philips branded 
headphones in order to ensure passenger 
satisfaction.

We started to use pack-
ages that were complete-

ly produced from renew-
able sources such as corn 
starch which do not con-
tain harmful substances 

and benefit the nature 
when they are disposed.

In August, we started offering 
the baby set we prepared 
considering the need of our 
passengers with infant during 
long flights.

In the wide-body economy 
lavatories, we presented our 

passengers with the Atelier Rebul 
branded sets consisting of lotion 

and cologne.

For our child passengers, we have 
switched from plastic products 
to natural, wooden and textile 

products in the toy sets we offer, for 
the purpose of creating awareness 

and environmental responsibility. 
We prepared the brochures for 

introduction of the toys in our set 
from recycled papers and we aimed to 
emphasize our message for protecting 

the nature once again.

In 2017, the use of in-flight mobile phones 
was commenced as a new service. Passen-
gers can use mobile data and SMS services in 
74 B777 aircraft and A330 aircraft.

In international flights of 2 hours or more 
that are taken in aircraft without in-flight 
entertainment system having seat-back 
displays, 132,000 Samsung tablets in total 
were offered to service of our Business Class 
passengers together with contents such as 
local and foreign movies, short programs 
and selected music contents throughout the 
year so that they can enjoy their time during 
flights.

In addition, in 2017, the questionnaire ap-
plication was introduced using in-flight 
displays in order to measure all our services 
affecting passenger satisfaction and the 
results of the questionnaire were evaluated 
effectively by the concerned departments.

25,601,096 hours, listening to carefully se-
lected music for 3,267,317 hours and playing 
fun games for 1,719,393 hours based on their 
interests.

New magazines about science, art, design, 
travel and automotive were offered during 
long flights.

In 2017, the most important development 
about in-flight offerings was the user-friend-
ly interface design of the seat-back displays 
that went live in the first months of the year. 
Passenger satisfaction, ease of use, richer 
contents, and operational stability of the 
systems have been ensured with this design.

Turkish Airlines Inc. provides passengers with 
in-flight internet service in B777-300ER and 
A330-343 type aircraft. In 2017, the number 
of aircraft offering this service increased 
by 50% to 73, and a total of 489,000 pas-
sengers accessed to the Internet via Wi-Fi 
compatible electronic devices they brought 
with them.
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GROUND HANDLING

TGS TURKISH GROUND 
SERVICES 
Number of Passengers 
Served: 93 Million
Since its foundation, TGS continues 
to make a difference in its perspec-
tive of ground services with the great 
progress it has shown with practic-
es steering the sector and ground 
services at global standards taking 
service quality one step further. Con-
tinuing its growth in the sector its 
consolidated growth, TGS has added 

the world's leading airline companies 
to its customer portfolio, increasing 
the number of contracted airlines to 
182 by the end of 2017.

Established as joint venture of Turk-
ish Airlines and Havaş, TGS Turkish 
Ground Services Inc. took its place in 
the sector on 1 January 2010 and has 
been providing successful services to 
182 contracted airlines in 8 stations 
in total in Istanbul Atatürk, Ankara 
Esenboğa, İzmir Adnan Menderes, 

TGS Turkish Ground 
Services Inc. has been 
successfully providing 
services to 182 contracted 
airlines in 8 stations in 
total.

Antalya, Adana, Istanbul Sabiha 
Gökçen, Milas-Bodrum and Dalaman 
Airports. TGS provides all ground 
services to nearly 700 thousand 
flights of domestic and foreign airline 
companies at international standards 
of quality with 7,000 equipments 
and more than 10,000 employees. 
Providing passenger services, ramp, 
operation and cargo services with-
in the framework of the "Airport 
Ground Services Regulation”, TGS 
pursues an approach of excellent 
service in parallel with the incorpora-
tion’s essential principle of customer 
satisfaction.

Thanks to its steady growth policies, 
at present, TGS is confidently moving 
forward with its goal of becoming a 
global service provider and support-
ing its role as a leading incorporation 
in the sector with innovative invest-
ments. The incorporation has been 
taking firm steps with its growth-ori-
ented and major investments in the 

last 8 years.

The priority of TGS, that makes a dif-
ference with the quality and success 
of its services globally in the last 8 
years, is to bring this success to the 
highest level. TGS aims to become a 
incorporation that will achieve sus-
tainable growth and be a supporter 
of the country's economy by further 
strengthening its brand.

SUCCESS ON GROUND
Enriching the aviation sector with 
the innovations it introduced, Turkish 
Airlines achieved an on-time take-
off performance at the rate of 80% 
along with nearly 10% increase in 
the number of passengers compared 
to the previous year. In addition, it 
continues standing out among its 
competitors by keeping the baggage 
irregularity rate below 5 per thou-
sand.

Customer Satisfaction Survey Devic-
es that measure the satisfaction of 

15% 
153.415 
Çelebi

67% 
667.080
TGS

18% 
175.509
HAVAS

2017 MARKET SHARE 
OF GROUND HANDLING 
SERVICES REGARDING 

FLIGHTS

the passengers regarding the service 
provided during check-in, were added 
to the counters in order to increase 
the quality of service and at the 
same time, allowing passengers to 
make payment for excess baggage. 
With installation of self bag drop de-
vices and the increase in the number 
of kiosks, technological infrastruc-
ture of the service we provide to our 
passengers has also been improved.

One of our main targets for the year 
2018 is to increase the competi-
tiveness by enhancing the Turkish 
Airlines brand together with Istanbul 
New Airport that will become one of 
the largest airports in the world and 
using every innovation that meets 
the requirements of the modern 
world for the purpose of customer 
satisfaction. In this context, while 
check-in, boarding and CIP lounges 
are being designed, the preparations 
for moving to Istanbul New Airport 
and the operational process in there 
continues. 

2016 20162017 2017

ON-TIME TAKE-OFF RATE  
(PERCENTAGE)

BAGGAGE IRREGULARITY RATE 
(PER 1,000 PASSENGERS)

82%

5,9‰

80% 5,1‰
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TRAINING

Established in 1982 to satisfy the 
training needs of Turkish Airlines 
which is one of the leading airline 
companies in civil air transporta-
tion industry in Europe and the first 
airline incorporation in Turkey, Turkish 
Airlines Aviation Academy is one of 
the leading, distinguished aviation 
training academies in regions cover-
ing Europe, Africa and Middle East.

Turkish Airlines Aviation Academy 
began to achieve its goals in recent 
years, to gain an international iden-
tity, to be recognized by local and 
global authorities, to be preferred 
and recommended, to ensure prod-
uct and service versatility, to expand 

its target group quantitatively and 
qualitatively, to introduce techno-
logical and innovative approaches in 
training and become a hub in training 
globally.

Holding a number of national and 
international accreditations and 
approvals, Turkish Airlines Aviation 
Academy provides air carrier and 
cargo companies, travel agencies, 
universities, airport operators and 
other companies and individuals in 
civil aviation with training and con-
sultancy services, with wide range 
of training courses including pas-
senger services and ground handling 
trainings, management and personal 
development trainings, aviation and 
occupational language trainings.

TRAINING SOURCES
Situated over an area of 5,800 
square meters, the Aviation Academy 
rendered services in 19 classrooms, 
1 lecture hall with 144-seat capacity, 
and 1 digitalization studio in the year 
2017.

The Academy, that employed 124 
people in 2016,  increased its number 
of instructors from 49 to 213 with 
personnel from other departments 
joining the Academy. The demand for 
printing services for 5.3 million pages 
received from the Incorporation 
departments was also met by the 
Aviation Academy.

TRAINING METHODOLOGY
Digital training approach followed in 
the trainings of the Training Direc-
torate is summarized below. Digital 
training consists of digital lessons, 
preliminary exam, classroom practice 
and final exam.

Digital lessons involve short video, 
text, animation, interactivity and 
internal assessment elements. For a 
course to be categorized as a digital 
lesson, it needs to include all of 
these elements. If any one of these 
elements is missing, the resulting 
product is categorized as a digital 
information note.

Preliminary and final exams are 
administered via an online exam 
system, in line with objective assess-
ment and transparency principles. 
The difference between a trainees 
scores from the preliminary exam 
and the final exam provides an input 
to measure the performance of both 
the instructor and trainee.

TECHNOLOGICAL TRAINING 
SOLUTIONS
Our training activities are managed 
through the integration of the Train-

ing Resources Management System 
(FAAL), online exam system, distance 
learning portal and academy website.

The latest technological facilities are 
used in order to turn Turkish Airlines 
Aviation Academy into a corporate 
training center at world standards, 
in accordance with 2023 targets of 
Turkish Airlines. Accordingly, the 
Academy aims to offer corporate 
training courses from its pool to a 
much wider audience without space 
and time constraints.

In 2015, development of the "Train-
ing Resources Management System 
Project (FAAL)" was completed in 
order to manage the entire training 
processes of the Academy through a 
common software platform, and all 
information and reports related to 
trainings conducted by the Academy 
started to be managed through the 
FAAL System.

The Academy included qualitative 
and quantitative improvement of the 
existing digitization studio in 2017 
investment budget program. The new 
studio is expected to be in service 
in Q1 of 2018. As a result of which 
the Academy is aiming to double 
the number of digital courses in its 
catalog.

TRAINING ACTIVITIES
Advancing confidently on its way 
to becoming a world class training 
center within the scope of Turkish 
Airlines' 2023 targets through its 
innovative education approach, 

Turkish Airlines Aviation Academy 
has accelerated the training process-
es by using cutting edge technology. 
While it offers training to people 
independent of time and space with 
Digital Training Courses and Digital 
Information Notes, it has maximized 
efficiency through a blended training 
approach.

In 2017, the Academy delivered 2,042 
in-class training courses with a total 
of 40,544 participants, and dis-
tance training courses for 1,480,248 
trainees. The training catalog of the 
Academy contains 85 digital train-
ing courses, 144 digital information 
notes, 41 blended and 497 in-class 
courses.

This innovative approach has en-
sured the effective use of resources.
As can be seen in the chart above, 
while the digital training time per 
employee increased, classroom 

training time decreased. Important 
savings were made as a result of 
the increase in the amount of digital 
training courses assigned and de-
crease in in-class courses.

The chart provides detailed informa-
tion on the training services provided 
by Turkish Airlines Aviation Academy 
in 2017.

COLLABORATION WITH 
UNIVERSITIES
The Air Transport Management 
Master Program, which was launched 
by the Academy in October 2013 in 
collaboration with ITU and Boeing in 
order to contribute to the develop-
ment of the civil aviation sector, had 
first graduates in 2015 and the fourth 
ATM Master Program with/without 
thesis was started jointly with Ibn 
Haldun University.

Turkish Airlines Aviation 
Academy holds many 
national and international 
accreditations and 
certifications. The Academy 
provides training and 
consultancy services for 
the civil aviation sector 
with wide range of training 
services from passenger 
services and ground 
handling trainings, to 
ground handling trainings, 
management and personal 
development trainings to 
aviation and occupational 
language trainings.

2015 20152016 20162017 2017

TRAINING-HOURS PER EMPLOYEE

12

7

10 9

13 13

E-Learning Classroom Training
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The International Master Program 
is delivered by the world's leading 
instructors from Boeing, Massachu-
setts Institute of Technology (MIT), 
Istanbul Technical University, Cran-
field University and University of 
British Columbia.

In 2015, the Academy undersigned a 
new project in parallel with the goal 
of collaborating with the universi-
ties; "Industrial R&D and Technology 
Management" master program was 
launched in collaboration with Yildiz 
Technical University and Warwick 
University (UK). 20 employees from 
Turkish Airlines participated in the 
program. A more modular pre-agree-
ment memorandum has been signed, 
allowing the scope of this program to 
be extended to multiple fields.

LEADERSHIP AND 
MANAGEMENT TRAININGS
In 2015, the Academy completed its 
Career Development Program that 
is designed to support employees' 
career development. Within this pro-
gram, a group of 150 students was 
trained in fields such as economics 
and marketing by expert instructors 
who are prominent names of their 
sectors.

“Leadership Development Program” 
was created to improve the basic, 
managerial and functional compe-
tencies that are defined particularly 
for senior staff at a managerial level. 
Approximately 200 of our managers 
have completed this program.

Likewise, our managers were pro-
vided with Building Essential Lead-
ership Skills (BELS) and Change 

Acceleration Process (CAP) trainings 
by GE Academy, and a total of 100 of 
our managers have completed these 
trainings.

Our senior staff in positions equal 
to or above Vice President were also 
provided with Leadership for Cus-
tomer (LFC) training by GE Academy 
in Crotonville.

LANGUAGE TRAINING AND 
SERVICES IN AVIATION
In addition to other training courses 
provided by our Academy, the Avi-
ation English courses for improving 
the English proficiency of our cabin 
and cockpit personnel have been 
digitized in a  succession of courses 
being offered in a blended format. 
The Aviation English 1 (Cabin) course 
was included in the Cabin Speciali-
zation Program and provided to our 

cabin personnel as a two-day train-
ing program.

Business English series trainings 
(English for Building Business Re-
lations, English for E-mail, English 
for Presentation Skills, English for 
Negotiations and English for Meet-
ings), prepared for our Incorporation 
personnel's Business English needs 
digitized and began to be assigned.

As a result of the efforts to meet the 
English language needs of different 
directorates in the incorporation, first-
ly, the Introduction to Cargo English 
(General) and Introduction to Cargo 
English (Cargo Tracing) trainings were 
prepared for improving the profes-
sional English proficiency of the Cargo 
Directorate personnel who were of-
fered this training in a blended format.

In order to meet the language needs 
of international cabin crew, Turkish 
for Foreigners 1 training course was 
designed and delivered in a blended 
format. The second and third sessions 
of this series are also included in the 
production plan for the year 2018.

In addition to these trainings, com-
puter-based iTEC (in-house Test of 
English for Cabin) and iTEP (in-house 
Test of English for Pilots) examina-
tions were successfully implemented 
in 2017 to measure the language pro-
ficiency of candidates during the em-
ployment process. Collaboration was 
established with universities in order 
to evaluate these exams through an 
impartial and error-free evaluation 
process. In addition, infrastructure, 
system and content content pro-
vision stages for the Turkish DG-
CA-approved TEP (Test of English for 

Pilots) exam have been initiated to 
measure our pilots' international lan-
guage level based on ICAO language 
criteria. Likewise, the infrastructure 
and content content provision stages 
for the Turkish DGCA-approved 
TEAM (Test of English for Aircraft 
Maintenance Personnel) exam have 
been completed and submitted for 
authorization.

CABIN SPECIALIZATION 
TRAINING PROGRAM
The Cabin Specialization Training 
Program, which was jointly prepared 
by the Flight Training directorate and 
Training directorate to increase the 
personal and occupational compe-
tencies of cabin personnel whom 
we, as a incorporation, regard as an 
important element of our competi-
tive advantage in the sector began 
in October 2016 and it still continues.

NUMBER OF TRAINEES  
Planned for E-Learning

1.480.248 / 789.212

NUMBER OF  
Instructors
207 / 196 

E-LEARNING HOURS  
Per Employee

12 / 10

NUMBER OF  
Digital Trainings

229 / 210

CLASSROOM TRAINING 
HOURS 

Per Employee
7 / 9

NUMBER OF TRAINEES  
That Completed 

Classroom Training
32.817 / 45.693

NUMBER OF TRAINEES  
Planned for Classroom 

Training
40.544 / 55.611 

COMPLETED 
Classroom Trainings

2.042 / 2.585

2017 / 2016      FIGURES COMPARISON
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This program, in which 1,800 cabin 
personnel have participated so far, 
consists of classroom training, digital 
training, seminar and applied training 
on product and service delivery.

Likewise, in order to supply the avi-
ation sector with a qualified human 
resource, collaboration was estab-
lished with universities. In this con-
text, in 2017, the Academy delivered 
aviation English and flight personnel 
language proficiency assessment 
training courses to language instruc-
tors from various universities.

Five trainings were prepared within 
the frame of Air Transport Man-
agement Distance Learning Project 
which includes basic and advanced 
level information about airline trans-
portation management. Consisting 
of different modules as regards the 
areas of expertise, the distance 
learning program aims to develop 
the managers of the Incorporation in 
the short term and become a model 
for the airline companies around the 
world in the long term.

ELECTRONIC LIBRARY
The Academy began to cooperate 
with Lynda.com in 2016, which offers 
online trainings for the business 
world. The training catalog of the 
Academy was extended with the plat-
form which contains over 9 thousand 
trainings. Approximately 750 employ-
ees utilize the platform. Lynda.com 

training service was provided in 2016 
and 2017, and it continues in 2018.

Also, the cooperation with ScienceDi-
rect.com which is an electronic library 
that includes more academic studies 
such as articles, theses, journals and 
books was continued in 2017.

"CONQUER YOUR FEAR OF 
FLYING" PROGRAM 
Turkish Airlines Aviation Academy 
conducts "Conquer Your Fear of 
Flying" program in an effort to enable 
those who wish to overcome their 
fear of flying by conquering their 
fears, from the point of view “every-
one deserves to fly”. The comprehen-
sive program, which is offered by a 
technical instructor, a psychologist, 
a pilot and an experienced cabin 
instructor in venues equipped with 
latest technological devices, such as 
cabin simulators, has been con-
ducted since 2007, and the program 
which helped everyone young and 
old alike, who had  fear of flying, 
achieved a success rate above 98%. 
134 people attended the program, 
which was organized organized 10 
times in 2017.

Our membership to international or-
ganizations such as IATA, ICAO, Glob-
al CCU, Pearson continued in 2017.

In 2017, in-flight training opportuni-
ty was provided by uploading more 
than 10 academy trainings and more 

than 20 Lynda.com trainings into the 
IFE system in our wide-body aircraft. 
This was covered as a news article 
titled “Training in the Air Started” in 
Empathy magazine.

Training Directorate continued to 
organize the “Talks with the Masters” 
and "TAALKS” programs.

At the Academy facilities, iPads 
were provided to allow trainees easy 
access to the Internet. In addition, 
over 230 Turkish Airlines employees 
bene fited from these trainings.

 | In 2017, the Academy made 10 % 
profit for the first time from the 
IATA courses delivered at our fa-
cilities. In addition, over 230 Turk-
ish Airlines employees benefited 
from these trainings.

 | In 2017, training sales increased 
by 70% compared to 2016.

 | A training service protocol was 
signed with UGETAM Co. which is 
affiliated with Istanbul Metropoli-
tan Municipality.

 | Protocol for Transfer of Boeing 
5-Year License and Materials was 
signed with Turkish Technic Inc.

 | Negotiations were held with Gazi 
University, Akdeniz University, 
Okan University, Beykoz University, 
Eskişehir University and Marmara 

University, and the protocol prepa-
rations are continuing at present.

 | Companies such as IGA, Atlas-
global, Onurair and Sunexpress 
were visited and advertising and 
promotional activities for the 
Academy were conducted.

 | Presentations were made to 
foreign companies such as Libya 
Airlines, Algeria Airlines, Benin 
Civil Aviation Authority for the 
purpose of providing information 
on activities and trainings of our 
Academy.

 | A new 'Air Transport Management 
Master’s Program' was launched 
under the collaboration of Turkish 
Aviation Academy-IHU-Airbus.

 | MoU signing ceremony was held in 
order to launch a new Engineering 
Business Management Master’s 
Program under the collabora-
tion of Turkish Aviation Acade-
my-YTU-Warwick University.

 | Information notes about our 
training methodology were shared 
with universities in Istanbul and 
Ankara both by mail and e-mail.

 | Conquer Your Fear of Flying" pro-
gram was organized for 10 times 
in 2017 and totally 134 people 
participated in the program.

 | Training catalogs were updat-
ed in coordination with training 
managements in order to provide 
them to internal-external cus-
tomers in digital and printed form 
and to use the same in various 
activities.

 | For offering our digital lessons and 
Lynda.com training videos to our 
passengers on board and intro-
ducing our Academy, the integra-
tion processes were completed in 
coordination with In-flight Enter-
tainment Products Management 
and efforts to increase the number 
of trainings provided continue.

 | Certain changes were introduced 
about the content management 
of our website, and the relevant 
changes were completed (new 
buttons, history, about page, new 
training visuals, etc.). Promo-
tional activities for Air Transport 
Management Master’s Program 
were completed and contribution 
was made to give a start in the 
new period. An opening ceremony 
was organized recently for this 
program with the participation of 
our senior management.

 | Our social media accounts showed 
increased growth trend compared 
to the previous years and they 
have been brought to a better 
point through our own efforts.

 | Turkish and English monthly 
newsletter templates shared 
within our Incorporation have 
been renewed and offered in the 
format compatible with modern 
and new browsers.

 | New posters, magazine adver-
tisements, brochures and roll-ups 
were provided for our Special Pro-
grams, accreditations and digital 
courses, including the "Conquer 
Your Fear of Flying" program. For 
customer satisfaction, all con-

tents of our "Conquer Your Fear of 
Flying" program were converted 
into corporate format.

 | Promotional materials were 
checked and orders were made for 
the new period.

 | Kocaeli Informaties Fair: 15 differ-
ent in-house and external events 
including Kocaeli Informatics Fair 
and Turkey Again: Alumni Meeting 
were organized.

 | Approximately 40,000 trainees 
were hosted in our Academy. 
8,000 certificates were printed 
and sent to the holders. 40,000 
trainees evaluated the train-
ings delivered by the Academy 
through a digital evaluation sys-
tem. 2,200 requests, suggestions 
and complaints from customers 
were processed.

 | E-LEARNING  e-mail group 
received, reviewed and pro-
cessed 96,500 different feedback 
e-mails.

 | Apron entry permit was obtained 
for 550 trainees to perform the 
practical part of the trainings.

 | 4,500 trainees were called for 
350 courses in order to increase 
the training participation rates. 
Classroom training was organized 
for 1,520 courses, and notebooks 
and pens were distributed to the 
trainees for promotional purposes.

 | The TKAcademy Wi-Fi connection 
project was implemented in order 
to provide more effective internet 
service to the trainees. In addi-
tion, two kiosks were purchased 
for the waiting lounge to allow 
trainees access to the Internet.
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TURKISH AIRLINES FLIGHT TRAINING CENTER
Flight Training Center is the department in charge of all flight 
training services of the Incorporation, particularly the cock-
pit and cabin personnel. Training services have been provided 
since 1994, in accordance with the rules & regulations specified 
by national and international authorities.

The requirement for cockpit and cabin training continues to 
grow in parallel with our ever-growing fleet with special focus 
to 2023 targets of the Incorporation. In this context, operation-
al requirements are met by making necessary investments in 
flight training simulators, training aircraft and training equip-
ment.

Annually, over 40,000 cockpit crew, cabin crew, dispatcher and 
load-master trainees are trained at the Flight Training Center, 
with 23 years of experience.

TRAINING STAFF OF 516 INSTRUCTORS
The quality of training increases through the investments 
made day by day at the Flight Training Center which employs a 
total of 516 instructors, 434 of whom are employed in cockpit 
training and 82 of whom are employed in cabin training, and 
213 personnel. Flight Training Center, which started to deliver 
services in 1995 with a single simulator in its current campus, 
takes firm steps towards becoming the largest and the most 
modern training center of the region. Training center, holding 
EASA license since 2016, is now capable to meet both Turkish 
Airlines needs and other airlines training demands. Thus, Turk-
ish Airlines Flight Training Center contributes to the Incorpora-
tion also as a profit center, generating revenues.

AUTHORIZATIONS OBTAINED FROM 
NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL 
AUTHORITIES

 | EASA ATO (Approved Training Organization) Train-
ing Authorizations,

 | TRTO (Type Rating Training Organization) Training 
Authorizations,

 | EASA FSTD (Flight Simulation Training Device) Or-
ganization Authorization,

 | FTO (Flight Training Organization) Training Au-
thorizations,

 | Cabin Crew Initial Training Authorization,

 | European Resuscitation Council approved Defibril-
lator Training Authorization,

 | Ministry of Health approved First Aid Initial and 
Refreshment Training Authorization,

 | Directorate General for Dangerous Goods and 
Combined Transport Regulation (TMKTD) ap-
proved Dangerous Goods Regulations Training 
Authorization.

In addition to these authorizations, the Flight Training 
Center has been audited and authorized by the civil 
aviation authorities of many other countries thanks to 

the external trainings it has provided. 
It was audited for 66 times in 2017 
by both national and international 
aviation authorities due to precision 
of the training services provided 
and such audits revealed one of the 
most successful performances of our 
Incorporation.

COCKPIT PERSONNEL 
TRAININGS
Flight Training Center has been au-
thorized by EASA as "Approved Train-
ing Organization (ATO)", and by the 
Directorate General of Civil Aviation 
(Turkish DGCA) as "Type Rating Train-
ing Organization (TRTO)" and "Flight 
Training Organization (FTO)". All sim-
ulators and flight training equipment 
are also authorized by EASA.

There are 29 different training pro-
grams within the cockpit training, 
particularly including "Conversion", 
"Aircraft Type" and "Recurrent" train-
ings.

FTC is also capable to train 435 
foreign cockpit personnel of Turkish 
Airlines from 55 different countries,in 
the Flight Training Center.

A total of 8,356 cockpit personnel 
were given ground training in 2017. 
446 experienced and non-experi-
enced pilots who were employed 
were given Conversion training and 
292 of our pilots were given Con-
version training for Type Change or 
upgrade to Captain Pilot status. In 
2017, a total of 738 pilots received 
Conversion training.

TRAININGS GIVEN TO COCKPIT 
PERSONNEL IN FLIGHT TRAINING 
CENTER:

 | Type Rating Trainings,

 | Recurring, Refresher Trainings,

 | Type Rating Instructor/Type 
Rating Examiner (TRI/TRE) and 
Synthetic Flight Instructor (SFI)/
Synthetic Flight Examiner (SFE) 
Trainings,

 | MCC Basic and Instructor Training 
(MCC/MCCI),

 | Modular and Integrated Piloting 
Trainings,

 | FI (A), CRI (A), IRI (A) Flight In-
structor Trainings,

 | Special authorization and licenc-
ing trainings such as ETOPS, LVO, 
PBN, UPRT, etc.,

 | Trainings such as G/A, Steep 
Approach, etc. that are specially 
designed to increase safety and 
demanded by authorities and/or 
operators,

 | Single-Multi Engine Type Rating 
Training,

 | License Conversion Trainings,

 | Dispatcher Trainings,

 | Load Master Trainings,

 | Dangerous Goods Regulations 
Training,

 | Crew Resource Management 
(CRM) Training and CRMI (CRM 
Instructor) Training,

 | Train-the-Trainer Training, certi-
fied by the Ministry of National 
Education.

The requirement for 
cockpit and cabin training 

continues to grow in 
parallel with our ever-

growing fleet with special 
focus to 2023 targets 

of the Incorporation. In 
this context, operational 

requirements are met 
by making necessary 
investments in flight 

training simulators, training 
aircraft and training 

equipment.
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CABIN PERSONNEL 
TRAININGS
In 2017, 31,483 persons received train-
ing at Cabin Training Management 
in 27 different categories, including 
Initial, Recurrent, Refresher, Requal-
ification, Senior Cabin Crew Member, 
First Aid, Defibrillator, Service Qual-
ity and Professional Development 
trainings.

In 2017, 813 new cabin attendants 
graduated and a total of 1,545 hours 
of training was provided to the cabin 
personnel of foreign airlines.

TRAININGS GIVEN TO CABIN 
PERSONNEL IN FLIGHT TRAINING 
CENTER:

 | Initial Training,
 | Aviation Security Training,
 | Flight Safety and Emergency Pro-

cedures Training,
 | Crew Resource Management 

Training (CRM),
 | Dangerous Goods Regulations 

Training (DGR),
 | Normal Safety Procedures Train-

ing,
 | Aircraft Type Trainings (B737, 

A320, B777, A330),
 | Recurrent, Refresher, Requalifica-

tion Trainings,
 | Senior Cabin Crew Member (Nar-

row-Body Aircraft),
 | Senior Cabin Crew Member 

(Wide-Body Aircraft),

 | First Aid Initial and Recurrent 
Trainings certified by Provincial 
Directorate of Health,

 | Control Cabin Chief Position 
Training,

 | Defibrillator Basic and Recurrent 
Training certified by European 
Resuscitation Council.

In addition to the trainings above, 
various trainings are provided by 
the Cabin Training Management to 
increase customer satisfaction:

 | Announcement Practices in Air-
craft Training,

 | Life in Uniform,
 | Passenger Needs in Flight Opera-

tion Training,
 | Silence in Cabin,
 | Flight Experience from the Cabin 

Crew Perspective Training,
 | Sky Stars,
 | Initial Services Training,
 | Cabin Crew Professional Aware-

ness Training,
 | ER BC Specialization Training 

(B777/A330),
 | ER BC Specialization Recurrent 

Training (B777/A330),
 | B777/A330 Y/C Service Training,
 | In-flight Entertainment Systems 

Training (IFE),
 | Specialization in Cabin Chief Posi-

tion Training,
 | Theory Based Flight Day.

CANDIDATE PILOT 
TRAININGS
A total of 294 candidate pilots were 
trained within Flight Training Center 
in 2017, by using domestic and inter-
national Flight Training Organiza-
tions. The training of 318 candidate 
pilots who began to receive training 
in 2017 still continues.

YEAR 2017 TRAINING 
PERFORMANCE

 | Within the Cabin, 989,911 hours 
of training in total, composed of 
39,851 hours of formal training 
and 950,060 hours of distance 
training was provided,

 | Within the Cockpit, 192,656 hours 
of training in total, composed of 
19,906 hours of formal training, 
105,263 hours of distance train-
ing, and 67,487 hours of simulator 
training was provided,

 | Within the Academy, 32,932 hours 
of training in total, composed of 
8,600 hours of ground training 
and 24,332 hours of flight training 
was provided.

During the year 2017, a total of 
1,215,499 hours of training was 
provided within the Flight Training 
Center. Simulator usage duration 

Flight Training Center in Florya cam-
pus is hosting the following training 
devices to be used in Cockpit Train-
ings:

 | 14 Full Flight Simulators (FFS),
 | 6 Flight Training Devices (FTD),
 | 6 Computer Based Trainer (CBT) 

classrooms,
 | 3 Flight and Navigation Training 

Devices (FNPT II).

Flight Training Center is hosting the 
following training devices for Cabin 
Trainings:

 | 2 Cabin Emergency Evacuation 
Training Devices (CEET),

 | 3 Door Training Devices (A320 DT, 
B777 DT, B737 DT),

 | 1 Fire Fighting Training Device 
(RFFT),

 | 2 Cabin Service Training Devices 
(CST),

 | Ditching Pool.

The following aircrafts are available 
to be used for candidate pilot train-
ings in Aydin Cildir Flight Training 
Academy:

 | 13 single-engine Cessna C-172 
Training Aircraft,

 | 6 single-engine Diamond DA-40 
Training Aircraft,

 | 8 twin-engine Diamond DA-42 
Training Aircraft.

Florya campus with the efforts of 
SVP, Flight Training, Captain Sedat 
SEKERCI, who left us in 2017. The 
Flight Training Center which will be 
gaining a capacity of 28 simulators, 
90 classrooms, 1 conference room 
in an indoor area of 47,000 square 
meters in total together with the new 
training center building will be able 
to provide services to 2,620 trainees 
when the new building is put into 
service.

The new training facility is also 
equipped with the first national civil 
aviation training simulator in Turkey 
which is produced by HAVELSAN.

The Flight Training Center aims to 
improve the technical infrastructure 
and capabilities with cutting-edge 
cockpit and cabin. training equip-
ment such as virtual training classes 
that will be included in the inventory.

equal to 80,000 hours in total is well 
above the sector average and it is an 
indicator of the accomplishment with 
respect to the efficient utilization of 
the Incorporation’s resources.

In addition to the trainings within the 
Incorporation, wide range of com-
panies from Asia, Caucasus, Middle 
East, North Africa and Europe were 
received in 2017.

TRAINING INFRASTRUCTURE
The Flight Training Center has an 
infrastructure that allows providing 
training at all stages of civil aviation 
through the Flight Academy that is 
located in Florya, Istanbul and Aydin 
Cildir Airport in Aydin.

Our Incorporation is the newest and 
the most developed training center 
of the region with the new train-
ing center facility that was built in 
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OTHER SERVICES
ISTANBUL NEW AIRPORT
Istanbul New Airport Project is one 
of the largest airport projects in the 
world that is designed to serve with 
a capacity up to 200 million passen-
gers per year when all phases are 
completed, and allowing flights to 
more than 350 destinations, in an 
area of 7,600 hectares in total.

Istanbul New Airport Project is being 
implemented by IGA Havalimani 
Isletmesi A.S. founded on 7 October 
2013 and will carry out construction 
works and operation of the airport 
for 25 years. The project has an 
investment budget of EUR 10.25 Bil-
lion. Within the scope of the project; 
31,054 employees are employed in 
total, consisting of 3,136 engineers, 
architects, managers and 27,918 
workers/operators.

Istanbul New Airport City is a project 
carried out with the target of cre-
ating a contemporary living space 
in integration with Istanbul New 
Airport, for the purpose of meetings, 
accommodation, shopping and social 
and cultural needs of passengers, 
employees and the region, based 
on the masterplan designed by the 
renowned Perkins + Will firm. It aims 
to become an “international busi-
ness center” with business volume 
contributed by all parts of Turkey in 
addition to Istanbul with A+ offic-
es and commercial spaces. Hotels, 
shopping centers, designer outlets, 
offices, residences, mosques, training 
buildings, cultural and art facilities, 
hospitals and an EXPO fair venue will 

be constructed within the scope of 
Istanbul New Airport City.

Istanbul New Airport City, featuring 
prominent contemporary design 
with environmental and sustainable 
aspects, foreseeing planned growth, 
aims to become a reference in the 
world for airport cities to be built in 
the future, in addition to being the 
first initiative for Turkey with such 
high business volume to be created, 
with a modern urban development 
approach.

Comparison with the biggest airports 
in the world based on 2015 figures 
shows that Atlanta Airport carried 
101.5m passengers in an area of 1,902 
hectares; Beijing Airport carried 
89.9m passengers in an area of 2,330 
hectares; London Heathrow Airport 
carried 75m passengers in an area of 
1,227 hectares; Ataturk Airport car-
ried 61.3m passengers in an area of 
1,165 hectares. Istanbul New Airport 
is planned to be built in an area of 
7,600 hectares and it will carry 90 
million passengers in the first phase.

The airport will be completed in 
four phases and put into service in 
2018 with a main terminal having a 
passenger capacity of 90 million and 
two runways. When all the phases of 
the project are completed, the airport 
will be composed of 4 terminal build-
ings, 6 runways in total -5 parallel 
runways in north-south direction and 
1 runway in east-west direction-, and 
8 control towers. Our incorporation is 
expanding and renewing its fleet with 

Istanbul New Airport City, featuring 
prominent contemporary design 
with environmental and sustainable 
aspects, foreseeing planned growth, 
aims to become a reference in the 
world for airport cities to be built in 
the future, in addition to being the 
first initiative for Turkey with such high 
business volume to be created with a 
modern urban development approach.

The Air Traffic Control 

Tower, inspired by the 

figure of the "tulip" with 

cultural importance 

in our history, has 

been awarded the 

2016 International 

Architecture Award by 

Chicago Athenaeum.
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INNOVATION
As the leader of uninterrupted 
sustainable growth and the market 
among airline companies providing 
full service in its respective mar-
ket for the last fifteen-year period, 
Turkish Airlines carried out activities 
in 2017 for becoming a pioneer in 
the field of innovation. To this end, 
the ecosystem of innovation has 
been growing and expanding every 
day through addition of new actors 
to the innovation ecosystem. Espe-
cially with the innovation activities 
of 2017, this area has positioned 
the brand perception in an effective 
place at the center of the innovation 
ecosystem. Defining Innovation as a 
"value-creating innovation" for the 
Incorporation, sector, industry or 
market, Turkish Airlines positioned 
innovation centrally in daily decision 
chains. It prioritizes the right projects 
by focusing on the right areas by an-
nouncing its innovative priorities and 
the SOLID innovation methodology 
developed by itself to all the actors, 
and time by time, subjecting projects 
to the SOLID test. It has undertaken 
internal and external activities to 
enable all employees, stakeholders 
and affiliates to understand and 

adopt this approach, its definitions 
and strategies. SOLID methodolo-
gy helps innovators to focus on the 
right areas for internal and open in-
novation activities. In short, SOLID is 
aimed at standardization of all data 
processing activities, optimization 
through automation on elimination 
of areas that do not create added 
value, linear acceleration through 
effective reporting of all processes 
and activities, real-time monitoring 
of all customers, employees and in-
frastructure throughout all processes 
and maximum digitalization of all 
areas in the first four processes.

Turkish Airlines started internal 
and external innovation activities 
through consolidation of multiple 
corporate innovation platforms as 
first priority. The employees, the 

new types of aircraft day by day, and 
aims to provide a unique superiority 
in air transportation with the transfer 
to Istanbul New Airport.

Istanbul New Airport has a 64 
thousand square meter retail and 
duty free area, a 32 thousand square 
meter eating and drinking area, an 
airport hotel with 456 rooms (104 
of which are in the airside) and will 
also have the largest airport parking 
area in Europe with a total capacity 
of 40,000 vehicles including a deck 
capacity of 18,000 and parking lot 
capacity of 22,000. These services 
will make our passenger’ travel expe-
riences more enjoyable.

Thanks to the new baggage handling 
system that is 42 km long (corre-
sponding to the distance between 
Taksim-Tuzla), Istanbul New Airport 
will have baggage processing capac-
ity of more than 30 thousand bags 
per hour, and minimize baggage wait-
ing time of passengers through an 
seamless passenger experience.

The Air Traffic Control Tower that 
was designed by inspiration from the 
"tulip” which has become one of the 
icons of Istanbul, and has cultural 
importance in Turkish history, with an 
area of 5,000 square meters and a 
height of 95 meters. The Tower was 
awarded with the 2016 International 
Architecture Award by the Chicago 
Athenaeum.

In addition, customer loyalty pro-
grams will be created through mobile 

innovations that will be implemented 
in Istanbul New Airport; and mobile 
services will be provided to improve 
the travel experience during all 
stages from the customer's home to 
the flight. For instance, there will be a 
system that creates automatic plans 
before passengers leave their homes, 
based on all access information 
including the remaining time or flight 
duration, according to the airports 
density or weather and traffic condi-
tions, booking taxi, shuttle, train, etc.

In Istanbul New Airport, our Incorpo-
ration will have 10 main facilities in 

total including Cargo Facility, Aircraft 
Maintenance Hangars, Line Main-
tenance Hangar, Operations Center 
Building and Crew Terminal, Catering 
Facility, Ground Handling Equipment 
Maintenance and Management Facil-
ity, Airside Staff Access Building, ULD 
Maintenance and Repair Building, In-
flight Catering Storage and Express 
Cargo Base facilities. These facilities 
assume the most important roles for 
carrying out all operations at Istan-
bul New Airport, and uninterrupted 
performance of all landing and take-
off operations.

Since September, we have been 
working with one of the best consult-
ants in the world within the scope of 
the project management called ORAT 
(Operational Readiness and Airport 
Transfer) in order to ensure that our 
operational units are fully prepared 
on the day of opening, and our 
guests can be welcomed in the best 
way possible at our new home.

The project’s positive effects on the 
Incorporation and our country’s econ-
omy will be as follows by 2025; em-
ployment of 225,677 persons, 4.89% 
share in GNP, added value of USD 
40.7 billion, additional household 
income of USD 4.4 billion, and contri-
bution to the State in an amount of 
EUR 22.2 billion + VAT during oper-
ating period of 25 years. By the year 
2025, our Incorporation aims to take 
an important share of the passenger 
capacity of 200 million by benefit-
ing from the geographical position 
of Istanbul, upon completion of the 
phases.

Turkish Airlines will have 
10 facilities in total in 

Istanbul New Airport. The 
Incorporation aims to take 
a significant share from the 
passenger capacity of 200 
million upon completion of 

the airport.

greatest value of the Incorporation 
within the scope of internal innova-
tion activities, began to share their 
suggestions through a single sug-
gestion system in 2017. The system 
with a transparent sharing and 
rewarding process gives all employ-
ees the opportunity to present their 
valuable ideas, participate in the 
competition and project. By this way, 
the unutilized internal capacity is 
activated. Individual feedbacks sent 
directly to the administrators via a 
web-based innovation software are 
converted into a project draft by the 
person providing the feedback after 
the evaluation of the administrators 
and development activities are ini-
tiated upon adding the same to the 
project portfolio. This system going 
live in the initial months of 2017 has 
been visited by 35% of the employ-
ees. A total of 11,686 suggestions 
were shared by 5,475 employees who 
accessed to the system. In addition, 
"From Idea to Innovation" trainings 
were organized in all campuses of 
the Incorporation in order to dis-
seminate the innovation culture and 
uncover the innovation ambassadors.

CORPORATE  
INNOVATION SYSTEM 

2017

NUMBER OF 
SUGGESTIONS 

11.686

ACCESS RATE

%35

NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES 

SHARING 
SUGGESTION

5.475

NUMBER OF 
ACCESSING
EMPLOYEES

8.376
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With the extending flight 
network and growing 
fleet, the production 
volume and the number 
of revenue passengers 
for AnadoluJet increased 
in 2017. 

ANADOLUJET
AnadoluJet, a brand of Turkish 
Airlines, continues to make do-
mestic air travel affordable with its 
budget-friendly prices. It provides an 
extensive flight network in domestic 
destinations, thanks to its opera-
tions based on Ankara Esenboğa 
and Istanbul Sabiha Gokcen Airports 
and its flights departing from Bursa 
Airport.

THE GROWING FLEET 
There were 38 aircraft in AnadoluJet 
fleet in 2017. The entire fleet consists 
of Boeing 737-800 aircraft. Cost 
efficiency has been achieved by using 
single-type aircraft in all operations.

EXTENSIVE FLIGHT NETWORK
In 2017, the number of Esenboğa and Sa-
biha Gökçen based operations was 62, 
and the number of operations increased 
to 67 together with Bursa cross routes.

INCREASED PRODUCTION
With the extending flight network and 
growing fleet, the production volume 
and the number of revenue passen-
gers for AnadoluJet increased in 2017. 
14 million passengers were carried in 
around 91 thousand flights performed 
in 2017. Available Seat Kilometer figure 
that indicates the size of total produc-
tion, increased by 15% and the number 
of passengers carried increased by 17% 
as compared to the previous year. With 
this growth which is above Turkish mar-
ket average, AnadoluJet stepped up its 
market share in domestic to 25%.

AFFORDABLE PRICES
AnadoluJet continues to make the 
ticket prices more affordable so that 
more passengers can benefit from 
the convenience of air transporta-
tion. Notwithstanding the increasing 
costs, with the productivity analysis, 
the effect of the cost increase in the 
ticket prices intended to minimize. In 
addition, a number of campaigns or-
ganized have allowed the passenger 
to fly with affordable prices. In 2017, 
over 5 million passengers bought 
flight tickets with promotional prices.

IMPROVEMENTS FOR 
FLIGHTS
Some improvements were made in 
2017 in an effort to facilitate the 
flight experience of our passengers. 
Our online sale channels were re-
newed to improve the ticket pur-
chasing procedures and in addition, 
our passengers had opportunity to 
customize their travel by using the 
Paid Seat Selection application we 
introduced. By this way, the passen-
gers can select window side seats 
for enjoying the view, emergency exit 
row seats for extra space or front 
row seats for quick entry-exit until 
24-hour period before the flight. We 
continue working on increasing the 
number of such practices and making 
our flights more comfortable.

EXPECTATIONS
AnadoluJet will carry on its growth 
trend in 2018 as well as it has been so 
for many years. It has been planned 
to open new routes and increase 
the number of flights in the existing 
routes in an attempt to extend the 
service presented by AnadoluJet. In 
addition to this growth, AnadoluJet's 
objective is to boost the operational 
and commercial productivity in order 
to maintain the affordable prices. It is 
also expected to improve sales via in-
ternet (online sales)and mobile appli-
cations in 2018. A significant increase 
is expected in online sales, thanks to 
our renewed sale channels. Depend-
ing on the cyclical developments, 
AnadoluJet has been envisaged to 
deliver a higher performance in 2018, 
with the anticipated improvement in 
the market.

ANADOLUJET TRAFFIC RESULTS

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Change  

16/17

Revenue Passenger (000) 7.701 9.019 10.824 12.008 14.087 17,3%

Available Seat-Km 

(million)
5.960 7.811 8.615 9.809 11.244 14,6%

Revenue Passenger-Km 

(million)
4.837 6.519 7.196 8.098 9.459 16,8%

Load Factor (%) 81,2 83,5 83,5 82,6 84,1 1,5 p

Cargo+Mail (ton) 2.525 3.611 3.083 3.286 4.430 34,8%

Number of Landings 56.549 63.718 76.031 81.270 90.634 11,5%

2013 2013 20132014 2014 20142015 2015 20152016 2016 20162017 2017 2017

REVENUE PASSENGER 
(THOUSAND)

CARGO + MAIL  
(TON)

NUMBER OF LANDINGS

7.701 2.525 56.549 63.718

76.031 81.270

90.634

9.019

3.61110.824

3.083

12.008

3.286

14.087

4.430

17,3%
INCREASE

34,8%
INCREASE

11,5%
INCREASE
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COMMERCIAL COLLABORATION WITH AIRLINES, 
TRAFFIC RIGHTS AND EXTENDING FLIGHT NETWORK
Our Incorporation operates flights for 
303 destinations by the end of 2017. 
Through 49 Code-Share Agreements 
with distinguished airlines, some of 
which are members of Star Alliance 
of which we are also a member, we 
gained the opportunity to make sales 
to a total of 203 points more around 
the world, some of which are in Scan-
dinavian countries, Russia, America, 
Africa, and Far East, to which we do 
not operate any flights yet.

In 2017, Interline volume was realized 
as USD 275 million with an increase 
by 22%, which corresponds to ap-
proximately 3.2% of turnover of our 
Incorporation in 2017.

Our offline points, which reached 
to 203 with an increase of 3% with 
our 49 Code-Share agreements, are 
planned to be further increased in 
2018 within the frame of growth 
strategies of our Incorporation. Such 

and booking classes of both parties 
were revised under the existing Spe-
cial Proration Agreement we made 
with Hawaiian Airlines (HA). Access 
was provided to Latin American des-
tinations where Panamanian Copa 
Airlines (CM) flies beyond Panama 
City through the Code Share Agree-
ment signed with Copa Airlines. 
In addition, Special Proration and 
Code Share Agreements signed with 
Brazilian Azul Airlines (AD) allow our 
passengers to travel to more desti-
nations in Brazil after our Sao Paulo 
flights. Thanks to the Special Prora-
tion Agreement signed with LATAM 
Airlines Group, one of the largest 
airline companies in the Latin Amer-
ican region, connection flights have 
been provided through direct flights 
of our Incorporation to 114 destina-
tions where LATAM operates flights 
in the region. The existing SPA with 
TAME (EQ), the flag carrier airline of 
Equator, was revised and the num-

ber of points reached, including the 
Bogota (BOG) sector, was increased 
to 4 with the new agreement.

In Eastern Europe, SPA Agreement 
with the Polish LOT (LO) was revised 
and the number of points reached 
rose to 11 points including 9 points in 
Poland and 2 points beyond with ad-
ditional 4 sectors that were added to 
the agreement. Existing SPA agree-
ments with Belavia (B2) of Belarus 
and Air Moldova (9U) of Moldova 
were revised and fees and classes 
were diversified. In addition, Code 
Share Agreement was signed with Air 
Moldova (9U) to increase the number 
of flights offered in the market and 
the flight alternatives offered to our 
passengers, and with this agree-
ment, passengers will be channeled 
to our flights through sales channels 
in Moldova Market and it will also 
contribute to Interline volume of our 
Incorporation. At the same time, our 
existing SPA and Code Share Agree-
ments with Ukraine International (PS) 
of Ukraine were renewed by revising 
the settlement rules and fees, and 
the Interline volume was increased. 
15 points among 45 Russian domes-
tic destinations where UT stopped 
flights were removed from the scope 
of the Code Share Agreement we 
made with Utair (UT), and Mos-
cow-Minsk route where UT has flights 
was included.

In the Far East market, Code Share 
Agreements were made with Malay-
sian Malindo Airways and Uzbekistan 
Airlines in addition to Interline Traffic 
and Special Proration Agreement. In 
addition, scope of the existing agree-
ments with airlines in the region was 
extended for regional distribution 
and Interline opportunities for Aus-
tralian market were increased; sales 
volume above USD 25 million was 
achieved in the Australian market.

In 2017, our initiatives continued to 
improve bilateral relations with the 

countries in parallel with our require-
ments to increase the frequency and 
add flights to new points. This matter 
was continuously kept on the agenda 
through our Ambassadors, and flag 
carrier airlines and the relevant au-
thorities in the countries for making 
progress with China, India, Hong 
Kong, Uzbekistan and Mongolia. In 
addition, our demands were commu-
nicated for putting on the agenda 
during high-level bilateral discus-
sions. Bilateral aviation negotiations 
were held with Uzbekistan and Hong 
Kong, and frequency right has been 
obtained to start flights operation to 
Samarkand.

Under the commercial agreements, 
Interline and Special Proration 
Agreement was signed with the 
British Midland Regional (BM), and 
Code Share Agreement is planned to 
be put in effect in 2018. Special Pro-
ration Agreements with Lufthansa 
(LH), Swiss (LX) and Austrian (OS) 
are currently converted into a joint 
agreement under Lufthansa Group 
and it shall be put into effect in the 
beginning of 2018. Existing Special 
Proration Agreement with Spanish 
Air Europa (UX) was revised. Booking 
classes were increased under the SPA 
agreement with the Greek Aegean 
Airlines (A3) and all domestic des-
tinations in Greece were included in 
the SPA. A draft for signing new SPA 
was sent to Alitalia (AZ) upon termi-
nation of the previous SPA with com-
mercial reasons. Negotiations were 
initiated for Code Share Agreement. 
SPA Agreement with Heliair Monaco 
(YO) was terminated due to tempo-
rary suspension of ICH membership 
and suspension of flights. Instead, an 
Interline Agreement was signed with 
APG Airlines (GP) as was the case in 
the past. Groups were included into 
our SPA Agreement with Iceland Air 
(FI) based on winter tourism demand 
for the Scandinavian countries. Test 
works were commenced in connec-
tion with the new booking system 

of Sunexpress (XQ) for the Interline 
agreement that will allow passenger/
coupon exchange with XQ via mutual 
online booking systems.

SPA Agreement between the In-
corporation and the Scandinavian 
Airlines System (SK) was revised 
regarding the fees and settlement 
method to take effect as of January 
2017 and it was aimed to increase the 
use of the agreement. In this context, 
Turkish Airlines/SK total interline 
volume reached to USD 10 million 
by the end of 2017. Turkish Airlines 
Operating Istanbul-Tallinn line was 
included in the scope of the exist-
ing Code Share Agreement between 
our Incorporation and Adria Airways 
(JP) to take effect on 27 March 2016 
upon request of JP. However, upon 
withdrawal of Adria Airways from the 
Estonian market upon termination 
of the collaboration with Nordica 
(new airline incorporation founded 
to replace Estonian Air and having 
its head office in Tallinn), the sector 
in question was removed from the 
scope of the agreement on 1 October 
2017.

On the other hand, an agreement 
was made for network-wide revi-
sion of the SPA Agreement made 
between Adria Airways (JP) and 
our Incorporation and covering only 
Turkish Airlines sectors in order to 
include all sectors of both airlines, 
and infrastructure works required for 
more efficient use of the agreement 
have been accelerated.

On the other hand, evaluations are 
made for making a SPA Agreement 
with Norwegian Wideroe (WF) that 
is active in the region and for the 
collaboration opportunities with 
Danish Atlantic Airways (RC) in the 
region for the purpose of supporting 
Scandinavian destinations.

In addition, round 3 was complet-
ed in connection with the official 

commercial agreements allow our 
passengers to travel to 181 cities such 
as Las Vegas, Seattle, Ottawa, Syd-
ney, Melbourne, Kaliningrad, Malmo 
to which we do not have direct flights 
from Istanbul and they enjoy com-
fortable, faster and cost-effective 
flights with a single Turkish Airlines 
ticket under flight number and code 
of our Incorporation by checking-in 
up to the final destination, without 
requiring further actions about the 
baggage at transfer point. In 2017, 
some activities were carried out to 
develop commercial cooperations 
with leading airlines in major markets 
such as Latin America, Australia, Chi-
na and India, which are considered to 
be strategic by our Incorporation.

In 2017, in North and South America, 
Codeshare Agreement was revised 
with the addition of alternative 
points after Air Canada (AC) stopped 
its Toronto-Istanbul flights. Levels 

Commercial agreements 
allow our passengers 
to travel to 181 cities 
for which we do not 

have direct flights from 
Istanbul. Passengers enjoy 

comfortable, faster and 
cost-effective flights with 

TK flight number and a 
single Turkish  Airlines 

ticket by checking-in up 
to the final destination, 

without requiring further 
actions about the baggage 

at transfer point.
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negotiations continuing between our 
country which is one of the countries 
with the highest passenger traffic 
in the aviation sector and European 
Union (EU) for signing a comprehen-
sive aviation agreement. If signed, 
this agreement will replace exist-
ing bilateral agreements with EU 
member states. The agreement for 
harmonization with the EU aviation 
acquis is aimed at improving market 
access by eliminating capacity and 
frequency constraints, achieving high 
standards in fair competition, secu-
rity, air traffic and infrastructure, as 
well as protecting the consumers and 
the environment.

A target was set to support the 51 
points we fly to in Africa together 
with the Conakry destination com-
menced in 2017 through collabora-
tions established with 24 regional 
airlines in Africa.

A Code Share Agreement was signed 
between Air Namibia and our In-
corporation for Istanbul-Frankfurt/
Johannesburg and Windhoek-Frank-
furt/Johannesburg destinations, and 
information on technical, training, 
ground handling and catering mat-
ters was shared with the airlines in 
this strategic market.

In the Middle East, a Code Share 
Agreement was signed between 
Lebanon's flag carrier Middle East 
Airlines and Bahrain's national airline 
Gulf Air and our Incorporation to 
take effect in connection with trunk 
routes. Existing Code Share Agree-
ment with Royal Jordanian Airlines 
was extended in scope with the ad-
dition of new destinations. A Protec-
tion Agreement was signed between 
Qatar Airways and our Incorporation 
for carrying passengers with our 
flights in order to prevent incon-
veniences passengers may experi-
ence due to the air space embargo 
imposed on Qatar on 5 June 2017 by 
7 countries (Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, 

Egypt, United Arab Emirates, Yemen, 
Libya and Maldives) that are led by 
Saudi Arabia.

During the International Civil Avi-
ation Negotiations (ICAN) held in 
2017;

 | In America and Eastern Europe 
regions; 2-frequency cargo and 
additional 1-frequency passenger 
rights were obtained with Belarus 
on weekly basis and 5-frequency 
passenger flight rights in total per 
week for each party was signed. 
In addition, both parties were pro-
vided with 3rd Party Code Share 
right. Air Transportation Agree-
ment was signed with Brazil. Air 
Transportation Agreement with 
unlimited 3rd, 4th and 5th traffic 
rights was signed with Chile 
based on Open Skies.

 | In Africa and the Middle East, 
frequency rights were obtained 
for the new points in line with 
our Incorporation’s extending 
strategy for the region. In Africa, 
existing 7-frequency passenger 
flight right per week in Ghana was 
increased to 14-frequency and 
existing 7-frequency passenger 
flight right per week in Cameroon 
was increased to 10-frequency 
with an increase of 3-frequency 
to take effect in 2019. In addition, 
7-frequency passenger flight right 
per week was obtained for Port 
Harcourt in Nigeria and 10- and 
7-frequency passenger flight 
right per week was obtained for 
Trabzon-Bahrain and Bursa-Bah-
rain, respectively, in Bahrain. In 
Jordan, 1-frequency temporary 
cargo right was obtained in return 
for granting 9-frequency right for 
Ankara and 10-frequency right for 
Antalya. Passenger flight rights 
for Qatar was increased from 
53-frequency to 56-frequency in 
total and 3-frequency was added 
for Hatay-Qatar. Thus, apart from 

Istanbul and Ankara, 18 rights 
were determined from Qatar to 
Adana, Antalya, Bodrum, Bursa, 
Hatay and Trabzon on condition 
that each does not exceed 3-fre-
quency per week. In summary, 
existing agreements with 6 coun-
tries - Ghana, Nigeria, Cameroon, 
Qatar, Jordan, Bahrain - were re-
vised, additional frequency rights 
were obtained for Turkish carriers, 
and Air Transportation Agreement 
was signed with Saudi Arabia 
within the ICAN Conference held 
in 2017.

 | In Asia and the Far East region, 
3rd and 4th traffic rights between 
two countries were revised to be 
unlimited during the negotiations 
with Malaysia.

In summary, bilateral aviation nego-
tiations were held with 23 countries. 
3 Air Transportation Agreements, 
which were previously initialed, were 
signed with Brazil, Chile and Sau-
di Arabia. Within the scope of the 
bilateral negotiations related to the 
increases in flights, a total of 60 pas-
senger frequency increases were pro-
vided; 27 with Bahrain, 1 with Belarus, 
3 with Cameroon, 7 with Ghana, 12 
with Jordan, 3 with Qatar and 7 with 
Nigeria. In addition, unlimited flight 
rights were obtained for flights of 
Turkish carriers to Malaysia during 
negotiations held with this country. 
2 new points in Bahrain and 1 new 
destinations in Nigeria were added to 
the flight destinations and additional 
2-frequency cargo flight right was 
obtained upon negotiations with 
Belarus.

STAR ALLIANCE
Star Alliance celebrated its 20th 
anniversary of by an event organ-
ized on 14 May 2017 in Frankfurt with 
the participation of executives from 
member airlines. Today, the Star Al-
liance network currently offers more 
than 18,800 daily flights to 1,317 air-
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tunities with ALTA.

Executives represented our Incor-
poration in the meetings organized 
in important capitals of the world 
by Centre for Aviation (CAPA) that 
offers market data, researches and 
solutions to several organizations 
in the aviation industry to be used 
during strategical decision-making 
process. In addition, we presented 
the successes achieved in aviation 
sector by our country and Incorpora-
tion, Istanbul New Airport the mega 
project of our country that will be the 
biggest airport in the world.

ZED (ZONAL EMPLOYEE 
DISCOUNT) AND MIBA 
(MULTILATERAL INTERLINE 
BUSINESS AGREEMENT) 
AGREEMENTS
ZED is a discount ticket agreement 
signed airlines, based on miles ac-
count, as regards holiday travel cov-
ering the Incorporation’s employees, 
their spouses and children under 24 
years of age as well as their parents 
and siblings, depending on the terms 
of the agreement.

MIBA is a multilateral standard 
ticket agreement based on mileage 
or discounted rates specified in the 
agreement as regards the business 
travel of the Incorporation’s employ-
ees by foreign airlines. Same rules 
apply to all airlines in MIBA and they 
get involved in the agreement pool 
by complying with the predefined 
rules. This agreement is not appli-
cable for the family members of the 
employees.

In 2017, ZED Agreements were signed 
between our Incorporation and 
LATAM Airlines (LA), TAM Airlines 
(JJ), Bangkok Airways (PG) and Brit-
ish Midland Regional Limited (BM), 
covering the holiday travels of the 

Incorporation’s employees and their 
families, and MIBA Agreement with 
LOT Polish Airlines (LO) covering the 
business travels of the employees.

Including the recently signed agree-
ments, the number of our existing 
ZED Agreements increased to 90 
and MIBA Agreements to 8. Thanks 
to ZED and MIBA Agreements, the 
employees of our Incorporation are 
able to book their holiday and busi-
ness travels tickets to the destina-
tions where we do not operate direct 
flights. 

REPORTING, ANALYSIS AND 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECTS 
The first phase was completed for 
the Agreements Tracking Portal 
project that is aimed at determining 
the new sectors that can generate 
income, profitability and contribu-
tion within or out of the scope of the 
existing agreements, and review of 
the existing agreements or analysis 
of potential agreement opportunities 
accordingly. It was aimed to access 
details such as sector, fee, booking 
class information under the signed 
SPA and Codeshare agreements 
upon completion of the first phase. 
In the second phase, Air Services 
Agreement (ASA) information will be 
transferred to the relevant portal and 
a structure will be created for dy-
namic inquiry of the rights acquired 
under all civil aviation agreements.

ports in 193 countries via its 28 mem-
bers that also provides access to 
over 1,000 lounges around the world. 
In 2017, Star Alliance continued to 
be ranked 1st, with a share of 20%, in 
terms of both available seat/km and 
revenue passenger/km among global 
alliances.

Star Alliance positioned its mid-term 
strategy under 3 subjects; “Digital 
Services”, “Airport Experience" and 
"Loyalty/FFP Platform” that mainly 
focuses on creating excellent and 
standard travel experience for all 
member airlines. In terms of this 
strategy, Star Alliance also made 
certain revisions in the management 
and committee structure that result-
ed a new strategy team formation 
named "Digital Services” and also 
cancelled Commercial Cooperation, 
Corporate Communications and Mar-
keting committees. 

Baggage Hub, Online Retro, Irrops 
Offload Tool and Online Redemption 
projects were implemented. Zagreb 
Airport was completed within MuoR 
(Move under one Roof) concept and 
collaboration activities continue on 
Addis Ababa, Hong Kong,

Seoul, Taipei, Beijing and Istanbul 
New Airport. 

The Star Connection Center concept 
was implemented to Beijing and 
Vancouver airports and was decided 
to open the Star Alliance Lounge in 
Amsterdam.  Regarding Gold Track 
product; adding Birmingham, Baden-
Baden, Linz, Nuakshot, Nanning, 
Urumqi, Wenzhou, Wuhan, Halifax, 
Winnipeg airports Gold Track service, 
now available at 33 hub and 117 non-
hub airports.

Demo of Seat Assignment and 
Everymundo-Internet Search Opti-
mization projects were shared with 
members that is in accordance with 

the alliance’s digitalization target. 

Chinese carrier, Juneyao Airlines has 
been integrated into Star Alliance on 
14 May 2017 within the scope of the 
“Connecting Partner” membership 
model not only to provide access to 
“White Spot”  destinations that Star 
Alliance members do not operate but 
also in order to integrate LCC (Low 
Cost Carrier) carriers or carriers with 
regional status into Alliance. On the 
other hand, Olympic Air (OA) owned 
by Aegean Airlines (A3), is also under 
integration process to Star Alliance 
within “Connecting Partner” concept.

The Interline volume that achieved 
with Codeshare and other commer-
cial agreements with Star Alliance 
members represents 40% of the total 
Interline volume. 

INTERNATIONAL 
ORGANIZATIONS
We participated in the activities 
and meetings held by international 
aviation organizations such as Inter-
national Air Transport Association 
(IATA), Airlines International Rep-
resentation in Europe (AIRE), Arab 
Air Carriers Organization (AACO), 
Latin American and Caribbean Air 
Transport Association (ALTA), Pacific 
Asia Travel Association (PATA) and 
International Civil Aviation Organ-
ization (ICAO) and followed up the 
developments in the field of aviation 
closely.

“Montreal Protocol Amending Tokyo 
Convention on Crimes and Certain 
Other Acts Committed on Board 
Aircraft” including regulations on 
“Unruly Passengers” prepared by 
ICAO was also signed by our coun-
try. These regulations increase the 
scope of powers granted to official 
authorities and the airline companies 
in connection with unruly passen-
gers. Likewise, “Carbon Offsetting 
and Reduction Scheme for Interna-

tional Aviation (CORSIA)” accepted 
by ICAO in 2016 for the purpose of 
reducing carbon emissions will take 
effect in 2021. Airlines will record 
their emission values and notify the 
relevant authorities by 2019. For this 
reason, under coordination of IATA 
airlines including our Incorpora-
tion will establish a procedures and 
mechanisms in order to record fuel 
consumption and emissions over the 
next year.

On the other hand, the European Air-
lines Association (AEA) representing 
member state airlines in the EU since 
1952 has been closed as of 1 January 
2017. As of 1 June 2017, we became 
member of Airlines International 
Representation in Europe (AIRE) that 
is based in Brussels for the purpose 
of ensuring effective representa-
tion in the EU. We regularly attend 
meetings and conferences held at EU 
level within the framework of AIRE 
membership and represent our Incor-
poration. In this context, on 23 No-
vember 2017, our Incorporation was 
represented at a high level meeting 
between AIRE and EU Transportation 
Commissar Violeta Bulc. In addition, 
the amount of share allocated to our 
Incorporation from the closure of 
AEA was donated to Kizilay within 
the framework of the Incorporation’s 
interests.

73rd General Assembly of IATA that 
regulates the aviation sector through 
regulations and procedures was held 
in Cancun, Mexico on 4-6 June 2017. 
During the meetings in which our 
Incorporation was represented, our 
Incorporation was re-elected to the 
Committees of Finance and Sectoral 
Relations which are two of the six 
committees in IATA that follow the 
developments in the civil air trans-
port. Such committee meetings and 
developments related with signif-
icant projects such as New Distri-
bution Competency (NDC), Unruly 

Passenger, CORSIA, International 
Settlement Systems (ISS), etc. that 
are of strategic importance for the 
aviation sector are communicated 
to the relevant departments of our 
Incorporation under the coordination 
of our unit.

On the other hand, a meeting was 
held between IATA President Alexan-
dre de Juniac and our CEO & Presi-
dent on 7 November 2017 in Istanbul. 
The "United for Wildlife Buckingham 
Palace Declaration (UFW)" that 
aims at preventing illegal trade of 
wild animals and increasing sectoral 
awareness with the support of IATA 
was signed by our CEO & President 
on behalf of our Incorporation and 
matters were discussed on the agen-
da during the meeting. The declara-
tion is aimed at preventing the illegal 
trade of wild animal parts such as 
ivory, rhino horn, tortoise shell and 
the like and raising awareness about 
this issue by obtaining the support of 
the leading companies in this sector 
for the mission. 

In addition, our CEO & President 
represented our Incorporation as a 
Partner Airline of Arab Air Carriers 
Organization (AACO) in the 50th 
General Assembly held in UAE on 
20-22 November 2017.  We strate-
gically maintained our presence in 
this organization and hold high-level 
negotiations with leading Arab air 
carriers of AACO. Furthermore, our 
Incorporation closely follows up 
activities of Latin America and Car-
ibbean Airlines Association (ALTA) 
and Asia-Pacific Travel Association 
(PATA) where we are “Associate” 
member hold the high-level meet-
ings. On 1 August 2017, a meeting 
was held between Karolina Torres, 
Director of ALTA Airlines & Industry 
Relations, who visited our Incorpo-
ration and our CEO & President, in 
order to discuss cooperation oppor-
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SALES SOLUTIONS
First level certification was obtained 
upon completion of NDC (New Dis-
tribution Capability) Level 1 Project 
in the new distribution program 
conducted by IATA. Improvements 
were made in the Easy Ticket (Agency 
Ticket Sales Web Interface) appli-
cation for generating additional 
income. Agency accounting and 
reporting processes were facilitated 
through direct extension of account-
ing/sales report to agencies and 
companies over web service and the 
sFTP in Webs Agent (Agency Web 
Service) application. Quickres (Office/
Call Center/Agency Ticket Sales Web 
Interface) application was improved 
to accept online payment via virtual 
POS in office and agency channels. 
Foreign agency definitions were 
improved (IATA and Non-IATA) and 

all agencies were collected under one 
roof in Agency Portal application.

PRICING AND PAYMENT 
SOLUTIONS
A new period has been started in 
our Incorporation for the proce-
dures regarding flight cancellations 
and changes that are made beyond 
request of the passengers of domes-
tic flights. Price for domestic flights 
were presented to Google Flight 
Search. With AnadoluJet revenue 
management system project (AirRM 
project), domestic routes’ price data 
were transfered to the system for 
revenue maximization of the domes-
tic routes’ pricing system.

Within the scope of the Project for 
Adding New Competencies to TK-
Fraud Fight Application, the applica-

tion’s capability of detecting fraudu-
lent transactions was improved with 
new functions added.

UnionPay, SamanPay, Diners Club, 
Klarna, and Universal Air Travel Plan 
(UATP) went live. It is anticipated 
that additional sales will be in-
creased with the integrations made.

Systemic restrictions regarding the 
GDS and Troya agencies’ authori-
zation for ticket viewing, changing 
and return procedures have been 
introduced in order to eliminate 
fraud that may occur during ticketing 
processes. Backup stock mechanism 
was established for the stock man-
agement system (INCO).

In the TK-Price system, improve-
ment was made with the feature for 
viewing total price including tax and 
fuel surcharge. Proper price flow was 
ensured through elimination of data 
inconsistencies.

Improvement was made for auto-
matic completion of Reissue and Re-
fund procedures in connection with 
exchanged or processed tickets.

Thanks to the E-Ticket Data Feed 
(EDF) system, real-time tracking and 
reporting features were provided for 
the new or processed tickets. E-tick-
et History system was moved to the 
EDF system, for inquiring the tickets 
that complete the life cycle.

RESERVATION SOLUTIONS
The process of detecting repetitive 
passenger bookings that is per-
formed once a day in Troya Reserva-
tion System was reduced to maxi-
mum 3 minutes with the additional 
application developed in TROPHY 
system.

A parametric solution was made to 
cover all potential scenarios about 
moving to Istanbul New Airport, it 
was ensured that data entered into 
O&D (Revenue Accounting System) 

are converted into the airport code of 
Istanbul New Airport and the TROYA 
system (Turkish Airlines Reserva-
tion-Automatic ticketing-Ground op-
erations-Area automation) that uses 
the O&D product was integrated into 
a similar structure.

The revenue management product 
was put into service for Anadolu-
Jet in order to manage its revenue 
processes, increase its competitive 
power and increase its revenue.

MERCURY AVAILABILITY 
SYSTEM
All GDSs and Star Alliance (RAS) 
seamless availability traffic were 
fully moved to Mercury that is our 
new platform. Thus, a high-capacity 
service platform has been provided 
at a level that allows easy respond 
to expected traffic increase in RAS 
queries.

AGILE MOBILE 
APPLICATIONS
Turkish Airlines and AnadoluJet main 
ticket sales applications developed 
with our internal resources were pre-
sented to our passengers.

Check-in, Roster, Notice, Documents 
and IRROPS applications were put 
into use within the scope of CRESS 
and Stations Mobile Portal projects.

SSO (Single Sign-On) and TouchID 
features have been standardized in 
our Mobile Applications. "UP" mo-
bile application for our personnel 
provides access to frequently used 
information and services via an easy 
interface in the mobile environment.

DIGITAL SALES SOLUTIONS
Our new website was put into 
service, offering end-to-end flight 
experience to each passenger with 
additional functions such as paid 
seat sales, payment in different cur-
rencies, and multiple flight selection. 
The ability of the website to offer 
interline flight has been improved. 

Privileged services have started 
to be offered to the members with 
the portal developed specifically 
for Turkish Airlines Corporate Club 
members.

AnadoluJet mobile application was 
made more practical with innova-
tions such as ticket refund function, 
paid seat sales, offline MBK use, 
audio call, user-friendly APIS form.

AnadoluJet website was renewed in 
2017. The website that is moved to 
the new service infrastructure on a 
modular basis, serves our customers 
with more flexible, more stable and 
faster processing possibilities.

DIGITAL PASSENGER 
SOLUTIONS
In March 2017, our passengers de-
parting from America and continuing 
with America flights were provided 
with the opportunity for quick access 
through the security without secu-

rity check within the scope of the TSA 
Precheck project.

Works were started for biometric solu-
tions that is one of the hot topics in 
aviation.

With the addition of card reading 
feature to MANAS (Satisfaction and 
Airport Sales) devices, our passengers 
were provided with the ability to evalu-
ate the check-in process and make ex-
cess baggage payments without going 
to the sales office.

DCS (Departure Control System) Open 
Systems project was put into service. 
Mainframe based DCS History appli-
cation was rewritten with the latest 
technologies and the user-friendly ap-
plication with increased functions was 
presented to the service of our depart-
ments within the scope of the project.

Printing Boarding Pass with Braille 
Alphabet service was initiated for our 
visually impaired passengers, and the 
passengers were given the opportunity 
to read all the important information 
on the boarding pass themselves.

MIDDLEWARE SERVICES
TCC Portal, Ticketing in Different 
Currencies, Reissue and Refund, CRM 
(Comarch), Adaptation of Refund Ser-
vices to Easy Ticket, IRR-Involuntary 
Reissue & Refund Project, Reseating 
Improvements, Add Infant-Reserva-
tion, VNR-Voluntary N Times Reissue & 
Refund Project, Personalized Campaign 
with Promocode, SPA Developments 
and Star Online Redemption have 
gone live. Mobile & Web Seat Sales and 
Legroom Sales works have been com-
pleted. Improvements were made with 
ticketing, reissue, refund procedures in 
internal and external systems.

CRM
Central Customer Database was creat-
ed with information of passengers that 
gave consent within the scope of the 
CRM Program. Campaign Management 
and Survey Management solutions 

Turkish Airlines maintains 
its position as leader of 
the sector through its 

increased service quality 
thanks to approaches such 

as Passenger Assistant, 
Accessible Projects and 

Corporate Customer 
Programs.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT 
AND INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGIES
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were produced. Quick processing of 
customer feedbacks was ensured 
with the renewed Application Center 
solution.

Infrastructure was developed for 
offering personal services such 
as CIP lounge access, new credit 
card integrations, mile earning and 
spending campaigns, card level up-
grade opportunities to Miles&Smiles 
members.

Domestic flights were also integrated 
into the TK Conventions system that 
is our corporate program for trade 
fairs and exhibitions so that all our 
regions benefit from the program's 
features.

GROUND OPERATIONS 
SOLUTIONS
Timely take-off performance has 
been improved and the whole 
process has been made more man-
ageable through instant retrieval of 
turnaround data.

An important step has been taken in 
achieving operational excellence in 
our Incorporation by putting Oper-
ational Checklist application into 
service.

RFID (Radio Frequency Identifica-
tion) applications were developed 
to enable tracking of Turkish Air-
lines passengers' baggage through 
creating baggage loading and arrival 
information.

Passenger experience was partly 
digitalized through removal of signed 
approvals during baggage claim pro-
cess initiated due to irregulaties.

IROPS Phase II (Irregular Operations) 
project aimed at managing irregular-
ities has been completed.

TRAINING SOLUTIONS
In order to improve the Flight Train-
ings system, we started working on 

TMS project.

Flight Log digital form that is used to 
track simulator trainings, was made 
ready for use through the update of 
the Crew Management System (CMS-
the management system used by 
Turkish Airlines for making monthly 
flight programs of the crew) and the 
new design.

It was ensured that flight crew 
members receive mandatory distant 
trainings over FTC LMS (Flight Train-
ing Center Learning Management 
System).

A computer game was developed 
with the support of T.R. Ministry of 
Culture and Tourism for increasing 
the popularity of aviation among the 
new generations and telling about 
the history of Turkish Airlines.

CARGO SOLUTIONS
COMIS platform where cargo oper-
ations are carried out was upgraded 
to iCargo 4.5 with new functions, as a 
result of 4 months of work.

3CS, web-based customer com-
plaints management system, was 
opened for use.

A new portal project was developed 
to enable cargo agencies to manage 
all processes via web and mobile. The 
rate of booking via the current Portal 

exceeded 95% especially in the Far 
East.

The first phase of the SMART CARGO 
mobile application used in the field 
by overseas sales personnel has been 
opened for use. New functions were 
developed on COMIS for sending 
e-archive invoices to our customers 
who were previously sent printed 
invoices.

Reports on Sales-Operations and 
Accounting processes were rede-
signed and improved with more 
flexible and rich content in the MI-
CROSTRATEGY environment within 
the scope of COMIS DataWare House 
Reports project.

It was ensured that Cargo Deliv-
ery&Acceptance and loading and 
unloading operations at the hold 
are carried out using hand-held 
terminals and transferred to COMIS 
(Cargo Operations Management 
and Information System-new data 
processing project of Turkish Cargo) 
and TMAN-Turnaround Management 
(mobile and web application for 
recording, monitoring and managing 
processes coordinated by Dispatcher 
at the hold) systems within the scope 
of Ramp Handling project.

CREW SOLUTIONS
The NOTICE application developed 
was put into service for the admin-

istrative and operational reporting 
processes related with crew mem-
bers. With the DOCUMENTS appli-
cation, our flight crews have been 
provided with access to the bulle-
tins, announcements and all other 
documents from the web and mobile 
environments.

DREAM (Deadhead Restseat Allo-
cation Management) system, that is 
used to manage seats reserved for 
resting during flights with pass crew 
and additional crew was renewed 
and its performance was improved.

Manpower adaptation project was 
completed and put into service for 
long-term planning of the schedules 
and trainings of the flight crews.

FLIGHT OPERATIONS 
SOLUTIONS
MSWStar application, DVS applica-
tion, Atom application, AODB (Airline 
Operational Database) integration 
layer were put into service within the 
scope of Legacy Systems Exit project 
that was started for the purpose 
of reducing software maintenance 
expenses and providing relatively 
modern interface for our operational 
applications.

With the Charter Portal application, 
all steps from the receipt of custom-
er requests to performing the flight 

system has been put into service 
for the purpose of carrying out the 
R&D processes carried out in Turkish 
Airlines R&D Center via an end-to-
end system. Electronic Document 
Management System was developed 
and implemented in the Incorpora-
tion to ensure that processes that 
are carried out with wet signature on 
paper are signed and executed with 
digital and mobile signature in digital 
environment. Improvements were 
made through system integrations 
for exchanging correspondences with 
external parties. Overseas Fuel Pro-
curement Management System was 
put into service. A search engine was 
developed for all stations operating 
within the Incorporation in order to 
ensure that all operational informa-
tion is displayed on a single portal 
and in a mobile compatible manner.

FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS
The Budget-Actual Dashboard 
project, designed to provide budg-
etary discipline and make instant 
budget comparisons was put into 
service. Real-Time Version Budget 
project, which allows for making a 
budget with version went live. Bal-
ance Analysis Cockpit (BAC) project, 
which aims to accelerate month-end 
closing process was put into service. 
Ced/Pass and Anadolujet Profitabil-
ity Reporting projects were complet-
ed. CIP expenses, INAD (Inadmissa-
ble Passenger)-Deportee (Deported 
Passenger) penalty charges and 
upper pass bill control process have 
been included in the scope of ERP 
DOP (Direct Operational Purchas-
ing) and the processes started to 
be executed through the system. 
Handling Agreements SAP CMAS 
(Contract Management Analysis Sys-
tem) project has been completed. In 
the ERP system, the Supplier Eval-
uation Portal went live to be used 
for the evaluation of the suppliers 
from which products/services are 
procured. The Incorporation started 
issuing e-archive invoice for tax-pay-

were centralized and management 
was facilitated in the Charter pro-
cesses.

The CAST application, which pro-
vides a quick and modern access to 
the detailed information, documents 
and visuals of the aircraft in our fleet, 
was developed and presented to use. 
The WABSIS application was put into 
service for automation of the Basic 
Weight/Index and DOW-DOI weight 
calculations.

The Boeing BEGSS application, 
which enables to update the Jeppe-
sen, performance and aircraft library 
documents using the LTE connection 
of EFB devices, was introduced on 
B777 aircraft.

ERP TECHNOLOGIES AND 
REPORTING
ITSM Dashboard was prepared so 
that the support notifications on SAP 
Solman system can be followed by 
the solution departments. A Budget 
Simulations Dashboard was prepared 
for access to accurate results quickly 
and analysis of such results in online 
mode without the need for modifica-
tion of global parameters affecting 
the budget results and carrying out 
budget processes again. The Cockpit 
version was put into service for the 
Exit Interview Dashboard that already 
exists. Interview lists in Sharepoint 
were exported to BI (Business Intelli-
gence) via SAP and visual analysis of 
the interview data was made possi-
ble. Reports such as acceptance and 
billing percentage, service amounts 
and available seat/flight-based unit 
costs, flight information, debt/credit 
information opened on DOP were 
prepared for each station.

SHARED SOLUTIONS
Electronic forms, work flows and 
digital setups were prepared to meet 
the needs of our business units, 
improve business processes and 
ensure efficiency. The R&D Portal 

Attaching importance to 

renewal and development in 

each period, Turkish Airlines 

continued working towards 

its targets in 2017 as well 

with training projects and 

operational practices.
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ers that are not within the scope of 
e-invoice through integration if GIB 
e-archive systems.

HUMAN RESOURCES 
SOLUTIONS
In 2017, the Flight-Based Evalua-
tion System (FES) in the Mainframe 
was renewed and moved into open 
system. PDKS infrastructure was 
initiated for the personnel of over-
seas offices that were assigned from 
the centre via mobile ID and started 
to be implemented in offices in Spain 
and France. The second phase of 
the Tempo mobile employee portal 
was also completed and it became 
possible for the ground personnel to 
use the applications in the employee 
portal through mobile devices. Instal-
lation of the Dynamic Query applica-
tion was completed for the visualiza-
tion of the organizational chart.

REVENUE ACCOUNTING 
SOLUTIONS
Corporate Data Warehouse Interline 
Contribution Reports were creat-
ed. REVERA (Revenue Account-
ing) ODS Next system transition 
was completed for the purpose of 
generating executive reports quickly 
and efficiently. Refunds based on 
document number were initiated in 
PARES (Payment Methods Recon-
ciliation System) System. Incentive 
Module went live within the scope of 
the Agency Management System for 
making incentive calculations and 
reportings based on net passenger 
revenues in all overseas locations. 
Dynamic Stock System was imple-
mented for domestic agencies.

DIGITAL INNOVATIONS
A protocol was signed with Izmir Uni-
versity of Economics within the scope 
of the University-Industry Collabora-
tion. A joint incubation program was 
initiated with Technology Transfer 
Office as a result of this protocol.

We became one of the 15 airline 
members of IATA Simplifying the 

Business (StB) Steering Group. A 
report on behalf of IATA was pub-
lished as a result of the Group's work. 
A mobile application that combines 
space maps, radio signals and nav-
igation capabilities for the visually 
impaired was developed to provide 
discovery and guidance services in 
indoor areas. Two new Turkish Airlines 
services were developed at Amazon 
Echo. A highly cost-effective sys-
tem was developed in order to track 
the personnel inputs and outputs in 
sales offices and stations abroad. The 
development of the IoT devices has 
been completed, allowing the weight 
information of baggage weighed 
in the counters to be automatically 
transmitted to the check-in system 
via Wi-Fi. Boot artificial intelligence 
and machine learning algorithms 
were developed for flight search, 
ticket price search, check-in, tariff 
and frequency search, arrival-depar-
ture search and mile procedures in 
Facebook Messenger. Turkish Airlines 
Travel Hackathon was organized in 
parallel with our goal to carry the 
digital passenger experience to a 
higher level with innovative ideas.

BIG DATA AND BUSINESS 
INTELLIGENCE APPLICATIONS
Agency and passenger behavior 
analyses, cost-expense comparisons, 

past period analyses, and error anal-
yses were made by using big data 
analytics methods. The users who 
develop basic reports in the Incorpo-
ration have been provided with the 
Self-BI service. An information infra-
structure analyzable to the reserva-
tion, agency, passenger, and detail 
levels has been created. Survey and 
feedback systems to be used to 
measure our passengers' satisfaction 
levels have been integrated into the 
Data Warehouse. Booking, Ticketing 
and Check-in have been integrated.

WE HAVE ACHIEVED OUR 
R&D CENTER GOALS FOR 
THE YEAR 2017
In order to achieve the year 2023 
targets of the Republic of Turkey, 
contributions have been made to 
strengthen the R&D reflexes and im-
prove the R&D ecosystem of Turkish 
Airlines. In 2017, three TEYDEB and 
two patent applications were made. 
In 2017, a cooperation protocol was 
signed with Istanbul University in 
order to increase collaboration be-
tween universities and the industry.

INTERNAL OPERATIONS
Our business strategies have been 
added to corporate strategies by 
considering the IT processes and 

projects. As a result of these ef-
forts, significant effort and materi-
al expenditure potential has been 
restored for the Incorporation during 
the planning phase.

In order to create an academic study 
environment and support R&D ac-
tivities, the Data Science Framework, 
which is the first study made in our 
country on this subject, was pub-
lished.

Cloud Computing activities were 
initiated under the Corporate Ar-
chitecture in 2017, thus assuring 
the support of the modern cloud 
technology for our Incorporation. 
The Passenger Service System (PSS) 
reviews, needed by our Incorporation 
for long years, have been reduced to 
technical details, and our Incorpora-
tion's IT strategy for the future years 
have been revealed by introducing an 
alternative setup.

Score card structure has been imple-
mented to monitor and measure the 
IT activities. The Portfolio Manage-
ment Process, Demand Manage-
ment Process, and Portfolio Change 
Process have been developed and 
put into effect to provide our In-
corporation with a more effective 

and traceable service. The works for 
creating a CI-CD Pipeline have been 
completed. The Demand and Project 
Trend Reports application, which 
shows the demand flow and demand 
completion/dissolution speed of Cor-
porate Development and IT (CDIT), 
has been commissioned. The large-
scale projects conducted by multiple 
solution groups have been managed 
from a single point within framework 
and as per the standards of PMI. The 
Improvement of Business Analysis 
Processes, Digitalization of Pro-
ject & Analysis Evaluation System, 
Timesheet Application Infrastructure 
Change, Improvement of Develop-
ment Environments, and PPM-JIRA 
Integration has been completed.

In the web and mobile application 
developments, the test scenarios for 
the critical processes have been car-
ried out through automatization, and 
the tests have been made simultane-
ously by integrating the open source 
code tools used for automation into 
Docket, thus reducing the testing 
time to one fourth of the previous 
time. In critical systems, manual/
automated regression test sets have 
been created to provide the neces-
sary controls before going live. The 
Testing Governance activities have 
been initiated to make the software 
testing, which becomes more and 
more important and needed in the 
software world with each passing 
day, more set in all teams includ-
ed in Turkish Airlines Information 
Technologies. As Turkish Airlines, we 
competed in the Test Hackathon, 
an event that is our country's only 
competition in test automation and 
participated at international level, 
and ranked 4th among 102 teams.

In order to improve the efficiency 
of the procurement processes of 
the projects proliferating in parallel 
with our Incorporation's growth, we 
have started to use an application to 
follow up the IT procurement pre-
liminary preparation process that 

had been followed up in the e-mail 
environment previously. In addition 
to the standard budget reports 
presented across the Incorporation 
through ERP, a report that includes 
all elements of the IT budget has 
been prepared and made available to 
all IT managers. The R&D centre cost 
monitoring process has been im-
proved to include all project costs. A 
pilot project has been implemented 
to evaluate the information technol-
ogies suppliers in parallel with the 
project carried out across the Incor-
poration to evaluate the suppliers 
and by using the form emerging from 
that project.

Orientation Programs are organized 
to explain the activity fields of our 
managements to our colleagues who 
are new to CDIT. We have organized 
programs in which our experienced 
colleagues have transferred their 
knowledge accumulation in the 
aviation and IT sectors through the 
Training Volunteers programs and 
the Master Classes in which our 
employees explain their fields of 
interest and the subjects they have a 
command of during the lunch breaks. 
An Internal Customer Satisfaction 
Survey has been conducted with 
the aim of receiving feedback from 
our internal customers. In order to 
record the CDIT employees' technical 
skills, an inventory system has been 
established, which will be used in the 
future years as well.

The interview forms used in CDIT 
recruitments have been digitalized. 
The Integrated Management System 
Audit and Turkish Airlines Informa-
tion Systems Audit were completed 
successfully.

The PCI DSS Certification, intended 
for Safe Storage of Credit Card Data 
taken into the Incorporation's infra-
structures through various channels 
and completed and commissioned in 
the Incorporation in 2016, has been 
renewed. The ISO 27001 Informa-

Building the future from 

today with its innovations 

and R&D-based works, 

Turkish Airlines continued 

its internal activities in 2017 

in order to strengthen its 

corporate structure.
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The IT devices such as laptop 
computers, desktop computers, IP 
telephones, printers, and displays in 
Turkish Airlines Istanbul as well as 
domestic and overseas offices have 
been counted, barcoded, and as-
signed to their end users.

Our infrastructure that provides the 
management of all mobile devices 
used across the Incorporation has 
been renewed.

The application library was commis-
sioned through the application vir-
tualization platform. Our users have 
thus been enabled to use the specific 
applications they need through a 
digital library at the moment they 
need them.

Due to the device ban imposed by 
the United States and the United 
Kingdom, devices were prepared and 
made available to the business class 
passengers. This service was put into 
use very quickly to minimize the im-
pact of this ban on our passengers.

The e-mail archive system has been 
established, thus relieving all us-
ers from the obligation of creating 
archives in their own computers. 
This enables our users to store their 
e-mails in a more secure environment 
for as long as they need them.

Our Incorporation offers means to 
support the new integration technol-
ogies for the purposes of eliminating 

the repeated processes by bringing 
the corporate, mobile, and the inter-
net-based web/mobile applications 
used in the Incorporation together 
under the roof of common policies 
and increasing the users' experiences.

We have obtained an access to fiber 
infrastructure and redundant struc-
ture by improving the infrastructure 
used to meet the corporate access 
needs in the domestic offices of our 
Incorporation.

Our Incorporation's service access 
load balancer infrastructure has been 
renewed. Dependency to manu-
facturers has been eliminated, and 
virtualization has been made in 2 
different environments, i.e., test and 
live.

The technologically obsolete servers 
used in Antalya Disaster Recovery 
Center have been renewed with the 
aim of increasing their performance 
and saving energy.

A live backup of the call centre 
service given to our customers right 
from the start in case of a disaster 
has been installed in Antalya Dis-
aster Centre and started to be used 
actively.

The Call Center Systems that pro-
vide the call center functions to our 
customer representatives who serve 
the cargo agencies in Germany, 
passenger agencies in the UK, and 
our corporate clients in the Ger-
man-speaking countries in their own 
countries have been commissioned in 
Frankfurt, London, and Salzburg.

63 domestic offices and airports 
accessing our Data Centres over the 
Internet have been moved to Turk 
Telekom and Turkcell SuperOnline 
MPLSVPN backbones that are closed 
to the internet and have more secure 
network connections and efficient 
access infrastructures.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The employees of the Incorporation 
are divided into groups, including 
cockpit, cabin and ground staff, 
depending on main professions. 
The cockpit crew, cabin crew, and 
the ground staff make up 19%, 40%, 
and 41% respectively, of the human 
resource employed.

With average time of experience be-
ing 6.8 years as of 2017, the number 
of employees per aircraft is 73 at 
Turkish Airlines.

One of the leading air carriers in 
Turkey and a distinguished airline in 
the world, Turkish Airlines carries out 
works to make the “human factor”, 
which is the most important value at 
Turkish Airlines, more effective and 
valuable in all aspects.

Effective cabin and cockpit crew 
planning and sustainable growth 
targets of Turkish Airlines are of 
strategic importance. The target is 
to manage cabin and cockpit crews 
with a population over 14 thousand 

Turkish Airlines, which has 

young human resource, is 

confident about the future 

in becoming the best airline 

of the World after Europe.

In parallel with the progress the avia-
tion industry has made in Turkey and 
the world in recent years, the num-
ber of destinations to which Turkish 
Airlines flies, the number of aircraft 
in its fleet, and consequently the 
number of staff employed have been 
increasing rapidly.

In 2017, 1,331 persons were recruited, 
including 310 cabin crew members, 
378 cockpit crew members, 461 do-
mestic ground personnel, 2 overseas 
personnel appointed by the head 
office, and 168 overseas local person-
nel, in line with the human resource 
need of the Incorporation.

Turkish Airlines employs a total of 
24,075 persons as of end of 2017. 
With age average being 34.59, 47% 
of the employees are female, and 
53% is male. Turkish Airlines, which 
has young human resource, is con-
fident about the future in becoming 
the best airline of the World after 
Europe.

by keeping the unit crew costs at 
optimum level in accordance with the 
current regulations. In this context, in 
the cabin and cockpit crew planning, 
Turkish Airlines aims to:

 |  Use crew resources at optimum 
level in accordance with the re-
quirements and regulations under 
all internal, national and interna-
tional legislation;

 | Meet any technical, commercial 
and operational demand in the 
most efficient and quick way with 
the awareness that aviation oper-
ations are dynamic and variable;

 | Ensure seamless and complete 
adaptation to potential changes 
in the national and international 
regulations;

 |  Maintain strength of our system 
infrastructure in all phases of the 
planning and use existing sys-
tems in the most efficient manner 
through trainings;

tion Security Management System 
Compliance of our Incorporation's 
customs clearance processes has 
been completed and certified. The 
ISO 27001 Information Security 
Management System Compliance 
of all of our Incorporation's flight 
and flight auxiliary infrastructures 
has been completed and certified. 
The Cyber Incidents Response Team 
(SOME) has been created for re-
al-time monitoring and response to 
all types of incidents and breaches 
in the Incorporation's infrastructures. 
The Privileged Account Manage-
ment Project has been implemented. 
Through the scheduled and spot 
audits we conduct on our Incorpo-
ration's infrastructures and relevant 
units, we improve our processes, and 
we also ensure the continuation of 
our systems through live processes.

OUR INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
OPERATION WORKS
All servers in the IBM data center 
have been moved to Turkish Airlines 
data centers in accordance with the 
Termination and Release Agreement 
made with IBM within the scope of 
the Web 3.0 project. All infrastruc-
ture services have been set up to 
work actively in Turkish Airlines data 
center. The infrastructure hard-
ware and software ownership has 
been transferred to Turkish Airlines 
infrastructure teams. Improvements 
requested by the business unit in the 
project phase have been made by the 
solutions team.

Hardware has been installed in An-
talya Disaster Recovery Data Center. 
Subsequently, the network and 
the server center works have been 
completed. The infrastructure teams' 
recovery instructions have been 
prepared, thus making it possible to 
re-install in case of disaster.

The live environment in Technic Inc. 
has been moved to Turkish Airlines 
DC (virtual platform, databases, 
security infrastructure).
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 | Meet all demands of cabin and 
cockpit crews who are considered 
as internal customers at the high-
est possible level.

EFFICIENCY AND QUALITY 
IN CABIN AND COCKPIT 
CREW PLANNING
The accurate crew planning aims to 
maximize passenger and employ-
ee satisfaction, ensure the flight 
security, and minimize the cost. Our 
most important work influencing the 
customer satisfaction is the works 
carried out to reduce, as much as 
possible, the durations of delays 
arising from the crew planning, in 
which we have achieved 49% y-o-y 
improvement.

One of the factors making the maxi-
mum contribution to our passengers' 
satisfaction is to ensure the satisfac-
tion of our flight crew. The fact that 
our call centre providing services 
24/7 to solve problems and answer 
questions of flight crew quickly re-
sponded to 97% of the received calls 
within the first one minute in 2017 
indicates the importance attached to 
internal customer satisfaction.

Technical competence of the cock-
pit crew and their being able to fly 
under any technical condition and 
in any situation are of great impor-

tance in terms of flight security and 
operational quality. In this context, 
the percentages of the cockpit crews 
with special certificates and special 
technical competence have been 
increased to a level allowing to meet 
any commercial and operational 
demand.

Evaluation of the work load of our 
cabin crew and assuring them as per 
our incorporation’s quality standards 
are important for employee satis-
faction and flight security as well 
as passenger satisfaction. That our 
incorporation has a low average of 
unit passenger per cabin crew mem-
ber compared to the global players in 
the sector indicates the high service 
quality targets of Turkish Airlines.

DEMAND ANALYSIS OF 
CABIN AND COCKPIT CREW 
FOR 2017-2023
Annual cabin and cockpit crews 
projections until 2023 has been 
prepared so as to be integrated in 
our human resources policy focused 
on growth and quality as reflected 
by our Incorporation's vision for the 
year 2023, and information has been 
given to the departments responsi-
ble for employment. The number of 
cockpit crew members, which was 
4,066 in 2016, increased to 4,152 
in 2017. The number of cabin crew 

members, which was 10,084 in 2016, 
on the other hand, dropped to 9,902 
in 2017.

EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT 
HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY
The human resources policy of Turk-
ish Airlines is to employ qualified em-
ployees who are able to fulfill their 
duties effectively and productively in 
accordance with the strategic plans 
and objectives of the Incorporation 
and observant of the professional 
and ethical rules, and to ensure the 
sustainability of the qualifications of 
these employees.

In this context, human resources 
planning, determination of job de-
scriptions, raising of the “corporate 
culture and awareness”, personnel 
employment, performance manage-
ment, training and development, 
personal affairs, social and economic 
rights, ensuring personnel satisfac-
tion, working order, discipline and re-
ward systems are the areas of appli-
cation of our human resources policy. 
On the other hand, the personnel are 
liable to comply with any applicable 
laws, regulations and legislations 
within the scope of job description in 
the organisational structure.

TEAM SPIRIT
Turkish Airlines performs various 
works to increase the satisfaction of 
its employees and their loyalty to the 
Organisation. The level of satisfac-
tion and loyalty of the employees 
are regularly measured across the 
organisation, reported on depart-
ment basis, and improvement actions 
are taken considering the detected 
strengths/weaknesses. Thanks to 
works of the Ethical Board, which 
have been carried out since 2012, 
an active system has been created 
through which the subjects such as 
discrimination, conflict of interests 
and mobbing can easily be conveyed 
by the employees and concluded 
through detailed investigation of 
the Ethical Board. Moreover, Turkish 
Airlines provide its employees with 
significant social benefits. These 
benefits include a shuttle network 
covering a wide region, private health 
insurance, private health insurance 
discounts available for the employ-
ees' families, maternity, breastfeed-
ing, death, marriage allowances, 
nursery facility or allowance for 
female employees with children, free 
or discounted domestic/international 
flight opportunity, visa facility, con-
tracted accommodation facilities all 
around the world, corporate discount 
agreements from every industry, 
which are made available to the 
employees.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 
AND SAFETY
Considering the national and inter-
national legislations, good practices, 
and business ethics, Turkish Air-
lines has created its Occupational 
Health and Safety Policy to bring its 
employees, customers, suppliers, af-
filiates, all its business partners and 
shareholders together around the 
same goal in line with the duties and 
common values of the Incorporation.

In accordance with this policy, the 
Incorporation acts in compliance 
with the international rules in the 

aviation sector and the national, 
legal and other conditions it is liable 
to comply with in the area of occu-
pational health and safety. While 
planning new investments in rela-
tion to its area of activity, enlarging 
its fleet, and upgrading its techno-
logical infrastructure, the Incorpo-
ration prefers the equipment and 
organizations with the lowest risk, 
considering the health and safety of 
its employees. It takes the neces-
sary measures to minimize the noise 
emitted by the aircraft in its fleet, 
and works to raise the awareness 
of its employees and all stakehold-
ers on the occupational health and 
safety.

In order to improve the occupational 
health and safety performance, the 
participation of each level of the 
organization and the stakeholders is 
ensured. An open dialogue is estab-
lished with the employees, suppli-
ers, and the local communities with 
respect to occupational health and 
safety for the existing and future 
activities, and the necessary correc-
tive actions are taken in line with the 
concerns of the customers, employ-
ees, suppliers, and the public.

Our Incorporation detects the occu-
pational health and safety risks in 
all operations and develops action 
plans for such risks to prevent work 
accidents and occupational dis-
eases. It ensures continuity of the 
supervision of the working environ-
ment and the preventive medicine 
works, and creates the infrastructure 
required to provide the employees, 
sub-employers, and the visitors with 
a healthy and secure working envi-
ronment. Our Incorporation ensures 
that the employees performing criti-
cal functions are prepared physically 
and medically for the operations 
they will carry out, and is prepared 
against emergencies and in contact 
with the National Emergency Re-
sponse Units.

CONTINUOUS 
IMPROVEMENT
In line with the Incorporation's objec-
tive of becoming Europe's best and 
5-star airline, we develop innova-
tive solutions and projects for more 
effective use of the human resources 
that constitute the most important 
factor to achieve this objective.

Our Incorporation, which is one of 
our Country's unique organizations 
for its extensive organizational struc-
ture and employment opportunities, 
continues its growth in this field on 
the path leading to its targets. For 
our human resources performing 
different functions in an extensive 
location network, a great number 
of process development works have 
been carried out during the year.

In the present day when the human 
resources management function is 
gradually becoming a strategic fac-
tor, measurement-evaluation is also 
critically important. Our Incorpora-
tion has prepared Turkish Airlines 
Measurement and Evaluation Tools 
Implementation Principles Handbook 
that contains the general informa-
tion about the exams and inventories 
forming a significant part of the can-
didate evaluation process, the steps 
taken to create the most effective 
and efficient exam organizations, and 
the information on standardization 
of the implementation processes.

Apart from these, the establishment 
of the Candidate Communication 
Center for the purposes of improv-
ing the performance management 
system, conducting work assess-
ment and workforce analysis studies 
across the incorporation, increasing 
the career c-operations and signing 
protocols with the universities, and 
enabling the candidates to ac-
cess the correct information on the 
processes directly and more rapidly 
constitutes some part of the works 
carried our in this scope.

47% 
Female 
Employees

41% 
Ground Per-
sonnel

19% 
Cockpit Crew 
Members

53%
Male 

Employees

40%
Cabin Crew Members

PERSONNEL 
GENDER 

DISTRIBUTION WORK PLACE 
DISTRIBUTION

34,6
AVERAGE

AGE
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QUALITY AND 
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Turkish Airlines features 

its quality as perceived by 

its customers by keeping 

its background processes 

always under control.

Turkish Airlines works with an under-
standing of service quality exceeding 
the customer expectations, without 
compromising on the customer satis-
faction, takes the necessary steps to 
offer the same service quality as the 
number of passengers increases, and 
prefers environment-friendly tech-
nologies and methods in the pro-
cesses of planning new investments 
as regards the areas of its activity, 
enlarging its fleet, and upgrading its 
technological infrastructure.

The Incorporation's effective com-

 | sustain its strong and wide 
business network, and create a 
difference with its employees.

Turkish Airlines always keeps its 
background processes, which feature 
its quality as perceived by its cus-
tomers, under control. The internal 
audits carried out by the auditors 
of the Incorporation are intended to 
achieve the purposes of Turkish Air-
lines Compliance Monitoring System.

Turkish Airlines does not discrim-
inate between the products and 
services procured by its suppliers 
and subcontractors for the services 
it offers to its own customers and 
the services it provides. From this 
point of view, it controls the level of 
the requirements each product and 
service supplied by the third parties 
and delivered to the customers of 
Turkish Airlines directly or indirectly 
has to meet, and ensures through the 
Compliance Monitoring System that 
they have the quality committed by 
Turkish Airlines to its customers. In 
2017, the products and services sup-
plied at each operational site were 
inspected with a view to ensuring the 
service standards of Turkish Airlines.

FULL MARKS TO OUR 
QUALITY
Turkish Airlines have been audited by 
a number of institutions, particularly 
national and international civil avia-
tion authorities, with respect to the 
safe and secure operation conditions 
as well as the management systems 
applied. It successfully passed all 
audits conducted in 2017 and main-
tained, even improved, its operation-
al authorizations and management 
system certificates, which are the 
guarantee of its sustainable success.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
Turkish Airlines proves the maturity 
of its business processes and the 
solid basis of management sys-

tem with TS EN ISO 9001 Quality 
Management System Certificate it 
has held since 2006. The Quality 
Management System, still in force 
in consequence of the supervision 
examination conducted in 2017 by 
an independent audit incorporation, 
is one of the strongest management 
tools in reaching the sustainable suc-
cess, which creates added value for 
both the business processes of the 

incorporation and the customers of 
Turkish Airlines, thanks to the contin-
uous improvement systematics.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
In 2015, Turkish Airlines added TS EN 
ISO 10002 Customer Satisfaction 
Management System to the man-
agement systems it implements. 
With the Customer Satisfaction 
Management System, Turkish Airlines 
processes the customer complaints 
it receives within the scope of pas-
senger transportation services more 
systematically, more effectively, and 
more efficiently. On the other hand, 
thanks to the more accurate infor-
mation obtained from the customer 
feedbacks, actual inputs are pro-
vided for each work to be carried 
out to improve the products and 
services. Turkish Airlines, which has 
been maintaining the validity of the 
Customer Satisfaction Management 
System Certificate as a result of the 
supervision examination conduct-

ed in 2017 by an independent audit 
incorporation, carries on its works to 
increase the ground it has gained.

SAFETY POLICY
Safety is the top priority for all or-
ganizational levels of Turkish Airlines. 
It is an indispensable and uncompro-
misable part of the Incorporation's 
corporate values. The employees at 
all levels do their best to improve the 
safety commitment by ensuring the 
best practices and standards in the 
industry.

Turkish Airlines makes the operation-
al safety principles it internalizes as 
an integral part of the service it of-
fers known through its safety policy, 
and provides all kinds of resources 
for the development of the safety 
culture.

OPERATIONAL SAFETY 
AUDIT (IOSA) CERTIFICATE
IATA Operational Safety Audit (IOSA) 
Certificate that Turkish Airlines ob-
tained in 2005 for the first time and 
is renewed every two years indicates 
that IATA registers Turkish Airlines 
as a safe airline in the international 
arena. Beyond holding the IOSA Cer-
tificate, the fact that Turkish Airlines 
carries out safe and secure operations 
capable of meeting the requirements 
of IOSA is one of the most important 
anchor points underlying its sustain-
able success. Turkish Airlines renewed 
its IOSA certificate as a result of the 
audit carried out in 2017.

SAFA RATING 0.165
Turkish Airlines closed 2017 with 
0.165 SAFA rating, a rating obtained 
as a result of the audits conducted in 
the countries included in the Safe-
ty Assessment of Foreign Aircraft 
(SAFA) program executed by the 
European Aviation Safety Agency 
(EASA). This rating is quite a suc-
cessful result as compared to the 
European countries with a SAFA 
average of 0.51.

pliance monitoring system holds an 
important place among the factors 
that have enabled the steady com-
mercial, financial and operational rise 
achieved and the success maintained 
by Turkish Airlines.

Turkish Airlines Compliance Monitor-
ing System aims to;

 | assure continuous compliance 
and conformity of all activities 
carried out with all applicable 
laws, national and internation-
al civil aviation regulations as 
well as requirements of Turkish 
Airlines,

 | assure that the aviation opera-
tions its customers are directly 
an important part of which are 
carried out in compliance with the 
highest safety and security rules 
of the national and international 
civil aviation authorities,

 | assure that the services it has 
committed to give to its cus-
tomers are given ‘at least’ at the 
committed level,

 | assure the sustainability of the 
management maturity to ensure 
to give its customers the best 
service within the most reasona-
ble delivery times,

 | achieve and maintain a service 
quality that aims to exceed the 
expectations of the customers 
rather than just satisfying them,
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HUNDREDS OF DIFFERENT 
WORLDS WITH A WIDE RANGE 
OF MOVIES, DOCUMENTARIES 
AND MORE.

SEE
nothıng but what  
you want wıth THE  
noıse cancellıng  
denon headphones.

hear
THE BEST FOOD ON AIR 
SERVED BY OUR  
FLYING CHEFS.

TASTE
comfort WITH 
SPECIALLY BUILT-IN  
MASsAGING SEATS.

TOUCH
TRADITION WITH 
freshly brewed 
TURKISH COFFEE.

SMELL

Features may vary depending on the aircraft and cabin type.

In addition to the national and in-
ternational relations managed more 
effectively, the Safety Assessment 
of Incorporation Aircraft (SACA) 
program applied on the Incorpora-
tion aircraft by Turkish Airlines SACA 
team by using the same method with 
the SAFA program has had a consid-
erable effect on achieving this rating. 
This rating, which is a result of the 
importance the Incorporation attach-
es on and the investments it has 
made in the operational safety and 
security, has contributed to reducing 
the finding average of Turkey as well, 
and this success has been approved 
with a certificate of appreciation 
given by the Directorate General of 
Civil Aviation.

THIRD COUNTRY OPERATOR 
(TCO) CERTIFICATE
Since it held the European Aviation 
Safety Agency (EASA) Third Country 
Operator (TCO) Certificate, Turkish 
Airlines is authorized to carry pas-
senger and cargo to EASA member 
countries. Maintenance of the EASA 
TCO Certificate that Turkish Airlines 
obtained in 2015 for the first time, 
is the most important indication 
that it is a safe and secure airline 
which complies with the rules of the 
EASA. The EASA TCO certificate was 
maintained as a result of the review 
carried out about Turkish Airlines in 
2017 by EASA.

ENVIRONMENT AND FUEL 
EFFICIENCY
The fact that air transportation is an 
essential part of the global econo-
my and one of the fastest growing 
industries in the world necessitates 
that the environmental impacts 
emerging from these activities 
should be kept under control.
One of the leading airline companies 
in the world, Turkish Airlines carries 
out its activities to minimize its en-
vironmental impacts by controlling 
the environmental aspects emerging 
from all its activities, products and 

services. It uses environmentally 
friendly technologies while planning 
new investments in its field of activ-
ity, enlarging its fleet, and upgrading 
its technological infrastructure. It 
aims to leave a cleaner and more 
liveable environment for the future 
generations by prioritising the flight 
safety and security and using the 
natural resources more effective-
ly. It takes measures to reduce the 
greenhouse emissions and to fight 
against climate change through its 
fuel efficiency works.

The fuel efficiency works carried out 
by Turkish Airlines are based on three 
main principles:
1) Optimizing the activities
2) Investing in new technologies
3) Improving the infrastructure

As a result of the works carried out in 
2017, the Incorporation saved 46,757 
tons of fuel and prevented the emis-
sion of 147,283 tons of carbon into 
the atmosphere.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 
AND SAFETY
Turkish Airlines carries out works to 
protect the health and safety of its 
employees in all its activities. It aims 
to avoid occupational accidents and 
diseases by controlling the dangers 
to which its employees are exposed, 
and by managing the risks. It de-
velops the occupational health and 
safety culture by raising the aware-

ness of its employees on the occu-
pational health and safety. It creates 
the infrastructure required to pro-
vide its employees, sub-employers 
and visitors with a healthy and safe 
working environment.

ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM & 
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 
AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
Turkish Airlines, which received TS 
EN ISO 14001 Environmental Man-
agement System and TS 18001 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System certificates in 
2013, applies these two manage-
ment systems with a social respon-
sibility awareness. Turkish Airlines, 
which renewed its both certificates 
in consequence of the audit carried 
out in 2017 by an independent audit 
firm, pursues a systematic approach 
managing environmental impacts of 
all its activities, insisting on using 
environmentally friendly technolo-
gies, securing health and safety of 
all its stakeholders, being aware of 
and managing the risks, and taking 
measures by predicting the potential 
emergencies in advance. The Incor-
poration continuously improves the 
applications of both management 
systems by measuring the perfor-
mance and monitoring the develop-
ment of the environmental manage-
ment system and the occupational 
health and safety management 
system.

Turkish Airlines aims 
to avoid occupational 

accidents and diseases by 
controlling the dangers to 
which its employees are 

exposed, and by managing 
the risks.
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“ S E E ,  H E A R ,  T A S T E ,  S M E L L ,  T O U C H .
E X P L O R E  I S TA N B U L .  W I D E N  Y O U R  W O R L D .”

D R .  O Z

Features may vary depending on flights.

TURKISHAIRLINES.COM

THE JOINING OF 
TWO CONTINENTS.
ORTAKÖY

S E E
THE SEAGULLS.
BOSPHORUS

H E A R
THE FRESH STREET FOOD.
EMİNÖNÜ

TA S T E
HISTORY SPANNING 
HUNDREDS OF YEARS.
HAGIA SOPHIA

TO U C H
THE TRADITIONAL
SPICES AND HERBS.
SPICE BAZAAR

S M E L L

Kyle Hines
FLIGHT TIME 2017-18:

8 min 46 sec

E N J O Y
T H E 

F LI G H T

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

ADVERTISING CAMPAIGNS
This year, our brand has worked with 
Morgan Freeman, a global celebri-
ty with a high brand awareness to 
raise prestige perception and con-
sumer preference rates. TV, outdoor, 
and cinema ads and commercials 
have been planned in 30 countries 
throughout the campaign.

Our commercial aired in the first 
advertorial of quarter 4 of the Super 
Bowl tournament has won great 
recognition and become the most 
viewed Superbowl commercial of all 
times in YouTube.

The campaign was covered in news 
for 1,850 times in total in 22 differ-
ent languages in 41 countries. Our 
commercial allowed us to reach 
345,250,000 persons in total - 
330,000,000 abroad and 15,250,000 
in Turkey.

Turkish Airlines has blazed a trail by 
using programmatic outdoor chan-
nel in Morgen Freeman commercials. 
Thanks to programmatic planning, 
the Incorporation managed to reach 
the target group quickly and ef-
fectively by purchasing real-time 
outdoor media.

IMAGE CAMPAIGNS
 | “Morgan Freeman" advertising 

campaign
 | Turkish Airlines Euroleague
 | Turkish Airlines Open
 | EPCR Rugby
 | Chio Aachen Equestrian Festival
 | “Together in This Journey" com-

mercial.

TURKISH AIRLINES 
EUROLEAGUE
The Final Four of Turkish Airlines 
Euroleague was played in Istanbul 
this year, and our representative 
Fenerbahce has become the cham-
pion. Through 18,576 news items 
published about the event from April 
18 to May 21, 2017, a total readership 
of 7,000,000,000 was achieved, cor-
responding to an advertising equiv-
alent worth almost USD 20,000,000 

for us. News about Turkish Airlines 
was published in 38 languages in 73 
countries, and 12,107 of them on the 
American and European continents. 
We were covered in the news 8,398 
times in Greece, 806 times in Rus-
sia, 632 times in the US, 610 times 
in Spain, 455 times in Germany, and 
416 times in the UK. According to 
the survey conducted by Euroleague 
with the fans, our brand is the first 
brand that comes to mind as the 
Euroleague sponsor by 97%. With our 
court branding and screen branding 
rights, the media value of the TV 
visibility throughout the year has 
been calculated as € 120 million. 132 
different channels provide coverage 
for approximately 25,000 hours per 
year in more than 190 countries, thus 
enabling us to reach more than 2 
billion viewers in total.

TURKISH AIRLINES OPEN
Turkish Airlines Open, one of three 
final stages of the European Tour, 
is broadcast live by numerous TV 
channels all over the world. The 
tournament, held in Antalya on No-
vember 2-5, received great interest 
from the global press, and 4,058 
articles in total were published. Of 
these, 1,911 were aired on TV/radios, 
1,464 on online platforms, and 393 
were published in printed media. Of 
these news, 1,121 were covered in the 
UK, 1,102 in Ireland, 551 in the US, 113 
in France, 88 in Italy, and 86 in South 
Africa. Thanks to publication of the 
news in high circulation channels 
globally, 3.1 billion people in total 
have been reached. The winner of 
this year’s tournament was the Eng-
lish golfer and Olympic gold medalist 
Justin Rose.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
TURKISH AIRLINES HELP SOMALIA CAMPAIGN
The aid campaign started when Jérôme Jarre, French social media phenom-
enon with 1.3 million followers, shared a video using the #TurkishAirline-
sHelpSomalia hashtag on 15 March 2017 and was echoed in 21 languages in 
25 countries . Within the scope of the project, our brand has given two cargo 
aircrafts free of charge. On this subject, 780 news reports with an advertising 
equivalent worth USD 39,800,000 were published, thus enabling us to reach 
approximately 320,000,000 people.

G O L D 
S T A N D A R D

J O I N  W O R L D  C L A S S  P L A Y E R S  I N  A N T A L Y A
F O R  T H E  T U R K I S H  A I R L I N E S  O P E N .

T H E R E ’ S  A  W H O L E  W I D E  W O R L D  O F  G O L F  O U T  T H E R E .
E X P E R I E N C E  I T  A T  T H E  R E G N U M  C A R Y A  G O L F  &  S P A  R E S O R T .

2 N D  –  5 T H  N O V E M B E R  2 0 1 7

T U R K I S H A I R L I N E S O P E N . C O M

TURKISHAIRLINES.COM

L A  S P E C O L A ,  F L O R E N C E
I T A LY

WITH T U R K I S H  A I R L I N E S

Tracing back to the Medici Family, the astronomic observation tover 
La Specola is the oldest scientific museum in Europe.

OUR IMAGE CAMPAIGNS 
WITH DR. OZ
Image works have been carried out 
for the projects to be identified with 
Mehmet Oz, MD, who has reached 
very large masses through TV shows 
and books he has written, who ranks 
around the top of the reliability index, 
through our brand philosophy “Widen 
Your World”.

“GO BEYOND”
It is our image campaign that intro-
duces our destinations as not only 
some places to go but also as places 
containing numerous miracles, and 
that encourages people to make 
their own discoveries.



94 95 

TURKISH AIRLINES GROUP
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

RUGBY

OFFICIAL AIRLINE PARTNER OF
EUROPEAN PROFESSIONAL CLUB RUGBY

RUBGY SPONSORLUGU 19.5X28.5cm ING.indd   1 11.05.2017   16:57

Our brand is the sponsor of EPCR 
Champions Cup and challenge Cup, 
the events that are very popular 
particularly in the UK and France. The 
EPRC finals were played in Edinburgh 
in 2017.

GOLF

In addition to sponsoring TA Open, 
which is one of the most important 
events of the World of Gold, Turkish 
Airlines World Golf Cup tournament 
was organized in 2017 for the 5th 
time with the participation of almost 
8,000 golf players at 94 different 
destinations.

SOMALIA-TURKISH 
AIRLINES FOOD BANK
A food bank has been opened in col-
laboration with Turkish Red Crescent 
for the purpose of providing contin-
uous support to people who live in 
camps and cannot meet their basic 
needs for food. The food bank the 
budget of which has been met with 
the donations made by Turkish Air-
lines Inc. and Technic Inc personnel 
from their salaries and the contribu-
tion of our Incorporation will distrib-
ute warm meals to 10,000 people per 
day for 6 months.

TURKISH AIRLINES 
EUROLEAGUE “DO NOT 
IGNORE” CAMPAIGN
The Don’t Ignore project has been 
implemented jointly with UNIFEB 
that is the official fan club of Fener-
bahce Sports Club. Within the scope 
of the project, the commentators 
commentated Turkish Airlines Euro-

league Final Four matches to visual-
ly-impaired fans live.

SCIENCE PROJECTS AND 
PROJECTS FOR KIDS
There are works on projects to pre-
pare platforms required to attract 
interest of kids and young individuals 
into scientific studies. Particularly, 
the areas related to the children with 
high potentials and innovation have 
been selected, as they are the areas 
favored by the public but not much 
handled previously.

PR FIGURES
As a result of the communication 
works carried out abroad in 2017, our 
brand was covered in media 18,205 
times in total abroad, including 10,195 
positive, 6,554 neutral and 1,456 
negative articles. As a result of the 
positive news items, an advertising 
equivalent worth of approximately 
USD 163 million has been achieved.

BIRTH IN THE AIR
Our passenger Nafi Diaby gave birth to a baby 
named Kadiju in Mali air space 50 minutes after our 
aircraft took off for flight TK538 Conakry-Ouaga-
dougou-Istanbul on April 7. The subject was covered 
by the media 715 times in total, including 458 TV and 
radio broadcasts, 248 online articles, and 9 printed 
articles, in 22 languages in 31 countries. This news 
coverage allowed us to reach 250,000,000 peo-
ple and gain an advertising equivalent worth USD 
17,000,000.

OUR BRAND IDENTITY 
ACTIVITIES
Throughout 2017, we reflected our 
strong brand identity with certain 
brand-based projects, global brand 
awareness, image and aviation 
trends research, and our successful 
corporate identity practices carried 
out at all points of contact with cus-
tomers in our country and regions.

OUR CORPORATE 
PUBLICATIONS
The magazines Skylife, Skylife Busi-
ness, Anadolu Jet, and Bulmaca, 
which are the in-flight publications 
introducing all our destinations, new-
ly launched Turkish Airlines lines, and 
our hub Istanbul, were released on 
monthly basis throughout 2017.

INTERNAL COMMUNICATION
Being aware of the importance of 
employee satisfaction and loyalty 
for becoming a successful brand, 
we have carried out communication 
works targeting our colleagues. The 
incorporation's 21,000 employees 
have been contacted through mag-
azines and TV and 2,000 personnel 
have been able to appear on internal 
broadcasting channels.

SPONSORSHIPS
SPORTS
FOOTBALL
Our brand continues supporting 
Turkish sports as the Main Spon-
sor of National Teams and Turkish 
Football Federation this year, too, 
as it has been doing for a long time. 
Galatasaray, Trabzonspor, Bursaspor, 
Başakşehir and Konyaspor are some 
of the teams sponsored by us. This 
year, we have also been continuing 
to sponsor Turkish Paralympic Sports 
Federation that has undersigned 
many individual accomplishments in 
the World and Europe.

BASKETBALL
In addition to our sponsoring Turkish 
Airlines Euroleague that is the best 
basketball league of Europe, we have 
been continuing to support our Na-
tional Basketball Teams and Turkish 
Basketball Federation this year, too.

TENNIS
The Porsche Tennis Grand Prix we 
have been sponsoring for the last 
four years has been organized in Ger-
many since 1978. The event, which is 
an important tournament for wom-
en's tennis, attracted great attention 
in 2017 as well.

EQUESTRIAN

The Olympia International Horse 
Show event we sponsor reaches over 
105,000 people via social media and 
760,000 people through the website.

We also support the CHIO AACHEN 
event, where the best contestants 
in riding from 40 different countries 
race in different disciplines for 10 
days.

CRICKET
Followed by over 2,5 billion people 
around the world, cricket is among 
the most watched sport branches 
in the United Kingdom. During our 
sponsorship of the Irish Cricket Na-
tional Team in the season 2017-2018, 
the team has been granted the TEST 
status.

CYCLING

We have sponsored the Presidential 
Cycling Tour of Turkey, one of the top 
5 races of Europe, this year, too, as 
was the case for the last 10 years.
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CULTURE-ARTS & MEDIA-TV
SPONSORSHIP FOR THE MOVIE AYLA & 
TV PROGRAMS
In 1950, Turkish NCO Suleyman who went to the 
Korean War fathered a little Korean girl, who had lost 
her family to war, throughout his duty and named 
her Ayla. Our brand targeting to shorten distances 
and bringing people together has provided a signif-
icant sponsorship by supporting the movie telling 
the true story of this small family that fell apart at 
the end of the war and came together after 65 years 
of longing. This movie includes product placement 
for Turkish Airlines. Uniting two nations, actually all 
people, with a friendship bridge even in the middle 
of the war with its story touching the hearts, Ayla 
was Turkey's candidate for Oscar nomination in the 
category of “Best Foreign Language Film”. Our brand 
is happy for adaptation of this story to a movie, and 
for being beside it throughout its entire journey.

Turkish Airlines has also sponsored opening and 
closure of various shows in the international media 
in addition to various channels such as BBC, Euros-
port, Euronews, Bloomberg, TRT World, A News, and 
Al Jazeera.

OUR DIGITAL ADVERTISING 
CAMPAIGNS
Our Incorporation has carried out domestic and 
overseas sale communication campaigns, prod-
uct/service promotion works and communica-
tion works for the lines that have recently been 
opened and sponsorship communication works 
as regards the advertising activities approved 
within its strategies.

“Turkish Airlines” rose to Rank 1 in the USA Trend 
List in Twitter during Super Bowl and remained 
in the trend list for approximately 1 hour and 15 
minutes. Postings achieved potential viewing 
volume of 49 million.

Our digital advertisements were viewed 
93,088,744 times and clicked 277,493 times in 
Turkish Airlines Euroleague 2017.

Our digital advertisements for Turkish Airlines 
Open were viewed 5,835,340 times and clicked 
50,520 times.

SOCIAL MEDIA
We reached 10 million followers in Facebook and 1 million followers 
in Instagram with interesting and creative contents that are pre-
pared solely for social media accounts. We always ranked among 
the top three regarding the number of followers among airline 
companies in all social platforms (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, 
YouTube).

Social Media Accounts Number of 
Followers

Our ranking among airline 
companies by the number of 

followers

Facebook 10.644.238 3
Twitter 3.480.250 2
Instagram 1.069.197 3
Youtube 210.854 2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

tors. On the other hand, risk-specific 
hedging strategies are developed 
and implemented, if natural hedging 
methods are not sufficient. In this 
context, derivative instruments are 
used against the possible fluctua-
tions in commodity prices, exchange 
rates and interest rates. Main aim of 
the applied hedging strategies is to 
decrease the uncertainty on the cash 
flow and minimize the volatility on 
profitability.

The functionality and effectiveness 
of risk management strategies are 
monitored regularly by the "Treasury 
and Risk Management Commission", 
which is composed of the relevant 
executives. In addition, the Commis-
sion also closely monitors changes 
in market dynamics and, if deemed 
necessary, improvements and de-
velopments are made in the related 
hedging strategies.

CASH FLOW RISK 
MANAGEMENT
The disruption of the incorporation 
operations due to a mismatch be-
tween short, medium and long-term 
cash flow resulting from operation-
al activities and non-operational 
activities like investment, financing 
etc. is defined as cash flow risk. The 
establishment and implementation 
of a sound cash management policy 
is one of the most prioritized aims of 
the Incorporation as a result of high 
investment and long-term financing 
requirements.

The financial risk management strat-
egy of the Incorporation, which aims 
assuring a healthy cash flow in the 
future, defines risk factors as follows: 

 | Cash flow risk: A possible mis-
match between short, medium 
and long-term cash flow resulting 
from operational activities and 
non-operational activities like 
investment, financing etc.

 | Commodity price risk: The finan-
cial effect of the fluctuations 
in jet fuel and carbon emission 
certificates prices,

 | Interest rate risk: The financial ef-
fect of the changes in the market 
value of aircraft financings, com-
mercial loans and investments, 
resulting from the fluctuations in 
interest rates,

 | Foreign exchange risk: The fi-
nancial effect of the changes in 
the value of different currencies 
composing Incorporation's income 
and expenses,

 | Counterparty risk: Possible losses 
that may arise due to the default 
of the financial institutions, which 
constitutes counterparties in the 
deposit and derivative transac-
tions of the Incorporation.

Incorporation gives priority to natural 
hedging methods for the manage-
ment of the defined financial risk fac-

Prospective cash flow 
of the Incorporation is 
forecasted regularly on 
monthly basis, in order to 
provide an effective cash 
flow risk management. 
Cash flow forecast study 
propounds the main 
guidance for the future 
liquidity conditions of the 
Incorporation.
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Prospective cash flow of the Incor-
poration is forecasted regularly on 
monthly basis, in order to provide an 
effective cash flow risk management. 
The forecast study is done on the 
basis of major currencies which have 
relatively higher portion in revenues 
and expenses. Also, fuel price and 
exchange rates forecasts are updat-
ed on monthly basis, too.

Cash flow forecast study propounds 
the main guidance for the future 
liquidity conditions of the Incor-
poration and is closely monitored 
by Treasury and Risk Management 
Committee of the Incorporation. 
Main aim of the cash flow forecast 
study is to establish a healthy basis 
for strategic decisions to-be-taken. 
Therefore, accuracy of the forecast is 
crucial. In this context, the forecast-
ed cash-flow is compared with the 
actual data every month and neces-
sary actions are taken to ensure the 
efficiency of the study.

Furthermore, taking the size, busi-
ness volume and operations of the 
Incorporation into consideration, the 
required minimum cash level that 
ensures the continuity of operations 
without disruption has also been 
determined. Current and forecast-
ed cash amounts are analyzed with 
respect to this threshold and neces-
sary precautions are taken to ensure 
that the projected cash does not fall 
below this level.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK 
MANAGEMENT
FUEL PRICE RISK 
MANAGEMENT
Fuel expense is the biggest opera-
tional expense item of the Incorpora-
tion. For this reason, possible fluc-
tuations of fuel prices in the future 
have the potential to generate a 
large volatility on both the cash flow 

and the profitability of the Incor-
poration. To minimize and keep this 
financial risk under control, Turkish 
Airlines has been applying fuel price 
risk hedging strategy, since 2009.

This strategy uses current market 
conditions as inputs to determine 
the best hedging parameters and 
is implemented systematically. In 
this context, regarding the current 
market conditions, a variable hedge 
ratio up to 60% of next month's fuel 
consumption is implemented. Also, 
again based on the current market 
conditions, derivative instruments 
are used with the tenor up to next 
24 months. Main aim of the strategy 
is either to fix the future fuel cost 
or keep it in a predefined range. To 
achieve that goal, the derivative 
instrument best-fitting to the market 
conditions among swap, option and 
zero-cost collar structures is used.

Although the consumption of the 
Incorporation is jet fuel, Brent crude 
oil is used as the underlying as-
set for hedging transactions, since 
crude oil price has a strong historical 
correlation with jet fuel price and its 
market liquidity is much more higher 
compared to jet fuel products. In 
this context, the correlation between 
historical and forecasted price of 
jet fuel and crude oil is monitored 
closely.

In order to keep the fuel price risk 
management strategy up-to-date, 
global economic developments and 
structural changes in the market 
conditions are tracked closely. In 
addition, hedging practices of the 
competitors are analyzed regularly in 
order not to deviate from the indus-
try and conserve the competitive 
power of the Incorporation.

CARBON EMISSION RISK 
MANAGEMENT
Aviation industry was included in 
European Union Carbon Emission 
Trade System (EU-ETS) on 1 January 
2012. Therefore, the Incorporation 
has become liable to comply with the 
EU-ETS regulations like other airline 
companies flying to Europe.

According to the system, the airline 
companies are required to purchase 
carbon credit from the market if they 
exceed the carbon emission top limit 
assigned by the subjected authori-
ties. Regarding this regulation, our 
Incorporation developed relevant 
strategies for financial risk protection 
aimed at obtaining carbon credit and 
made necessary planning to use de-
rivative instruments, in case of need.

INTEREST RATE RISK 
MANAGEMENT
Within the frame of interest rate 
risk management, our Incorporation 
regularly monitors and analyses the 
interest rate market. The Incorpo-
ration also regularly analyzes debt 
structure such that, weighted aver-
age duration and cost, sensitivity to 
interest rate change and possible ef-
fects of shocks is monitored closely. 
With this respect, the Incorporation 
executes hedging transactions for a 
certain portion of the debt, in order 
either to fix the interest rate or keep 
it within a pre-defined range.

In addition, for the management 
of return-based interest rate risk, 
Incorporation's cash is allocated to 
time deposits considering both the 
cash flow requirements and optimum 
maturity-return structure.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK 
MANAGEMENT
The financial effect of the changes in 
the value of different currencies com-

posing the Incorporation's income 
and expenses is defined as foreign 
exchange risk. Turkish Airlines gen-
erates revenue mainly on EUR basis 
and has expenditures mainly on USD 
and TRY basis. Historical fluctuations 
in the value of these currencies is 
very likely to continue in the future 
which generates foreign exchange 
rate risk for the Incorporation.

The Incorporation gives priority to 
natural hedging methods for ex-
change rate risk management. To 
obtain that, the basis currency for 
all contracts are defined to balance 
revenue and expense currencies, if 
possible, which enables to minimize 
the financial effects of foreign ex-
change rate fluctuations. As a major 
example, Turkish Airlines switched 
the pricing currency for internation-
al flights originated from domestic 
airports from EUR to USD, as of 
May 2015. As a result, the share of 
US Dollar in the income has been 
increased and the share of Euro has 
been decreased, which results a more 
balanced currency composition.

Besides, Turkish Airlines has income 
or expense in more than 100 curren-
cies and historical correlations of 
these currencies with major curren-
cies (USD, EUR and TRY) are analyz-
ed regularly to measure foreign ex-
change risk more realistically. On the 
other hand, even after the natural 
hedging practices, the Incorporation 
has long position in Euro and short 
position in US Dollar and Turkish Lira.   
The Incorporation's long and short 
position in EUR, USD and TRY for the 
upcoming months is projected by 
the cash flow forecast study, which is 
updated monthly. Foreign exchange 
risk due to mismatch in such curren-
cies are aimed to minimize by using 
derivative instruments.

To close the short position in USD 
with the long position in EUR, most 
appropriate derivative instrument 
with respect to the market condi-
tions is used with up-to maximum 24 
months tenors, among forward or ze-
ro-cost 2,3,4 way collars.. Similarly, to 
close the short position in TRY with 
the long position in EUR, forward 
instrument is used with the tenor of 
next 24 months.  A layered hedging 
strategy is applied for both curren-
cies, such that target is to obtain a 
variable hedge ratio of 25%-35% for 
next month's anticipated short USD 
position and 30% hedge ratio for 
next month's anticipated short  TRY 
position.

COUNTERPARTY RISK 
MANAGEMENT
Turkish Airlines has adopted various 
methods to minimize the effects of 
possible problems that may arise 
in the financial institutions, which 
constitutes counterparties in the 
deposit and derivative trades of the 
Incorporation. In this context, main 
approach of the Incorporation is to 
develop a fair methodology to evalu-
ate all counterparties with equal and 
objective criteria to reduce long-term 
counterparty risk.  Turkish Airlines 
also signs mutual agreements with 
the counterparties against the credit 
risk that may arise as a result of de-
rivative transactions.

For deposit and derivative transac-
tions, credit rating of counterpar-
ties that are given by international 
credit rating agencies are taken into 
consideration and it is preferred not 
to deal with the institutions that are 
below the threshold credit risk rating. 
Companies that are above thresh-
old rating are assigned a risk level 
and transaction limit with respect 
to the credit risk evaluation meth-

ods. Credit ratings and transaction 
limits of counterparties are updated 
regularly. If a incorporation is down-
graded below the threshold level, all 
existing trades of this counterparty 
is closely monitored. In such a case, 
the Incorporation has also the option 
of unilaterally stop transactions with 
related counterparty.

“Derivatives Framework Agreement” 
is signed with domestic financial 
counterparties and “International 
Swaps and Derivatives Association 
(ISDA)" and other necessary agree-
ments are signed with foreign finan-
cial institutions for the management 
of the credit risk that may arise from 
the use of derivatives instruments 
by the Incorporation. In particular, 
issues related to credit risk manage-
ment are regulated under a separate 
agreement called "Credit Support 
Annex (CSA)". Based on mentioned 
agreements / as per related agree-
ment, collateral settlement trans-
actions are carried out in certain 
periods to reduce credit risk.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 
COMPLIANCE REPORT

1. Statement of Compliance 
with Corporate Governance 
Principles
The Incorporation, which aims at pro-
moting and representing Turkey and 
Turkish Aviation industry in interna-
tional arena in the best possible man-
ner and which has adopted the trans-
parency, fairness, responsibility and 
accountability as a principle, complies 
with any and all mandatory principles 
set out in the Corporate Governance 
Principles attached to the Capi-
tal Market Board (CMB) Corporate 
Governance Communique n: II-17.1 
and pays utmost attention to abide 
by non-mandatory principles thereof. 
The principles no: 4.2.5, 4.2.8, 4.3.9, 
and 4.5.5 are non-mandatory Corpo-
rate Governance Principles, which are 
not observed by the Incorporation 
and the reasons thereof are given in 
the relevant parts of the report.

The Incorporation keeps carrying 
out activities for continuous devel-
opment of Corporate Governance 
approach and for enhancement of 
the level of compliance with the Cor-
porate Governance Principles. 

PART I – SHAREHOLDERS
2. Investor Relations 
Department
There is an Investor Relations Man-
agement, directly reporting to Murat 
Şeker, Ph.D,  Chief Financial Officer, 
which has been established in order 
to operate with respect to informing 
any domestic and foreign investors 
in a correct, consistent and timely  
manner and ensuring the communi-

cation and information exchange be-
tween the Board of Directors and the 
regulators and participants of the 
capital markets and observing the 
compliance with the regulations and 
Articles of Association with respect 
to exercise of shareholding rights 
and also fulfilling the obligations for 
disclosure in compliance with any 
and all kinds of regulations, within 
the  organisation of Turkish Airlines.

In 2017, Investor Relations Depart-
ment participated in 7 investor 
conferences and roadshows, per-
formed 25 teleconferences and held 
more than 60 individual/corporate 
investor meetings, in order to share 
any financial, operational and stra-
tegical developments in relation to 
the Incorporation with investors and 
analysts. During these conferences, 
and teleconferences, it was convened 
with the 178 investors/analysts from 
122 corporates and funds, at the 
head office of the Incorporation and 
at the offices of the investors.  All 
analysts who issued a report about 
our Incorporation were contacted 
and accurate and proper information 
was conveyed during the preparation 
of the reports and feedback related 
to their reports were delivered. Three 
teleconferences were organized 
about financial statements results 
and their records were published 
on the Investor Relations website. 
Approximately 3.000 applications 
were received by the Incorporation 
by e-mail within the activity period 
2017 for the purpose of obtaining 
information. Besides the applications 

received by e-mail, many investors 
and shareholders were also informed 
by phone.

In 2015, Sustainability Reporting was 
carried out for the first time within 
the organization of the Incorpora-
tion and any improvable matters 
with respect to all stakeholders 
were identified during such process. 
Accordingly, any and all Incorporation  
policies, systems, procedures and 
documents such as "Code of Conduct 
Manual", which are included in the 
subjects of Corporate Governance, 
have been reviewed, and any actions 
for revision thereof have been started 
to be taken for such purpose. In 2017, 
Turkish Airlines  sticked at the studies 
and investments it has carried out for 
a sustainable future, and has re-
leased its 2016 Sustainability Report, 
comprised of four pillars, each of 
which includes a number of material 
aspects, namely Governance, Econo-
my, Environment and Social. With its 
sustainability practices and policies 
in 2017, Turkish Airlines, strongly com-
mitted to contributing to sustainable 
development by conducting its busi-
ness in a socially, economically and 
environmentally responsible manner, 
has been entitled to place in the BIST 
Sustainability Index, as it has been 
in the past years. BIST Sustainabili-
ty Index, is composed of companies 
traded at Borsa İstanbul that boast 
high level of corporate sustainabil-
ity performance. Aiming to further 
improve the transparent communica-
tion it established with its stakehold-
ers, Investor Relations Department 

has an Investor Relations Application 
compatible with iPad, iPhone and 
Android devices to the service of the 
users. Thanks to the application, do-
mestic and foreign investors as well 
as all Turkish Airlines stakeholders 
got the opportunity to have access to 
up-to-date developments, material 
disclosures, operational and financial 
statements, investor presentations, 
activity reports and many other doc-
uments regarding Turkish Airlines, via 
3 different digital platforms and in 2 
languages.

Investor Relations Department 
submitted the report for activities it 
conducted in 2017, to the informa-
tion of the Board of Directors of the 
Incorporation. 

Contact info of the Investor Rela-
tions staff is provided below:

Kadir Coşkun
Investor Relations Manager
Phone: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 13630
E-mail: kadirc@thy.com

Özge Şahin
Investor Relations Supervisor
Phone: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 11841
E-mail: ozges@thy.com

Emre Yunus Kozanhan
Investor Relations Specialist
Phone: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 16107
E-mail: ekozanhan@thy.com

Nazire Şahan Korkmaz
Investor Relations Specialist
Phone: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 12195
E-mail: nazirekorkmaz@thy.com

3. Exercise of Right to 
Information by Shareholders
The Investor Relations Department 
of our Incorporation replies any re-
quests of information and any inquir-
ies, delivered thereto by either the 
stakeholders or any other sharehold-
ers by means of different communi-
cation channels, by using the most 
efficient means of communication as 
soon as possible. On the other hand, 
there is an Investor Relations web 
page (investor.turkishairlines.com), 
which is accessible through the cor-

porate website of the Incorporation, 
in order for ensuring the efficient 
exercise of the rights of shareholders 
to obtain information and any inves-
tors and any other stakeholders may 
access any public financial and op-
erational data, material disclosures 
and any and all announcements for 
exercise of the shareholding rights 
through such website. Besides, any 
persons/organisations, signing up for 
the distribution list, may be informed 
about any up-to-date operational 
and financial disclosures by e-mail.

No regulation on request for assign-
ment of a special auditor is available 
under the Articles of Association; 
and no request was made to assign a 
special auditor in 2017.

4. General Meetings
The regulations as regards the Gen-
eral Assembly Meetings of our Incor-
poration are set out in the Articles 
of Association, publicly available on 
the Investor Relations website of the 
Incorporation.

Ordinary General Assembly Meeting, 
during which the accounting and ac-
tivities of 2016 were discussed, was 
held on 09.06.2017 at VIP Meeting 
Hall at the General Management 
Building situated at Yeşilköy Mh. 
Havaalanı Cad. No: 3/1 Bakirkoy/
Istanbul, the principal office address 
of the Incorporation. The sharehold-
ers, representing TRY 835,649,648.81 
(61%) of TRY 1.380.000.000, which 
was the issued capital of the In-
corporation, attended the Ordinary 
General Assembly Meeting and no 
other stakeholders or press partic-
ipated in the meeting. The General 
Assembly Meeting was held phys-
ically and electronically as per the 
legislation of Turkish Commercial 
Code No: 6102 and the regulations of 
the CMB.

The announcement and invita-
tion to the Ordinary General As-
sembly Meeting was published in 
Trade Registry Gazette (TTSG), nr. 
18.05.2017/9329, in Sabah newspaper 
dated 17.05.2017 and on the Electron-

ic General Assembly System, which 
is available within the organisation 
of Central Registration Agency and 
Public Disclosure Platform as well as 
on the website of investor relations 
three weeks before the date of the 
meeting, along with the notifications 
and disclosures required to be made 
by the Incorporation in accordance 
with the relevant regulations. As per 
the article no: 437 of Turkish Com-
mercial Code (TCC), financial state-
ments, consolidated financial state-
ments, annual activity report of the 
board of directors, audit reports and 
profit distribution proposal of the 
Board of Directors were uploaded 
on the website of the Incorporation 
before the date of General Assembly 
Meeting in accordance with the peri-
ods specified by the regulations and 
submitted to the examination of the 
shareholders at the principal office 
and branches of the Incorporation.

It was ensured that the Members of 
the Board, other related persons and 
other authorised persons in charge 
of preparing the financial statements 
as well as the auditors were present 
at the General Assembly Meeting in 
order to provide required information 
and respond to any inquiries with 
respect to any specific matters in the 
agenda. 

The subjects on the agenda were 
submitted objectively and in detail 
through a clear and understandable 
method during the General Assem-
bly Meeting of the Incorporation 
and the shareholders were provided 
with an opportunity to convey their 
opinions and ask questions under 
equal circumstances. Although the 
practice for replying the questions 
of the shareholders verbally and for 
replying the comprehensive ques-
tions in writing was available during 
the General Assembly Meeting, no 
question which required to be replied 
in writing was asked in this meet-
ing. The questions asked during the 
meeting were replied verbally and 
such replies were added into the 
minutes of the meeting. 
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The minutes of meeting which 
included the questions asked in 
the meeting and replies thereof 
are available on the website of the 
Investor Relations of our Incorpo-
ration. No agenda suggestion was 
proposed by the stakeholders during 
this meeting. The minutes of the 
General Assembly Meeting and the 
list of participants are disclosed pub-
licly on the same day via the Public 
Disclosure Platform and submitted 
to the information of the sharehold-
ers on the website of the Investor 
Relations of the Incorporation and 
on the Electronic General Assembly 
System. The minutes of the General 
Assembly Meetings of the previous 
years and any other documents are 
also available on the website of the 
Investor Relations of the Incorpo-
ration. The Minutes of the General 
Assembly Meeting, dated 09.06.2017, 
was published in the TTSG, dated 
19.06.2017 and no: 9350.

Since there was no process where fa-
vourable vote of the majority of the 
Independent Members of the Board 
was sought for adoption of a reso-
lution in the Meeting of the Board 
of Directors and where the General 
Assembly Meeting was consulted to 
adopt a resolution due to the dis-
senting votes of the Members, such 
an agenda was not available in the 
General Assembly Meeting.

Information about the charitable do-
nations incurred within the period in 
accordance with our Donation Policy 
adopted by the General Assembly is 
provided through a separate agenda 
item during the General Assembly 
Meeting. Total amount of donation 
granted by our Incorporation in 2016 
for the purpose of social aid was TRY 
3,015,463.83 and no other donation 
was available. Donation Policy of the 
Incorporation is submitted to the 
information of the shareholders via 
the website of the Investor Relations 
of the Incorporation.

5. Voting Rights and 
Minority Rights
Voting right is regulated in the article 
no: 31 of the Articles of Association, 
as specified below:

‘’Each shareholder or proxy attending 
the ordinary or extraordinary Share-
holders Assembly Meetings will be 
vested with one vote for each share, 
provided that the provisions of Arti-
cle 6/d of this Articles of Association 
are reserved.’’

As per the subparagraph 5 of the 
article no: 14 of the Articles of Asso-
ciation;

It is required for the Board member 
representing Group C share to attend 
the meeting and his affirmative vote 
is required for the effectiveness of 
the resolutions of the Board of Direc-
tors regarding the followings issues: 

 | Resolutions which will clearly 
adversely affect the mission of 
the Incorporations as indicated 
in Article 3.1 of this Articles of 
Association;

 | Any suggestion to be made to the 
General Assembly for any modi-
fication in the Articles of Associ-
ation;

 |  Increase of the share capital;

 | Approval of transfer of registered 
shares and registration of the 
transfer in the Share Register;

 | Any transaction, based on each 
contract, which exceeds 5 % of 
the total assets of the Incorpo-
ration as indicated in the latest 
balance sheet submitted to the 
Capital Market Board and which 
is directly or indirectly binding for 
the Incorporation, any resolution 
which will bring the Incorporation 
under any commitment, (provid-
ed that in case the share of the 
public in the Incorporation has 
decreased below 20 % of the 

Incorporation’s share capital, then 
the provisions of this clause will 
automatically terminate); 

 | Merger, termination or liquidation 
of the Incorporation; 

 | Any resolution about the can-
cellation of any flight route or 
for a remarkable decrease in the 
number of flights, excluding the 
routes which do not even have 
a revenue to meet its own oper-
ating costs based on exclusive 
market conditions or through 
other sources.

The privileges of group C share may 
only be limited by the The Privatiza-
tion High Council or any other public 
institution, which will take over such  
duties. 

Our Incorporation pays utmost 
attention to ensure the exercise of 
minority rights. In accordance with 
the Article no: 10 of the Articles of 
Association, any shareholder hold-
ing the public group A shares may 
only be nominated to the Board of 
Directors provided that they are 
represented at the rate of minimum 
2% of the total issued capital in the 
Ordinary General Assembly Meeting 
during which the Members of the 
Board are elected.

The shareholders submitted no 
request for representation of the 
minority in the management dur-
ing the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting held in 2017, where the ac-
counting and activities for 2016 were 
discussed. Also, there is no incorpo-
ration, with which no relationship 
based on mutual interests is avail-
able and cumulative voting method 
is not specified under the Articles of 
Association. 

6.  Right of Dividend
The principles for determination 
and distribution of the distributable 
profit within the organisation of the 
Incorporation are regulated in the ar-

ticle no: 36 of the Articles of Associ-
ation. There is no privilege in respect 
of participation to the profit.

General Assembly determines the 
time and method of payment of the 
profit, by taking into account the 
communiques of the CMB. Accord-
ingly, profit distribution policy of the 
Incorporation has been determined 
by taking into account the strategical 
targets, growth trend and financial 
needs of the Incorporation as well as 
the expectations of the sharehold-
ers in accordance with the Turkish 
Commercial Code, the Capital Market 
Law, relevant legal regulations and 
the provisions set out in the Articles 
of Association and such policy is 
available on the website of the In-
vestor Relations of the Incorporation 
and in the annual report of the Board 
of Directors. Profit distribution policy 
includes clearly any minimum details 
in such a manner that will enable the 
shareholders to estimate the proce-
dures and principles for distribution 
of the profit to be obtained by the In-
corporation in the following periods 
and is based upon the adoption of a 
balanced policy between the inter-
ests of the shareholders and that of 
the Incorporation.

The proposal of the Board of Direc-
tors of the Incorporation, as regards 
the revision of the Profit Distribu-
tion Policy of the Incorporation, was 
approved by the General Assembly 
at the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting, dated 04.04.2016 and the 
updated policy is available on the 
website of Investor Relations of the 
Incorporation.

According to the consolidated 
financial statements belonging to 
the accounting period of 01.01.2016-
31.12.2016 prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards within the 
framework of the provisions of the 
Communiqué of the CMB Serial: II, 
and Number: 14.1 and audited by 

Akis Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest 
Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş., net 
loss for the period is TRY 47.000.000. 
On the other hand, according to 
the legal books (under the provi-
sions of Turkish Tax Procedure Law) 
the net loss of the period is TRY 
6.467.842.402 and previous years' 
loss account has a balance of TRY 
639.770.079. Accordingly, it has been 
decided, in the Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting dated 09.06.2017 
that, the loss amount according to 
the legal books will be transferred to 
previous years' loss account. As there 
will not be any distributable profit 
(according to the legal books), the 
net loss of TRY 47.000.000 (accord-
ing to IFRS) will be transferred to the 
previous years' loss account and that 
no profit distribution to the share-
holders of the Incorporation shall be 
distributed for the year of 2016.

7. Transfer of Shares
The shares held by the foreign share-
holders may not exceed 40% of the 
total issued capital of the Incorpora-
tion, as per the Article 6 of the Arti-
cles of Association of our Incorpora-
tion, regarding “Shareholders Nature’’.  
In calculating the rates of the shares 
held by the foreigner shareholders, 
the rate of foreign shareholding in 
the shares held by the shareholder 
holding Group A shares which are 
not open for public will be taken into 
consideration as well.

As per the article no: 7 of the Articles 
of Association, as regards the trans-
fer of shares, the transfer of shares 
shall be subject to the provisions set 
out in TCC, Capital Market Regula-
tions and Civil Aviation Regulations 
and no provision, which would ob-
struct the free transfer of shares by 
the shareholders, is available in the 
Articles of Association of our Incor-
poration. 

The nature of shareholding and any 
matters concerning the transfer of 
shares are specified in the relevant 

sections of the Articles of Associa-
tion, along with the implementation 
principles and the reasons thereof 
and are available on the website of 
Investor Relations of the Incorpora-
tion.

PART II – PUBLIC 
DISCLOSURE AND 
TRANSPARENCY
8. Disclosure Policy
A Disclosure Policy was established 
by the Board of Directors of the In-
corporation in an effort to determine 
the general principles and proce-
dures as regards any information 
to be shared with the shareholders, 
investors, other participants of the 
capital markets and any other rele-
vant stakeholders and as regards the 
method, frequency and means to be 
used,  while sharing such informa-
tion as well as regarding any public 
disclosures, in accordance with the 
Material Events Communique of CMB 
and Corporate Governance Commu-
nique, the relevant provisions of TCC 
and the regulations  of Borsa Istan-
bul (BIST). 

In respect of implementation of the 
disclosure policy, it is essential to 
inform all stakeholders, including the 
shareholders, investors, employees 
and customers, about any informa-
tion, events and developments, which 
might affect the investment decisions 
of the investors, on equal terms in a 
timely, accurate, complete, under-
standable and readily manner, so as 
to be accessible at the lowest cost.

In this context, 47 Material Dis-
closures were made by our Incor-
poration in 2017 and no request 
for additional disclosures for such 
Material Disclosures was submitted 
by CMB and BIST. Our Incorporation 
paid attention to deliver any mate-
rial disclosures to investors, savers, 
institutions and organisations in a 
simultaneous, timely, understanda-
ble accurate, interpretable and full 
manner.
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The power and responsibility for 
monitoring, supervising and im-
proving the disclosure policy of our 
Incorporation belongs to the Board 
of Directors. Any amendments to be 
made in the disclosure policy shall 
take effect upon the approval of the 
Board of Directors and be published 
on the website of the Incorporation.

9. Corporate Website and Its 
Contents
Corporate website of our Incorpora-
tion is www.turkishairlines.com and 
the website of Investor Relations, 
which is also accessible through the 
corporate website, is investor.turkis-
hairlines.com and both websites have 
English versions. Any information on 
the corporate and Investor Relations 
website of the Incorporation is iden-
tical to and/or consistent with the 
disclosures made in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of the legisla-
tion and contains no contradictory or 
incomplete information. 

The website of Investor Relations 
contains current Shareholding 
Structure, last version of the Articles 
of Association along with the TTSG 
on which any amendments were 
published, the agenda of the Gen-
eral Assembly, the form for voting 
by proxy, the list of the participants, 
additional/supplementary informa-
tion and minutes of the meeting, 
annual reports, financial statements, 
business activity data, Incorporation 
presentations, Corporate Govern-
ance Principles Compliance Reports, 
information about the Board of 
Directors and Committees, Material 
Disclosures, Press Releases, Code 
of Ethics, Policies (Profit Distribu-
tion Policy, Disclosure Policy, Pricing 
Policy, Donation Policy), details of 
the transaction with the associated 
parties, share details, analyst details, 
independent auditor details, Trade 
Registry Gazette details, contact de-
tails and frequently asked questions, 
including any matters specified under 
the Corporate Governance Policies.

Any information available on the 
website of Investor Relations are also 
prepared in English, in such a way to 
be exactly the same as the Turkish 
version, for the purpose of enabling 
international investors to benefit 
from such information. Investors are 
able to convey their opinions and 
suggestions to the Investor Rela-
tions Department via the relevant 
form under the heading “Opinions 
and Suggestions” available on the 
website of Turkish Airlines Investor 
Relations. The investors are redi-
rected to the e-mail address “ir@thy.
com” in order to deliver any inquiries 
under the heading “Contact”. In addi-
tion, any persons/institutions, sign-
ing up the distribution list through 
the website, can be informed of any 
up-to-date operational and financial 
disclosures by e-mail.

The content, which is required to be 
available on the website in a dedicat-
ed way pursuant to the “Regulation 
on the Websites to be Established by 
Equity Companies”, dated 31.05.2013, 
of the Ministry of Customs and Trade, 
is accessible through the link “Infor-
mation Society Services” available on 
the home page of the website of the 
Incorporation.

10. Activity Report
The activity report of our Incorpo-
ration is prepared in such a way to 
allow the public access to complete 
and accurate information about the 
activities of the Incorporation and 
contains all information specified 
under the relevant regulations and 
Corporate Governance Principles.

PART III – STAKEHOLDERS
11. Disclosures to 
Stakeholders
In addition to those specified under 
the statutory regulation and material 
disclosures, any other information 
and disclosures in relation to the 
Incorporation, which are considered 
to concern any other stakehold-
ers, are also disclosed in a timely 

and explanatory manner through 
the most appropriate means of 
communication. Shareholders and 
participant of capital markets as 
well as the suppliers, financial insti-
tutions and all other stakeholders 
are informed continuously through 
the press releases, annual reports, 
sustainability reports, website and 
the applications available under the 
Disclosure Policy of the Incorpo-
ration. Announcements are made 
through the internal arrangements in 
order to inform the employees about 
the general practices and activities 
of the Incorporation and the Intranet 
of the Incorporation is actively used 
and also the periodical “Empathy”, 
which is an internal communication 
publication, is published on a month-
ly basis. Communication channels of 
the Incorporation have been estab-
lished in a way to be accessed by any 
and all stakeholders and the contact 
details were also published on the 
website of the Incorporation.

“UP” mobile application developed 
in order to ease the employees’ 
daily lives, is the most active chan-
nel used in our Incorporation, and 
currently has 26.000 users. Thanks to 
the application, the employees can 
access information of load factor of 
any flight, discounted brands special 
to employees, transportation ser-
vices and food menu, smart address 
book, employees’ birthdays, surveys, 
opinions and suggestions delivery 
through their mobile devices.

Stakeholders may, at all times, 
contact the Corporate Governance 
Committee or Audit Committee via 
the Department of Investor Relations 
or directly via the channels such as 
e-mail, mail, phone, etc. In case of 
conflicts of interest between the 
stakeholders or in case of inclusion 
of any stakeholder in more than one 
interest group, a balanced policy 
is followed in order to protect the 
rights possessed as much as possible 

and it is aimed at protecting each 
right independently.

12. Stakeholders’ 
Participation in Management
Management meetings, in which 
domestic and international managers 
and senior executives of the Incorpo-
ration participate, are held within the 
organisation of the Incorporation on 
regular basis every year, in addition 
to the meetings in which the suppli-
ers, domestic and international sales 
agencies, sales organisations of the 
Incorporation and personnel holding 
various positions participate regu-
larly and an exchange of opinions in 
relation to the workshops and panels 
is achieved during such meetings.

Moreover, a suggestion system is 
implemented within the Incorpora-
tion and the employees submit their 
suggestions for improvement and 
development with respect to any 
matter in relation to the Incorpora-
tion through such system and any 
suggestions deemed appropriate are 
implemented. Also, the Incorpora-
tion pays attention to the opinions 
and suggestions of all stakeholders 
as well as the surveys for customer 
satisfaction.

13. Human Resources Policy
The Incorporation has in place a 
Human Resources Policy which has 
been determined by the Board of 
Directors and any and all actions 
for sub-departments and all per-
sonnel, which are organised based 
on the processes, are carried out in 
accordance with the regulations. The 
principle for equal opportunities for 
the persons with equal requirements 
is adopted during recruitment and 
career planning processes. The pro-
cedures and principles of recruitment 
processes of our Incorporation are 
specified under the General Employ-
ment Procedure of the Incorporation 
and in the employment process 
charts. The processes vary according 
to the work groups as cockpit crew, 

cabin crew, internal staff and exter-
nal staff. The procedure outlines the 
information about the departments 
having responsibilities at each stage, 
the announcement criteria, process 
flows and management of personnel 
records. The procedures and princi-
ples of the Performance Assessment 
System, which is implemented within 
the Incorporation, as well as the per-
formance assessment criteria are set 
out in the Performance Management 
System Manual of the Incorporation 
and is accessible to any and all em-
ployees via the intranet of our Incor-
poration. Any initiatives to improve 
and extend the Performance Man-
agement System are now ongoing.

The relations with the employees are 
carried out through the Personnel 
Relations Supervisor’s Office. This 
office is responsible for improving 
the communication with the em-
ployees, measuring the employee 
loyalty/satisfaction on a yearly basis, 
and reporting on department basis, 
taking actions to increase employee 
satisfaction and motivation, fol-
lowing the trends that boost the 
motivation with benchmark studies 
and implementing them within the 
Incorporation and carrying out any 
announcements in relation to the 
employees. All measures are taken 
in order not to discriminate based 
on race, religion, nationality and 
gender and in order to protect the 
employees against any physical, 
mental and emotional abuses. In 
2017, 168 reports were received from 
the employees of our Incorporation 
through the Ethical Way, which is 
the designated authority to apply. 
These reports included the matters 
such as employee-employee, em-
ployee-manager communication 
problems and criticism about the 
general practices of the organisation 
and working conditions. The task 
definitions of the employees of our 
Incorporation are regularly published 
on the intranet page of Turkish Air-

lines. All employees can access the 
task definition via the intranet page 
of Turkish Airlines.

On the other hand, most of the 
employees of our Incorporation is 
a member of the labour union. The 
relations between the employees 
and the employer, at each level, with 
respect to the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement and any matter con-
cerning the staff, are conducted in 
the most efficient manner and in a 
manner to obtain result, through 
the agency of the representatives 
and union executives assigned by 
the labour union, in numbers and 
proportions specified in the legal 
legislation. All employees get fair 
treatment in terms of the rights 
granted and also training programs 
are conducted to improve their skills, 
knowledge and experience. The 
employees are provided with a safe 
working environment and conditions, 
both in Turkey and overseas.

14. Code of Ethics and Social 
Responsibility
Carrying on its activities in accord-
ance with its identity as the flag car-
rier, our Incorporation pays utmost 
attention to act sensitively towards 
its social responsibilities while per-
forming its activities and guides and 
encourages its subsidiaries accord-
ingly. Code of Conduct Manual of 
the Incorporation was created by 
the Board of Directors in accordance 
with the Corporate Governance Prin-
ciples and published on the website 
of the Incorporation. In addition, The 
Ethic Committee procedure coded as 
PR.10.32.084 has been updated and 
gone into operation on 26.10.2017. 
The Code of Conduct of the Incorpo-
ration covers fundamental principles 
and values of ours as well as various 
matters such as compliance with 
the regulations, anti-bribery, an-
ti-corruption and anti-competition, 
etc. Our employees learn about the 
Code of Conduct and are informed 
about the Corporate Code of Con-
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duct Manual of the Incorporation as 
they commence to work within the 
Incorporation. Therefore, it is ensured 
that the employees act respectfully 
towards the laws, ethical values, so-
cial norms and environment in terms 
of their words and behaviours in line 
with the generally-recognized princi-
ples in business life. For this purpose, 
The Code of Conduct and The Ethic 
Committee trainings are assigned to 
Incorporation employees to enhance 
their awareness about The Code of 
Conduct. In addition, the Ethical Way, 
which is an Ethical Reporting Line, 
established within the Incorporation, 
is a reporting system created in order 
to ensure that all kinds of acts that 
are contrary to the corporate prin-
ciples, with respect to the discrimi-
nation, bribery, conflict of interests 
and anti-competitive practices, 
are reported by the employees of 
Turkish Airlines, on anonymous way. 
The Ethical Way, managed by a fully 
independent third party incorpora-
tion, is a line specific to the questions 
and/or reports of the employees of 
Turkish Airlines, as regards to the 
ethical issues. The Ethic Committee, 
consisting of four board members 
and one chairman, which is in charge 
of dealing with such applications, 
hears each personnel in relation to 
the application submitted to the 
Ethical Way and receives the opin-
ions of the relevant departments in 
the light of studies that is carried out 
by members of the Subcommittee 
before it submits its advisory deci-
sions or  proceeds administrative act 
about the personnel.

Our Incorporation carries on its 
domestic and international activ-
ities by taking into account both 
its climatic and environmental as 
well as social responsibilities. There 
is no legal action filed against the 
Incorporation, due to any damage to 
the environment. The Sustainability 
Report, which includes all activities 
performed by the Incorporation with 

respect to its relevant responsibili-
ties, is accessible through the web-
site of the Investor Relations.

Our Incorporation has carried out 
various works to fulfill the urgent 
and long-term needs of thousands of 
people affected by natural and hu-
manitarian crises in different regions 
of the world.  In order to support the 
people who were trying to cope with 
the drought and the famine in Soma-
lia, in the first quarter of 2017, Turkish 
Airlines, as the only international 
airline flying to Somalia has delivered 
free air cargo service to transport aid 
materials to the region.  In addition 
to this globally supported project 
through the social media, the Incor-
poration has opened a mobile meal 
center and distributed hot meals to 
hundreds of thousands of people 
together with Turkish Red Crescent 
to combat famine.

Besides, in consequence of the need 
analyses conducted in Somalia, the 
needs of indicated orphanages have 
been met, the educational units have 
been renovated and furnished, tens 
of thousands of people have been 
provided with food support and 
drinking water.

Through our renewed agreement 
with Turkish Red Crescent, our sup-
port regarding the transportation of 
over 500 tons of blood, more than 
200 tons of aid materials per year 
and the Aid Teams continues increas-
ingly.

After the humanitarian crises which 
affected almost one million Ar-
akanese in the second half of 2017, 
an aid campaign has been initiated 
to carry out various studies in Bang-
ladesh and aid activities has been 
brought into action  with the dona-
tion of employees of Turkish Airlines 
and Turkish Technic.

From Africa to Asia, in 40 different 
destinations it flies to, Turkish Air-

lines has developed various projects, 
depending on the regional needs, 
renovated schools, orphanages, 
health units and distributed foods to 
thousands of families especially in 
Ramadan and Sacrifice Feast. 

Turkish Airlines, which supports 
various educational associations  in 
order to enhance interest of chil-
dren and young people in scientific 
research and support their works in 
the field of  technology and innova-
tion, has sponsored science festivals 
and provided transportation support 
to hundreds of students  attending 
international and national contests 
on science and technology.

Turkish Airlines, which is the main 
sponsor of sports organizations that 
are watched with interest all over 
the world, has carried out various 
activities in order to integrate more 
handicapped individuals into sports 
activities. In this context, a Main 
Sponsorship agreement has been 
signed with the Federation of Phys-
ically Handicapped. Project named 
as “Görmezden Gelme” has been 
executed  during Turkish Airlines Eu-
roLeague matches played in the year 
2017, within the scope of the project, 
the commentators has commentated 
the matches simultaneously in the 
field to the visually-handicapped 
fans. Through the traditionalized 
projects such as “TOSIDO”, hundreds 
of handicapped and disadvantaged 
children have been enabled to visit 
the facilities of our Incorporation   
and do sightseeing around İstanbul.

Lastly, our Incorporation, as the 
transportation sponsor of the project  
“Biz Anadoluyuz” started in the year  
2017 and planned to be continued in 
2018, has been contributing to live 
and learn process of thousands of 
students in the field of culture, histo-
ry and common values by means of 
organizing excursions from our east-
ern cities to western cities and vice 
versa within the scope of the project.

All kinds of actions are taken in order 
to ensure customer satisfaction with 
respect to the marketing and selling 
the services of the Incorporation. 
And any requests from the cus-
tomers as regards the services they 
purchase are satisfied rapidly. The In-
corporation complies with the quality 
standards with respect to the servic-
es it renders. Attention is paid for the 
confidentiality of any details about 
the customers and suppliers, within 
the framework of trade secrets.

PART IV – BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
15. Structure and Composition 
of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of our Incor-
poration manages and represents 
the Incorporation, primarily by ob-
serving the long-term interest of the 
Incorporation and optimising the risk, 
growth and yield balance with the 
decisions it takes, with a rational and 
tactical risk management approach. 
Our Board of Directors sets strategic 
targets of the Incorporation, deter-
mines the required work force and 
financial resources and audits the 
performance of the management.

Board of Directors consists of nine 
members appointed by the General 
Assembly. It is obligatory to appoint 
8 members of the Board of Directors, 
by electing amongst the candidates 
nominated by the Group A share-
holders having highest votes, and 
to appoint one member by electing 
amongst the candidates nominated 
by the Group C shareholder. Min-
imum six members of the Board, 
including the member representing 
the Group C shares, must be Turkish 
Citizens. The term of office for the 
Board Members is two (2) years as 
per the Article 10 of the Articles of 
Association. The General Assembly 
may discharge the Members of the 
Board before the expiry of their term 
of office. The Members of the Board, 
whose term of office is expired, may 
be reappointed.

Three members of the Board are 
assigned to serve in the Executive 
Committee while other six members 
are non-executive members. Three 
of the non-executive members serve 
as Independent Board Members, as 
set out in the Corporate Governance 
Principles of CMB. Due to the dy-
namic nature of the aviation industry, 
it would be more favorable in terms 
of uniformity, if the Chairman of the 
Board and the Executive Committee 
is the same person. Therefore, the 
Chairman of the Board and the Exec-
utive Committee of our Incorporation 
is the same person.  CEO is not the 
Chairman of the Board. No individual 
member has unlimited decision-mak-
ing power at the Incorporation since 
all strategic and managerial deci-
sions are taken by the Executive 
Board by majority of votes. 

Although the Board of Directors 
does not have a specific target in 
terms of the ratio of female mem-
bers, the Board of Directors had one 
female member as of 2017. 

Significant changes made in the 
structure of our Board of Directors in 
2017, are listed below.

Upon Board of Directors' decision 
dated 31.03.2017, Arzu Akalın, Ogün 
Şanlıer and Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar 
have been approved as Independent 
Board Member Nominees, by the 
Capital Markets Board letter dated 
02.05.2017.

 | Due the resignation of Assoc. 
Prof. Dr. Temel Kotil from Dep-
uty Chairman and the Member 
of the Board on 21.10.2016, the 
appointment of Mr. Bilal Ekşi as 
the Member of the Board and 
Deputy Chairman of the Board of 
Directors was submitted to the 
approval of the General Assembly 
dated 09.06.2017 and approved 
by the majority of the votes.  

 | Mr. Mehmet Büyükekşi resigned 
from his office as Member of the 

Board of Directors at the Ordi-
nary General Assembly dated 
09.06.2017.

 | With the Board of Directors  
resolution dated 09.06.2017, 
The Incorporation has decided 
to appoint; Independent Board 
Members Mr. Mehmet Muzaffer 
Akpınar as the Committee Chair-
man and Mr. Ogün Şanlıer as the 
member of the Audit Committee; 
Independent Board Member Ms. 
Arzu Akalın as the Committee 
Chairman, Board Members Mr. İs-
mail Gerçek and Mr. Orhan Birdal 
and Investor Relations Manager 
Mr. Kadir Coşkun, in compliance 
with the Capital Market Board's 
Communique on Corporate Gov-
ernance (II-17.1), as the members 
of the Corporate Governance 
Committee; Independent Board 
Members Mr. Ogün Şanlıer as the 
Committee Chairman and Mr. 
Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar, as the 
member of the Early Identification 
of Risks Committee; Chairman of 
the Board Mr. Mehmet İlker Aycı 
as the Chairman of the Executive 
Comittee, Deputy Chairman of 
the Board and General Manager 
Mr. Bilal Ekşi as the Deputy Chair-
man of the Executive Committee 
and Board Member Mr. İsmail 
Cenk Dilberoğlu as the Member of 
the Executive Committee.

Information regarding the Members 
of the Board as of 31.12.2017 is given 
below and the majority of the Mem-
bers of the Board are non-executive 
members, in accordance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles of 
CMB:
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Name Position Start of Office Status Other Committee Roles

M. İlker Aycı
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

04.04.2014 Non-Independent Executive Committee /Chairman

Bilal Ekşi
CEO, Deputy  Chairman of 
the Board of Directors and 
the Executive Committee

21.10.2016 Non-Independent Executive Committee / Deputy Chairman

İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu Member of the Board 06.04.2015 Non-Independent Executive Committee / Member

İsmail Gerçek Member of the Board 08.04.2011 Non-Independent
Corporate Governance Committee / 
Member

Prof. Dr. Mecit Eş Member of the Board 29.03.2013 Non-Independent

Orhan Birdal Member of the Board 09.06.2017 Non-Independent
Corporate Governance Committee / 
Member

Ogün Şanlıer Member of the Board 06.04.2015 Independent
Audit Committee / Member, Early 
Identification of Risks Committee / 
Chairman

M. Muzaffer Akpınar Member of the Board 24.04.2007 Independent
Audit Committee / Chairman, Early 
Identification of Risks Committee / 
Member

Arzu Akalın Member of the Board 04.04.2014 Independent
Corporate Governance Committee / 
Chairman

Name Position Start of Office Status Other Committee Roles

Mehmet Büyükekşi Member of the Board 03.03.2004 Non-Independent
Corporate Governance 
Committee/Member

Information, regarding the executives who held office as a Member of the Board in 2017, but are no longer in office as of 
31.12.2017, is given below.

The resumes of the Members of the 
Board and other roles they assume 
outside the Incorporation are avail-
able in the section “Board of Di-
rectors” of the Activity Report and 
under the Corporate Governance 
section of the website of Investor 
Relations of our Incorporation. The 
Statements of Independence of the 
Independent Members were submit-
ted to the Public Disclosure Plat-
form. No circumstance, which would 
remove the independency, occurred 
as of the relevant activity period.

16. Principles of Operation of 
the Board of Directors 
The activities of the Board of Direc-
tors of our Incorporation are regulat-
ed in the article no: 14 of the Articles 
of Association and;

The Board of Directors convenes as 
required by the business and in any 
case at least once a month. The ven-
ue of the meeting is the head office 
of the Incorporation. Meeting can be 
held anywhere else upon the decision 
of the Board of Directors.  The activ-
ities to be discussed at the meetings 
should be determined as an agen-

da and the members of the board 
should be informed of such agenda 
prior to the meeting.  The Chairman 
of the Board sets the agenda of the 
meetings of the Board of Directors 
in consultation with other board 
members and the CEO.  The Members 
pay utmost attention to attend each 
meeting and submit opinions dur-
ing the meetings. Invitation for the 
meetings of the Board of Directors 
and any information and documents 
in relation to the agenda items are 
submitted to the members at least 
three days before the date of the 
meeting for the purpose of ensuring 
the equal flow and distribution of in-
formation.  Opinions of any members 
who cannot attend the meetings, but 
present their opinions to the Board 
of Directors in writing, are submitted 
to the information of other members.

The Board of Directors convenes 
upon the attendance of at least six 
members. The Board of Directors 
takes its resolutions with the favour-
able vote of at least five members. 
Any member who fails to attend four 
consecutive meetings or six meetings 
in total within a period of one year, 

without being deemed to be on leave 
by the Board of Directors or without 
any justified reason, shall be consid-
ered to have resigned.

Each Member of the Board is enti-
tled to one vote. Any matters to be 
valid, provided that the Members of 
the Board of Directors, represent-
ing the group C shares, attend the 
meeting and cast a favourable vote, 
are provided in “5. Voting Rights and 
Minority Rights” of this report.

Agenda items are discussed explicit-
ly and in all aspects during the Meet-
ings of the Board of Directors. 

The Chairman of the Board makes 
his/her own best efforts to ensure 
the efficient participation of non-ex-
ecutive members to the Meetings of 
the Board of Directors. Any opposing 
votes cast by the Members of the 
Board of Directors are also recorded 
in the resolution book with their rea-
sonable and detailed justifications.

The Members of the Board spares 
sufficient time for the activities of 
the Incorporation. In the event that 
any Member of the Board serves 

as an executive or a Member of the 
Board at any other incorporation or 
that he/she provides any other incor-
poration with a consultancy service, 
then such situation will not lead to a 
conflict of interest nor will it hinder 
his/her duty within the Incorporation. 
Therefore, the fact that the Mem-
bers of the Board carry out any duty 
or duties outside the Incorporation 
is not subject to certain prescribed 
rules or otherwise restricted.

In 2017, 49 Meetings of the Board of 
Directors were held and 232 resolu-
tions were taken. In respect of such 
meetings, there are no associated 
party transactions or any material 
transactions, which were discussed 
in these meetings and not approved 
by Independent Board Members and 
required to be submitted to the ap-
proval of the General Assembly.

The Board of Directors plays a lead-
ing role in establishing an effective 
communication between the Incor-
poration and shareholders and in 
settling and resolving the disputes, 
which might be experienced and col-
laborates closely with the Corporate 
Governance Committee and Inves-
tor Relations Department for such 
purposes.

An Executive Liability Insurance, cov-
ering any damages/losses requested 
from the executives due to any failure 
in fulfillment of their responsibilities 
by paying utmost attention and care 
as expected from them, and due to 
any error, negligence or failure during 
the performance of their duties, has 
been maintained by the Incorporation 
and the amount of insurance cover-
age is 25 Million US Dollars.

17. The Number, Organisation 
and Independency of 
Committees of the Board of 
Directors
Following committees were estab-
lished within the Board of directors 
in accordance with TCC and CMB 
regulations in order to ensure that 
Board of Directors fulfills its duties 
and responsibilities properly.

Also a Nomination Committee or 
Remuneration Committee were not 
established in 2017 and Corporate 
Governance Committee was adopted 
to carry out such duties, as well. The 
Members of the Audit Committee, 
Corporate Governance Committee 
and Early Identification of Risks 
Committee were determined by the 
Board of Directors and disclosed to 
the public. The fields of duty and 
working principles of such com-
mittees were also determined by 
the Board of Directors. All kinds of 
sources and supports, required for 
the performance of duties by the 
committees, are provided by the 
Board of Directors.

The Chairman of the Executive Com-
mittee and the CEO do not assume 
any duty at the committees at our 
Incorporation. Although attention 
is paid not to assign any Member of 
the Board in more than one com-
mittee, Mr. Ogun Şanlier, one of the 
members of the Board of Directors, 
serves as both the Chairman of the 
Early Identification of Risks and as a 
Member of the Audit Committee and 
Mr. Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar, one of 
the Members of the Board of Direc-
tors, serves as both a member of 
the Early Identification of Risks and 
as the Chairman of the Audit Com-
mittee, since the chairmen of three 
committees which were established 
within the Board of Directors and the 
Members of the Audit Committee 
are required to be elected among the 
Independent Members of the Board 
of Directors.

Turkish Airlines, Inc.
Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman: Arzu Akalın
Members: Orhan Birdal, İsmail 
Gerçek, Kadir Çoşkun (Investor Rela-
tions Manager)

Corporate Governance Committee, 
reporting directly to the Board of 
Directors, supports and assists the 
Board of Directors by carrying out 
activities for compliance of the In-
corporation with the internationally 

recognised Corporate Governance 
Principles and determination of the 
Members of the Board of Direc-
tors and senior executives and for 
assessment of remuneration, reward 
and performance and career plan-
ning as well as for investor relations 
and public disclosures. Corporate 
Governance Committee reviews and 
assesses the systems and processes 
established or to be established by 
the with respect to the implemen-
tation of the managerial practices 
ensuring the increase of performance 
of the Incorporation and submits 
its opinions in this respect and also 
observes the activities of the Inves-
tor Relations Department. Corporate 
Governance Committee submitted 
one written report to the Board of 
Directors, in 2017.

Turkish Airlines, INC.
Audit Committee
Chairman: Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar
Member: Ogün Şanlıer

The Audit Committee, directly re-
porting to the Board of Directors, 
assists the Board of Directors by 
coordinating the activities to be 
carried out for ensuring the compli-
ance of the Incorporation practices 
with the national and international 
laws and regulations, improving 
the work processes through regular 
audits and ensuring transparency of 
information. The Audit Committee is 
responsible for taking all necessary 
measures to ensure conduct of any 
internal and independent audits in a 
proper and transparent manner and 
carrying out any duty assigned by 
the Capital Market Regulations. The 
members of the Audit Committee 
are elected among the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors 
and both members have five-year 
experience in audit/accounting and 
finance. The committee convenes 
quarterly, before the announcement 
of the quarterly financial results. In 
2017, the Audit Committee presented 
four written reports to the Board of 
Directors.
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Turkish Airlines Inc.
Early Identification of 
Risks Committee
Chairman: Ogün Şanlıer
Members: Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar

Early Identification of Risks Com-
mittee was formed and authorised 
by the Board of Directors in April 
2014. The Committee is made up of 
two members and the Chairman of 
the Committee is selected among 
the Independent Members of the 
Board.

Early Identification of Risks Commit-
tee;

a) carries out activities in relation 
to early identification of the risks 
threatening the existence, growth 
and continuity of the Incorpora-
tion as well as implementation 
of the relevant measures against 
any risks detected and manage-
ment of such risks.

b) reviews the risk management 
systems at least once a year.

The Committee documents and 
keeps records of all its activities and 
submits an assessment report on 
current developments along with 
its opinions and recommendations 
to the Board of Directors every two 
months. The Committee convened 
six times in 2017 and submitted risk 
assessment reports to the Board of 
Directors.

18. Risk Management and 
Internal Control Mechanism
Risk Management Mechanism
To be able to control the potential 
risks in the aviation sector, where 
competition is high, and to ensure 
sustainable growth, it is crucial for 
the Incorporation to have an effec-
tive risk management strategy. In 
order to ensure reasonable level of 
assurance against possible shocks by 
reducing fluctuations in fuel prices, 
interest rates, cash flow and foreign 
exchange rates and counterparty risk 
to minimum levels within the scope 

of our Incorporation; a Treasury 
and Risk Management Committee, 
chaired by Chief Financial Officer 
and composed of Senior Vice Presi-
dent (Finance), Senior Vice President 
(Accounting and Financial Control), 
Manager of Financial Risk Manage-
ment, Treasury Manager, General 
Finance Manager, Budget Manager, 
Financial Control Manager, Financial 
Analysis Manager and Investor Rela-
tions Manager – was established un-
der the coordination of the Financial 
Risk Management Department. The 
Committee sets the Financial Risk 
Management strategy of the Incor-
poration and carries out necessary 
activities in relation to management 
of any Financial Risks to which the 
Incorporation is or might be exposed.

In this context, the number of in-
struments used for years has been 
increased within the scope of the 
acquired market experience, which 
started as of June 2009, primarily for 
the hedging of fuel prices among the 
financial risks to which the Incor-
poration has been exposed and our 
hedging process continues in line 
with a constantly developing, dy-
namic strategy. Currently, Swap and 
option based structures are used to 
hedge fuel price risks.

In order to minimize the impact of 
exchange rate fluctuations, regarded 
as a major risk element in view of 
the Incorporation’s field of activity 
and to keep the risks that may arise 
from potential differences between 
forecasted and realized revenues and 
expenses under control, a proactive 
exchange rate policy is implement-
ed based primarily on natural risk 
management for exchange rates, by 
also taking into account the evalu-
ation of the available cash portfolio. 
In addition, a corporate strategy was 
launched in June 2013 in order to use 
derivative transactions to minimize 
any financial risks that may arise 
from potential negative fluctuations 
in foreign exchange rates. 

In this context, EUR, US Dollar and 
TRY currency positions anticipat-
ed for each month are established 
based on the Incorporation’s monthly 
updated forward-looking cash flow 
forecast, and accordingly, forward 
contracts are used with the aim 
of selling EUR at a fixed rate and 
buying USD and TRY within the 
next 24-month period for a portion 
of these currency positions. With 
the changes in early 2015, we have 
adopted a dynamic strategy involv-
ing option-based collars and forward 
contracts to manage USD/EUR open 
positions by selling EUR; and forward 
contracts are also used to hedge TRY 
open positions. On the other hand, 
in order to reduce the need for use of 
derivative products, USD is used as 
the pricing currency for international 
flights originated from domestic air-
ports as of May 2015 instead of EUR 
as a natural hedge against currency 
risk.

Financial risks arising from the 
changes in interest rates may have 
impacts on the Incorporation due to 
the nature of business and the indus-
try environment. In order to manage  
the interest rate risk, the Incorpora-
tion regularly monitors and analyzes 
interest rate markets, determines the 
structure of corporate indebtedness, 
conducts interest rate sensitivity and 
weighted average maturity analyses 
and keeps track of potential cost 
variations due to changes in interest 
rates. In order to manage the interest 
rate risk; derivative instruments such 
as interest rate swaps and options 
are used. 

Internal Control Mechanism:
Our Incorporation has an Inspection 
Board to inspect the Incorporation’s 
activities and efficiency of the cor-
porate governance, risk and con-
trol processes in a systematic and 
disciplined approach, to advise and 
provide assurance on the efficiency 
and effectiveness of such processes 
and submit opinions and recommen-
dations in this respect.

To that end, the Audit Board reports 
to and advises senior management 
to ensure;

 | the conduct of the Incorporation’s 
activities in accordance with the 
statutory and internal regulations 
of the Incorporation, agreements 
and defined strategies, policies 
and targets,

 | Good governance, effective man-
agement of internal control and 
risk processes,

 | Effective and efficient use of the 
resources of the Incorporation,

 | Provision of reliable, consistent 
and updated data,

 | Continuous improvement of the 
divisions and processes,

 | Improvement of the quality of the 
Incorporation’s services to ensure 
highest customer satisfaction 
level,

 | Effective communication of the 
information obtained during the 
audits to the relevant units of the 
organisation,

 | Ensuring coherence and coordina-
tion between the divisions,

 | Detection of any faults, frauds 
and misconducts which might 
lead to a loss of income and 
assets of the organisation and 
implementation of necessary 
actions,

and follows up whether the findings 
and recommendations in the report 
are fulfilled.

19. Strategic Targets of the 
Incorporation
An Operating Budget, covering 
the operational and financial plans 
regarding the next 1-year activity 
period and a Business Plan, covering 
the 10-year operational and financial 
plans, that give detailed information 
about the first five years, while giving 

macro information about the sec-
ond five years, are prepared within 
the participation of all units and 
discussed in detail, finalized and ap-
proved during the budget meetings 
in which the top management and 
the Board of Directors attends.

In addition, the Strategic Targets, 
which include the off-budget, long-
term targets of the Incorporation, 
such as the market share, customer 
satisfaction and brand equity as well 
as the annual Corporate Objectives, 
which will help to achieve these 
targets, are determined according to 
the Target management Procedure.

The responsible persons/managers 
are assigned to the relevant units 
in accordance with the General 
Instruction On Responsible Units 
Of Incorporation Objectives and 
target achievements are monitored 
regularly through the Corporate 
Performance Monitoring System 
and reported to the Board of Ob-
jectives’ Status that convene quar-
terly. Chaired by the CEO, this Board 
reviews the level of accomplishment 
of the targets, by taking the per-
formance of previous periods into 
account, as well, and therefore the 
deviations in the objectives, if any, 
are identified and necessary actions 
are taken.

The Board of Directors approves 
the strategic targets set by the 
managers of our Incorporation and 
continuously and effectively reviews 
the level of accomplishment in such 
targets as well as the activities and 
previous performance of the Incorpo-
ration.  In doing so, the Board always 
strives to ensure compliance with the 
international standards and takes 
immediate and proactive actions, 
where necessary.

In order to monitor the strategic 
targets and previous performance 
of the Incorporation, reports are 
submitted to the Board of Directors, 
including

i) A summary as regards the up-
to-date financial and operational 
status of the Incorporation and 
budget deviations, at every Board 
Meeting and,

ii) Informative presentations on the 
assessments of the performance 
of the Incorporation for the pre-
vious period, the rate of accom-
plishment of its annual corporate 
targets, the reasons for devia-
tions, if any, and cost analyses, 
following the announcement of 
quarterly financial results.

Necessary measures and actions are 
determined based on these assess-
ments and the budget and business 
plan are revised, if necessary.

20. Financial Rights
Any rights, benefits and remunera-
tion provided to the members of the 
Board and senior management of our 
Incorporation as well as the criteria 
used to determine such rights, are set 
out in our Corporate Remuneration 
Policy, which is published on the web-
site of the Investor Relations, as well.

The remuneration of the Members of 
the Board of Directors is discussed 
as a separate item on the agenda of 
the General Assembly Meeting. No 
payment plan based on dividends, 
stock options or the performance 
of the Incorporation is used for the 
remuneration of the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors. 
The Incorporation may not lend mon-
ey or extend credit to any member of 
the Board of Directors.

Net wage is paid to the members of 
the Executive Committee and the 
Board of Directors. Bonus payment 
is paid but honorarium is not given. 
Moreover, a gross bonus payment, 
equivalent of their net monthly 
wages, is made quarterly. In 2017, the 
sum of all financial benefits, includ-
ing remuneration and bonus paid to 
the members of the Board of Direc-
tors, CEO and Chief Officers, was TRY 
13,526,719.
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ASSESSMENT OF THE BOARD 
ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 
BOARD COMMITEES

ASSESSMENT OF THE BOARD ON 
2017 RESULTS

The Corporate Governance Commit-
tee, the Audit Committee and the 
Early Identification  of Risks Commit-
tee, which exist within the Board of 
Directors of the Incorporation, carry 
out activities within the framework 
of the relevant legislation and the 
duties and working principles  set 
forth by the Board of Directors. In 
2017, the specified committees con-
tinued to carry out their duties in the 
fields they were assigned and report-
ed to the  Board of Directors.

The duties of the Corporate Gov-
ernance Committee are set out in 
the Corporate Governance  Commu-
niqué No: II-17.1 of the Capital Mar-
kets Board.. In accordance with the 
said Communiqué, the Committee  
determines whether the Incorpo-
ration complies with the Corporate 
Governance Principles and , if not, 
to identify the reasons thereof and 
the conflicts of interest caused by 
such incompliance, to give advice 
to the Board of Directors on im-
proving the Corporate Governance 
Practices, and to oversee the ac-
tivities  carried out by the Investor 
Relations department. Besides, since 
no separate Nomination Committee 
and Remuneration Committee have 
been established within the Board of 
Directors , the Corporate Governance 
Committee fulfills the duties of these 
committees as well.

The year 2016 has been a challeng-
ing year for Turkish Airlines, during 
which it was affected by unfavoura-
ble events experienced in the world 
and in our region. However, Turkish 
Airlines, which left behind all these 
negativities and started the year 
2017 with hope, recorded a strong 
recovery in 2017 thanks to the finan-
cial discipline and dynamic demand 
management practices it has been 
implementing from the beginning 
of the year, and achieved a striking 
success with its growth and profit-
ability performances. The year 2017 
was an important year in which the 
Incorporation broke records in terms 
of both operational and financial 
performances.

 Turkish Airlines increased the 
number of passengers carried to 
68.6 million and Load Factor by 4.5 
percentage points, up to 79.1%, with 
the effect of the tourism sector, 
which started to revive in the second 
quarter of 2017 and continued its 
positive momentum until the end of 
the year. Turkish Airlines, which had 
posted many outstanding successes 
during the year, reached the highest 
December Load Factor with 79,7% 
in its history. It is beyond any doubt 
that Turkish Airlines' continuing its 
operations without any compromise 
from its unique service quality, that 
makes it first choice through the eyes 
of the passengers,  and by keeping 

The Corporate Governance Commit-
tee, which also fulfills the duties of 
the Nomination Committee, con-
vened in 2017 in order to nominate 
the candidates for independent 
board members and evaluated 
whether the said candidates meet 
the independence criteria stipulat-
ed  in the Corporate Governance 
Principles within the annex of the 
Corporate Governance Commu-
niqué of the Capital Markets Law. 
As a result of the evaluations and 
assessments made, The Committee 
informed the Board that the there 
is no obstacle to the independence 
of the candidates for independent 
board membership. Following the ap-
proval of the Capital Markets Board 
regarding the issue, the election of 
the candidates to Independent Board 
Members was submitted for approv-
al of and accepted by the General 
Assembly at the  Ordinary General 
Assembly dated  June 9, 2017.The Au-
dit Committee convened prior to the 
disclosure of the quarterly financial 
results and assured that the public-
ly disclosed consolidated financial 
results disclosed to the public are 
sufficiently transparent and com-
prehensible , and that all the nec-
essary precautions have been taken 
to conduct  independent external 
audits transparently and efficiently.  
The Committee has also supervised 
the operation and effectiveness of 
the  internal control and internal 

the passenger satisfaction always at 
the top level has made great contri-
bution to its success.

Turkish Airlines continued its auster-
ity measures, which it has initiated 
in 2016, in 2017 as well. Despite the 
increase in fuel costs especially in 
the second half of the year, as a 
result of the savings made in big cost 
items such as personnel, catering 
expenses, our Incorporation contin-
ued to maintain its low unit cost ad-
vantage globally in 2017.One of the 
most important contributors to the 
success achieved in 2017 is undoubt-
edly Turkish Cargo. Turkish Cargo, 
one of the fastest growing air cargo 
brands in the world,  managed to 
exceed1-million-ton limit in the cargo 
volume for the first time in its history. 
Turkish Cargo, forming a  wide corri-
dor from Asia to Africa and Europe 
to Latin America with the routes it 
has launched, is the second biggest 
cargo incorporation in Europe in the 
carried  cargo volume. Our goal for 
Turkish Cargo, which continues its 
operations based on its profitable 
growth strategy, is to become one of 
the top 5 air cargo companies in the 
world.As a result of our successful 
performance in accordance with the 
fast recovery within the year and 
the current expectations, the year 
2017 budget targets disclosed to the 
public were revised  in August 2017 
and submitted to the information of 

audit system of the Incorporation. 
The Audit Committee presented  
four written reports  to the Board of 
Directors in 2017.

The Early Detection of Risk Com-
mittee convened every two months 
in 2017 to identify risks in the areas 
in which the Incorporation operates 
and to review the risk management 
systems by informing the Board of 
Directors in writing. In addition to 
evaluations of the Incorporation's 
2017 budget, the Committee as-
sessed the impacts of the geopolit-
ical risks and the developments in 
the aviation and the tourism sectors 
on Turkish Airlines. Financial and 
operational results were reviewed 
within the framework of the sus-
tainability of the Incorporation's 
stable growth strategy. In live with 
that purpose, determinations and 
proposals regarding the cash projec-
tions and prepayment amounts are 
presented to the Board of Directors, 
by considering the financing need 
and debt services of the aircraft that 
are planned to be delivered between 
2018 and 2023.

As a result of the mentioned activ-
ities, the Committees fulfilled their 
fundamental tasks by paying utmost 
attention and contributed signifi-
cantly  to the activities of the Board 
of Directors,  ensuring that the Board 
can display an effective management.

the investors. . Our actual financial 
and operational results for the year 
2017 have even surpassed the revised 
expectations. 

As our country's National Flag Carrier  
sin 1933, we are focused on our 2023 
targets, while leaving behind the year 
2017, which is e completed with suc-
cesses. We are quite thrilled to  move 
to our new home in 2018 and there-
fore witness one of the most impor-
tant milestones of both our aviation 
industry and our Incorporation.. This 
investment which will become a key 
benchmark in bringing our 2023 vi-
sion into action will boost the global 
influence of civil aviation industry 
in Turkey and open the door for new 
capabilities and achievements.

Turkish Airlines, which has left behind 
one of the most successful years in 
its history in spite of the instability 
in our geography and intense global 
competition, continues to be one 
of the most preferred airlines to-
day with its wide flight network and 
high-quality service it provides to 
its customers, and takes firm steps 
towards its sustainable growth path.   
As one of the most valuable brands 
in Turkey, in accordance with its 2023 
vision, Turkish Airlines will continue 
its rise on this growth path and con-
tribute to Turkey’s growth. 
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LEGAL DISCLOSURES AND DOCUMENTS STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCY
I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of Directors of Turkish Airlines Inc. in accordance 
with the criteria stipulated by applicable regulations, the Articles of Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Principles, and accordingly that;

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any substantive duties and responsibili-
ties may be assumed, has been established between the Incorporation and any affiliates, who either hold the control of or have 
any significant influence on the management of the Incorporation, or any shareholders who hold the control of the manage-
ment of the Incorporation, or have a significant influence on the Incorporation, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the 
management of such shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up to the second 
degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 5% of the capital or the voting rights or the privileged 
shares of the Incorporation, either collectively or individually, or any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has 
not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting activities for the Incorporation (includ-
ing tax inspection, legal inspections and internal inspections); I have not been a shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), 
or any employee serving at any managerial positions whereby any substantial duties and responsibilities may be assumed, or 
a member of the board of directors, of any such incorporation, from which the Incorporation has procured any services or prod-
ucts or to which the Incorporation has sold any services or products to a material extent in accordance with the agreements 
executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly and duly fulfill my duties as an inde-
pendent member of the board of directors, and also that;

ç) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected as a member, excluding as a faculty 
member at a university to the extent that it is in compliance with the applicable regulations,

d) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 31/12/1960,

e) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and experience to positively contribute 
to the operations of the Incorporation, maintain my impartiality in any potential case of conflict of interest amongst the 
shareholders of the Incorporation, and to make decisions freely with due consideration of the rights and benefits of the 
stakeholders, and also that;

f) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Incorporation to such an extent that I would be able to fully perform and 
carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, and to follow up the functioning of the activities and operations of the 
Incorporation, and also that;

g) I have not held the office of a member of the board of directors at the board of directors of the Incorporation for a period 
longer than six years within the last decade, and also that;

ğ) I have not held office as an independent member of the board of directors of more than three of the companies which hold 
the control of management of the Incorporation or the shareholders who hold the control of management of the same, and at 
more than five of the listed companies in total; and also that;

h) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected as a member of the board of directors.

Respectfully,

Arzu AKALIN

The following information is also included in our Annual Report in addition to the issues stipulated 
in the other sections of the Corporate Governance Principles listed in the annex of the CMB Commu-
niqué On Corporate Governance (II-17.1):

Information on major legal actions/lawsuits filed against the Incorporation and their potential
consequences
None. 

Information on any amendments in the regulations that might have significant impacts on the
activities of the Incorporation
None. 

Conflicts of interest between the Incorporation and its service providers that provide investment
consulting and rating services, etc.; and actions taken by the Incorporation to avoid such conflicts
of interest.
None.
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I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of Directors of Turkish Airlines Inc. in accordance 
with the criteria stipulated in the applicable regulations, the Articles of Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Principles, and accordingly it was resolved that the exception specified under Article 6, paragraph 2 of the Commu-
nique on Corporate Governance be applied to me, as per the letter dated 21/05/2015, numbered 29833736-1181 of the Capital 
Markets Board. Therefore, being exempt from Article 4.3.6, subparagraph (g) of the said Communique, I hereby declare that:

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any substantive duties and responsibili-
ties may be assumed, has been established between the Incorporation and any affiliates, who either hold the control of or have 
any significant influence on the management of the Incorporation, or any shareholders who hold the control of the manage-
ment of the Incorporation, or have a significant influence on the Incorporation, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the 
management of such shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up to the second 
degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 5% of the capital or the voting rights or the privileged 
shares of the Incorporation, either collectively or individually, or any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has 
not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting activities for the Incorporation (includ-
ing tax inspection, legal inspections and internal inspections); I have not been a shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), 
or any employee serving at any managerial positions whereby any substantial duties and responsibilities may be assumed, or a 
member of the board of

directors, of any such incorporation, from which the Incorporation has procured any services or products or to which the Incor-
poration has sold any services or products to a material extent in accordance with the agreements executed for such purpose; 
and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly and duly fulfill my duties as an inde-
pendent member of the board of directors, and also that;

ç) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected as a member, excluding as a faculty 
member at a university to the extent that it is in compliance with the applicable regulations,

d) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 31/12/1960,

e) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and experience to positively contribute to 
the operations of the Incorporation, maintain my impartiality in any potential case of conflict of interest amongst the share-
holders of the Incorporation, and to make decisions freely with due consideration of the rights and benefits of the stakeholders, 
and also that;

f) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Incorporation to such an extent that I would be able to fully perform and 
carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, and to follow up the functioning of the activities and operations of the 
Incorporation, and also that;

ğ) I have not held office as an independent member of the board of directors of more than three of the companies which hold 
the control of management of the Incorporation or the shareholders who hold the control of management of the same, and at 
more than five of the listed companies in total; and also that;

h) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected as a member of the board of directors.

Respectfully,

Muzaffer AKPINAR

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCY

I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of Directors of Turkish Airlines Inc. in accordance 
with the criteria stipulated by applicable regulations, the Articles of Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Principles, and accordingly that;

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any substantive duties and responsibili-
ties may be assumed, has been established between the Incorporation and any affiliates, who either hold the control of or have 
any significant influence on the management of the Incorporation, or any shareholders who hold the control of the manage-
ment of the Incorporation, or have a significant influence on the Incorporation, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the 
management of such shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up to the second 
degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 5% of the capital or the voting rights or the privileged 
shares of the Incorporation, either collectively or individually, or any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has 
not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting activities for the Incorporation (includ-
ing tax inspection, legal inspections and internal inspections); I have not been a shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), 
or any employee serving at any managerial positions whereby any substantial duties and responsibilities may be assumed, or a 
member of the board of directors, of any such incorporation, from which the Incorporation has procured any services or prod-
ucts or to which the Incorporation has sold any services or products to a material extent in accordance with the agreements 
executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly and duly fulfill my duties as an inde-
pendent member of the board of directors, and also that;

ç) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected as a member, excluding as a faculty 
member at a university to the extent that it is in compliance with the applicable regulations,

d) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 31/12/1960,

e) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and experience to positively contribute to 
the operations of the Incorporation, maintain my impartiality in any potential case of conflict of interest amongst the share-
holders of the Incorporation, and to make decisions freely with due consideration of the rights and benefits of the stakeholders, 
and also that;

f) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Incorporation to such an extent that I would be able to fully perform and 
carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, and to follow up the functioning of the activities and operations of the 
Incorporation, and also that;

g) I have not held the office of a member of the board of directors at the board of directors of the Incorporation for a period 
longer than six years within the last decade, and also that;

ğ) I have not held office as an independent member of the board of directors of more than three of the companies which hold 
the control of management of the Incorporation or the shareholders who hold the control of management of the same, and at 
more than five of the listed companies in total; and also that;

h) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected as a member of the board of directors.

Respectfully,

OGÜN ŞANLIER
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REPORT ON AFFILIATES STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

Conclusion Section of the Report issued on Affiliates for the Accounting 
Period between 01.01.2017 – 31.12.2017

As per Article 10 of the Capital Market’s Board’s Communique No.II-17.1 on Cor-
porate Governance; The Board of Directors of the Incorporation issued a report 
on Related Party Transactions, due to the fact that the rate of the amount of 
common and continuous fuel supply /purchasing transactions executed be-
tween Turkish Airlines and THY Opet Havacılık Yakıtları A.Ş. in 2017, exceeded 
10%, compared to the cost of sales in 2017 financial statements disclosed to 
public;  and that it is also foreseen that transactions with similar features will 
continue in 2018, in accordance with the determined principles. These trans-
actions mentioned in the aforementioned report are considered to be made 
consistent with the transactions of previous years and at-arm's length when 
compared with market conditions.

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 9 OF THE II – 14.1. 
PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKETS COMMUNIQUE BY THE CAPITAL 
MARKETS BOARD

The consolidated financial statements and the board of directors’ annual report issued on December 
31, 2017 and approved by the Board’s resolution dated 05.03.2018, numbered 36 are provided at-
tached. Accordingly, we hereby declare that:

a) The financial statements and annual report were reviewed by us,

b) The financial statements and the annual report of the board of directors do not contain any 
misrepresentation on material issues or any material deficiency as of the date on which such 
representation is made, which might cause the report to be misleading, to the best of our knowl-
edge with respect to our duties and responsibilities;

c) The consolidated financial statements, drawn up in accordance with the financial reporting 
standards, that are currently in force, reflect the truth with respect to the assets and liabilities of 
the Incorporation as well as its financial state and profits and losses honestly and that the an-
nual report, together with consolidated statements, truthfully reflect the course of progress and 
performance of the business of the Incorporation as well as the financial state of the Incorpora-
tion, including significant risks and uncertainties encountered by the Incorporation, to the best 
of our knowledge with respect to our duties and responsibilities;

Sincerely,

TURKISH AIRLINES INC.

Dr. Zekeriya DEMİR
SVP, Accounting and 

Financial Control

Dr. Murat ŞEKER
Chief Financial Officer 

Bilal EKŞİ
Deputy Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı ("the Incorporation") and 
its subsidiaries (together "the Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 Decem-
ber 2017, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the acincorporationing consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the lnternational Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Turkey, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

The recognition of the revenue, passenger liability and the Frequent Flyer Program
Refer to the note respectively, 2.3.1; 2.3.1 and 2.3.21 for "Revenue", "Passenger Liability" and "Frequent Flyer Program" for 
the relevant accounting policies, discussions and assumptions of significant accounting estimates.

KPMG Bağımsız Denetim ve
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 
İş Kuleleri Kule 3 Kat: 2-9
Levent 34330 lstanbul
Tel +90 212 316 6000
Fax +90 212 316 6060
www.kpmg.com.tr

Key Audit Matter

The major part of the Group’s revenue consists of the 
passenger revenue. The passenger revenue is recognized 
when the transportation service is completed. Unused 
tickets are recognized as passenger flight liabilities.

The timing of revenue recognition for unused tickets re-
quires significant management judgement. Group makes 
estimated computations for unredeemed tickets using 
assumptions historical statistics and data. Total esti-
mated unredeemed tickets are recognized as passenger 
revenue in consolidated financial statements.

The determination of the amount of passenger revenue 
to be recognized for each flight includes complex internal 
information technology systems and involves the ex-
change of information and high volume of transactions.

Since timing of revenue recognition for unused tickets re-
quires significant management judgment and recognition 
of passenger revenue accurately through the complex 
internal information technology (IT) systems and involves 
the exchange of high volume of transactions, the pas-
senger revenue and the passenger flight liability have 
been determined as key audit matters.

The Group provides a frequent flyer program named 
"Miles and Smiles" in the form of free travel award to 
its members on accumulated mileage. Miles earned by 
flights are recognized as a separately identifiable compo-
nent of the sales transaction(s).

The amount as a liability is measured based on the fair 
value of the awarded miles. The fair value is measured on 
the basis of the value of the awards for which they could 
be redeemed.

Management uses estimates to determine the fair value 
of the awards for which the miles will be redeemed. 
These estimates are based on historical redemption 
patterns.

An estimate is made of the number of miles that will ex-
pire without use based on historical expiry patterns and 
the anticipated impact of changes to the programme.

Revenue is recognized when Miles and Smiles members 
fly, or when it is assessed that the miles awarded will 
expire without use.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures performed related to this matter are 
listed below:

For the revenue recognition of passenger revenue;

 | We have tested the effectiveness and appropriateness 
of IT systems and internal control that are designed to 
account passenger revenue. Additionally, we have test-
ed key manual controls to ensure of effectiveness and 
appropriateness of internal control. During these tests, 
our IT specialists were involved.

 | We have tested application controls of the systems 
configured systems to recognize passenger revenues.

 | The selected application controls tested included 
those relating to the completeness of transfers of data 
between systems, the existence of a ticket verifica-
tion and price specification regarding to each all flight 
throughout.

 | We have performed expectation analysis with external 
market data and traffic data tested by IT specialists.

For the revenue recognition of unused tickets; 

 | We have tested their sale date, recording area/peri-
od and validity by using sample size determinations. 
Moreover, we have tested consistency and mathemat-
ical accuracy of applied methods in order to determine 
price flight attributing to unused tickets with historical 
data and estimation.

 | We have evaluated the assumptions in the mathe-
matical models that are used in order to determine fair 
values of Miles and Smiles rewards.

 | We have verified the fair value measurement of usage 
and derived parameters and assumption concluded 
from that for purpose of evaluation appropriateness of 
Miles liability in computed mile programs as of balance 
sheet date.

 | We have also involved IT specialists. With IT specialist’s 
contribution, we have tested the internal controls, the 
effectiveness and the appropriateness of IT systems 
founded for accounting miles liabilities. Additionally, 
we have tested effectiveness and appropriateness of 
manual key internal controls.

 | We have aimed to test calculation of bonus (payoff) 
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The accounting of frequent flyer program has been 
identified as one of the key audit matter, as accounting 
policies and estimates to determination of the breakage 
amount to which unused tickets, are complex and include 
some judgments and estimates.

Key Audit Matter

The accounting of aircrafts has a material impact for the 
Group due to the value of aircrafts and their long useful 
lives.

Significant key assumptions and judgment are listed 
below:

 | ldentifying residual values and useful lives of aircrafts 
with respect to physical, economic and commercial 
environments.

 | Determining the components of aircrafts.

 | Reviewing of carrying values of aircraft allocated to 
different parts of the business that use the aircraft 
(cash generating units (CGUs)).

The Group has classified the cost of assets that are ac-
quired directly or through finance leases into the follow-
ing parts, by considering the renewal of significant parts 
of the aircrafts identified during the overhaul mainte-
nance and overhaul of aircraft fuselage and engine; 
a) fuselage, b) overhaul maintenance for the fuselage, 
c) engine and d) overhaul maintenance for the engines. 
Overhaul maintenance for the fuselage and overhaul en-
gine repair parts are depreciated over the shorter of the 
remaining period to the next maintenance or the remain-
ing period of the aircraft’s useful life.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures performed related to this matter 
are listed below:

 | We have compared the estimations of useful lives, 
residual values with the group’s future fleet plan, the 
purchasing transactions of the aircraft and contractu-
al rights.

 | We have compared the useful lives of the components 
of aircrafts with the sector benchmark

 | We have analyzed the Group’s depreciation policies, 
predictive useful lives, residual value of aircrafts and 
purchasing and disposal future, flight plan.

 | We have compared useful lives of aircraft components 
with average sector range.

 | We have recalculated the aircraft depreciation ex-
penses based on previously determined useful lives.

The Component Accounting of Aircrafts

Refer to the note 2.3.3 for the assumptions, accounting policies and considerations about the component accounting of 
aircrafts.

value by comparing statistical redemption model, his-
tory and observable market price. We tested  controls  
that  applied  in models. We have also tested the ac-
curacy of the miles amount that are going to lose its 
validity with respect to the historical experience and 
statistical mile-usage history.

 | Among the application controls that are identified to 
tests comprise the completeness of data transfer be-
tween systems, miles verifying to detect data errors 
and gained/used miles statements for each flight.

 | Key manual controls were also tested in order to en-
sure whether processing exceptions are in proper way.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in ac-
cordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opin-
ion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 | ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion . The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions. 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 | Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are ap-
propriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

 | Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and relat-
ed disclosures made by management.

 | Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. lf we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated finan-
cial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

 | Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 | Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direc-
tion, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Hatice Nesrin Tuncer
Partner
5 March 2018 İstanbul, 
Türkiye

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the (consolidated) financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

KPMG Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi

A member of KPMG lnternational Cooperative

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2017
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

The acincorporationing notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ASSETS     Notes    31 December 2017   31 December 2016

           

Current Assets         

Cash and Cash Equivalents   5     1,891     1,466 

Financial Investments   6     195     349 

Trade Receivables          

-Trade Receivables From Non-Related Parties   10     592     379 

Other Receivables          

-Other Receivables from Related Parties   9    -     3 

-Other Receivables from Non-Related Parties   12     319     843 

Derivative Financial Instruments   34     203     197 

Inventories   13     193     217 

Prepaid Expenses   14     119     98 

Current Income Tax Assets   32     32     23 

Other Current Assets   24     87     26 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS       3,631     3,601 

           

Non-Current Assets          

Financial Investments   6     51     47 

Other Receivables          

-Other Receivables from Non-Related Parties   12     619     516 

Investments Accounted by Using Equity Method   3     320     247 

Investment Property      -   1 

Property and Equipment   15     13,002     13,476 

Intangible Assets          

- Other Intangible Assets   16     66     73 

- Goodwill   17     12     12 

Prepaid Expenses   14     496     518 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS       14,566     14,890 
           

TOTAL ASSETS       18,197     18,491 
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

The acincorporationing notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

LIABILITIES     Notes    31 December 2017   31 December 2016
           
Current Liabilities          
Short Term Borrowings   7     744     1,357 
Short-Term Portion of Long-Term Borrowings   7 and 18     983     1,064 
Other Financial Liabilities   8     16     4 
Trade Payables          

-Trade Payables to Related Parties   9     168     129 
-Trade Payables to Non-Related Parties   10     687     487 

Payables Related to Employee Benefits   11     200     143 
Other Payables          

-Other Payables to Related Parties   9     7    - 
-Other Payables to Non-Related Parties   12     65     93 

Derivative Financial Instruments   34     128     146 
Deferred Income   14     1,016     796 
Current Tax Provision   32     12     2 
Short-Term Provisions          

-Provisions for Employee Benefits   20     41     44 
-Other Provisions   20     22     17 

Other Current Liabilities   24     208     215 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES       4,297     4,497 
           
Non- Current Liabilities          
Long-Term Borrowings   7 and 18     7,339     7,822 
Other Payables          

-Other Payables to Non-Related Parties   12     83     11 
Deferred Income   14     42     6 
Long-Term Provisions          

-Provisions for Employee Benefits   22     128     113 

Deferred Tax Liability   32     962     955 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES       8,554     8,907 
           
Equity          
Share Capital   25     1,597     1,597 
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified to  

  Profit or Loss
 

-Actuarial (Losses) on Retirement Pay Obligation   25   ( 15)   ( 11)
Items That Are or May Be Reclassified to  

  Profit or Loss
 

-Foreign Currency Translation Differences   25   ( 108)   ( 106)
-Fair Value Gains on Hedging Instruments  
 Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges

  25     61     20 

-Gains on Remeasuring Available for Sale  
 Financial Investments

  25     1    - 

Restricted Profit Reserves   25     36     36 
Previous Years Profit   25     3,551     3,628 
Net Profit / (Loss) for the Year       223   ( 77)
TOTAL EQUITY       5,346     5,087 
           
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         18,197     18,491 

The acincorporationing notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

PROFIT OR LOSS     Notes    31 December 2017   31 December 2016
Revenue   26     10,958     9,792 
Cost of Sales (-)   27   ( 8,762)   ( 8,656)
GROSS PROFIT         2,196     1,136 
General Administrative Expenses (-)   28   ( 275)   ( 315)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-)   28   ( 1,127)   ( 1,171)
Other Operating Income   29     264     145 
Other Operating Expenses (-)   29   ( 36)   ( 86)
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE  
  INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES         1,022   ( 291)

Income from Investment Activities   30     178     137 
Expenses from Investment Activities   30   ( 1)   ( 20)
Share of Investments’ Profit Accounted by  

  Using The Equity Method
  3     102     44 

OPERATING PROFIT / (LOSS)         1,301   ( 130)
Financial Income   31     56     300 
Financial Expenses (-)   31   ( 1,078)   ( 229)
PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAX         279   ( 59)
Tax Expense       ( 56)   ( 18)
Current Tax Expense   32   ( 49)   ( 23)
Deferred Tax (Expense) / Income   32   ( 7)     5 
NET PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR         223   ( 77)
             
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME            
Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To  Profit or Loss         40     325 
Currency Translation Adjustment       ( 2)   ( 22)
Gains on Remeasuring Available for Sale Financial Investments         1    - 
Fair Value Gains on Hedging Instruments  

  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges
        65     430 

Fair Value (Losses) / Gains Hedging Instruments of  

  Investment Accounted by Using the Equity Method  

  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges

      ( 12)     4 

Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income       ( 12)   ( 87)
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently To Profit or Loss       ( 4)   ( 3)
Actuarial Losses on Retirement Pay Obligation       ( 5)   ( 4)
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income         1     1 
             

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  FOR THE YEAR     36     322 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR     259     245 
             
Basic Gain / (Loss) Per Share (Full US Cents)   33     0.16   ( 0.06)
Diluted Gain / (Loss) Per Share (Full US Cents)   33     0.16   ( 0.06)
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The acincorporationing notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(*) USD 660 portion of property and equipment and intangible assets purchases in total of USD 1,508 for the year ended 31 December 2017 was financed 
through finance leases. (31 December 2016: USD 2,482 portion of property and equipment and intangible assets purchases in total of USD 3,360 was 
financed through finance leases.) 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

      Notes    31 December 2017   31 December 2016
Profit / (Loss) for the year       223   (77)
Adjustments to Reconcile Profit / (Loss)            
  Adjustments for Depreciation and Amortisation Expense   15 and 16   1,066   1,148
  Adjustments for Provisions  Related with Employee Benefits   20 and 22   21   28
  Adjustments for (Reversal of) Provisions for Payables   20   5   6
  Adjustments for Free Provisions for Probable Risks   35   (1)   5
  Adjustments for Interest Income   30 and 31   (113)   (89)
  Adjustments for Interest Expense   22 and 31   221   202
  Adjustments For Unrealised Foreign Exchange Losses / (Gains)       656   (385)
  Adjustments for Manufacturers’ Credits   14   3   3

 
Adjustments for Fair Value Losses / (Gains) on Derivative  
  Financial Instruments

  31   39   (89)

  Adjustments for Undistributed Profits of Associates   3   (102)   (44)
  Adjustments for Tax Income   32   56   18

 
Adjustments for (Gains) / Losses Arised From Sale of  
  Tangible Assets 

  30   (49)   16

 
Adjustments for Losses Arised from Sale of  
  Other Non-Current Assets 

  15   31   29

Operating Profit Before Changes in Working Capital         2,056     771 
  Increase in Trade Receivables from Non Related Parties   10 and 12   (212)   (22)

 
(Increase) / Decrease in Other Non-Related Party Receivables  
  Related with Operations

  12   (10)   358

  Adjustments for Decrease / (Increase) in Inventories   13   24   (1)
  Adjustments for Decrease / (Increase) in Prepaid Expenses   14   1   (127)
  Increase / (Decrease) in Trade Payables to Related Parties   9   39   (3)
  Increase / (Decrease) in Trade Payables to Non-Related Parties   10   200   (52)
  Adjustments for Increase in Payables Due to Employee Benefits   11   57   22
  Increase in Other Operating Payables to Non-Related Parties   10 and 12   48    5 
  Increase / (Decrease) in Deferred Income   14   249   (321)

  (Decrease) / Increase in Other Assets Related with Operations   24   (61)   10

  Cash Flows From Operations         2,391     640 
  Payments for Provisions  Related with Employee Benefits   22   (14)   (16)
  Income taxes paid   32   (9)   (11)
Net Cash From Operating Activities         2,368     613 
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES            
  Cash Receipts Proceed From Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment       941   122
  Cash Payments From Purchasing of Property, Plant and Equipment (*)   15 and 16   (848)   (878)
  Proceeds / (Payments) From Sales of Other Long-Term Assets   6   150   (333)
  Other Cash Advances and Loans   12   439   731
  Cash Outflow Arising From Capital Increse in Investments       -     (6)
  Dividends Received       21   23
  Interest Received   30 and 31   113   85
Net Cash Flows / (Used In) Investing Activities         816   ( 256)
CASH FLOWS FROM / (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES            
  Repayments / Proceeds From Loans   7   (761)   1,229
  Payments of Finance Lease Liabilities   7   ( 1,806)   (890)
  Interest Paid       ( 204)   (119)
  Other Inflows of Cash   8   12   (11)
Net Cash (Used in) / Flows Financing Activities       ( 2,759)     209 

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents         425     566 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR         1,466     900 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR   5     1,891     1,466 

1. Incorporation ORGANIZATION AND ITS OPERATIONS
Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı (the “Incorporation” or “THY”) was incorporated in Turkey in 1933. As of 31 December 
2017 and 2016, the shareholders and their respective shareholdings in the Incorporation are as follows:

    31 December 2017   31 December 2016

         

Turkey Wealth Fund (*)   %   49.12    -      

Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization  
  Administration (*)

 
 -      

  %   49.12

Other (publicly held)   %   50.88   %   50.88

Total   % 100.00   % 100.00

(*) 49.12% share of the Incorporation and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) owned by Republic of Turkey Prime Min-
istry Privatisation Administry has been transferred to Sovereign Wealth Fund of Turkey as of 3 February 2017. Sovereign 
Wealth Fund of Turkey, whose capital fully belongs to the Republic of Turkey, Prime Ministry Privatisation Administration, 
is a state owned entity being affiliated to the Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry. Aforementioned share transfer will not 
lead to any change on the current management structure, business strategy, policies and commercial decisions of the 
Group.

The number of employees working for the Group as of 31 December 2017 is 31,510 (31 December 2016: 30,541). The aver-
age number of employees working for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are 30,719 and 29,733 
respectively. The Incorporation is registered in İstanbul, Turkey and its head office address is as follows:

Türk Hava Yolları A.O. Genel Yönetim Binası, Yeşilköy Mahallesi, Havaalanı Caddesi No: 3/1 
34149 Yeşilköy İSTANBUL.

The Incorporation’s stocks have been traded on Borsa İstanbul (BIST) since 1990.

Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures
The table below sets out the consolidated subsidiaries of the Group as of 31 December 2017 and 2016: 

Ownership Rate Country of 
RegistrationName of the Incorporation Principal Activity 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

THY Teknik A.Ş. (THY Teknik)
Aircraft Maintenance 

Services
100% 100% Turkey

THY Uçuş Eğitim ve Havalimanı 
İşletme A.Ş.

Training & Airport 
Operations

100% 100% Turkey

THY Havaalanı Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. (*)

Airport Investment 100% - Turkey

(*) The association was established in November 2017 to operate in the fields of airport investment and management by 
the Board of Directors.

1. Incorporation ORGANIZATION AND ITS OPERATIONS (cont’d)

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures (cont’d)

The table below sets out joint ventures of the Incorporation as of 31 December 2017 and 2016:

Incorporation Name

Country of 
Registration and 

Operations
Ownership  

Share

Voting  
Power Principal Activity

Güneş Ekspres Havacılık A.Ş.  

(Sun Express)  
Turkey 50% 50%

Aircraft 

Transportation

THY DO&CO İkram Hizmetleri A.Ş. 

(Turkish DO&CO)
Turkey 50% 50%

Catering  

Services

P&W T.T. Uçak Bakım Merkezi Ltd. Şti. (TEC) Turkey 49% 49%
Maintenance 

Services

TGS Yer Hizmetleri A.Ş. (TGS) Turkey 50% 50% Ground Services

THY OPET Havacılık Yakıtları A.Ş.  (THY Opet) Turkey 50% 50%
Aviation Fuel 

Services

Goodrich Thy Teknik Servis Merkezi  

Ltd. Şti. (Goodrich) 
Turkey 40% 40%

Maintenance 

Services

Uçak Koltuk Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş  

(Uçak Koltuk)  
Turkey 50% 50%

Cabin Interior 

Products

TCI Kabin İçi Sistemleri San ve Tic. A.Ş.   (TCI) Turkey 50% 50%
Cabin Interior 

Products

Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. Turkey 30% 30%
VAT Return and 

Consultancy
The Group owns 49%, 40% and 30% equity shares of TEC, Goodrich and Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. respectively. However, 
based on the contractual arrangements between the Group and the other respective investors, decisions about the 
relevant activities of the arrangements require both the Group and the other respective investor agreement. Thus, the 
Group concluded that it has joint control over TEC, Goodrich and Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş..

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Presentation

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017 on 5 March 2018. General 
Assembly and the related regulatory bodies have the authority to modify the financial statements.

Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements, except for investment property and derivative financial instruments, have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in 
exchange for goods or services.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)

Adjustment of Financial Statements in Hyperinflationary Periods

As of 1 January 2005, “IAS 29: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” was no longer applied henceforward.

Functional and Reporting Currency 

Functional currency

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in US Dollars, which is the presentation currency of 
the Incorporation.

Although the currency of the country in which the Incorporation is domiciled is Turkish Lira (TL), the Incorporation’s 
functional currency is determined as US Dollar. US Dollar is used to a significant extent in, and has a significant impact 
on the operations of the Incorporation and reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances 
relevant to the Incorporation. Therefore, the Incorporation uses the US Dollar in measuring items in its financial state-
ments and as the reporting currency. All currencies other than the currency selected for measuring items in the consoli-
dated financial statements are treated as foreign currencies. Accordingly, transactions and balances not already meas-
ured in US Dollar have been premeasured in US Dollar in accordance with the relevant provisions of IAS 21 (the Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates).

Except where otherwise indicated, all values are rounded the nearest million (US Dollar 000,000).

Basis of Consolidation

a. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent incorporation, THY, its Subsidiaries and 
its Joint Ventures on the basis set out in sections (b) below. Financial statements of the subsidiaries and affiliates 
are adjusted where applicable in order to apply the same accounting policies. All transactions, balances, profit and 
loss within the Group are eliminated during consolidation.

b. The Group has nine joint ventures (Note: 1). These joint ventures are economical activities whereby decisions about 
strategic finance and operating policy are jointly made by the consensus of the Group and other investors. The affil-
iates are controlled by the Group jointly, and are accounted for by.using.the.equity.method. Under the equity meth-
od, joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted to recognize any distributions received impairments 
in the joint ventures and the Incorporation’s share of the profit or loss after the date of acquisition. Joint ventures’ 
losses that exceed the Group’s share are not recognized, unless the Incorporation has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations on behalf of the joint venture. 

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. Control occurs when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In 
assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)

Business Combinations (cont’d)

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)
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The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire; plus

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquire; 
less

• the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts generally are recognized in profit or loss. Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt 
or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

2.2 Changes and Errors in Accounting Estimates
The significant estimates and assumptions used in preparation of these consolidated financial statements as at and for 
the year ended 31 December 2017 except for described below are same with those used in the preparation of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Group has decided to change the useful lives of aircraft and engines and cargo aircraft and engines from 20 years to 25 
years. This change in estimation in useful lives was effective from 1 January 2017.

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.3.1 Revenue

Rendering of services:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received. Passenger fares and cargo rev-
enues are recorded as operating revenue when the transportation service is provided. Tickets sold but not yet used 
(unflown) are recorded as passenger flight liabilities. 

The Group develops estimates using historical statistics and data for unredeemed tickets. Total estimated unredeemed 
tickets are recognized as operating revenue. Agency commissions relating to the passenger revenue are recognized as 
expense when the transportation service is provided.

Aircraft maintenance and infrastructure support services are recognized on accrual basis at the fair value of the amount 
obtained or to be obtained based on the assumptions that delivery is realized, the income can be reliably determined 
and the inflow of the economic benefits related with the transaction to the Group is probable.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.1 Revenue (cont’d)

Dividend and interest income:

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

Interest income is accrued on a timely basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income generated from equity investments is recognized as shareholders gain the dividend rights.

2.3.2 Inventories
Inventories consist of non-repairable spare parts, consumables and supplies such as flight equipment and purchased 
merchandises. 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories is the sum of all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 

Average cost method is applied in the calculation of cost of inventories. Net realizable value represents the estimated 
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make a sale.

2.3.3 Property and Equipment
Tangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Assets under construction are carried at cost less any impairment loss, if any. Legal fees are also included in cost. 
Borrowing costs are capitalized for assets that need substantial time to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 
As the similar depreciation method used for other fixed assets, depreciation of such assets begins when they are 
available for use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under 
construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. Expected useful life, residual value and 
depreciation method are reviewed each year for the possible effects of changes in estimates, and they are recognized 
prospectively if there are any changes in estimates.

Assets acquired under finance lease are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets 
or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The Group has classified the cost of assets that are acquired directly or through finance leases into the following parts, 
by considering the renewal of significant parts of the aircrafts identified during the overhaul maintenance and overhaul 
of aircraft fuselage and engine; a) fuselage, b) overhaul maintenance for the fuselage, c) engine and d) overhaul 
maintenance for the engines. Overhaul maintenance for the fuselage and overhaul engine repair parts are depreciated 
over the shorter of the remaining period to the next maintenance or the remaining period of the aircraft’s useful life. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.3 Property and Equipment (cont’d)

They are capitalized subsequent to overhaul maintenance for the fuselage and engines and are depreciated over the 
shorter of the next maintenance period or the remaining period of the aircraft’s useful life.
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The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the differ-
ence between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

The useful lives and residual values used for property and equipment are as follows: 

 Useful Life (Years) Residual Value 
• Buildings 25 and 50 -
• Aircrafts and Engines 25 10%
• Cargo Aircraft and Engines 25 10%
• Overhaul Maintenance for Aircrafts’ Fuselage 6 -
• Overhaul Maintenance for Engines 3-8 -
• Overhaul Maintenance for Spare Engines 3-13 -
• Components 7 -
• Repairable Spare Parts 3 and 7 -
• Simulators 25 10%
• Machinery and Equipment 3-15 -
• Furniture and Fixtures 3-15 -
• Motor Vehicles 4-7 -
• Other Equipment 4-15 -
• Leasehold Improvements Lease period/5 years -

2.3.4 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, 
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability. 
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed.

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.4 Leases (cont’d)

Group management has recognized various sale and leaseback transactions for its aircraft and engines in accordance 
with IAS 17 “Leases”. If the leaseback is a finance lease, the transaction is a means whereby the lessor provides finance 
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to the lessee, with the asset as security. Sales proceeds over the carrying amount excess is deferred and amortized over 
the lease term.  If a sale and leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, and it is clear that the transaction 
is established at fair value, any profit or loss shall be recognized immediately. If the sale price is above fair value, the 
excess over fair value shall be deferred and amortized over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.

2.3.5 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include rights, information systems and software. Intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Rights and other intangible assets are depreciated over 
their useful life of 3 and 5 years, on a straight-line basis. Slot rights are assessed as intangible assets with indefinite 
useful life, as there are no time restrictions on them.

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill 
at initial recognition, refer to Note 2.1. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2.3.6 Impairment on Assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date and (for assets with indefinite useful 
lives, whenever there is an indication of impairment) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists then the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. An impairment loss is recognized if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of 
an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is the 
present value of estimated future cash flows resulting from continuing use of an asset and from disposal at the end of 
its useful life. Impairment losses are accounted in profit or loss.

An impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset is reversed if the subsequent increase in the asset’s 
recoverable amount is caused by a specific event since the last impairment loss was recognized. Such a reversal 
amount is recognized as income in the consolidated financial statements and cannot exceed the previously recognized 
impairment loss and shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization or 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

Group considers aircrafts, spare engines and simulators together (“Aircrafts”) as cash generating unit subject to 
impairment and impairment calculation was performed for Aircrafts collectively. In the examination of whether net book 
values of aircrafts, spare engines and simulators exceed their recoverable amounts, the higher value between value in 
use and sale expenses deducted net selling prices in US Dollars is used for determination of recoverable amounts. Net 
selling price for the aircrafts is determined according to second hand prices in international price guides. The differences 
between net book values of these assets and recoverable amounts are recognized as impairment gains or losses under 
income and expenses from investment activities.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.7 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are as-
sets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
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of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing 
costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.3.8 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when the Group is a legal party 
to these financial instruments.

(a) Financial assets

Financial investments are recognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are ini-
tially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognized financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Investments are recorded or deleted from records on the date of trading activity based on an agreement providing a 
requirement for investment instrument delivery in compliance with the duration determined by related market.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets as “at fair value through profit or 
loss”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and pur-
pose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where the Group acquires the finan-
cial asset principally for the purpose of selling in the near term, the financial asset is a part of an identified portfolio of 
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short term profit taking as 
well as derivatives that are not designated and effective hedging instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognized in 
profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets (cont’d)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or where appropriates a shorter period. 

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Trade, loan and other receivables are initially recorded at fair value less any transaction costs. At subsequent periods, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss are assessed for indicator of impairment at each 
balance sheet date. 

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the assets carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously recognized or written off are credited against the allowance account and are recognized in profit or loss.

With the exception of available for sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognized. In respect of available for sale equity securities, any increase in fair value subsequent 
to an impairment loss is recognized directly in equity.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets (cont’d)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with their maturities equal or less than three months from date of acquisition that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The carrying amount of these assets 
approximates their fair value.

(b) Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified in accordance with the contractual arrangements 
and recognition principles of a financial liability and equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. The significant accounting 
policies for financial liabilities and equity instruments are described below.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or loans, borrowings 
and payables.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value, and at each reporting period 
revalued at fair value as of balance sheet date. Changes in fair value are recognized in profit and loss.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognized on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized 
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 

The major source of interest rate risk is finance lease liabilities. The Group’s policy is to convert some financial liabilities 
with fixed interest rates into financial liabilities with floating interest rates, and some financial liabilities denominated in 
EUR into financial liabilities denominated in USD. The derivative financial instruments obtained for this purpose are not 
subject to hedge accounting and profit/loss arising from the changes in the fair values of those instruments is directly 
accounted in profit or loss. 

The Group converted some of the floating-rate loans into fixed-rate loans through derivative financial instruments. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
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2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial liabilities (cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont’d)

The Group applies hedge accounting since 2009 to these transactions, as they are designated to hedge against cash 
flow risks arising from fluctuations in interest rates. The Group also enters into derivative financial instruments to hedge 
against jet fuel price risks. The Group applies hedge accounting to these transactions, as they are designated to hedge 
against cash flow risks arising from fluctuations in jet fuel prices.

Use of derivative financial instruments is managed according to the Group policy approved by the Board of Directors 
and compliant with the risk management strategy.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer 
qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, for forecast transactions, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument recognized in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is 
no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity is transferred to profit or loss for the 
period. 

Derivative financial instruments are calculated according to the fair value at contract date and again are calculated in 
the following reporting period at fair value base. The effective portions of changes in the fair value of derivatives which 
are designated as cash flow hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of changes in 
the fair value of the derivatives is recognized in profit or loss.

2.3.9 Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction 
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing 
at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated the rates prevailing at the date when fair value determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Gains and losses arising on settlement and translation of foreign currency items are included in profit or loss.

The closing and average US Dollar-TL exchange rates as at 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

 Closing Rate Average Rate
Year ended 31 December 2017 3.7719 3.6445
Year ended 31 December 2016 3.5192 3.0181
Year ended 31 December 2015 2.9076 2.7191
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.9 Foreign Currency Transactions (cont’d)

The closing and average US Dollar - Euro exchange rates as at 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

 Closing Rate  Average Rate
Year ended 31 December 2017  1/ 1.1971 1/ 1.1294
Year ended 31 December 2016  1/ 1.0542  1/ 1.1059
Year ended 31 December 2015  1/ 1.0929 1/ 1.1102

2.3.10 Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding in the rele-
vant period. In Turkey, companies are allowed to increase their capital by distributing free shares to shareholders from 
accumulated profits. In calculation of earnings per share, such free shares are considered as issued shares. Therefore, 
weighted average number of shares in the calculation of earnings per share is found by applying distribution of free 
shares retrospectively.

2.3.11 Events After the Reporting Date
Events after the balance sheet date are those events, which occur between the balance sheet date and the date when 
the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue.

If adjustment is necessary for such events, the Group’s consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect such 
events.

2.3.12  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, Contingent Assets 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obliga-
tion.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount 
is the present value of those cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are 
expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reim-
bursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Onerous Contracts  
Present liabilities arising from onerous contracts are calculated and accounted for as provision. It is assumed that an 
onerous contract exists if Group has a contract which unavoidable costs to be incurred to settle obligations of the con-
tract exceed the expected economic benefits of the contract. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.13 Segmental Information

There are two main operating segments of the Group, air transportation and aircraft technical maintenance operations; 
these include information for determination of performance evaluation and allocation of resources by the management. 
The Incorporation management uses the operating profit calculated according to IFRS while evaluating the perfor-
mance of the segments.

2.3.14 Investment Property

Investment properties, which are properties, held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are measured initially at 
cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the 
balance sheet date. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the profit or loss in the 
year in which they arise. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on 
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

When an investment property is transferred from investment property measured at fair value (whether to own-use 
properties or to inventories), the transfer is accounted for at fair value. The fair value at the date of transfer is then 
deemed to be the property's cost for subsequent accounting under IAS 2 or IAS 16. Any difference between the carry-
ing amount of the property before transfer and its fair value on the date of transfer is recognized in profit or loss in the 
same way as any other change in the fair value of investment property.

2.3.15 Taxation and Deferred Tax 

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent incorporation and its subsidiary to file a consolidated tax return. There-
fore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in the acincorporationing consolidated financial statements, have been calculated 
on a separate-entity basis. 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expenses. 

Current tax 

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the state-
ment of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial state-
ments and the corresponding tax bases which is used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.15 Taxation and Deferred Tax (cont’d)

Deferred Tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are rec-
ognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and affiliates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the tem-
porary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively en-
acted by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items cred-
ited or debited directly to equity, where the tax is also recognized directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial 
accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in 
calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirer’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

2.3.16 Government Grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the condi-
tions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a 
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are 
intended to compensate. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.16 Government Grants (cont’d)

Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise 
acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period 
in which they become receivable.

2.3.17 Employee Benefits / Retirement Pay Provision

Under Turkish law and union agreements, lump sum payments are made to employees retiring or involuntarily leaving 
the Group. Such payments are considered as being part of defined retirement benefit plan as per International Account-
ing Standard 19 (revised) “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”). 

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses are accounted as other 
comprehensive income.

2.3.18 Share Capital and Dividends

Common shares are classified as equity. Dividends on common shares are recognized in equity in the period in which 
they are approved and declared.

2.3.19 Manufacturers’ Credits

Manufacturers' credits are received against acquisition or lease of aircraft and engines. The Group records these credits 
as a reduction to the cost of the owned and amortizes them over the related asset’s remaining economic life. Manufac-
turers’ credits related to operating leases are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized over the lease term.

2.3.20 Maintenance and Repair Cost

Regular maintenance and repair costs for owned and leased assets are charged to operating expense as incurred. 
Aircraft and engine overhaul maintenance checks for owned and finance leased aircrafts are capitalized and depreciat-
ed over the shorter of the remaining period to the following overhaul maintenance checks or the remaining useful life 
of the aircraft. For aircraft held under operating leases the Incorporation is contractually committed to either return 
the aircraft in a certain condition or to compensate the lessor upon return of the aircraft. The estimated airframes and 
engine maintenance costs are accrued and charges to profit or loss over the lease term, based on the present value of 
the estimated future cost of the major airframe overhaul, engine maintenance calculated by reference to hours or order 
operated during the year.

2.3.21 Frequent Flyer Program

The Group provides a frequent flyer program named “Miles and Smiles” in the form of free travel award to its members 
on accumulated mileage. Miles earned by flights are recognized as a separately identifiable component of the sales 
transaction(s). 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)



150 151 

KONSOLİDE FİNANSAL SONUÇLAR
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3.21  Frequent Flyer Program (cont’d)

The amount deferred as a liability is measured based on the fair value of the awarded miles. The fair value is measured 
on the basis of the value of the awards for which they could be redeemed. The amount deferred is recognized as revenue 
on redemption of the points including a portion of the points that the Group does not expect to be redeemed by the 
customers (“breakage”).

The Group also sells mileage credits to participating partners in “Miles and Smiles” program. Revenue is recognized 
when transportation is provided.

2.4 Important Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Key Accounting Judgements

Preparation of the financial statements requires the amounts of assets and liabilities being reported, explanations of 
contingent liabilities and assets and the uses of accounting estimates and assumptions which would affect revenue and 
expense accounts reported during the accounting period. Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future 
periods. Actual results could differ from those estimations.

Accounting estimates and assumptions which might cause material adjustments on the book values of assets and 
liabilities in future financial reporting period are given below:

The Determination of Impairment on Long Term Assets:

Basic assumptions and calculation methods of the Group relating to impairment on assets are explained in Note 2.3.6.

Calculation of the Liability for Frequent Flyer Program:

As explained in Note 2.3.21, Group has a FFP program called “Miles and Smiles” for its members. In the calculation of the 
liability historical statistics are used for miles earned from flights. 

Useful Lives and Salvage Values of Tangible Assets:

Group has allocated depreciation over tangible assets by taking into consideration the useful lives and salvage values 
explained in Note 2.3.3.

Deferred Tax: 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded using substantially enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary 
differences between book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. There are deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss 
carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences, all of which could reduce taxable income in the future in the 
Group. Based on available evidence, it is determined whether it is probable that all or a portion of the deferred tax 
assets will be realized.

Corporate Tax Law 32/A and the effects of Resolution issued on “Government Assistance for Investments” by the 

Council of Ministers:

An incentive standard that reconstitutes government assistance for investments initiated effective from 28 February 
2009 with the clause 32/A of the Corporate Tax Law by the 9th article of the 5838 numbered Law in order to support 
investments through taxes on income. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.4 Important Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Key Accounting Judgements (cont’d)

Corporate Tax Law 32/A and the effects of Resolution issued on “Government Assistance for Investments” by the 

Council of Ministers (cont’d):

The new investment system becomes effective upon the issuance of the Council of Ministers’ resolution “Government 
Assistance for Investments” No: 2009/15199 on 14 July 2009. Apart from the previous “investment incentive” 
application, which provides the deduction of certain portion of investment expenditures against corporate tax base, 
the new support system aims to provide incentive support to companies by deducting “contribution amount”, which 
is calculated by applying the “contribution rate” prescribed in the Council of Ministers’ resolution over the related 
investment expenditure, against the corporate tax imposed on the related investment to the extent the amount reaches 
to the corresponding “contribution amount”. 

The Group obtained an Incentive Certificate dated 28 December 2010 and numbered 99256 for the finance lease 
aircrafts that joined its fleet between 2010 and 2014 (except December) from the related authority. For the related 
aircraft investment, 20% contribution rate and 50% corporate tax discount rate apply. Additionally, for the aircrafts to 
be joined the fleet from December 2014, the Group obtained another Incentive Certificate dated 18 December 2014 and 
numbered 117132, of which the 15% contribution rate and 50% corporate tax discount rate apply.  

The contribution amount resulting from these investment certificates as of 31 December 2017 is 1,400 USD (31 
December 2016: 1,350 USD). Until the contribution amount is fully consumed by reduction from future corporate taxes, 
the corporate income attributable to related investments will be taxed by 10% rate instead of 20% rate, due to 50% 
corporate tax discount rate applicable. 

There is no clear guidance in regards to the accounting for government tax incentives on investments in IAS 12 
“Income Tax” and IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance”. Since the 
use of “contribution amount” depends on future earnings from the related investment over many years, the Group 
management considers that the accounting for the related investment contribution will be more appropriate if the grant 
is classified as profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful life of the related assets.

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are issued but not yet effective up to the date 
of issuance of the consolidated financial statements are as follows. The Group will make the necessary changes if 
not indicated otherwise, which will be affecting the consolidated financial statements and disclosures, after the new 
standards and interpretations become in effect.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and 
Measurement”. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition, classification, measurement and derecogniton of 
financial instruments from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The last version of IFRS 9 includes a new expected credit loss model for 
calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements and also includes guidance 
issued in previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018, with early adoption permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendment on financial 
position or performance of the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont’d)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The standard replaces existing IFRS guidance and introduces a new control-based revenue recognition model 
for contracts with customers. In the new standard, total consideration measured will be the amount to which the 
Incorporation expects to be entitled, rather than fair value and new guidance have been introduced on separating goods 
and services in a contract and recognizing revenue over time. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted under IFRS. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of 
the amendment on financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 16 Leases

On 13 January 2016, IASB issued the new leasing standard which will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining 
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases – Incentives, and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease and consequently changes to IAS 40 Investment Properties. IFRS 16 
eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases 
and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to 
current finance lease accounting. Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice. IFRS 16 is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted provided that an entity also adopts IFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendment on 
financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

On 8 December 2016, IASB issued IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration to clarify the 
accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The 
Interpretation covers foreign currency transactions when an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-monetary 
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration before the entity recognises the related asset, 
expense or income.  The date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining the exchange rate, is the date of initial 
recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income liability. If there are multiple payments or 
receipts in advance, a date of transaction is established for each payment or receipt. IFRIC 22 is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application is permitted. The Group is in the process 
of assessing the impact of the amendment on financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

IFRS 2 Share-Based Payment has been amended by IASB to improving consistency and resolve some long-standing 
ambiguities in share-based payment accounting. The amendments cover three accounting areas: i) measurement of 
cash-settled share-based payments, ii) classification of share-based payments settled net of tax withholdings; and iii) 
accounting for modification of a share-based payment from cash-settled to equity-settled. Also, same approach has 
been adopted for the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments as equity-settled share-based payments. If 
certain conditions are met, share-based payments settled net of tax withholdings are accounted for as equity-settled 
share-based payments. The amendments are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier 
application permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendment on financial position or 
performance of the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (cont’d)

IFRS 17 –Insurance Contracts 

On 18 May 2017, IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. This first truly international standard for insurance contracts 
will help investors and others better understand insurers’ risk exposure, profitability and financial position. IFRS 17 
replaces IFRS 4, which was brought in as an interim Standard in 2004. IFRS 4 has given companies dispensation to 
carry on accounting for insurance contracts using national accounting standards, resulting in a multitude of different 
approaches. As a consequence, it is difficult for investors to compare and contrast the financial performance of 
otherwise similar companies. IFRS 17 solves the comparison problems created by IFRS 4 by requiring all insurance 
contracts to be accounted for in a consistent manner, benefiting both investors and insurance companies. Insurance 
obligations will be accounted for using current values – instead of historical cost. The information will be updated 
regularly, providing more useful information to users of financial statements. IFRS 17 has an effective date of 1 January 
2021 but companies can apply it earlier. The Group is assessing the potential impact on its consolidated financial 
statements resulting from the application of IFRS 17.

IFRIC 23 –Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments

On 17 June 2017, IASB issued IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments to specify how to reflect uncertainty 
in accounting for income taxes. It may be unclear how tax law applies to a particular transaction or circumstance, or 
whether a taxation authority will accept a incorporation’s tax treatment. IAS 12 Income Taxes specifies how to account 
for current and deferred tax, but not how to reflect the effects of uncertainty. IFRIC 23 provides requirements that add 
to the requirements in IAS 12 by specifying how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes. The 
Interpretation is effective from 1 January 2019 with earlier application is permitted. The Group is assessing the potential 
impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of IFRIC 23.

IAS 40 – Transfers of Investment Property

Amendments to IAS 40 - Transfers of Investment Property issued by IASB have been made to clarify uncertainty about 
that provide evidence of transfer of /from investment property to other asset groups. A change in management’s 
intentions for the use of property does not provide evidence of a change in intended use. Therefore, when an entity 
decides to dispose of an investment property without development, it continues to treat the property as an investment 
property until it is derecognized (eliminated from the statement of financial position) and does not reclassify it as 
inventory. Similarly, if an entity begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as 
investment property, the property remains an investment property and is not reclassified as owner-occupied property 
during the redevelopment. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
with earlier application is permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendment on financial 
position or performance of the Group.

Improvements to IFRSs

The IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRSs - 2014–2016 Cycle. The amendments are effective as of 1 January 2018. 
Earlier application is permitted. The Group does not expect that these amendments will have significant impact on the 
consolidated financial position or performance of the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 

IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”
IFRS 1 is amended to clarify that the deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters within the context of 
‘Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle’ related to disclosures for financial instruments, employee benefits and 
consolidated financial statements.

IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”
The amendment enable when an investment in an associate or a joint venture is held by, or is held indirectly through, an 
entity that is a venture capital organization, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked 
insurance funds, the entity may elect to measure that investment at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with 
IFRS 9.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRSs - 2015–2017 Cycle. The amendments are effective as of 1 January 2019. 
Earlier application is permitted. The Group does not expect that application of these improvements to IFRSs will have 
significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 are amended to clarify how a incorporation accounts for increasing its interest in a joint opera-
tion that meets the definition of a business. If a party obtains control, then the transaction is a business combination 
achieved in stages and the acquiring party remeasures the previously held interest at fair value. If a party maintains (or 
obtains) joint control, then the previously held interest is not remeasured.  

IAS 12 Income Taxes
IAS 12 is amended to clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends (including payments on financial instruments 
classified as equity) are recognised consistently with the transactions that generated the distributable profits – i.e. in 
profit or loss, other comprehensive income (OCI) or equity.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 
IAS 23 is amended to clarify that the general borrowings pool used to calculate eligible borrowing costs excludes only 
borrowings that specifically finance qualifying assets that are still under development or construction. Borrowings 
that were intended to specifically finance qualifying assets that are now ready for their intended use or sale – or any 
non-qualifying assets – are included in that general pool.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle (cont’d)

Amendments to IAS 28- Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

On 12 October 2017, IASB has issued amendments to IAS 28 to clarify that entities also apply IFRS 9 to other financial 
instruments in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied. These include long-term interests 
that, in substance, form part of the entity’s net investment in an associate or joint venture. An entity applies IFRS 9 to 
such long-term interests before it applies related paragraphs of IAS 28. In applying IFRS 9, the entity does not take ac-
count of any adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests that arise from applying IAS 28. The amendments 
are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted. The Group is assessing 
the potential impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of the amendments to IAS 28.

Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment features with negative compensation 
On 12 October 2017, IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 9 to clarify that financial assets containing prepayment features 
with negative compensation can now be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) if they meet the other relevant requirements of IFRS 9. Under IFRS 9, a prepayment option in a financial asset 
meets this criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest, which 
may include ‘reasonable additional compensation’ for early termination of the contract. The amendments are effective 
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted. The Group is assessing the potential 
impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of the amendments to IFRS 9.

2.6 Determination of Fair Values
Various accounting policies and explanations of the Group necessitate to determinate the fair value of both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. If applicable, additional information about assumptions used for determination 
of fair value are presented in notes particular to assets and liabilities.

Evaluation methods in terms of levels are described as follows:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and obligations.

• Level 2: Variables obtained directly (via prices) or indirectly (by deriving from prices) which are observable for similar 
assets and liabilities other than quoted prices mentioned in Level 1. 

• Level 3: Variables, which are not related to observable market variable for assets and liabilities (unobservable 
variables).
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3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD
The joint ventures accounted for using the equity method are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Sun Express   105   77 
Turkish DO&CO   60   57 
TEC   56   43 
THY Opet   54   30 
TGS   36   31 
Uçak Koltuk   4   5 
TCI   3   3 
Goodrich   2   1 
Vergi İade Aracılık (*)   -   - 

320 247
 (*) The Group’s share in its shareholders’ equity is less than USD 1.

Financial information for Sun Express as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 1,439   972
Total liabilities 1,228   818
Shareholders’equity 210   154
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

105   77

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 1,288   1,085
Profit / (loss) for the year 55   (26)
Group’s share in joint venture’s 
   profit / (loss) for the year

28   (13)

Financial information for Turkish DO&CO as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 180 175
Total liabilities 60 62
Shareholders’equity 120 113
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

60 57

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 279   357
Profit for the year 24   32
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  profit for the year

12   16
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3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d)
Financial information for TEC as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 163 168
Total liabilities 49 79
Shareholders’equity 114 89
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

56 43

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 526 342
Profit for the year 25 34
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  profit for the year

12 17

Financial information for THY Opet as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 616 458
Total liabilities 509 399
Shareholders’equity 107 59
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

54 30

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 1,619   1,357
Profit for the year 78   39
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  profit for the year

39   19

Financial information for TGS as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 127 115
Total liabilities 54 53
Shareholders’equity 72 62
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

36   31

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 258 261
Profit for the year 23 12
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  profit for the year

12   6

3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d)
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Financial information for Uçak Koltuk as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 16 19
Total liabilities 8 9
Shareholders’equity 8 10
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

4   5

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 11   9
Loss for the year (2)   (2)
Group’s share in joint venture’s loss for the year (1)   (1)

Financial information for TCI as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 10 11
Total liabilities 4 4
Shareholders’equity 6 7
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

3   3

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016

Revenue 7 7
Profit / (loss) for the year 1 (2)
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  profit / (loss) for the year

-   (1)

Financial information for Goodrich as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total assets 7 5
Total liabilities 4 2
Shareholders’equity 4 3
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  shareholders’ equity

2   1

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Revenue 15 10
Profit for the year 1 1
Group’s share in joint venture’s  
  profit for the year

-   1

3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d)
Share of investments’ profit / (loss) accounted by using the equity method are as follows:
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    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Sun Express 28 (13)
Turkish DO&CO 12 16
TEC 12 17
THY Opet 39 19
TGS 12 6
Uçak Koltuk (1) (1)
TCI - (1)
Goodrich - 1

102 44

4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

Group management makes decisions regarding resource allocation to segments based upon the results and the activi-
ties of its air transport and aircraft technical maintenance services segments for the purpose of segments’ performance 
evaluation. The Group’s main activities can be summarized as follows:

Air Transport (“Aviation”)
The Group’s aviation activities consist of mainly domestic and international passenger and cargo air transportation.

Technical Maintenance Services (“Technical”)
The Group’s technical activities consist of mainly aircraft repair and maintenance services and providing technical and 
infrastructure support related to aviation sector. The detailed information about the sales revenue of the Group is given 
in Note 26.

4.1 Total Assets and Liabilities

Total Assets 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Aviation 18,085 18,335
Technical 1,256 1,258
Total 19,341 19,593
Less: Eliminations due to consolidation (1,144) (1,102)
Total assets in consolidated 
financial statements

18,197 18,491

     
Total Liabilitites 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Aviation 12,874 13,389
Technical 363 455
Total 13,237 13,844
Less: Eliminations due to consolidation (386) (440)
Total liabilitites in consolidated 
financial statements

12,851 13,404
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4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (cont’d)
4.2 Profit / (Loss) before Tax

Segment Results:

1 January - 31 December 2017 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Sales to External Customers 10.785 173 -    10.958    
Inter-Segment Sales 44 936 (980)  -      
Revenue 10.829 1.109 (980) 10.958
Cost of Sales (-) (8.897) (845) 980 (8.762)
Gross Profit 1.932 264 -   2.196
Administrative Expenses (-) (193) (89) 7 (275)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) (1.123) (5) 1 (1.127)
Other Operating Income 272 35 (43)  264    
Other Operating Expenses (-) (41) (30)  35    (36)
Operating Profit Before  
  Investment Activities

847 175 -   1.022

Income from Investment Activities 178 -   -    178    
Expenses from Investment Activities (1) -   -   (1)
Share of Investments’ Profit Accounted  
  by Using The Equity Method

90 12 -   102

Operating Profit 1.114 187 -   1.301
Financial Income 58 6 (8)  56    
Financial Expense (-) (1.075) (11)  8    (1.078)

Profit Before Tax 97 182 -   279

         

1 January - 31 December 2016 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Sales to External Customers 9.624 168  -       9.792    
Inter-Segment Sales 34 893 (927)  -      
Revenue 9.658 1.061 (927) 9.792
Cost of Sales (-) (8.814) (774) 932 (8.656)
Gross Profit 844 287  5    1.136
Administrative Expenses (-) (219) (101) 5 (315)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) (1.167) (4)  -      (1.171)
Other Operating Income 153 32 (40)  145    
Other Operating Expenses (-) (88) (28)  30    (86)
Operating (Loss) / Profit Before  
  Investment Activities

(477)  186     -      (291)

Income from Investment Activities 137  -       -       137    
Expenses from Investment Activities (20)  -       -      (20)
Share of Investments’ Profit Accounted  
  by Using The Equity Method

27  17     -      44

Operating (Loss) / Profit (333) 203  -      (130)
Financial Income 299  13    (12)  300    
Financial Expense (-) (227) (14) 12 (229)

(Loss) / Profit Before Tax (261) 202  -      (59)
4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (cont’d)
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4.3 Investment Operations

1 January - 31 December 2017 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total

Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets 1,366 142  -      1,508

Current period depreciation and amortization change              883 183  -      1,066

Investments accounted by using the equity method 261 59  -      320
         

1 January - 31 December 2016 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total

Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets 3,215 145  -      3,360

Current period depreciation and amortization change              1,030 118  -      1,148

Investments accounted by using the equity method 202 45  -      247

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Cash 2 2
Banks – Time deposits 1,768 1,357
Banks – Demand deposits 116 99
Other liquid assets 5 8

1,891 1,466

Details of the time deposits as of 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2017

153 TL 11.41% - 12.58% January 2018 41

141 USD 2.87% - 3.53% March 2018 142

1.322 EUR 1.60% - 2.34% March 2018 1,585

        1,768

Details of the time deposits as of 31 December 2016 are as follows:

         

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2016

1.284 TL 7.43% - 10.12% January 207 370

764 USD 1.85% - 3.16% March 2017 766

209 EUR 1.60% - 1.97% March 2017 221

      1,357

6. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
Short-term financial investments are as follows:
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31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Time deposits with maturity more than 3 months 195 349

Time deposit with maturity of more than 3 months as of 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2016

162 EUR 1.68% - 1.93% May 2018 195

Time deposit with maturity of more than 3 months as of 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2016

123 USD 3.03% - 3.12% May 2017 123

214 EUR 1.64% - 1.90% June 2017 226

349

Long-term financial investments are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Debt to securities
   - Available for sale     50 -
   - Held to maturity       - 46
Other 1 1

51 47

Group Management has changed its intention on debt securities, which were previously reported as held to maturity, 
and decided to reclass them as available for sale in the current period.

Details of available for sale as of 31 December 2017 is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Debt to securities / available for sale
   - Government bonds 17 -
   - Eurobonds 33 -

50 -

Period remaining to contractual maturity dates for financial investments available for sale as of 31 December 2017 is as 
follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Over 5 years 50 -
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6. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (cont’d)
Details of held to maturity as of 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2016

46 USD 4.75% - 8.50% June 2019 - March 2026 46

7. BORROWINGS
Short term borrowings are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Short term borrowings 744   1,357 

Short term borrowings as of 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2016

400 USD 1.64% - 2.30% October 2018 400

288 EUR 0.40% - 0.75% December 2018 344

744

Short term borrowings as of 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2016

250 USD 1.02% January 2017 250

1.050 EUR 0.50% - 0.75% October 2017 1.107

1,357
Short term portions of long term borrowings are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Finance lease obligations (Note: 18) 954 1,038
Bank borrowings 29 26

983 1,064

Long term borrowings are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Finance lease obligations (Note: 18) 7,259 7,726
Bank borrowings 80 96

7,339 7,822

Details of bank borrowings as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Less than 1 year  29    26
Between 1 – 5 years  80    96

109 122
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7. BORROWINGS (cont’d)
Bank borrowings has 5.5 year term such borrowings are denominated in EUR amounting to 115 million is bearing annual 
effective interest rate of Euribor + 2.45%. The Group assesses currency and interest risk in Note 35.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

   
2016  

Reimbursement of  
financial debt

  Non-cash  
Changes

  New financial  
debt 

 
2017

Lease Liabilities   8,764   (1,996)   785   660   8,213

Bank Borrowings   1,479   (2,950)   149     2,175   853

    10,243   (4,946)   934   2,835   9,066

8. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Short-term other financial liabilities of the Group are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Other financial liabilities 16 4

Other financial liabilities consist of overnight interest-free borrowings from banks obtained for settlement of monthly 
tax and social security premium payments.

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other short-term receivables from related parties are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Turkish DO&CO   -   3 

Other short-term payables from related parties are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
THY Opet (*)   7   - 
(*) The amounts are received on account to dividend accrual of 2017.

Short-term trade payables to related parties that are accounted by using the equity method are as follows: 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
THY Opet   77   43 
TEC   36   19 
Turkish DO&CO   28   33 
TGS   16   14 
Sun Express   8   19 
TCI   2   - 
Goodrich   1   1 

168 129
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
Transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

a) Sales to related parties:

1 January - 31 December 2017 1 January - 31 December 2016
Sun Express   24   31 
TEC   13   15 
TGS   6   6 
Turkish DO&CO   1   1 
Goodrich   -   1 

44 54

b)   Purchases from related parties:

1 January - 31 December 2017 1 January - 31 December 2016
THY Opet   1,388   1,154 
TEC   288   298 
TGS   241   245 
Turkish DO&CO   240   326 
Sun Express   158   218 
Goodrich   9   6 
Uçak Koltuk   2   4 
TCI   1   1 

2,327 2,252

Transactions between the Group and THY Opet are related to the supply of aircraft fuel; transactions between the Group 
and Turkish DO&CO are related to catering services; transactions between the Group and Sun Express are related to wet 
lease and seat sales operations; transactions between the Group and TGS are related to ground services and transactions 
between the Group and TEC are related to engine maintenance services. Receivables from related parties are not collat-
eralized and maturity of trade receivables is 30 days.

The total amount of salaries and other short term benefits provided for the Board Members, General Manager and  Dep-
uty General Managers are USD 4 (1 January-31 December 2016: USD 4).

10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Trade receivables from non-related parties as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Trade receivables 667 455
Allowance for doubtful receivables (75) (76)

592 379

Provision for doubtful receivables has been determined based on past experience for uncollectible receivables. Details 
for credit risk, foreign currency risk and impairment for trade receivables are explained in Note 35.
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10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (cont’d)
Trade payables to non-related parties as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Trade payables 686 486
Other trade payables   1 1

687 487

The Group assesses currency risk in Note 35.

11. PAYABLES RELATED TO EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Payables related to employee benefits as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Salary accruals 108 103
 Bonus accruals 52  -      
 Social security premiums payable 40   40 

200 143

12. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
Other short-term receivables from non-related parties as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Predelivery payments made for aircrafts 117 596
 Receivables from technical purchases 71 130
 Bank deposits with transfer limitations (*) 55 62
 Value added tax receivables 54 39
 Receivables from pilots for flight training 16 10
 Receivables from employees   1 1
 Other receivables 5 5

319 843

(*) As of 31 December 2017, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Morocco, Ethiopia, Bangladesh, Egypt, 
Algeria, Nigeria, Senegal, Niger, Mali, Republic of Cote D’ivoire, Burkina Faso, Eritrea, Mozambique,  Bolivarian Republic 
of Venezuela, Republic of Cameroon, Republic of Chad, Gabon and Benin. (As of 31 December 2016, the balance of this 
account includes bank deposits in Morocco, Ethiopia, Ghana, Bangladesh, Sudan, Egypt, Argentina, Algeria, Greece, Ni-
geria, Ukraine, Senegal, Niger, Mali, Republic of Cote D’ivoire, Burkina Faso, Eritrea, Mozambique and Benin.)
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12. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (cont’d)
Other long-term receivables from non-related parties as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Receivables related to investment certificates 256 211
 Predelivery payments made for aircrafts 247 207
 Receivables from pilots for flight training 101 67
 Deposits and guarentees given 9 15
 Bank deposits with transfer limitations (*) 6 5
 Interest and commodity swap agreement deposits  -      11

619 516
(*) As of 31 December 2017, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Syria.

Other short-term payables to non-related parties are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Taxes and funds payable 43 79
 Deposits and guarantees received 10 12
 Payables to lessors 10  -      
 Other liabilities 2 2

65 93

Other long-term payables to non-related parties are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
 Interest and commodity swap agreement deposits 38  -      
 Payables to lessors 30  -      
 Deposits and guarantees received 15 11

83 11

13. INVENTORIES

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Spare parts 145 176
Other inventories 73 60

218 236
Provision for impairment (-) (25) (19)

193 217

The change in the value of provision for impairment for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

1 January - 31 December 2017 1 January - 31 December 2016
Provision at the beginning of the year 19 17
Charges during the year 6 2
Provision at the end of the year 25 19
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14. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME
Short-term prepaid expenses are as follows: 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Advances given for purchases 25 27
Prepaid operating lease expenses 20 16
Prepaid sales commissions 13 12
Prepaid advertising expenses 13 12
Prepaid borrowings interest expenses 6   5 
Prepaid insurance expenses 7   5 
Other prepaid expenses 35 21

119 98

Long-term prepaid expenses are as follows: 

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Prepaid engine maintenance expenses 435 440
Prepaid aircraft financing expenses 47 59
Advances given for fixed asset purchases 8 11
Other prepaid expenses 6   8 

496 518

Deferred income is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Passenger flight liabilites 1,000 785
Other short-term deferred income 16 11

1,016 796

Passenger flight liability is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Flight liability generating from ticket sales 763 578
Flight liability generating from frequent flyer program 237 207

1,000 785

Other short-term deferred income is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Advances received 10 5
Deferred finance income 5 -
Unearned bank protocol revenue accruals 1 6

16 11
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14. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME (cont’d)
Long-term deferred income is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Deferred finance income 40 -
Gross manufacturer’s credits 31 31
Accumulated depreciation of manufacturer’s credit (29) (26)
Unearned bank protocol revenue accruals - 1

42 6
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 

 Slot Rights 
and Acquired 

Technical 
Licenses 

 Other  
Rights 

 Other 
Intangible 

Assets  Total  
Cost        
Opening balance at 1 January 2017 44 140 5 189
Additions   - 7   - 7
Transfers   - 1   - 1
Closing balance at 31 December 2017 44 148 5 197
         
Accumulated Amortization        
Opening balance at 1 January 2017   - 115 1 116
Amortization charge   - 15   - 15
Closing balance at 31 December 2017   - 130 1 131
Net book value at 31 December 2017 44 18 4 66
         
   Slot Rights 

and Acquired 
Technical 
Licenses 

 Other  
Rights 

 Other 
Intangible 

Assets  Total  
Cost        
Opening balance at 1 January 2016 44 137   5 186
Additions - 4   - 4
Disposals -   (2)   - (2)
Transfers - 1   - 1
Closing balance at 31 December 2016 44 140   5 189
         
Accumulated Amortization        
Opening balance at 1 January 2016   - 96   1   97 
Amortization charge   - 21   -   21 
Disposals   - (2)   -   (2)
Closing balance at 31 December 2016   - 115   1 116
Net book value at 31 December 2016 44 25   4 73

 

The Group considers slot rights and licenses obtained by purchase of MNG Teknik and included in other rights above 
amounting to USD 10 at cost as intangible assets having indefinite useful lives since they do not have expiry dates and 
usable in the foreseeable future.

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

17. GOODWILL
The goodwill amounting to 12 USD is recognized from the acquisition of MNG Teknik has been recognized in the consol-
idated financial statements. In 2015, an impairment test has been implemented by the Incorporation and no impairment 
has been noted on the net book value of goodwill.

18. LEASING TRANSACTIONS
Maturities of finance lease obligations are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Less than 1 year 1,105 1,189

Between 1 – 5 years 3,718 3,491

Over 5 years 4,189 4,969

  9,012 9,649

Less: Future interest expenses (799) (885)

Principal value of future rentals stated  
  in financial statements

   

8,213 8,764
     
     

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Interest Range:    

Floating rate obligations 4,979 4,942

Fixed rate obligations 3,234 3,822

  8,213 8,764

The Group acquired certain portion of its aircrafts and spare engines through finance leases. The lease terms are be-
tween 10 to 12 years. The Group has options to purchase related assets for an insignificant amount at the end of lease 
terms. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased asset.

As of 31 December 2017, the US Dollars, Euro, JPY and Swiss Franc denominated lease obligations’ weighted average 
interest rates are  2.77% ( 31 December 2016: 2.81%) for the fixed rate obligations and 1.48% (31 December 2016: 1.15% ) for 
the floating rate obligations.

19. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND INCENTIVES
Incentive certificates No: 28.12.2010 / 99256 and No: 18.12.2014 / 117132 were obtained from the related authority for 
investment of aircrafts. Due to these certificates, the Group will have advantages of reduction of corporate tax, customs 
duty exemption and support for insurance premium of employers. Please refer to Note: 2.3.16 for the accounting of cor-
porate tax effect of the investment certificates.

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
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174 175 

KONSOLİDE FİNANSAL SONUÇLAR
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

20. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Short-term provisions as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Short-term provision for employee benefits is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Provisions for unused vacation 41 44

Changes in the provisions for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are set out below:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Provisions at the beginning of the year 44 52
(Released) / Provisions for the current year (1) 3
Foreign currency translation differences (2)   (11)
Provisions at the end of the year 41 44

The Group recognizes an obligation for unused vacation days based on salaries of employees at the end of each report-
ing period.

Other short-term provision is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Provisions for legal claims 22 17

Changes in the provisions for legal claims for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are set out below:

1 January -  
31 December 2017

1 January -  
31 December 2016

Provisions at the beginning of the year 17 15
Provisions for the current year 7 9
Provisions released   (2)   (3)
Foreign currency translation differences -   (4)
Provisions at the end of the year 22 17

The Group recognizes provisions for lawsuits against itself due to its operations. The lawsuits against the Group are 
usually reemployment lawsuits by former employees or related to damaged luggage or cargo. The estimates have been 
made on the basis of the legal advices. It is expected that provision amount will be paid within one year.

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
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21. COMMITMENTS
a) Guarantees/Pledges/Mortgages (“GPM”) given by the Group: Amount of letters of guarantees given as of 31 Decem-

ber 2017 is USD 859 (31 December 2016: USD 1,040).

  31 December 2017   31 December 2016

 
Original 
currency 
amount  

USD 
equivalent

 
Original 
currency 
amount  

USD 
equivalent

A. Total amounts of GPM given on 
      the behalf of its own legal entity

  -   859     -   1,040

    -Collaterals              

           TL   34   9   27   8

           EUR   326   391   930   980

           USD   451   451   48   48

           Other   -   8     -   4

B. Total amounts of GPM given on the behalf 
of subsidiaries that are included in full 
consolidation

 -    -    -    - 

C. Total amounts of GPM given in order to 
guarantee third party debts for routine  
     trade operations

 -    -    -    - 

D. Total amounts of other GPM given  -    -    -    - 

     i. Total amount of GPM given on behalf of the 
Parent

 -    -    -    - 

     ii. Total amount of GPM given on behalf of 
other group companies not covered in B and C

 -    -    -    - 

     iii. Total amount of GPM given on behalf of 
third parties not covered in C

 -    -    -    - 

      859       1,040

The ratio of other GPM (“D”) given by the group to its equity is 0% as of 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 0%)

b) Operational lease obligations: The breakdown of operational lease obligations related to aircrafts is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Less than 1 year 359 327
Between 1 – 5 years 950 773
More than 5 years 757 178

2,066 1,278
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21. COMMITMENTS (cont’d)
c) Other operational lease debts :

The Group has operational lease agreements for 15 years related to the land for the aircraft maintenance hangar and 
building and another operational lease agreement for 23 years related to the land for the aircraft maintenance hangar. 
The liabilities of the Group related to these lease agreements are as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Less than 1 year 4 4
Between 1 – 5 years 20 20
More than 5 years 23 29

47 53

d) Aircraft purchase commitments:

To be delivered between the years 2013-2023, the Group signed a contract for 259 aircrafts with a list price value of 34.7 
billion US Dollars (full). 2 of these aircrafts were delivered in 2013, 10 were delivered in 2014, 33 were delivered in 2015, 43 
were delivered in 2016 and 4 were delivered in 2017. The Group has made an advance payment of 380 million US Dollars 
(full) relevant to these purchases as of 31 December 2017.

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Provisions for long-term retirement pay liability as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 is comprised of the following:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Provisions for retirement pay liability 128 113

Provisions for retirement pay liability are recorded as follows:

Under Labor Law effective in Turkey, it is an obligation to make legal retirement pay to employees whose employment 
is terminated in certain ways. Also, according to Article 60 of Social Security Law numbered 506 which was revised by 
the laws 2422, dated 6 March 1981 and numbered 4447, dated 25 August 1999, it is an obligation to make legal retire-
ment pay to those who entitled to receive retirement pay when leaving their work. Some transfer provisions related to 
employment conditions prior to retirement are removed from the Law by the revise made on 23 May 2002. Retirement 
pay liability assumptions and calculations are changed in line with the revise made on 8 May 2008, which altered age of 
retirement.

Retirement pay liability is subject to an upper limit of monthly US Dollar 1,326 (full) as of 31 December 2017. (31 Decem-
ber 2016: US Dollar 1,258 (full)). 

Retirement pay liability is not subject to any funding legally. Provisions for retirement pay liability are calculated by 
estimating the present value of probable liability that will arise due to retirement of employees.
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cont’d)
IAS 19 (“Employee Benefits”) stipulates the progress of incorporation’s liabilities by use of actuarial valuation methods 
under defined benefit plans. Actuarial assumptions used in calculation of total liabilities are described as follows:

The key assumption is that maximum liability amount increases in accordance with the inflation rate for every service 
year. Provisions in the acincorporationing consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017 are calculated by 
estimating present value of liabilities due to retirement of employees. Provisions in the relevant balance sheet dates are 
calculated with the assumptions of 7.00% annual inflation rate (31 December 2016: 7.00%) and 12.00% interest rate (31 
December 2016: 11.00%). Estimated amount of non-paid retirement pay retained in the Incorporation due to voluntary 
leaves is assumed as 2.64% (31 December 2016: 2.45%). Ceiling for retirement pay is revised semi-annually. Ceiling amount 
of US Dollar 1,326 (full) which is in effect since 1 January 2018 is used in the calculation of Group’s provision for retirement 
pay liability.

Movement in the provisions for retirement pay liability is as follows:

1 January -  
31 December 2017

1 January -  
31 December 2016

Provisions at the beginning of the year 113 119
Service charge for the year 22 25
Interest charges 12 4
Actuarial loss   5 4
Payments   (14)   (16)
Foreign currency translation difference   (10)   (23)
Provisions at the end of the year 128 113
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23. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses by nature for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016

Fuel expenses   2,866   2,673
Personnel expenses   1,761   1,865
Depreciation and amortisation expenses   1,066   1,148
Ground services expenses   656   645
Aircraft maintenance expenses   645   590
Passenger services and catering expenses   510   582
Air traffic control expenses   509   504
Airport expenses   469   448
Operating lease expenses   324   244
Commissions and incentives   318   321
Reservation systems expenses   232   219
Wet lease expenses   203   252
Advertisement and promotion expenses   165   214
Service expenses   71   75
Rents   68   67
Insurance expenses   51   50
IT & communication expenses   47   47
Taxes and duties   39   35
Transportation expenses   30   27
Consultancy expenses   14   13
Systems use and associateship expenses   9   8
Utility expenses   8   9
Membership fees   7   6
Other expenses   96   100

    10,164   10,142

24. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Other current assets as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017   31 December 2016

Deffered VAT 83 23
Personnel and business advances 4 3

87 26

Other short-term liabilities as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    31 December 2017   31 December 2016
Accruals for maintenance expenses of aircraft under 
operating lease   196 209

Accruals for other expenses 9 5
Other liabilities 3 1

208 215
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25. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The ownership structure of the Group’s share capital is as follows:

Class %   31 December 2017   % 31 December 2016
Turkey Wealth Fund (*) A 49.12   678   - -
Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry  
  Privatization Administration (*)

C -   -   49.12 678

Other (publicly held) A 50.88   702   50.88 702
Paid-in capital (Turkish Lira)       1,380     1,380
Inflation adjustment on share capital  
  (Turkish Lira) (**)

     
1,124

   
1,124

Historic capital (Turkish Lira) (***)       2,504     2,504
               
Historic capital (USD Equivalent) (***)       1,597     1,597

(*) 1,644 (full) shares belonging to various private shareholders were not taken into consideration when the Group was 
included to the privatization program in 1984. Subsequently, these shares were registered on behalf of Privatization 
Administration according to Articles of Association of the Group, approved by the decision of the Turkish Republic High 
Planning Board on 30 October 1990.

49.12% share of the Group owned by Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization Administry has been transferred to 
Sovereign Wealth Fund of Turkey as of 3 February 2017. Sovereign Wealth Fund of Turkey, whose capital fully belongs 
to the Republic of Turkey, Prime Ministry Privatisation Administration, is a state owned entity being affiliated to the Re-
public of Turkey Prime Ministry. Aforementioned share transfer will not lead to any change on the current management 
structure, business strategy, policies and commercial decisions of the Group.

(**) Inflation adjustment on share capital represents indexation of historical capital payments based on inflation indices 
until 31 December 2004.

(***) Historic capital amounts are represented in Millions of Turkish Lira.

As of 31 December 2017, the Group’s issued and paid-in share capital consists of 137,999,999,999 Class A shares and 1 
Class C share, all with a par value of Kr 1 each. These shares are registered. The Class C share belongs to the Republic of 
Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization Administration and has the following privileges:

Articles of Association 7: Positive vote of the board member representing class C share with Board’s approval is neces-
sary for transfer of shares issued to the name.

Articles of Association 10: The Board of Directors consists of nine members of which one member has to be nominated 
by the class C shareholder  and the rest eight members has to be elected by class A shareholders.

Articles of Association 14: The following decisions of the Board are subject to the positive vote of the class C Sharehold-
er:

a) Decisions that will negatively affect the Incorporation’s mission Defined in Article 3.1. of the Articles of Association,

b) Suggesting change in the Articles of Association at General Assembly,
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25. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (cont’d)
Articles of Association 14: The following decisions of the Board are subject to the positive vote of the class C Sharehold-
er (cont’d):

c) Increasing share capital,

d) Approval of transfer of the shares issued to the name and their registration to the “Share Registry”,

e) Every decision or action which directly or indirectly put the Incorporation under commitment over 5% of its total 
assets of the latest annual financial statements prepared for Capital Market Board. (This sentence will expire when 
the Incorporation’s shares held by Turkish State decrease under 20%.)

f) Decisions relating to merges and liquidation,

g) Decisions cancelling flight routes or significantly decreasing frequency of flight routes, not including the ones that 
cannot even recover their operational expenses, subject to the market conditions.

Restricted Profit Reserves
Turkish Commercial Code (TCC) stipulates that the general legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the 
rate of 5% per annum, until the total reserve reaches 20% of the incorporation’s paid-in share capital. Additionally, not 
limited with 20% of paid-in share capital, the general legal reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum of all 
cash dividends in excess of 5% of the paid-in share capital. Under TCC, the legal reserves can only be used to offset 
losses, to sustain business when conditions get worse, to prevent unemployment and are not available for any other 
usage unless they exceed 50% of paid-in share capital.

Foreign Currency Translation Differences
Currency translation differences under equity arise from Group’s joint ventures accounted under equity method which 
have functional currencies other than USD.

Distribution of Dividends
Listed companies distribute dividend in accordance with the Communiqué No. II-19.1 issued by the CMB which is effec-
tive from 1 February 2014.

Companies distribute dividends in accordance with their dividend payment policies settled and dividend payment deci-
sion taken in general assembly in accordance with relevant legislations. The communiqué does not constitute a mini-
mum dividend rate. Companies distribute dividend in accordance with their dividend policy or articles of associations. In 
addition, dividend can be distributed by fixed or variable installments and advance dividend can be paid in accordance 
with profit on financial statements of the incorporation.

Actuarial Differences on Defined Benefit Plans
As a result of the adoption of IAS 19 (2011), all actuarial differences are recognized immediately in other comprehensive 
income.
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25. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (cont’d)

Gains/Losses from Cash Flow Hedges
Hedge gain/losses against cash flow risk arise from the accounting of the changes in the fair values of effective deriva-
tive financial instruments designated against financial risks of future cash flows under equity. Total of deferred gain/loss 
arising from hedging against financial risk are accounted in profit or loss when the hedged item impacts profit or loss.

26. REVENUE
Breakdown of gross profit is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016
Passenger revenue        

Scheduled   9,330   8,541

Unscheduled   73   49

Total passenger revenue   9,403   8,590

Cargo revenue        

Carried by passenger aircraft   722   600

Carried by cargo aircraft   595   396

Total cargo revenue   1,317   996

Total passenger and cargo revenue   10,720   9,586

Technical revenue   173   168

Other revenue   65   38

Net sales   10,958   9,792

Cost of sales (-)   (8,762)   (8,656)

Gross profit   2,196   1,136

Breakdown of total passenger and cargo revenue by geography is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016
- Europe   3,113   2,791

- Far East   2,581   2,148

- Middle East   1,270   1,154

- America   1,429   1,297

- Africa   997   914

Total international flights   9,390   8,304

Domestic flights   1,330   1,282

Total passenger and cargo revenue   10,720   9,586
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27. COST OF SALES

Breakdown of the cost of sales is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016

Fuel expenses 2,866   2,673 
Personnel expenses 1,369   1,442 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 1,009   1,081 
Ground services expenses 656   645 
Aircraft maintenance expenses 645   590 
Passenger services and catering expenses 510   582 
Air traffic control expenses 509   504 
Airport expenses 469   448 
Operating lease expenses 324   244 
Wet lease expenses 203   252 
Insurance expenses 49   48 
Rents 34   35 
Transportation expenses 30   27 
Service expenses 29   33 
Taxes and duties 14   13 
IT & communication expenses 6   2 
Utility expenses 4   4 
Other expenses 36   33 

8,762 8,656

28. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING AND SALES EXPENSES

Breakdown of general administrative expenses is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016

Personnel expenses 112 142
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 51 61
IT & communication expenses 34 36
Service expenses 31 30
Rents 13 12
Systems use and associateship expenses 9 8
Consultancy expenses 6 4
Utility expenses 4 5
Taxes and duties 2 2 
Insurance expenses 2 2 
Other general administrative expenses 11 13

275 315
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28. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING AND SALES EXPENSES (cont’d)

Breakdown of marketing and sales expenses is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016
Commissions and incentives 318 321
Personnel expenses 280 281
Reservation systems expenses 232 219
Advertisement and promotion expenses 165 214
Taxes and duties 23 20
Rents 21 20
Service expenses 11 12
Consultancy expenses 8 9
Membership fees 7 6
IT & communication expenses 7 9
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 6 6
Other marketing and sales expenses 49 54

1,127 1,171

29. OTHER OPERATING INCOME / EXPENSES

Breakdown of other operating income is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016
Foreign exchange gains from operational activities, net   119   - 
Insurance, indemnities, penalties income   46   29 
Manufacturers' credits   46   76 
Provisions released   17   12 
Turnover premium from suppliers   11   6 
Rent income   8   3 
Non- interest income from banks   8   8 
Delay interest income   2   - 
Rediscount interest income   1   1 
Other operating income   6   10 

  264   145 

Breakdown of other operating expenses is as follows:

   
1 January -  

31 December 2017  
1 January -  

31 December 2016

Provisions   21   23 
Indemnity and penalty expenses   2   5 
Foreign exchange losses from operational activities, net   -   42 
Other operating expenses   13   16 

  36   86 
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30. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Breakdown of income from investment activities is as follows:

  1 January - 31 December 2017  1 January - 31 December 2017

Interest income from financial investment   65   53

Income from investment incentives 62   80

Gain on sale of fixed assets   50   4

Gain on sale of financial investments   1   -

    178   137

Breakdown of expense from investment activities is as follows:

    1 January - 31 December 2016 1 January - 31 December 2016

Loss on sale of fixed assets   1   20

31. FINANCIAL INCOME/ EXPENSES

Breakdown of financial income is as follows:

  1 January - 31 December 2017 1 January - 31 December 2016

Interest income 48 32

Fair value gains on derivative financial 
  instruments, net

- 89

Foreign exchange gains from financial activities, net - 175

Rediscount interest income from  
  repayments of aircrafts 

- 4

Other financial incomes 8 -

  56 300

Breakdown of financial expenses is as follows:

    1 January - 31 December 2017 1 January - 31 December 2017

Foreign exchange losses on financial activities, net   780   -

Finance lease interest expenses   209   198

Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments, net   39   -

Aircraft financing expenses   29   21

Interest expenses on employee benefits   12   4

Other financial expenses   9   6

    1.078   229
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32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Breakdown of assets related to current tax is as follows:

    31 December 2017   31 December 2016

Prepaid taxes   32   23
Tax liability is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Provisions for corporate tax   49   23 

Prepaid taxes and funds   (37) (21)

Corporate tax liability   12   2 

Tax expense is as follows:

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016

Current year tax expense 49 23

Deferred tax expense / (income)  7 (5)

Tax expense   56   18

Tax effect related to other comprehensive income is as follows:

  1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016

 
Amount 

before tax  Tax expense  
Amount 
after tax  

Amount 
before tax  Tax expense  

Amount 
after tax

Changes in foreign currency 
translation difference ( 2)     -   ( 2)   ( 22)     -   ( 22)

Change in cash flow hedge reserve   53   ( 12)     41     434   ( 87)     347 

Gains on Remeasuring Available 
for Sale Financial Investments   1    -   1    -   -   - 

Change in actuarial losses from 
retirement pay obligation ( 5)     1   ( 4)   ( 4)     1   ( 3)

Other comprehensive income 47 (11) 36 408 (86) 322

There is no taxation effect for the changes in foreign currency translation difference that is included in other 
comprehensive income.
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32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

Corporate Tax 

The effective tax rate is 20%. In accordance with the regulation numbered 7061, published in Official Gazette on 5 De-
cember 2017,"Legislation on Amendment of Certain Tax Legislation and Other Certain Legislation”, corporate tax rate 
for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020 has increased from 20% to 22%. Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 31 
December 2017 are calculated with 22% tax rate for the temporary differences which will be realized in 2018, 2019 and 
2020, and with 20% tax for those which will be realized after 2021 and onwards.

In Turkey, advance tax returns are filed on a quarterly basis. Advance corporate tax rate is also 20%. Losses can be 
carried forward for offset against future taxable income for 5 years. However, losses cannot be carried back for offset 
against profits from previous periods.

According to the Corporate Tax Law, 75% of the capital gains arising from the sale of immoveable properties and invest-
ments owned for at least two years are exempted from corporate tax on the condition that such gains are reflected in 
the equity until the end of the fifth year following the sale. The remaining 25% of such capital gains are subject to cor-
porate tax. However, according to the amendments by Law numbered 7061, this rate is reduced from 75% to 50% with 
regard to immovable properties and tax declarations starting from 2018 will be calculated using 50% for immovable 
properties.

Furthermore, there is no procedure for a final and definitive agreement on tax assessments. Companies file their corpo-
rate tax returns between 1-25 April following the close of the accounting year. Tax authorities may, however, examine 
such returns and the underlying accounting records and may revise assessments within five years.

Income Withholding Tax
In addition to corporate taxes, companies should also calculate income withholding taxes and funds surcharge on any 
dividends distributed, except for dividend receiving companies who are Turkish residents and Turkish branches of foreign 
companies. Income withholding tax rate is 15%. Undistributed dividends incorporated in share capital are not subject to 
income withholding tax.

Deferred Tax 
The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between its financial 
statements as reported for IFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. These differences usually result 
in the recognition of revenue and expenses in different reporting periods for IFRS and tax purposes and they are given 
below. 

For calculation of deferred tax asset and liabilities, the corporate tax rate of 20% is used.

In Turkey, the companies cannot declare a consolidated tax return; therefore, subsidiaries that have deferred tax assets 
position were not netted off against subsidiaries that have deferred tax liabilities position and they are disclosed sepa-
rately.

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)
Breakdown of the deferred tax assets / (liabilities) is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Fixed assets (1,539) (1,423)
Adjustments for passenger flight liabilities (126) (88)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (17) (10)
Tax loss carried forward 537 409
Income and expense for future years 74 48
Accruals for expenses 48 42
Miles accruals 35 36
Provisions for employee benefits 24 20
Provisions for unused vacation 1 1
Other 1 10
Deferred tax liabilities (962) (955)

The changes of deferred tax liability for the year ended 1 January – 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

1 January -  
31 December 2017

1 January -  
31 December 2016

Opening balance at 1 January 955 887
Deferred tax expense / (income) 7 (5)
Tax (income) / expense from hedging reserves 12 87
Tax (income) / expense of actuarial losses on  
  retirement pay obligation   (1)   (1)
Foreign currency translation difference (11) (13)
Deferred tax liability at the end of the year 962 955

The redemption schedule of carry forward tax losses, which are considered in deferred tax calculation, is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Expired as of 2018 81   87
Expired as of 2019  -       -      
Expired as of 2020 105   112
Expired as of 2021 1,709   1,845
Expired as of 2022 789    -      

2,684 2,044

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)



188 189 

KONSOLİDE FİNANSAL SONUÇLAR
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)
Reconciliation with current tax charge for year ended 1 January – 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Reconciliation of effective tax charge
1 January -  

31 December 2017
1 January -  

31 December 2016

Profit / (Loss) from operations  
  before tax

279 (59)

Domestic income / (expense)  
  tax rate of 20%

(20)% (56) (20)% 12

Taxation effects on:

-expense from investment  
  certificates

4% 12 (27)% 16

- non-deductible expenses  -       -      2% (1)

- foreign currency translation 
  difference

(12)% (33) 93% (55)

- investments accounted by using 
   the equity method

7% 20 (15)% 9

- adjustment for prior year loss (1)% (2) (2)% 1

 -effect of the change in the  
  deferred tax rate

1%   3  -       -      

Tax charge in statement of loss (56) (18)

33. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
is determined by dividing the net income by the weighted number of shares that have been outstanding during the peri-
od concerned. 

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus interest”) to 
existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus shares 
are regarded as issued shares. Accordingly, the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the years has 
been adjusted in respect of bonus shares issued without a corresponding change in resources, by giving them retroac-
tive effect for the period in which they were issued and for each earlier year. 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding in the rele-
vant period.
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33. EARNINGS PER SHARE (cont’d)

Number of total shares and calculation of earnings per share at 1 January – 31 December 2017 and 2016:

 
1 January -  

31 December 2017
1 January - 

31 December 2016

Number of shares outstanding at 1 January  
  (in full) 138,000,000,000 138,000,000,000

New bonus shares issued (in full) - -

Number of shares outstanding at 31 December  
  (in full) 138,000,000,000 138,000,000,000

Weighted average number of shares outstanding  
  during the year (in full) 138,000,000,000 138,000,000,000

Net profit / (loss) for the year 223 (77)

Basic gain / (loss) per share (Full US Cents) (*) 0.16 ( 0.06)

Diluted gain / (loss) per share (Full US Cents) (*) 0.16 ( 0.06)

(*) Basic and diluted (losses) per share are the same as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Breakdown of derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Derivative financial assets 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Derivative instruments for fuel prices cash flow hedge 184 154

Cross currency rate swap agreements 15 38

Derivative instruments for interest rate cash flow hedge 4 5

    203   197

         

Derivative financial liabilities   31 December 2017   31 December 2016

Cross currency rate swap agreements 78 49

Derivative instruments for interest rate cash flow hedge 46 73

Derivative instruments for fuel prices cash flow hedge 4 24

    128   146
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 8, cash and cash 
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained 
earnings.

The Board of Directors of the Group periodically reviews the capital structure. During these analyses, the Board assess-
es the risks associated with each class of capital along with cost of capital. Based on the review of the Board of Direc-
tors, the Group aims to balance its overall capital structure through the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing 
debt. The overall strategy of the Group has not changed compared to 2016.

  31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Total debts 9,082  10,247

Less: Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits with 
maturity of more than three months

(2,086) (1,815)

Net debt (A) 6,996 8,432

Total shareholders' equity (B) 5,346 5,087

Total capital stock (A+B) 12,342 13,519

Net debt/total capital stock ratio 0.57 0.62

(b) Financial Risk Factors
The risks of the Group, resulting from operations, include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate 
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management program generally seeks to minimize the 
potential negative effects of uncertainty in financial markets on financial performance of the Group. The Group uses a 
small portion of derivative financial instruments in order to safeguard itself from different financial risks.

Risk management is carried out in line with policies approved by the Board of Directors. According to risk policy, finan-
cial risk is identified and assessed. Working together with Group’s operational units, relevant instruments are used to 
reduce the risk.
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d)

The risk of a financial loss for the Group due to failing of one of the parties of the contract to meet its obligations is 
defined as credit risk.

The Group’s credit risk is related to its receivables, cash and derivative financial assets. The balance shown in the con-
solidated balance sheet is the result of the net amount after deducting the doubtful receivables arisen from the Group 
management’s forecasts based on previous experience and current economy conditions.  Since the customers are diver-
sified, the Group’s credit risk is dispersed and there is no material credit risk concentration.

The aging of past due receivables as of 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Receivables 

31 December 2017
 Trade 

Receivables 
Other 

Receivables
Deposits in 

Banks
Derivative 

Instruments Other Total

Past due 1-30 days 46  -       -       -       -      46

Past due 1-3 months 35  -       -       -       -      35

Past due 3-12 months 109  -       -       -       -      109

Past due 1-5 years 41  -       -       -       -      41

Total past due receivables 231  -       -       -       -      231

The part under guarantee with 
collateral etc.

 29     -       -       -       -       29    

Receivables

31 December 2016
 Trade 

Receivables 
Other 

Receivables
Deposits in 

Banks
Derivative 

Instruments Other Total

Past due 1-30 days 53  -       -       -       -      53

Past due 1-3 months 35  -       -       -       -      35

Past due 3-12 months 121  -       -       -       -      121

Past due 1-5 years 19  -       -       -       -      19

Total past due receivables 228  -       -       -       -      228

The part under guarantee with 
collateral etc.

 6     -       -       -       -       6    

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)



194 195 

KONSOLİDE FİNANSAL SONUÇLAR
TURKISH AIRLINES

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d)

As of balance sheet date, total amount of cash collateral and letter of guarantee received by Group for past due and not 
impaired receivable is 29 USD (31 December 2016: 6 USD).

As of the balance sheet date, the Group has no guarantee for past due receivables for which provisions were recognized.

b.2) Impairment
Provisions for doubtful trade receivables consist of provisions for receivables in legal dispute and provisions calculated 
based on experiences on uncollectible receivables.

Changes in provisions for doubtful receivables for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

    1 January - 31 December 2017   1 January - 31 December 2016
Opening Balance 76   72
Charge for the year 14   14
Collections during the year (15)   (9)
Currency translation adjustment -   (1)
Closing Balance 75 76

 b.3) Liquidity risk management

The main responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board designed an appro-
priate risk management policy for short, medium and long term funding and liquidity necessities of the Group man-
agement. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing 
facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities.

The tables below demonstrate the maturity distribution of nonderivative financial liabilities and are prepared based on 
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The interests that will be paid on the future liabilities are 
included in the related maturities.

Group manages liquidity risk by keeping under control estimated and actual cash flows and by maintaining adequate 
funds and borrowing reserves through matching the maturities of financial   assets and liabilities.
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.3) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity risk table:

31 December 2017

Due date on the 
contract

Book 
value

Total cash  
outflow according 

to the contract  
(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 
months (II) 1-5 years   (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank borrowings 744 744 236 508   -   - 

Finance lease  
  obligations 8,213 9,012 276 829 3,718 4,189

Trade payables 855 855 855   -   -   - 

Other financial  
  liabilities 16 16 16   -   -   - 

Total 9,828 10,627 1,383 1,337 3,718 4,189

             

31 December 2016

Due date on the 
contract

Book 
value

Total cash  
outflow according 

to the contract  
(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 
months (II) 1-5 years   (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank borrowings   1,357 1,357 531 826   -   - 

Finance lease  
  obligations 8,764 9,649 264 925 3,491 4,969

Trade payables 616 616 616 - - -

Other financial  
  liabilities 4 4 4 - - -

Total 10,741 11,626 1,415 1,751 3,491 4,969
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.3) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

31 December 2017

Due date on the 
contract

Book 
value

Total cash  
outflow according 

to the contract  
(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 
months (II) 1-5 years   (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Derivative financial (liabilities) / assets, net

Derivative cash  
  inflows/outflows,net 75 77   22   74   12   (31)

31 December 2016

Due date on the 
contract

Book 
value

Total cash  
outflow according 

to the contract  
(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 
months (II) 1-5 years   (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Derivative financial (liabilities) / assets, net

Derivative cash  
  inflows/outflows,net 51 52 (1) 51 2   - 

b.4) Market risk management

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and inter-
est rates. Market risk exposures of the Group are evaluated using sensitivity analysis. There has been no change in the 
Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management
Transactions in foreign currencies expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The foreign currency denominated assets 
and liabilities as monetary and non-monetary items are below:
  31 December 2017
  USD EQUIVALENT  TL  EUR  JPY  CHF  OTHER 

1.Trade Receivables   567   125   114   3   7   318 

2a.Monetary Financial Assets   1,945   57   1,838   4   2   44 

2b.Non Monetary Financial Assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

3.Other   369   142   102   7   5   113 

4.Current Assets  (1+2+3)   2,881   324   2,054   14   14   475 

5.Trade Receivables   -   -   -   -   -   - 

6a.Monetary Financial Assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

6b.Non Monetary Financial Assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

7.Other   107   4   94   -   -   9 

8.Non Current Assets (5+6+7)   107   4   94   -   -   9 

9.Total Assets (4+8)   2,988   328   2,148   14   14   484 

10.Trade Payables   538   363   138   -   2   35 

11.Financial Liabilities   721   16   478   207   20   - 

12a.Other Liabilities, Monetary   958   793   145   19   1   - 

12b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary   63   63   -   -   -   - 

13.Current Liabilities (10+11+12)   2,280   1,235   761   226   23   35 

14.Trade Payables   -   -   -   -   -   - 

15.Financial Liabilities   5,818   -   3,543   2,096   179   - 

16a.Other Liabilities, Monetary   14   9   5   -   -   - 

16b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary   128   128   -   -   -   - 

17.Non Current Liabilities (14+15+16)   5,960   137   3,548   2,096   179   - 

18.Total Liabilities (13+17)   8,240   1,372   4,309   2,322   202   35 

19.Net asset / liability position of off-balance sheet 

derivatives (19a-19b)        -   -   -   -   -   - 

19a.Off-balance sheet foreign currency  

  derivative assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

19b.Off-balance sheet foreigncurrency  

  derivative liabilities   -   -   -   -   -   - 

20.Net foreign currency asset/(liability) position (9-18+19)   (5,252)   (1,044)   (2,161)   (2,308)   (188)   449 

21.Net foreign currency asset /  liability position of 

monetary items  (IFRS 7.B23) (=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a -14-

15-16a)                                                    

  (5,537)   (999)   (2,357)   (2,315)   (193)   327 

22.Fair value of foreign currency   hedged financial assets                                                                             -   -   -   -   -   - 

23.Hedged foreign currency assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

24.Hedged foreign currency liabilities   -   -   -   -   -   - 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)
  31 December 2016
  USD EQUIVALENT  TL  EUR  JPY  CHF  OTHER 

1.Trade Receivables   355   95   79   1   6   174 

2a.Monetary Financial Assets   946   389   501   5   3   48 

2b.Non Monetary Financial Assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

3.Other   259   97   63   5   5   89 

4.Current Assets  (1+2+3)   1,560   581   643   11   14   311 

5.Trade Receivables   -   -   -   -   -   - 

6a.Monetary Financial Assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

6b.Non Monetary Financial Assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

7.Other 62   5   48   -   -   9 

8.Non Current Assets (5+6+7) 62   5   48   -   -   9 

9.Total Assets (4+8) 1,622   586   691   11   14   320 

10.Trade Payables 394   254   105   1   2   32 

11.Financial Liabilities 655   4   436   196   19   - 

12a.Other Liabilities, Monetary 768   592   143   33   -   - 

12b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary 61   61   -   -   -   - 

13.Current Liabilities (10+11+12) 1,878   911   684   230   21   32 

14.Trade Payables -   -   -   -   -   - 

15.Financial Liabilities 6,272   -   3,866   2,215   191   - 

16a.Other Liabilities, Monetary 9   1   4   -   2   2 

16b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary 113   113   -   -   -   - 

17.Non Current Liabilities (14+15+16) 6,394   114   3,870   2,215   193   2 

18.Total Liabilities (13+17) 8,272   1,025   4,554   2,445   214   34 

19.Net asset / liability position of off-balance sheet 

derivatives (19a-19b)   -   -   -   -   -   - 

19a.Off-balance sheet foreign currency derivative assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

19b.Off-balance sheet foreigncurrency derivative liabilities   -   -   -   -   -   - 

20.Net foreign currency asset/(liability) position (9-18+19) (6,650)   (439)   (3,863)   (2,434)   (200)   286 

21.Net foreign currency asset / liability position of monetary 

items (IFRS 7.B23) (=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a) (6,797)   (367)   (3,974)   (2,439)   (205)   188 

22.Fair value of foreign currency hedged financial assets            -   -   -   -   -   - 

23.Hedged foreign currency assets   -   -   -   -   -   - 

24.Hedged foreign currency liabilities   -   -   -   -   -   - 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)
Foreign currency sensitivity
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily from EURO, JPY, CHF and TL. The following table details the 
Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in EURO, JPY, CHF and TL. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when 
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management and represents management’s assessment of the possi-
ble change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis include only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Incorporation where the denomination 
of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number indicates an increase 
in profit or loss with a same effect on equity.

31 December 2017 Profit / (Loss) 

 If foreign currency 
appreciated  10 %

 If foreign currency 
depreciated 10 %

 

1- TL net asset / liability (104) 104

2- Part hedged from TL risk (-)   -   - 

3- TL net effect (1+2) (104) 104

4- Euro net asset / liability   (216) 216

5- Part hedged from Euro risk (-)   -   - 

6- Euro net effect (4+5) (216) 216

7- JPY net asset / liability (231) 231

8- Part hedged from JPY risk (-)   -   - 

9- JPY net effect (7+8) (231) 231
   

10- CHF net asset / liability (19) 19

11- Part hedged from CHF risk (-)   -   - 

12- CHF net effect (10+11) (19) 19
   

13- Other foreign currency net asset / liability 45 (45)

14- Part hedged other foreign currency risk (-)   -   - 

15- Other foreign currency net effect (13+14) 45 (45)

TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15) (525) 525
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)
Foreign currency sensitivity (cont’d)

31 December 2016 Profit / (Loss) 

 If foreign currency 
appreciated  10 %

 If foreign currency 
depreciated 10 %

 

1- TL net asset / liability (44)   44 

2- Part hedged from TL risk (-)   -   - 

3- TL net effect (1+2) (44) 44
 

4- Euro net asset / liability   (386) 386

5- Part hedged from Euro risk (-)   -   - 

6- Euro net effect (4+5) (386) 386

7- JPY net asset / liability (243) 243

8- Part hedged from JPY risk (-)   -   - 

9- JPY net effect (7+8) (243) 243

10- CHF net asset / liability (20) 20

11- Part hedged from CHF risk (-)   -   - 

12- CHF net effect (10+11) (20) 20

13- Other foreign currency net asset / liability 29 (29)

14- Part hedged other foreign currency risk (-)   -   - 

15- Other foreign currency net effect (13+14) 29 (29)

TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15) (664) 664

b.4.2) Interest rate risk management

The Group has been borrowing at both fixed and variable interest rates. Considering the interest conditions of the 
current borrowings, the majority of the borrowings are at variable interest rates. In addition to this; under the condition 
that the cost of financing of aircraft purchases are reasonable, the Group has been trying to increase the amount of the 
fixed interest rate borrowings in order to create a partial balance between the fixed and variable interest rate borrow-
ings. Due to the fact that the variable interest rates of the Group are dependent on Libor and Euribor, exposure to local 
interest rate is low.
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.2) Interest rate risk management (cont’d)

Interest Rate Position Table

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Instruments with fixed interest rate
Financial Liabilities  3,234 3,822

Financial Instruments with Variable Interest Rate
Financial Liabilities 4,979 4,942
Interest Swap Agreements Not Subject to Hedge Accounting (Net)   (8)   (17)
Interest Swap Agreements Subject to Hedge Accounting (Net)   (34)   (50)

As indicated in Note 36, the Group fixed the interest rate for 3,137 USD of floating–interest-rated financial liabilities via 
an interest rate swap contracts as of 31 December 2017.

Interest rate sensitivity
The following sensitivity analysis are done considering the interest rate exposure in the reporting date and possible 
changes on this rate and are fixed during all reporting period. Group management checks out possible effects that may 
arise when Libor and Euribor rates, which are the basis for variable interest rates, fluctuate 0.5% and reports the effects 
to the top management.

Assuming that there is a 0.5% increase in Libor and Euribor interest rates and all other variables are kept constant:

Current profit before tax of the Group for the year will decrease by USD 29 (For the year ended 31 December 2016 loss 
before tax will increase by 32 USD).  In contrast, if Libor and Euribor interest rate decrease by 0.5%, profit before tax will 
increase by the same amounts. 

Moreover, as a result of the interest rate swap contracts against cash flow risks, in the event of a 0.5% increase in the Li-
bor and Euribor interest rates, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 36 USD, excluding the deferred tax 
effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2016 the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 49 USD, excluding 
the deferred tax effect.) In the event of a 0.5% decrease in the Libor and Euribor interest rates, the shareholders’ equity 
of the Group will decrease by the same amounts, excluding the deferred tax effect.

b.4.3) Fuel prices sensitivity
As explained in Note 36, Group has entered into forward fuel purchase contracts in order to hedge cash flow risks arising 
from fuel purchases. Due to forward fuel purchase contracts subject to hedge accounting, as a result of a 10% increase 
in fuel prices, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 116 USD, excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the 
year ended 31 December 2016, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by 263 USD excluding deferred tax 
effect.) 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d)

b.4.3) Fuel prices sensitivity (cont’d)
In case of a 10% decrease in fuel prices, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by 115 USD, excluding the 
deferred tax effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2016, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by 1 USD, 
excluding deferred tax effect.)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Under standard maturities and conditions, fair values of financial assets and liabilities traded in an active market 
are determined using quoted market prices.

• Fair values of derivative instruments:

• Fixed-paid/floating received interest swap contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by 
using discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward interest rates (from 
observable yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and contract interest rates, discounted at a rate that 
reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

• Forward fuel purchase contracts and fuel collar contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed 
by using discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward fuel prices (from 
observable forward fuel prices at the end of the reporting period) and contract fuel prices, discounted at a rate 
that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

• Forward currency contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using discounted cash 
flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchange rates (from observable forward 
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period) and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects 
the credit risk of various counterparties.

• Cross-currency swap contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using discounted cash 
flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward interest rates and forward exchange rates 
(from observable yield curves and forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period) and contract 
interest rates and forward exchange rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counter-
parties.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and obligations.

• Level 2: Variables obtained directly (via prices) or indirectly (by deriving from prices) which are observable for similar 
assets and liabilities other than quoted prices mentioned in Level 1.

• Level 3: Variables which are not related to observable market variable for assets and liabilities (unobservable varia-
bles).

Financial assets and liabilities, measured at their fair values are classified as below:

         Fair value level as of the reporting date

 Financial assets   31 December 2017   Level 1 USD   Level 2 USD   Level 3 USD

Derivative instruments at  fair value 
through profit or loss

  15     -   15     - 

Derivative instruments accounted  for 
hedge accounting

  188     -   188     - 

Total   203     -   203     - 

Financial liabilities                

Derivative instruments at  fair value 
through profit or loss

  48     -   48     - 

Derivative instruments accounted  for 
hedge accounting

  80     -   80     - 

Total   128     -   128     - 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments (cont’d)

         Fair value level as of the reporting date

 Financial assets    31 December 2016   Level 1 USD   Level 2 USD   Level 3 USD

Derivative instruments at  fair value 
through profit or loss

  37     -   37     - 

Derivative instruments accounted  for 
hedge accounting

  160     -   160     - 

Total   197     -   197     - 

Financial liabilities                

Derivative instruments at  fair value 
through profit or loss

  47     -   47     - 

Derivative instruments accounted  for 
hedge accounting

  99     -   99     - 

Total   146     -   146     - 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions
In order to increase predictability of cash flow in the future, the Group uses derivative financial instruments such as cur-
rency forward contracts, foreign currency options, cross currency swap contracts, interest rate swap contracts, brent op-
tions and swap contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency, interest rate and jet fuel price fluctuation.

The floating-rate financial liabilities of the Group are explained in Note 35 b.4.2. In order to keep interest costs at an 
affordable level, the Group has hedged approximately 63% of floating rate USD, JPY and Euro denominated liabilities 
arising from financial leasing activities. Effective part of the change in the fair values of those derivative instruments for 
cash flows risks of floating-rate finance lease liabilities are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in 
cash flow hedge reserve under the shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge accounting.

In order to control risk arising from fluctuations in fuel price, the Group has begun to hedging activities, in 2009. The 
fuel hedge strategy, which launched in June 2009, has been updated over the years regarding market experience and 
requirements. In accordance with the Group’s BOD resolution issued on 14 July 2017, hedging trades are decided to be 
done for up-to 60% of budgeted fuel consumption of maximum next 24 months, regarding market conditions,. Also in 
the context of related change in strategy, premium paid options have also been added to the instrument alternatives, 
in addition to formerly used swap and zero-cost option structures. As a result of these changes, hedging strategy has 
become more flexible and accommodative to fuel market conditions with the optionality in tenor, hedge ratio and 
instrument.  The effective portion of fair value of fuel hedge contracts for cash flow hedge is recognized in other com-
prehensive income and presented in cash flow hedge reserve under the shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge 
accounting.

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI  
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d)

The currency mismatch between Group’s income and expense causes the exchange rate risk. For this reason, FX risk 
hedging methodology was established for the first time in June, 2013 with the decision of the BOD and lastly updated 
in February 2015. Thus, it has been decided to hedge the Group’s USD and TRY short positions with its EUR long posi-
tion. According to the methodology, 30% of the forecasted monthly short position in TRY for the following 24 months 
is hedged by using forwards. Also, based on the market conditions, between 25% and 35% of the forecasted monthly 
short position in USD is hedged by using forwards or zero-cost collars in 24 month-period, similar to TRY. In this way, 
risk arising due to the exchange rate volatility is diminished and taken under control by either fixing the exchange rate 
at a predetermined level or controlling them in a range. The effective portion of fair value of currency hedge contracts 
for cash flow hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in cash flow hedge reserve under the 
shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge accounting.

Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are as follows:

Derivative Instruments Stated in Assets and Liabilities

31 December 2017
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value Total
Fixed-paid/floating received interest rate swap contracts for 
hedging against cash flow risks of interest rate   1   (35)   (34)
Forward fuel purchase contracts for hedging against  
  cash flow risk of fuel prices   22   -   22 
Collar contracts for hedging against cash flow risk of  
  fuel prices   162   (4)   158 
Forward currency contracts  for hedging purposes   3   (41)   (38)
Fair values of derivative instruments for hedging  
  purposes   188     (80)     108 
Cross-currency swap contracts not subject to hedge  
  accounting   6     -     6 
Interest rate swap contracts not subject to hedge  
  accounting   4     (12)     (8)
Forward currency contracts not for hedging purposes   5     (36)     (31)
Fair values of derivative instruments not for hedging  
  purposes   15   (48)     (33)
Total   203   (128)     75 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d)

Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are as follows (cont’d):

Derivative Instruments Stated in Assets and Liabilities

31 December 2016 Positive fair value
Negative fair 

value Total

Fixed-paid/floating received interest rate swap contracts for 
hedging against cash flow risks of interest rate   -   (50)   (50)

Forward fuel purchase contracts for hedging against  
  cash flow risk of fuel prices   59   (10)   49 

Collar contracts for hedging against cash flow risk of fuel prices   94   (14)   80 

Forward currency contracts  for hedging purposes   7   (25)   (18)

Fair values of derivative instruments for hedging purposes 160   (99)   61

Cross-currency swap contracts not subject to hedge accounting   16   -     16 

Interest rate swap contracts not subject to hedge accounting   6   (23)     (17)

Forward currency contracts not for hedging purposes   15   (24)     (9)

Fair values of derivative instruments not for hedging purposes 37   (47)     (10)

Total 197   (146)     51 

Derivative Instruments Stated in the Equity        

31 December 2017  
Hedging against 

fuel risk
Hedging against 

interest risk
Hedging against 

currency risk Total

Fair values of derivative instruments for  
  hedging purposes     181   (34)   (45)   102 

The amount of financial expenses inside  
  hedge funds     -   1   -   1 

Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of  
  fair value of hedging gains of fuel  
  hedging derivative instrument to financial  
  revenues     (24)   -   -   (24)

Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of  
  fair value of hedging gains of currency  
  hedging derivative instrument to financial  
  revenues     -   -   -   - 

Total     157   (33)   (45)   79 

Deferred tax     (35)   7   10   (18)

Hedge reserve as of 31 December 2017     122   (26)   (35)   61 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d)

Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are as follows (cont’d):

Derivative Instruments Stated in the Equity        

31 December 2016  
Hedging against 

fuel risk
Hedging against 

interest risk
Hedging against 

currency risk Total
Fair values of derivative instruments for  
  hedging purposes

    129   (50)   (14)   65 

The amount of financial expenses inside  
  hedge funds

    -   1   -   1 

Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of  
  fair value of hedging gains of fuel  
  hedging derivative instrument to financial  
  revenues

    (44)   -   -   (44)

Foreign currency translation differences     -   -   3   3 

Total     85   (49)   (11)   25 

Deferred tax     (17)   10   2   (5)

Hedge reserve as of 31 December 2016     68   (39)   (9)   20 

37. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

None.

38. OTHER ISSUES AFFECTING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MATERIALLY OR NECESSARY TO MAKE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS SOUND, INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE

None.
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